

Evaluability Assessment and Evaluation Design Phase Report

COVAX Facility and AMC Evaluability, Evaluation Design and Formative Review/Baseline Study

26th January 2022 Authors: Matthew Cooper, Paul Janssen, Helen Merati, Sam McPherson, Pippa Page, Ani Steele, Stefanie Wallach, Liz Avital



Acknowledgments

Itad is grateful to the Gavi Evaluation and Learning Unit and all other stakeholders consulted for giving their time and insights.

Disclaimer

The views expressed in this report are those of the evaluators. They do not represent those of any of the individuals and organizations referred to in the report.

'Itad' and the tri-colour triangles icon are a registered trademark of ITAD Limited.

Contents

Сс	Contents iii					
Lis	List of Figures					
List of Tables						
Lis	List of acronyms					
Ex	Executive summary v					
	Assessment of readiness for an evaluation					
	Multi-stage evaluation design					
	Evaluation activities for Phase 1 (2022–23)					
1.	Introducti	on	1			
2.	Evaluabili	ty assessment	2			
	2.1	Right things – Design	2			
	2.2	Right way – Implementation	4			
	2.3	Right results	6			
	2.4	Learning	7			
	2.5	Overall evaluability	9			
_	2.6	Recommendations to strengthen evaluability	11			
3.	Multi-stag	e evaluation design	12			
	3.1	Purpose and principles of the multi-stage evaluation	12			
	3.2	Revised EQs	13			
	3.3	Strategic direction and methodological approach for the multi-stage evaluation	16			
	3.4	Operationalizing the multi-stage evaluation	22			
	3.5	Risks, challenges and limitations	27			
Λ	3.0	Evaluation governance	30			
4.	Evaluation	activities for Phase I (2022–23)	31			
	4.1	Formative review and baseline study design	31			
	4.2	Other evaluative activity for Phase 1	41			
F	4.3	Recommendations to operationalize the evaluation approach	44			
э.	Annexes	1. Classon, of key terms	40			
	Annex	2: Document review and hibliography	40 51			
	Annex	2: December 1 review and bibliography 2: December 1 review and bibliography	61			
	Δημογ	1: Evaluability assessment (EA) methodology and process	62			
	Δημογ	5: Web-survey outputs and analysis	60			
	Annex	6: Findings from the FA	73			
	Annex	7: Determining the overall evaluation design	78			
	Annex	8: Articulating the evaluation ToC for COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC	85			
	Annex	9: Data sources and descriptions	89			
	Annex	10: Multi-stage evaluation framework	91			
	Annex	11: Formative review and baseline study evaluation framework	100			
	Annex	12: Analytical methods per evaluation module	105			
	Annex	13: Timeline	117			
	Annex	14: Integration and added value of rapid reviews	120			
	Annex	15: Visual map of COVAX Facility and AMC learning system	122			
	Annex	16: Communication and learning plan	123			
	Annex	17: Dissemination plan	130			
	Annex	18: Line of sight from EA to evaluation design	131			
	Annex	19: Summary of evaluation design options	134			
	Annex	20: Feedback summary	139			
	Annex	21: COVAX Facility & COVAX AMC Formative Review and Baseline Study – High-lev	el			
		overview of technical approach	141			

List of Figures

Figure 1 – Complementarity between both (i) periodic and phased formative-summative evaluation a	nd
(ii) rapid reviews	17
Figure 2 - EA approach	62
Figure 3 - Summary by respondent type	69
Figure 4 - How can an evaluation of the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC can add the most value?	70
Figure 5 - Does this scope of work respond well to your needs?	71
Figure 6 - Is anything missing from the evaluation scope?	71
Figure 7 – Types of system within COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC	79
Figure 8 – Working alongside the ELU to produce evaluation findings, lessons and recommendations	84
Figure 9 - Updated ToC for the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC	85
Figure 10 - Collaborative components of the ToC for the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC	87
Figure 11 – Programmatic areas within the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC ToC	88
Figure 12 - Components of governance and management arrangements for analysis	. 106
Figure 13 – Components of the ISO risk management guidelines	. 108
Figure 14 – Contribution analysis	. 112
Figure 15 – COVAX timeline	. 117
Figure 16 - The value of rapid reviews to compliment formative-summative evaluations and continuou	JS
learning function	. 120
Figure 17 - How rapid reviews can inform course correction	. 121
Figure 18 - Visual map of COVAX Facility and AMC learning system	. 122

List of Tables

Table 1 - EQs used for evaluability assessment (Module 1)	2
Table 2 - EQs used for evaluability assessment (Module 2)	4
Table 3 - EQs used for evaluability assessment (Module 3)	6
Table 4 - EQs used for evaluability assessment (Module 4)	7
Table 5 - Revised core EQs for the multi-stage evaluation	14
Table 6 – Four types of approach for causal inference	20
Table 8 - Overall staged arrangement of evaluation activity	26
Table 9 - Risks, challenges and limitations	27
Table 10 - Formative review and baseline study EQs	32
Table 11 - Options for stakeholder engagement through KIIs	40
Table 12 - Types and quantities of documents reviewed by the Itad team	51
Table 13 - List of key informant interview participants	61
Table 14 - EQs used for EA	62
Table 15 - EA framework	66
Table 16 - EA scoring by EQ	73
Table 17 - Evaluability assessment scoring by EAQ	75
Table 18 - Options for levels of learning support	83
Table - Relavent data sources	89
Table 20 - Multi-stage evaluation framework	91
Table 21 - Formative review and baseline study evaluation framework	100
Table - Lessons learned framework of criteria	115
Table 23 - Recommended formative learning and communication activities	124
Table 24 - Communication and learning plan	126
Table 25 - Dissemination plan	130
Table 26 - Line of sight from EA to evaluation design	131
Table 27 - Summary of evaluation design options	134

List of acronyms

ACT	Access to COVID-19 Tools
ACT-A	Access to COVID-19 Tools Accelerator
AFC	Audit and Finance Committee
Africa CDC	Africa Centres for Disease Control and Prevention
AMC92	Advanced Market Commitment 92
APA	Advance Purchase Agreement
ART	Antiretroviral Therapy
AVAT	African Vaccine Acquisition Trust
BID	Better Immunization Data
BMGF	Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation
C&L	Communications and Learning
C4D	Communication for Development
CCM	COVAX Coordination Meeting
CEPI	Coalition for Epidemic Preparedness Innovations
CRD	Country Readiness and Delivery
CSO	Civil Society Organization
C-TAP	COVID-19 Technology Access Pool
DCVMN	Developing Countries Vaccine Manufacturers Network
EA	Evaluability Assessment
EAC	Evaluation Advisory Committee
EAQ	Evaluability Assessment Question
eJRF	Electronic Joint Reporting Form
ELU	Evaluation and Learning Unit
EQ	Evaluation Question
ESC	Evaluation Steering Committee
ESRC	Economic and Social Research Council
FCDO	Foreign, Commonwealth and Development Office
GDPR	General Data Protection Regulation
GFF	Global Financing Facility
HCS	Hierarchical Card Sorting
HIC	High-Income Country
HSRC	Health Systems and Response Connector
ICAI	Independent Commission for Aid Impact
IDA	International Development Association
IFAD	International Fund for Agricultural Development

IFI	International Financial Institution
IFPMA	International Federation of Pharmaceutical Manufacturers & Associations
IPG	Independent Product Group
IRC	International Rescue Committee
KII	Key Informant Interview
LIC	Low-income Country
LMIC	Low- and Middle-Income Country
LSHTM	London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine
M&E	Monitoring and Evaluation
MEL	Monitoring, Evaluation and Learning
MIC	Middle-Income Country
MMGH	MM Global Health
MOPAN	Multilateral Organisation Performance Assessment Network
MSDC	Market-Sensitive Decisions Committee
MSE	Multi-Stage Evaluation
NGO	Non-Governmental Organization
NITAG	National Immunization Technical Advisory Group
NORAD	Norwegian Agency for Development Cooperation
NVDP	National Vaccine Deployment Plan
ODA	Official Development Assistance
OECD DAC	Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development's Development Assistance Committee
PAHO	Pan American Health Organization
PEA	Political Economy Analysis
PHEIC	Public Health Emergency of International Concern
PPC	Program and Policy Committee
PPE	Personal Protective Equipment
PRG	Procurement Reference Group
Q&A	Questions and Answers
QA	Quality Assurance
QCA	Qualitative Comparative Analysis
RACI	Responsible, Accountable, Consulted, Informed
RAG	Regulatory Advisory Group
RDMIC	Research and Development and Manufacturing Investment Committee
RfP	Request for Proposals
SAGE	Strategic Advisory Group of Experts

Classified as Internal

Final evaluability assessment and evaluation design report

SFP	Self-Financing Participant
SII	Serum Institute of India
SPRP	Strategic Preparedness and Response Plan
ТА	Technical Assistance
TAG	Technical Advisory Group
TBE	Theory-Based Evaluation
ТоС	Theory of Change
ToR	Terms of Reference
TRG	Technical Review Group
UMIC	Upper-Middle-Income Country
UN	United Nations
UNEG	United Nations Evaluation Group
UNICEF	United Nations Children's Fund
USAID	The United States Agency for International Development
WAP	Weighted Average Price
WHO	World Health Organization
WSC	Workstream Conveners
WTO	World Trade Organization

Executive summary

As a co-lead for COVAX, the vaccines pillar of the Access to COVID-19 Tools Accelerator (ACT-A),¹ Gavi coordinates the COVAX Facility (a global risk-sharing mechanism for pooled procurement and equitable distribution of COVID-19 vaccines) and administers the COVAX Advanced Market Commitment (AMC; an innovative financing mechanism to frontload Official Development Assistance (ODA) and donations for vaccines among 92 middle- and lower-income countries that cannot fully afford to pay for COVID-19 vaccines themselves, and to ensure fair and equitable access).²

In response to the Gavi Board's request for the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC to be independently and robustly evaluated, the purpose of this phase of the evaluation has been to:

- assess the readiness for an evaluation, including the coherence and completeness of the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC design, the availability of data to answer the evaluation questions (EQs), and the usefulness of doing so; and
- *set out an appropriate and robust multi-stage evaluation design,* using the findings of the above, that can be utilized over the life course of the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC.

Itad, a specialist monitoring, evaluation and learning (MEL) consultancy, was selected to complete this phase of work and, following its successful completion, conduct a formative review and baseline study.

This report has benefited from extensive feedback provided by the Gavi Evaluation and Learning Unit (ELU), the Secretariat and Office of the COVAX Facility, and a broad range of other stakeholders engaged in the operationalization of COVAX, as well as a broader set of stakeholders with an interest in COVAX.

Assessment of readiness for an evaluation

Overall, the assignment, based on a substantial review of the available literature and information systems as well as broad stakeholder engagement, finds that:

- The COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC design is coherent and complete enough to robustly evaluate. However, its complexity (i.e. with many interacting global agents, serving a range of different functions across a number of sectors, requiring feedback from participant countries and communities to refine ideas and adjust approaches) and frequent changes to the design will pose a challenge for the evaluation.
- 2. There is sufficient data available to answer the majority of the EQs posed in the Request for Proposals (RfP), although these questions do not explicitly mention all of the programmatic areas of the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC that need to be evaluated i.e. market shaping, procurement and delivery, equitable allocation, and country readiness and delivery (CRD). Revised EQs are presented below.
- 3. There is substantial interest across a range of stakeholders in answering EQs that seek to understand: the appropriateness of the intervention design; how well different components of the intervention design have been implemented; and how the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC has worked within the geopolitics and context of the COVID-19 pandemic response to achieve its overall goal of strengthened equity and fairness in the allocation and distribution of, and access to, COVID-19 vaccines.³

¹ The ACT-A was launched in April 2020 to convene governments, multilateral organizations, private sector and civil society partners to coordinate, fund, develop and equitably deploy COVID-19 tools to bring about the end of the COVID-19 pandemic. Its four technical partnerships, led by nine partners, consist of three vertical pillars (vaccines, therapeutics and diagnostics) and a health systems connector. ² Gavi. (2020, September 3). *COVAX explained*. https://www.gavi.org/vaccineswork/covax-explained

³ Equity and fairness are at the heart of the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC's design and can be considered in at least three ways: in the distribution of and access to vaccines across country income categories; between individual countries; and within countries.

Multi-stage evaluation design

This section sets out the purpose, principles and strategic direction of the multi-stage evaluation, which is expected to take place over a 10-year horizon, in line with the initially envisaged life span for the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC. We note that this could be adjusted, for instance if the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC were to be integrated into Gavi's core business.

The following are the priority users and uses of the evaluation:

- Gavi Board, primarily to hold the Gavi Secretariat and Office of the COVAX Facility to account for their role in implementing the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC, alongside other implementing partners, for the use of ODA and achievement of results to donors, investors and all countries participating in COVAX.
- COVAX implementing partners, particularly the Gavi Secretariat and Office of the COVAX Facility, to
 enable (a) rigorous testing, learning and adjustment of the complex COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC
 model to ensure fitness for purpose within its operating environment and optimize the conditions for
 desired results to be achieved; and (b) comprehensive tracking of the progress and contribution of the
 COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC to intended results, with explanations of how and why this is or is not
 being achieved.
- The global health community writ large, including AMC countries and regional stakeholders, with a
 proactive focus on equity, to report objectively on the extent to which COVAX has been able to
 address power imbalances to ensure equitable access to COVID-19 vaccines and inform future
 pandemic preparedness.

The proposed set of EQs is presented in Table A. These have been grouped by module to provide an organizing framework to structure the evaluation design, and in some cases have been revised to ensure that they are answerable, useful, and comprehensive of the issues at hand. The questions cover the operational and programmatic components of the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC.

Evaluation module	EQ #	EQs (Bold = headline EQ)
<u> </u>	1	Is the design and intervention logic underpinning the COVAX Facility and AMC clear, relevant, inclusive
		and appropriate to enable achievement of intended outcomes and impact?
区	1.1	Are the overall design of the COVAX Facility and AMC and specific strategies clearly justified and
4		documented, and is the overall design clear and coherent?
4 Dista	1.2	Recognizing the dynamic nature of the pandemic and geopolitical context, what design revisions were made
1. Right		since the original design, and why?
things: Design	1.3	How did external stakeholders and COVAX partners contribute to the original design, and subsequent design revisions of the COVAX Facility and AMC, and what impact did this have?
	1.4	Are any design revisions needed for course correction? What are the design lessons for future pandemic responses?
	2	Have the COVAX Facility and AMC been successfully implemented?
<u>រក</u> ្	2.1	Have the COVAX Facility and AMC been operationalized successfully? (operational domain)
~~~~~~	2.1.1	Have the COVAX Facility and AMC management structures/governance arrangements been fit for purpose?
502*	2.1.2	Have the COVAX Facility and AMC risk management processes been fit for purpose?
<b>~L</b> ~	2.1.3	To what extent were the estimated costs of setting up and implementing the COVAX Facility and COVAX
		AMC in terms of finances and staff allocation reasonable and appropriate?
2. Right	2.1.4	Has the level of stakeholder engagement and communication been appropriate?
way:	2.2	To what extent have the specific COVAX Facility and AMC programmatic/intervention areas been
Implement-		implemented successfully? (programmatic domain)
ation	2.2.1	To what extent has an appropriate resource mobilization strategy been established and implemented to
		secure adequate resources for full and timely implementation of intended activities?
	2.2.2	To what extent have market shaping activities been implemented to ensure that COVID-19 vaccines are
		accessible and affordable for lower-income countries?
	2.2.3	To what extent have the COVAX Facility and AMC supported procurement and delivery functions to ensure
		that COVID-19 vaccines are provided to participants as planned?
	2.2.4	To what extent have the COVAX Facility and AMC supported the operationalization of the allocation
		mechanism to ensure a fair and equitable distribution of COVID-19 vaccines?
	2.2.5	To what extent have the COVAX Facility and AMC supported CRD to facilitate the rollout of COVID-19
		vaccines at the scale required to achieve intended outcomes and impact?

Table A - Core EQs for the multi-stage evaluation

	3	To what extent have the COVAX Facility and AMC, alongside the roles of other COVAX implementing partners, contributed to the achievement of intended outcomes and impact within the geopolitical and economic landscape?
•	3.1	To what extent have the COVAX Facility and AMC intended intermediate outcomes been achieved?
	3.2	To what extent have the overall COVAX Facility and AMC intended outcomes and goals been achieved?
3. Right results:	3.3	What is the evidence to suggest that the COVAX Facility and AMC incurred unintended consequences and results beyond the ToC, and what were the implications?
Outcomes and impact	3.4	How have the COVAX Facility and AMC, alongside the roles of other COVAX implementing partners, contributed to achievement of outcomes and impacts within the global geopolitical and economic landscape?
	3.5	What are the most important barriers and enablers to achieving the outcomes and goals in the COVAX ToC at all levels of implementation?
	4	What lessons can be drawn from the design and implementation of the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC for course correction, Gavi 5.0, and future pandemic responses?
(ѷ} {‡	4.1	What are the most important lessons learned through design and implementation experience that have implications for COVAX Facility and AMC course correction?
4. Learning	4.2	What are the most important lessons learned through design and implementation experience that have implications for Gavi 5.0?
	4.3	What are the most important lessons learned through design and implementation experience that have implications for future pandemic responses?
	4.4	What can be learned from other agencies/arrangements/contexts and applied to the COVAX Facility and/or COVAX AMC for the achievement of outcomes and impact?
	4.5	What can be learned from a comparison of countries' experiences of securing maximum possible vaccination supply, and applied to the COVAX Facility and/or COVAX AMC for the achievement of outcomes and impact?

In terms of the scope of work, while the evaluation is focused on Gavi and the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC, it is unlikely to be possible or most helpful to evaluate these in isolation. Rather, the evaluation should consider the interconnectedness of roles, responsibilities and ways of working between agencies to facilitate COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC results. The evaluation should also consider the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC results. The evaluation should also consider the and wider contextual factors at play. As such, this will necessarily involve taking into consideration factors both within and outside of Gavi's direct control, and factors over which Gavi has both higher and lower levels of control and for which it can be held accountable.

#### The evaluation design should be responsive to a number of considerations and design features:

- To meet stakeholder needs, the evaluation approach should blend the principles of (i) a periodic and phased formative-summative evaluation and (ii) real-time evaluation. This will enable evaluation of specific components of the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC Theory of Change (ToC), as well as providing a coherent evaluation narrative on its overall contribution to outcomes and impact. It will involve:
  - periodic baseline, midterm and end-term evaluation exercises covering the full scope of work over the 10-year horizon, including stage-specific questions of relevance to each phase;
  - the flexibility to conduct 'rapid reviews' focused on specific parts of the ToC where learning is needed quickly, such as to meet policy or programmatic needs and/or provide evidence on emerging risks;
  - collaboration with the Gavi ELU and COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC MEL systems which would be responsible for a continuous real-time learning function; and
  - all evaluation activity being conducted in a coordinated and participatory manner, with a heavy emphasis on utilization and learning.
- 2. The complicated nature of the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC design and the context it is operating in requires a complexity-aware design. Further, the types of EQs, the demand for findings at different times for different uses, the range of methods within the design, and the scale of the evaluation mean that a mixed-method design is appropriate and make it necessary to construct the evaluation from a suite of purpose-specific modules: right things; right way; right results; and learning.
- 3. There is a clear case for the primary evaluation approach to be theory-based. This will require a welldefined ToC that captures the mechanisms and contexts that explain how the intended outcomes will be achieved, and against which the design, implementation and results can be evaluated. We

recognize that the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC design and the context in which it is operating are highly dynamic. As such, and to ensure that the evaluation findings are as current and relevant as practicable, the ToC will require frequent revision and updating throughout the evaluation process.

- 4. To assess COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC results, the evaluation should adopt a generative causation approach i.e. one that works with a theory-based approach to examine the extent to which, how and why an intervention has produced or influenced observed results.
- 5. Within the family of generative causation, theory-based evaluation approaches, either contribution analysis or realist evaluation could be used to good effect to answer the EQs. However, contribution analysis will be the most practical and useful to implement, primarily due to the lower requirement for stakeholders (who have very limited time) to engage with the evaluation.

Figure A presents the evaluation's envisaged areas of focus and how these will evolve over time and at different phases of the evaluation. This includes:

- **Phases:** As shown in orange, the 10-year evaluation life span is split into three phases covering the need for periodic baseline, midterm and end-term evaluation exercises. Rapid reviews would be conducted flexibly across those phases, alongside continuous learning led by the Gavi ELU.
- **Modules:** The four modules and high-level questions for each are presented in green on the lefthand side, with the green arrows running from left to right indicating the relative emphasis placed on each across the evaluation phases.
- **Programmatic areas:** The five programmatic areas identified in the ToC are presented in blue. Each of the areas will be considered at each phase but at different levels of intensity, as indicated by the diagonal arrows. This is dictated by the information that is available and what is most useful to be answered at a given moment in time.

					COVAX Facility and AMC external, formative-summative evaluation phases		
	Phase 1 (2022–2023): Formative review and baseline assessment         Phase 2 (2024–2027): Periodic summative midterm evaluations         Phase 3 (2028–2030): Summative end-term evaluation					030): Summative evaluation	
			Rapid evaluations in areas	of particular interest/need			
Right things: Is the design and tervention logic underpinning the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC clear, relevant, and appropriate?	Predominant fo	cus during the formative revie	ew and baseline study				
ight way: Have the COVAX Facility nd COVAX AMC been successfully implemented?			Continued focus throughout formative-summative evaluation phases				
ight results: To what extent have the COVAX Facility and AMC ontributed to the achievement of intended outcomes and impact?				Increasing focu	us throughout formative-summ	native evaluation phases	
Learning: What lessons can be drawn on the design and implementation of the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC?		Contin	tinued focus throughout formative-summative evaluation phases				
	Strong focus in formative review and baseline study, as well as midterm		Continued for evaluati	cus throughout on phases	Increasing focu evaluatio	us throughout n phases	
		Resource mobilization	Market shaping	Equitable allocation	Procurement and delivery	Country readiness	
			Cross-cutting pro	ogrammatic areas			
	Right things: Is the design and tervention logic underpinning the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC lear, relevant, and appropriate? ght way: Have the COVAX Facility id COVAX AMC been successfully implemented? ight results: To what extent have the COVAX Facility and AMC ontributed to the achievement of ntended outcomes and impact? Learning: What lessons can be drawn on the design and implementation of the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC?	Right things: Is the design and tervention logic underpinning the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC lear, relevant, and appropriate?       Predominant for         ght way: Have the COVAX Facility implemented?       Predominant for         ight results: To what extent have the COVAX Facility and AMC ontributed to the achievement of ntended outcomes and impact?       Predominant for         Learning: What lessons can be drawn on the design and implementation of the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC?       Strong focus in form baseline study, as v	Right things: Is the design and tervention logic underpinning the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC lear, relevant, and appropriate?       Predominant focus during the formative review predominant focus during the formative review and the COVAX Facility of COVAX Facility and AMC ontributed to the achievement of ntended outcomes and impact?         Learning: What lessons can be drawn on the design and implementation of the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC?       Contin Continue         Strong focus in formative review and baseline study, as well as midterm       Strong focus in formative review and baseline study, as well as midterm	Right things: Is the design and tervention logic underpinning the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC lear, relevant, and appropriate?       Predominant focus during the formative review and baseline study         ght way: Have the COVAX Facility di COVAX AMC been successfully implemented?       Predominant focus during the formative review and baseline study         ight results: To what extent have the COVAX Facility and AMC ontributed to the achievement of ntended outcomes and impact?       Continued focus throughout formative faravin on the design and implementation of the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC?         Strong focus in formative review and baseline study, as well as midterm       Continued focus throughout formative evaluative market shaping	Right things: is the design and trevention logic underpinning the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC lear, relevant, and appropriate?       Predominant focus during the formative review and baseline study         ght way: Have the COVAX Facility di COVAX AMC been successfully implemented?       Continued focus         ight results: To what extent have the COVAX Facility and MCC particulate to the achievement of ntended outcomes and impact?       Increasing focus         Learning: What lessons can be drawn on the design and implementation of the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC?       Strong focus in formative review and baseline study, as well as midterm         Strong focus in formative review and baseline study, as well as midterm       Continued focus throughout evaluation phases         Resource mobilization       Market shaping       Equitable allocation	Right things: is the design and therevention logic underpinning the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC lear, relevant, and appropriate?       Predominant focus during the formative review and baseline study         ght way: Have the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC been successfully implemented?       Continued focus throughout formative-summer focus throughout formative-summer formative review and baseline study         ight results: To what extent have the COVAX Facility and AMC portributed to the achievement of intended outcomes and impact?       Increasing focus throughout formative-summer focus throughout formative-summer formative review and baseline study.         Learning: What lessons can be design and implementation of the COVAX Facility and AMC?       Continued focus throughout formative-summer formative evaluation phases         Strong focus in formative review and baseline study, Facility and COVAX AMC?       Strong focus in formative review and baseline study.       Continued focus throughout formative evaluation phases         Strong focus in formative review and baseline study, as well as midterm       Resource mobilization       Market shaping       Equitable allocation         Resource mobilization       Market shaping       Equitable allocation       Procurement and delivery	

Figure A - Multi-stage evaluation plan

* Subject to change and/or refinement based on the trajectory of COVAX Facility and longevity of COVAX AMC

Table B presents a summary of the perceived risks, challenges and limitations to operationalizing the multi-stage evaluation, alongside proposed mitigating measures and recommendations to take forward.

#### Table B - Risks, challenges and limitations

Risk, challenge, limitation	Mitigating measure(s)
The evaluation scope of work does not meet all stakeholder needs, particularly with respect to the global health community's desire for holistic reporting on the extent to which COVAX has been able to (i) address power imbalances to ensure equitable access to COVID-19 vaccines and (ii) support efforts that inform future pandemic preparedness efforts.	Significant efforts have been made during the evaluability assessment phase to elicit a broad range of views on the evaluation purpose and scope, which have informed the proposed evaluation design and the communications and learning plan. The proposal for holistic formative-summative evaluation processes, interspersed with rapid reviews in select areas to inform learning, and continuous learning led by the ELU is designed to best meet needs. With respect to the specific request referenced, fully answering this question would require a broader remit than this evaluation's focus on just the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC. We propose to mitigate this risk to the extent possible through this evaluation with methods such as political economy analysis, to explore how power imbalances and political and economic concerns and incentives have influenced design and implementation decisions in the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC, and country decision-making processes on whether and how to engage with the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC. It is, however, recommended that Gavi work with other COVAX implementing partners to integrate/align this evaluation process with others conducted on similar topics and other areas of COVAX to learn lessons more holistically.
Fatigue within the Office of the COVAX Facility and other COVAX implementing partners, and limited bandwidth to engage with the evaluation, may reduce ability to obtain all of the most relevant data sources and solicit sufficient evidence to robustly answer EQs.	<ul> <li>While country stakeholders and the staff of COVAX implementing partners are extremely busy and will have limited time to engage with the evaluation, the evaluability assessment process did indicate strong interest and willingness to do so. Nonetheless, a number of steps are included within the proposed approach to mitigate this risk:</li> <li>The proposed evaluation design and methods are made in part based on the availability of stakeholders to engage in the evaluation process.</li> <li>The expectations for stakeholder engagement for each evaluation exercise are clearly presented in this report, alongside the implications of this not being met.</li> <li>Efforts will be made to reduce the evaluation footprint, such as by minimizing the number of requests of each stakeholder, holding focus group discussions where feasible, making use of web-surveys and remote working (including for interviews and learning events) where possible.</li> <li>Agreement on the timing of each evaluation exercise will be based, in part, on stakeholder availability.</li> <li>Sufficient time to collect data will be built into the workplan for each evaluation exercise, designed to give greater flexibility to stakeholders on when to provide their inputs.</li> </ul>
Limited involvement of broader stakeholder groups (i.e. beyond the core partners directly engaged in implementing COVAX) in data collection may affect perceived or actual objectivity and independence of evaluation findings.	<ul> <li>Ensure engagement with a broad set of stakeholder groups/constituencies representing the key bodies and working structures involved in the governance, management and implementation of COVAX, and specifically the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC. Of particular importance is the need to engage with a broad range of representatives from the Global South, and specifically Advanced Market Commitment 92 (AMC92) country representatives and civil society representatives, as well as key partners (e.g. the African Vaccine Acquisition Trust (AVAT), the Pan American Health Organization (PAHO), the United Nations Children's Fund (UNICEF) and the World Health Organization (WHO)).</li> <li>Steps are also proposed to ensure that the evaluation has good governance and oversight itself, including with:</li> <li>An owner within Gavi, anticipated to continue to be from the ELU, working in strong collaboration with the Office of the COVAX Facility.</li> <li>A steering and technical advisory group internal to the evaluation team to guide the evaluation and to act as a broker, as needed, with external stakeholders.</li> <li>An evaluation team with strong internal capacity to implement the evaluation, a robust methodology and workplan in place, access to required data, and strong quality assurance function, led by a senior evaluation expert, to ensure that the evaluation is implemented as intended and in adherence to best practice and ethical guidelines.</li> <li>An advisory panel to the Gavi Secretariat to advise on quality, fitness for purpose, and risk. We note that the Evaluation Steering Committee and Evaluation Advisory Committee jointly meet this need.</li> </ul>
Different perspectives and understandings of the intervention logic may make it difficult to develop a single ToC that is	Our approach to evolving the ToC has involved: (a) eliciting various stakeholders' existing conceptions of how the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC is expected to work; and (b) constructing a single model that is evaluable but seeks to represent the diversity of stakeholder perceptions elicited. We have not yet conducted the planned participatory exercise to systematically explore and build consensus around the ToC for the evaluation. This

universally accepted, thus reducing buy-in among some stakeholders.	workshop should take place at the outset of the proposed formative review and baseline study with this purpose in mind and to ensure that the ToC is sufficiently well developed to be evaluable. It is recommended that the Gavi ELU support the facilitation of this workshop.			
Stakeholder views and perspectives may be influenced by the high level of commentary on COVAX in the media and academic and gray literature.	<ul> <li>While we cannot guarantee that stakeholder inputs are not influenced by the media, political context and commentary surrounding COVAX, steps are proposed to mitigate the risk that the data collected by the evaluation (and subsequent findings, conclusions and recommendations) might reflect such stakeholder bias. The steps are as follows:</li> <li>Selection of a cross-section of stakeholders to be interviewed, including the broad set of stakeholder groups/constituencies involved in the governance, management and implementation of the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC. Of particular importance is the need to engage with a broad range of representatives from the Global South, and specifically AMC92 country representatives and civil society representatives, as well as key partners (e.g. AVAT, PAHO, UNICEF and WHO). This will enable us to speak to informed experts able to assert their own independent viewpoints and different world viewpoints – cutting through the media discourse and commentary, to help us form independent and well-rounded judgments.</li> <li>Ensuring the positionality of the respondent is recorded (beyond job title and organization), as this will help at analysis stage to separate out and triangulate different findings from different stakeholder groups.</li> <li>Triangulation with other evidence, and how this has been established and evolved over time, and building in of flexibility to pursue emerging or unexpected lines of enquiry.</li> </ul>			
The evolving nature of the pandemic and the intervention logic for the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC may limit the applicability of EQs, findings, conclusions and recommendations.	Through the ToC development process we will seek to capture the evolution of the intervention logic over time. Recognizing the responsiveness of the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC design to an evolving context, each stage of the evaluation will start with an update of any revisions of design and strategy since the last assessment. The ToC will be updated as needed. Every stage of the evaluation will include a ToC situation assessment and assess the relevance, coherence and appropriateness of design choices, including the decision-making process as well as the content of any design revisions. This response will be appropriate for most changes to the intervention logic. However, it may not cover all eventualities (e.g. where COVAX was ceased midterm or where the design was changed so much that prior evaluation efforts became redundant). In such a situation, the evaluation scope of work and design would need to be immediately revised. We have proposed periodic evaluation processes, with stage-specific questions at each juncture, interspersed with rapid reviews on specific issues of interest. We have also proposed an approach and methods that major on understanding the importance of context to implementation and results. This will allow the evaluation to ensure it is asking relevant questions and will take account of the evolving context at any given moment in time. We also note that, while the evaluand design has been highly dynamic in its first two years of operations, we could also reasonably expect it to reach more of a steady state in years to come.			
A number of aspects of the evaluation may be highly sensitive and possibly contentious, for instance when seeking to understand the incentives, relationships, and distribution and contestation of power between stakeholders engaged in the design and operationalization of the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC. This may result in some stakeholders seeking to discredit the evaluation findings in order to avoid addressing the issue(s).	We recognize the timeliness of this independent evaluation and the high stakes involved, and have set out an approach to deliver robust, evidence-based insights in response to the EQs and to meet the evaluation purpose. Conducting evaluative work can involve delivering difficult messages on things that may not be working as well as they should, or that could be done differently. We are mindful of the intensity and level of effort the COVAX implementing partners have invested in establishing the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC and delivering results, and in response our communication will always be clear, constructive and appreciative, but we will not shy away from being critical where we feel it is needed. We will work hard to build relationships with key stakeholders to facilitate constructive exchanges, ensuring that what we say is always grounded in sufficiently robust evidence. This will include engaging with our Technical Advisory Group to ensure that messaging is tailored appropriately and, where needed, comes from the right people. It is further recommended that the Gavi ELU ensure that the steps proposed to ensure good governance for the evaluation are fully adopted (see above) to further reduce the risk that the evaluation findings are unfairly criticized or discredited.			

Some causal pathways in The evaluation will not evaluate other COVAX implementing partners but will consider the the ToC are not able to be interconnectedness of roles, responsibilities and ways of working between implementing fully explored and partners to facilitate COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC results. It will do this in two ways: understood, due to a lack of It will draw on the findings, conclusions and recommendations of other evaluation • data and evidence on the processes and evidence on the design, implementation and results of their work (i.e. completion of non-Gavi CEPI's role in development and manufacturing; WHO's role in policy and allocation; and COVAX implementing UNICEF's and PAHO's roles in procurement and delivery). This will aid an understanding partner activities and of how the ToC has played out in practice. results. This may mean that It will consider the 'contribution' of Gavi to areas that multiple COVAX partners jointly only partial responses to administer, particularly those areas that Gavi is not primarily responsible for (e.g. EQs can be provided. allocation, country readiness support, procurement and delivery).

> It is recommended that the Gavi ELU maintain contact with COVAX implementing partners and other groups (e.g. the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) COVID-19 Global Evaluation Coalition) to keep abreast of other evaluation processes and gain access to documents as soon as possible.

#### Evaluation activities for Phase 1 (2022–23)

Formative review and baseline study design – to be conducted in 2022

The design of the formative review and baseline study will broadly follow the outline of the multi-stage evaluation presented above. This will review what has worked well and less well to date in designing and operationalizing the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC and take a snapshot of progress against the ToC at this point in time. As such, it will meet both an overall accountability and learning purpose in and of itself, as well as collecting baseline data essential for measurement of progress over time on the effectiveness and performance of the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC.

More specifically, the scope of work for the four evaluation modules will focus on:

**Right things (design):** The evaluation will interrogate whether the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC and its components were and remain relevant to the problems they were designed to address, by assessing: (1) whether the ToC/intervention design (and revisions) are appropriate and based on evidence and with clear assumptions; (2) what change in the pandemic or geopolitical context prompted design revisions; (3) whether and how stakeholders were involved in original design and subsequent revisions; (4) whether any design changes are needed for course correction; and (5) whether lessons can be learned for future pandemic responses.

**Right way (implementation):** A formative, learning-focused assessment of implementation progress for each of the operational and programmatic areas of the ToC:

- Operational domain: These EQs interrogate whether the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC have been implemented successfully, by conducting an overall assessment of the extent to which the program has been implemented according to plans, with a specific focus on the extent to which (1) the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC management structures and governance arrangements are fit for purpose, (2) risk management processes have been fit for purpose, (3) the costs of setting up the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC were reasonable and appropriate, and (4) stakeholder engagement and communication has been appropriate.
- Programmatic domain: This is focused on understanding if resource mobilization, market shaping, procurement and delivery, equitable allocation and CRD inputs, activities and outputs have been implemented successfully and as intended.

**Right results:** The evaluation will seek to understand the available evidence on the achievement of outcomes and goals (intended and unintended), the contribution of the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC to these results, and the barriers and enablers to their achievement.

**Learning:** Summarizing and prioritizing lessons learned, building on the work done under the earlier modules (to inform immediate course correction) and on what can be learned from other agencies, arrangements and contexts and applied for the achievement of intended outcomes and impact. This will

include opportunities for transformative learning, for instance on the overall design of the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC and the contextual constraints which influence this design, as well as implications for future pandemic preparedness.

Having constructed an 'evaluation' ToC, the principal methods for the evaluation will be as follows:

- **Political economy analysis** will be used to identify the political and practical dimensions of designing and operationalizing a global vaccine procurement and delivery mechanism, and to analyze the appropriateness of the selected design within the context of the incentives, relationships, and distribution and contestation of power between the different stakeholders engaged and with interests in its design and operationalization.
- **Benchmarking** will be used in a variety of ways across the scope of work, including to benchmark design decisions against criteria to assess the appropriateness of decision making, and to establish if the right systems, processes and capacities were/are in place through comparison with established norms, standards, best practices and comparator organizations.
- **Process tracing** will be used to assess whether intended actions and activities have been implemented as intended, and whether the linkages and assumptions underpinning the ToC have worked as intended, and where this is not the case explore how and why not. This will include analysis of alternate explanations for observed results and of unintended consequences and barriers and enablers to the achievement of results.
- **Root cause analysis** will be used to analyze the underlying causes of observed issues or challenges during implementation, where the root causes are not well understood.
- **Contribution analysis** will, building on findings from other methods, be used to understand how and why the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC has contributed to observed outcomes.

A robust approach to synthesis will enable the generation of well-rounded, evidence-based responses to high-level EQs, overall conclusions and recommendations.

Data collection will necessarily involve a broad review of the available documentation and literature, as well as information sources providing data and evidence of relevance to the evaluation. It will also involve a series of country case studies, purposively sampled, to triangulate the data collected from other sources and extend the data collected to capture country-specific experiences and contexts that will enrich the findings for a number of EQs.

It is recommended that the evaluation seek to engage with a broad set of stakeholder constituencies representing the key bodies and working structures involved in the governance, management and implementation of the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC. Of particular importance is the need to engage with a broad range of representatives from the Global South, and specifically AMC92 country representatives and civil society representatives, as well as key partners (e.g. AVAT, PAHO, UNICEF and WHO). Such efforts will accommodate the limited time some stakeholders are able to devote to the evaluation, such as by minimizing the number of requests of each stakeholder, holding remote interviews and focus group discussions where feasible, and making use of web-surveys. Although it is possible to reduce the evaluation's access to stakeholders for interview, this will have implications for the scope, scale and quality of work.

Other evaluative activity for Phase 1 of the evaluation

**Rapid reviews** are proposed to support the Office of the COVAX Facility in responding to particular areas of need – i.e. to generate learning where it is needed quickly to influence course correction; generate a better understanding of the implementation context; and/or evaluate in detail the efficiency, effectiveness, sustainability or equity of COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC programmatic areas. The topics indicatively proposed related to CRD, the humanitarian buffer and/or securing supply.

**Continuous learning**, led by the Gavi ELU, will be supported by the evaluation team through the facilitation of dedicated 'learning point' meetings, sense-making and/or recommendation co-creation workshops, and updates to plans for communication, learning and dissemination for the Office of the COVAX Facility/Gavi ELU to implement.

#### Recommendations to operationalize Phase 1 of the evaluation

Assuming that the proposed design options are agreed and accepted, a number of recommendations are made to operationalize the evaluation approach:

- Gavi should work with other COVAX implementing partners to integrate/align this evaluation process with others to more fully answer bigger-picture questions than this evaluation (which is focused on Gavi and COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC) will be able to – for instance in relation to whether, how and why COVAX as a whole has been able to address power imbalances to ensure equitable access to COVID-19 vaccines.
- Sufficient resources should be devoted to the evaluation function to ensure that:
  - The Office of the COVAX Facility/Gavi ELU is sufficiently capacitated to implement a continuous learning function, as supported by the evaluation, and can help to ensure that methodologies and findings are well understood, as well as guiding and coordinating the formative-summative evaluation work and rapid reviews, particularly if these are conducted by different evaluators.
  - Formative-summative evaluations holistically cover what has worked well and less well in the design, set-up and implementation of the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC, and in terms of what results have been achieved.
  - Rapid reviews can be conducted, outside of the core formative-summative evaluation work, to respond to particular areas of need.
  - A good governance function is maintained (e.g. with a well-resourced 'owner' of the evaluation within the Gavi Secretariat/Office of the COVAX Facility, and continued Evaluation Steering Committee and Evaluation Advisory Committee functions).
  - A strong evaluation team is selected with internal capacity to implement the evaluation, with a robust methodology and workplan in place, access to required data, and strong technical advisory support across the scope of work and quality assurance function.
- Efforts should be made by the ELU and others within the Gavi Secretariat and Office of the COVAX Facility to ensure sufficient stakeholder engagement in line with the evaluation plan developed, for instance to meet expectations for key informant interviews (KIIs), workshops, sense-making and co-creation activities.
- The Gavi ELU should maintain contact with COVAX implementing partners and other groups (e.g. the OECD COVID-19 Global Evaluation Coalition) to keep abreast of other evaluation processes and gain access to documents as soon as possible.
- Strengthen data availability on the recipients of COVID-19 vaccines, including disaggregation by vulnerable populations in participant countries, by taking steps to improve Electronic Joint Reporting Form (eJRF) reporting completeness, triangulating data from other sources, and/or undertaking special studies.

## **1. Introduction**

As a co-lead for COVAX, the vaccines pillar of the Access to COVID-19 Tools Accelerator (ACT-A),⁴ Gavi coordinates the COVAX Facility (a global risk-sharing mechanism for pooled procurement and equitable distribution of COVID-19 vaccines) and administers the COVAX Advanced Market Commitment (AMC; an innovative financing mechanism to frontload Official Development Assistance (ODA) and donations for vaccines among 92 middle- and lower-income countries that cannot fully afford to pay for COVID-19 vaccines themselves, and to ensure fair and equitable access).

The COVAX Facility design was conceptualized by the Coalition for Epidemic Preparedness Innovations (CEPI), Gavi and partners (representatives from vaccine manufacturers) and with input from experts and stakeholders, including the Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation (BMGF), the United Nations Children's Fund (UNICEF), the World Health Organization (WHO), the World Bank and developing countries, civil society and donors.⁵

Alongside Gavi, COVAX is co-led by CEPI (lead for vaccine development and manufacturing) and WHO (lead for policy and allocation), alongside key delivery partners UNICEF and the Pan American Health Organization (PAHO) in the Americas. Its overall aims are to accelerate the development and manufacture of COVID-19 vaccines and to guarantee fair and equitable access for every country.

Despite the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC being designed to distribute and ensure access to COVID-19 vaccines based on principles of equity and fairness, the global distribution of COVID-19 vaccinations administered to date has been heavily skewed towards higher-income countries. Equity and fairness are at the heart of the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC's design and can be considered in at least three ways: in the distribution of and access to vaccines across country income categories (i.e. high-income countries, middle-income countries and low-income countries); in the distribution of and access to vaccines between individual countries; and in the distribution of and access to vaccines within countries, such as between geographical areas and population groups and by gender. Taking the former, while recent estimates suggest that 113 vaccine doses have been administered per 100 population globally, this figure stands at just over 14 doses per 100 population in lower-income countries.⁶ These statistics have led to COVAX receiving negative press and criticism in some well-respected journal articles. However, the full set of factors driving these headline statistics has not been fully analyzed or articulated.

The overarching objective of this phase of the evaluation is to establish a robust evidence base to support a timely and effective multi-stage evaluation of the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC. Given emerging gaps between plans and practice, the rationale for the evaluative work laid out in the Request for Proposals (RfP) is strong. This is critical to shaping and steering the way forward through the provision of insights across the continuum of design to initial implementation, and to set the course for a robust evaluation and learning approach in the future. In line with the requirements set out in the RfP, this phase of evaluative work has been operationalized in two stages:

- 1. An **evaluability assessment** to assess the coherence and completeness of the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC design (evaluability in principle), the availability of data (evaluability in practice) to answer the evaluation questions (EQs), and the usefulness of doing so.
- 2. Refining and preparing an appropriate and robust **multi-stage evaluation design**, directly informed by the findings and recommendations for strengthening evaluability and/or appropriate design set out in the evaluability assessment.

⁴ The ACT-A was launched in April 2020 to convene governments, multilateral organizations, private sector and civil society partners to coordinate, fund, develop and equitably deploy COVID-19 tools to bring about the end of the COVID-19 pandemic. Its four technical partnerships, led by nine partners, consist of three vertical pillars (vaccines, therapeutics and diagnostics) and a cross-cutting health systems connector.

⁵ Gavi. (2020, June 24). Report to the Board, 05 – COVID-19 Vaccine Development, Access and Delivery.

https://www.gavi.org/sites/default/files/board/minutes/2020/24-june/05%20-%20COVID-

¹⁹_Vaccine%20Development%20Access%20and%20Delivery_Corrected.pdf ⁶ World Health Organization. (2021, November 25). *COVID-19 Dashboard, Situation by Region, Country, Territory and Area*.

https://covid19.who.int/table. As at 24 January 2022.

This report has benefited from extensive feedback provided by the Gavi Evaluation and Learning Unit (ELU), Secretariat and Office of the COVAX Facility, and a broad range of other stakeholders engaged in the operationalization of COVAX, as well as a broader set of stakeholders with an interest in COVAX. A summary of this feedback and our response to it is provided in Annex 20.

## 2. Evaluability assessment

The purpose of the evaluability assessment is to systematically and robustly assess the state of readiness for an evaluation.⁷ This provides the foundation on which to design the evaluation. Given the high-profile and global importance of the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC, we understand that the evaluability assessment is not an exercise to determine 'if' the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC are ready to be evaluated but rather to pinpoint 'how' they can best be evaluated in the desired time frame and within a reasonable resource envelope to meet stakeholder needs. In light of this, the evaluability assessment has involved a substantial document review and broad stakeholder engagement to understand and stress-test the current COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC design/Theory of Change (ToC), assess the availability to data to answer the EQs, and highlight the weaknesses and gaps that are critical to address in order for a robust evaluation to proceed.

It includes an assessment of the coherence and completeness of the intervention design (evaluability in principle), the availability of data (evaluability in practice), and the usefulness of the potential evaluation. These are framed around 26 questions, set out in Annex 4.

The sections below present the EQs against which the evaluability assessment is made. The EQs are grouped by 'evaluation module' to provide an organizing framework and structure to the assessment, as follows: (1) right things (design); (2) right way (implementation); (3) right results; and (4) learning.

Evaluability in principle is dealt with entirely under Module 1: right things (design). Evaluability in practice and usefulness are discussed under each of the modules. A detailed description of the evaluability assessment methodology and process is provided in Annex 4, with findings presented in Annex 6.

#### 2.1 Right things – Design

Table 1 sets out the list of EQs within the right things (design) module. The evaluability assessment is conducted on these EQs. The final set of EQs – presented in Section 3.2 – has been somewhat revised based on the findings of the evaluability assessment.

Table 1 - EQs used for evaluability assessment (Module 1)

1	Is the intervention design and logic underpinning the COVAX Facility and AMC clear, relevant, evidence-based and understood by all stakeholders?
1.1	To what extent and how did external stakeholders and COVAX partners contribute to the original program design, and what impact did this have?
1.2	<ul> <li>How effective and appropriate is the design of the COVAX Facility and AMC, including proposed market shaping strategies, to achieving the intervention outcomes and goals?</li> <li>A - To what extent does the intervention logic capture the geopolitical context shaping supply, demand and access to COVID-19 vaccines (including related to intellectual property rights and patents, trade secrets and transparency, and sharing of data and technology)?</li> <li>B - How strategic and appropriate were the choices and trade-offs made in designing the intervention?</li> </ul>
1.3	What assumptions underpin the intervention logic, and have they been upheld?

**Evaluability in principle: The evaluability assessment found that the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC design is complicated but coherent. Further work is required to clarify all areas of the intervention logic to ensure it is fully evaluable.** The COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC is a system that encompasses many interacting global agents, serving a range of different functions across a number of sectors, requiring

⁷ This aligns with Itad's understanding of evaluability, which is based on the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development's Development Assistance Committee (OECD DAC) (2002) definition – the 'extent to which an activity or a program can be evaluated in a reliable and credible fashion'. (oecd.org/dac/evaluation/2754804.pdf, p. 21)

feedback from recipient countries and communities to refine ideas and adjust approaches. Drawing on a range of literature in this area, the system can be usefully framed as one that moves from being 'complicated' at the activity and output end of the results chain to one that is increasingly 'complex' as it progresses towards impact.⁸ (Annex 7provides more details.)

A ToC for the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC has been developed by Gavi which well represents the primary areas of responsibility for each partner but does not elaborate on the causal pathways for the specific programmatic components of the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC (i.e. resource mobilization, market shaping, procurement and delivery, equitable allocation, and country readiness and delivery (CRD)), and nor does it comprehensively include assumptions.⁹ Another version of the ToC was developed by the evaluation team to further elaborate on the intervention causal pathways; we refer to this as the 'evaluation ToC' (see Annex 8). This has benefited from feedback by the ELU, but the evaluability assessment did not include the planned participatory exercise with wider Office of the COVAX Facility staff to systematically explore the ToC, to document assumptions, and to build consensus around it. This workshop should take place at the outset of the proposed formative review and baseline study to ensure that the ToC is sufficiently well developed to be evaluable.

Despite the uncertain context, emergency response and unprecedented approach employed by COVAX, the overall intervention logic and causal chain presented in the evaluation ToC is clear and coherent. However, specific components of the ToC are not. For instance, the COVAX vision of 'end the acute phase of the pandemic by the end of 2021' was never clearly defined nor plausible.

**Evaluability in practice: There is sufficient data available to assess the relevance, coherence and appropriateness of COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC design.** There is substantial internal and external documentation available explaining the intervention design – original and evolving objectives, design choices, trade-offs and assumptions – and causal pathways from inputs through to impact.¹⁰ Internal stakeholders, including COVAX implementing partner staff and experts involved in the original design, are largely still engaged and available for interview. Various other stakeholders, including participating countries, civil society representatives, regional stakeholders, vaccine manufacturers, researchers and policymakers are also available to inform a rounded understanding of the political and economic context of the pandemic, the response, and how the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC design responded to external challenges and opportunities. However, all stakeholders, particularly the staff of COVAX implementing partners and participating country representatives, are extremely busy and will have limited time to engage with the evaluation, although through the evaluability assessment they have indicated strong interest and willingness to do so.

An important component of the evaluability assessment is to consider the potential to use counterfactual analysis.¹¹ While counterfactual analysis could theoretically support a number of areas of the evaluation, it is difficult to define a counterfactual for the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC, due to its unique character as the first and only global procurement and delivery mechanism. Counterfactuals where the distribution of COVID-19 vaccines are left solely to market forces or where the COVAX implementing partners had not come together to collaborate are not convincing, primarily as these partners were already collaborating on vaccine access prior to the pandemic and it is unrealistic to consider that they would not have done so for the biggest public health emergency in a lifetime. More realistic is a counterfactual where the organizing governance and management functions of COVAX, and specifically the Office of the COVAX Facility, were not established to formalize 'COVAX' as an entity and where, for instance, COVID-19 vaccines were

⁸ For instance, using the Stacey matrix (Zimmerman, B.(2001). *Ralph Stacey's Agreement & Certainty Matrix*. Edge-Ware Aides. Toronto: York University) and David Snowden's Cynefin framework (Snowden, D. J. and Boone, M. E. (2007). *A Leader's Framework for Decision Making*. Harvard Business Review, November edition. https://hbr.org/2007/11/a-leaders-framework-for-decision-making).

⁹ Although the intervention logic and overall COVAX Facility design were agreed at the COVAX launch in April 2020, a ToC was drafted later, during implementation. The first draft was presented to the Gavi Board in December 2020 and served to develop a reporting framework and indicators; a second draft ToC was developed in June 2021 to frame the multistage evaluation. A next version, integrating the COVAX 2022 strategy, is under development.

¹⁰ These include updates for Gavi technical and governance bodies (Board, Program and Policy Committee), investment cases for prospective AMC donors and self-financing participants.

¹¹ Counterfactual analysis explores what would have happened in the absence of an intervention.

incorporated into Gavi's existing portfolio and business model, without any expansion beyond Gavi-eligible countries. Such a counterfactual may have some merit but is likely to be difficult to conceptualize and operationalize for analysis. More practical would be a narrower counterfactual where we consider how different design options across specific programmatic components would have played out ('what if'), recognizing that the COVAX design was relatively simple when it started and became more complicated over time in response to stakeholder needs. One such alternative design choice counterfactual may be to understand if/how technology transfer could have been prioritized and included within the intervention design. Comparators also exist and could be applied at a high level (e.g. to compare to the Gavi business model) for the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC and for-specific strategies such as market shaping, resource mobilization and delivery support.¹²

**Usefulness: There is broad stakeholder interest in the evaluation of the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC design.** Stakeholder feedback suggests that Gavi and COVAX partners are primarily interested in improving the design of specific areas of the ToC. Other stakeholders, including the 92 AMC countries (AMC92), donors and the broader development and global health community are more interested in a holistic, independent assessment of the relevance and appropriateness of the overall design and strategic decisions that were taken from the outset, as well as in the processes and level of stakeholder engagement leading to decision making. Particular areas of interest include:

- The design choice to be a global purchasing and allocation mechanism (i.e. for all countries)
- The appropriateness of specific market shaping strategies, combining push and pull mechanisms
- The appropriateness and feasibility of the allocation mechanism design, based on principles of equity and fairness
- The relative balance between efforts focused on scaling vaccine procurement and scaling countrylevel delivery.

#### 2.2 Right way – Implementation

Table 2 sets out the list of EQs within the right way (implementation) module. The evaluability assessment is conducted on these EQs. The final set of EQs – presented in Section 3.2 – has been somewhat revised based on the findings of the evaluability assessment.

Table 2 - EQs used for evaluability assessment (Module 2)

#### No. EQs

2	To what extent have the COVAX Facility and AMC been implemented as intended and efficiently, including in a timely and agile manner?
2.1	What risks/challenges were encountered during the implementation of the COVAX Facility and AMC, and how were these mitigated/resolved?
2.2	How appropriate and relevant are the COVAX Facility and AMC management structures and governance arrangements?
2.3	To what extent were the estimated costs of setting up and implementing the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC in terms of finances and staff allocation reasonable and appropriate?
2.4	To what extent have relevant external stakeholders been engaged throughout implementation in the manner intended, and what factors affected engagement?
2.5	How effective was the resource mobilization strategy of the COVAX Facility and AMC?

**Evaluability in practice: Overall, there is sufficient data available to assess implementation. There are, however, some limitations with the data, which will require significant evaluation work to compensate for.** A clear business case exists and, due to a functional COVAX Reporting Framework which is mapped to the COVAX ToC, there are indicators, targets and means of verification for activities and outputs. This Framework is referenced and used to provide regular updates to Gavi technical and governance bodies.¹³

¹² Comparator analysis explores how others have approached and dealt with similar issues.

¹³ For instance, through updates and reports to the Board, PPC, Audit and Finance Committee and risk reports, as well as in internal communications.

There are, however, some limitations of the data available to assess implementation for some areas of the ToC and EQs:

- Despite a wealth of information on implementation progress/decision points, data points are not always aligned with each other, and it is likely that some will be contested. For example:
  - While many decisions related to management structures and governance arrangements (EQ 2.1.1) have been documented in official meetings, some processes and decision points cannot be traced to official meetings or are not aligned with official documentation.
  - Despite data on what and when financial resources were committed and made available (EQ 2.1.3), there is not a fully triangulated account of why any delays occurred. This may be a contentious area but it is also critical to understanding the appropriateness of design.
- There is a need to interpret implementation progress in the context of the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC being set up as an emergency response to a public health emergency and highly uncertain operating environment.

To overcome these challenges, we see a need for a forensic analysis of timelines, with the EQs being addressed in phases that align to the evolution of the pandemic response. At each phase it will need to be agreed what 'good' looked like, with objective criteria established to assess the appropriateness of decision making. Such work should recognize that COVAX was operating in an emergency mode in an unprecedented situation.

The assessment also highlighted that the wording of some sub-EQs was vague and could lead to misunderstanding/different expectations on the scope of work. To address this, we have suggested amendments to provide greater clarity and focus to the questions. In addition, the current sub-EQs focus only on the operational components of the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC and do not cover the specific programmatic implementation components (market shaping, procurement and delivery, equitable allocation and CRD). Stakeholder interviews consistently raised the need to interrogate each of these areas in the multi-stage evaluation. Specific questions (EQs 2.2.1–2.2.5) on these areas have been added to the revised questions presented in Section 3.2 and for the evaluation design.

There is scope to use comparator analysis for those EQs focused on identification of risks, management structures and governance arrangements, costs of implementing the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC, and stakeholder engagement.

Usefulness: There is significant interest from all stakeholder groups on questions related to the operational and programmatic components of implementation. This includes feedback from countries participating in COVAX, civil society representatives, donors and development banks, and national/regional public health ministries and agencies. The interest in these areas is from both a formative perspective (to better understand what has worked well and what has not in terms of implementation, in order to inform course correction) and a summative/accountability perspective (to generate objective assessments of whether implementation has been successful). In relation to the latter, it should be noted that there are significant and varied views on performance among different stakeholders, which reinforces the need to focus on developing and agreeing objective criteria against which progress can be assessed.

Particular areas of interest for the evaluation to explore, as highlighted by stakeholders interviewed, include: the processes in place to communicate and engage with stakeholders; whether internal systems and processes are appropriate to working in an emergency setting, given that they utilize Gavi capacites; clarity of roles and responsibilities and the appropriateness of governance structures to guide decision making and ensure accountability; and the importance of transparency in dealings between vaccine manufacturers, COVAX and participating countries, who have also engaged in bilateral procurement, to achieving COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC goals and objectives.

## 2.3 Right results

Table 3 sets out the list of EQs within the right results module. The evaluability assessment is conducted on these EQs. The final set of EQs – presented in Section 3.2 – has been somewhat revised based on the findings of the evaluability assessment.

Table 3 - EQs used for evaluability assessment (Module 3)

No. EQs

3	To what extent have the COVAX Facility and AMC contributed to the achievement of intended outcomes and impact?
3.1	<ul> <li>To what extent have the intended intermediate outcomes been achieved?</li> <li>A - Did COVAX Facility market shaping strategies achieve their intended objectives (including rapid development of vaccine portfolio, increased manufacture, pooled demand, secure supply)?</li> <li>B - How well was the COVAX Facility &amp; AMC able to solicit participation of SFP and AMC countries?</li> <li>C - Did the COVAX Facility &amp; AMC allocate vaccines among participating economies and countries as intended?</li> <li>D - Were COVAX Facility &amp; AMC efforts to support vaccination program delivery in-country provided as intended?</li> </ul>
3.2	To what extent have the COVAX Facility and AMC achieved (or to what extent is it likely to achieve) intended high-level outcomes and impact? A - Rapidly increased equitable distribution of vaccines across countries, including in fragile and conflict-affected states. B - Delivering vaccination to intended vulnerable populations in participant countries. C - Reducing morbidity, mortality and the socioeconomic impact of the pandemic. D - Ending the acute phase of the COVID-19 pandemic globally.
3.3	How have the COVAX Facility and AMC contributed to the achievement of these outcomes and impact within the global geopolitical and economic landscape of actors involved in development and delivery of COVID-19 vaccines?
3.4	What evidence is there to suggest unintended consequences and results beyond the ToC, including in relation to any effects of the COVAX Facility and AMC on routine immunization efforts?

**Evaluability in practice: Overall, there is sufficient data available to assess results, albeit with some anticipated challenges with data availability and the complexity of the evaluand, which complicates analysis of causality.** The COVAX Reporting Framework, supplemented by some other documents and information sources (see Annex 9), provides indicators, targets and means of verification to assess progress towards intermediate outcomes, outcomes and impacts across the programmatic areas of the ToC.

There are, however, some gaps in the availability of outcome data on the recipients of COVID-19 vaccines, and specifically whether vaccines are being administered to intended vulnerable populations in participant countries. While the electronic Joint Reporting Form (eJRF) requests disaggregated data by population group, the level of reporting completeness is variable. National Vaccine Deployment Plans (NVDPs) and Vaccine Request Forms articulate detail on whether and how countries intend to prioritize vulnerable populations, and some countries may collect and make available disaggregated vaccine coverage data as part of their national reporting, and/or this may be provided qualitatively to Gavi/partners or in some form of media/Civil Society Organization (CSO) reporting. As such, answers to this part of the EQ may be reliant on estimates and/or the collation of country data outside of official COVAX reporting channels, which may be challenging to collect. In addition, while the COVAX Reporting Framework includes impact metrics on reducing morbidity, mortality and the socioeconomic impact of the pandemic, the methodology is still under development and is unlikely to be able to provide a quarterly snapshot of progress.

In terms of assessing the contribution of the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC to observed outcomes (EQ 3.3), this will require significant data collection from the various stakeholders engaged to understand – building on the work conducted to assess implementation – the role of the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC vis-à-vis the role of others, and the context in which the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC were/are operating. Particular consideration will be required to understand the constraints of country delivery capacity and vaccine hesitancy to the achievement of results. The assessment is also complicated by the complexity of the evaluand – notably with many different project components and multiple interactions of different stakeholders, which makes the attribution of causes to identified effects challenging – as well as the timing of the intervention and the extent to which achievement of overall impacts and goals is realistically expected during the evaluation period. As such, an evaluation approach that can provide rigorous assessment of causality over time, and is based on a thorough understanding of the context and operating environment, is recommended.

There is a significant body of gray and academic literature on COVAX, which provides a starting point for identifying unintended consequences and results (EQ 3.4), as well as efforts by the Office of the COVAX Facility to report on some potential instances (e.g. on vaccine diversion and misuse). On the unintended consequence specified in the question – effects on routine immunization efforts – there is a good level of aggregate data availability and existing literature on disruptions to routine vaccination caused by COVID-19, including by UNICEF and WHO. This is also included within the scope of work for the ongoing evaluation of Gavi's initial response to COVID-19, which will report findings in late 2022. However, the link between the operationalization of the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC itself and any disruption to routine immunization is less clear. Possible links to explore may relate to delays in supplying COVID-19 vaccines, damage to Gavi's reputation, and loss of trust in Gavi's wider business model and other vaccines, thereby contributing to vaccine hesitancy.

Usefulness: There is significant interest in an assessment of the results of the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC, and of the reasons why intended results were or were not achieved. A significant body of stakeholders, including AMC92 countries, donors and the broader development and global health community, are primarily interested to understand whether COVAX has been able to influence fair and equitable access to COVID-19 vaccines. This applies across country income categories (i.e. high-income countries (HICs), middle-income countries (MICs) and low-income countries (LICs)), between individual countries, and in the distribution of and access to vaccines within countries (e.g. by geographical area and population group). Multiple stakeholders were also interested to explore the impact of the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC on routine immunization and Gavi's routine work.

Stakeholders had a clear appetite to understand whether the objectives of the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC were achieved. This was most often expressed through the lenses of design and implementation choices: i.e. how the intentions of design elements and the nature of implementation led to and/or affected results, and the 'what if' scenarios surrounding decision points. The need to contextualize results was also raised a number of times, accounting for factors outside of Gavi's control (e.g. related to country delivery capacity and vaccine hesitancy) and the evolving nature of outcomes in response to external events. Staff of the Office of the COVAX Facility, Gavi and COVAX partners expressed a desire for the evaluation to situate such analysis within the context of the emergency response to COVID-19 and to consider the power imbalances and other exogenous factors that have affected COVAX's ability to deliver results. Many stakeholders were also interested to learn lessons from such analysis to inform future pandemic preparedness, for instance to understand whether the geopolitical and political context needs to change to improve the efficiency and effectiveness of future pandemic responses and if/how ACT-A and COVAX-type mechanisms should be replicated or fundamentally changed as part of this response.

#### 2.4 Learning

Table 4 sets out the list of EQs within the learning module. The evaluability assessment is conducted on these EQs. The final set of EQs – presented in Section 3.2 – has been somewhat revised based on the findings of the evaluability assessment.

Table 4 - EQs used for evaluabili	ty assessment (Module 4)
-----------------------------------	--------------------------

No. EQs

4	What lessons can be drawn on the design and implementation of the COVAX Facility and AMC?
4.1	To what extent have systems and processes been established to capture, collate and disseminate learning around identified needs/gaps?
4.2	What are the most important barriers and enablers to achieving the outcomes and goals in the COVAX ToC at all levels of implementation?
4.3	What are the priority learnings from implementation of the COVAX Facility and AMC to inform: A - course correction for the COVAX Facility and AMC? B - implementation of Gavi 5.0? C - future pandemic preparedness and vaccine innovation and access?
4.4	What can be learned from other agencies/arrangements/contexts and applied to the COVAX Facility and/or AMC for the achievement of intended outcomes and impact?

The findings of the evaluability assessment presented above impact on the quality and availability of lessons learned for several of the learning EQs (4, 4.2, 4.3, and 4.4), as these questions will draw on findings from these components. EQs 4.1 and 4.4 require separate evaluability assessment.

**Evaluability in practice: There is sufficient data available to answer the learning EQs, albeit with the caveats outlined in the sections above.** Some lessons learned are already available through Program and Policy Committee (PPC) and Board meeting minutes on design and implementation at the global level. Lessons from the first round of vaccine allocation are documented and available in AMC Engagement Group and Shareholders Council meeting reports. Further, the 2021 MM Global Health (MMGH) Consulting review¹⁴ provides learning insight on decision-making processes used in designing COVAX, as well as consideration for future design adjustments.

Barriers to effective implementation have also been documented. For example, the Gavi COVAX AMC Investment Opportunity provides lessons learned on challenges and enablers in six key areas.¹⁵ In addition, a significant amount of externally produced observation and reflection is available in media reports, as well as reports authored by academic institutions and other agencies with an interest in COVID-19 vaccines. This externally produced documentation will help to contextualize and provide triangulation material for lessonlearning. This covers the programmatic areas of the ToC in particular (resource mobilization, market shaping, procurement and delivery, equitable allocation and CRD). There is, however, a gap in the evidence on how implementation in these areas influences the achievement of results, and the evaluation should prioritize data collection and analysis in this area. For this reason, we recommend that EQ 4.2 be retained in the evaluation scope of work but situated within Module 3 on right results.

As highlighted above, another gap relates to lessons learned from participating countries on which population groups are receiving vaccines and how/whether equitable distribution is being achieved. This has implications for the Gavi 5.0 learning priority to understand how to reach zero-dose communities. We understand that there is a potentially rich pool of qualitative learning available through WHO regional teams, who host regular webinars to engage with countries through questions and answers (Q&A). It will be important to access these resources during the multi-stage evaluation. Country-level learning is also available through the Better Immunization Data (BID) Initiative library¹⁶ (a learning network between countries and between regional and global partners) and via additional learning networks.¹⁷ Further, we understand that Gavi country programs and communication staff are engaging with country implementers on a regular basis. The quality of these resources is potentially high, given the direct and real-time nature of their capture. It will be necessary to determine if this data can be triangulated (for instance with civil society) and how evaluation activity can access these lessons learned in a timely and systematic way.

Working sessions with the ELU suggest there is a significant amount of rapid, day-to-day learning that could be drawn on to support the evaluation. This learning takes place organically but is identified by the ELU, which supports the commissioning of rapid reviews and maintains a 'learning library' of the learning materials the ELU team is aware of (although we understand that much day-to-day learning is not necessarily documented or shared with the ELU team in a systematic way). A formative evaluation approach could respond to this gap (a) through stocktake and reflection and (b) by ensuring synthesis products respond to specific learning needs identified in collaboration with the ELU.

In terms of potential learning from comparator agencies/arrangements/contexts, there are a lot of potentially comparable agencies and arrangements to explore for specific programmatic areas of the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC model – i.e. resource mobilization, market shaping, procurement and delivery, equitable allocation and CRD – with much documentation available online to facilitate analysis. As such, comparator analysis could be conducted within Modules 1 and 2, and learning from these analyses synthesized for EQ 4.4. There is also felt to be scope to learn from experiences across country contexts, and

¹⁴ MM Global Health Consulting. (2021). *Documentation Project: To synthesis core design decisions taken on the COVAX Facility and AMC*. ¹⁵ Gavi. (2021). *One World Protected – The Gavi COVAX AMC Investment Opportunity*. https://www.gavi.org/sites/default/files/covid/covax/Gavi-COVAX-AMC-Investment-Opportunity.pdf

¹⁶ BID Initiative. Resource Library. https://bidinitiative.org/resource-library/

¹⁷ E.g. Geneva Learning Foundation, TechNet, etc.

we propose an additional evaluation question to focus on this specifically: *What can be learned from a comparison of countries' experiences of securing maximum possible vaccination supply, and applied to the COVAX Facility and/or AMC for the achievement of intended outcomes and impact?* This additional question would allow exploration of how countries across the income spectrum have responded to the realities of sourcing vaccines differently. This would encompass identifying which agencies and/or arrangements each has drawn down on, or not, and why. We note the potential to increase the scope of this question further to look at country approaches to maximizing vaccine coverage, which would enable analysis of within-country equity (e.g. between geographical areas and population groups and by gender). However, we do not expect this to yield such interesting learning for the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC, and as such do not propose this to be included within the scope of work.

**Usefulness: There is clear demand and need for learning to meet the evaluation purpose and stakeholder needs.** This includes generating and disseminating learning, to influence COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC course correction as well as operationalization of the Gavi 5.0 Strategy, and to inform future pandemic preparedness. This includes the need for *transformative learning* in order to challenge, for instance, the context in which some design decisions were taken, whether the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC were the right mechanisms to tackle the issue of equitable access to COVID-19 vaccines, and what that might mean for future pandemic preparedness.¹⁸

The main challenge related to usefulness is the dynamic context in which the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC operates. Learning needs and priorities can change from week to week, which presents challenges for ensuring that evaluation work is timely enough to meet those needs. In such a dynamic context, this will require commitment from the ELU and Office of the COVAX Facility to a formative evaluation approach and making good use of anticipated 'learning points' and other meetings. EQ 4.1 – on the strength of Gavi/COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC systems and processes to capture, collate and disseminate learning – is not considered as high a priority as others.

#### 2.5 Overall evaluability

Overall, the assessment, based on a substantial review of the available literature and information systems as well as broad stakeholder engagement, finds the following.

#### **Evaluability in principle**

**The COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC design is complicated but coherent.** Across the many different project components, COVAX implementing partners work in interconnected ways to fulfill roles and responsibilities that facilitate COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC results. The COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC ToC seeks to provide clarity on these areas of responsibility, but does not comprehensively map out causal pathways nor document assumptions related to the intervention itself or the broader context. The 'evaluation ToC' takes this work further but has not been completed. As such, further work is required to clarify all areas of the intervention logic to ensure it is fully evaluable. Periodic changes to the design will need to be fully analyzed through the evaluation in order to understand how and whether these changes are coherent and influencing implementation progress and results over and above the prior design.

#### **Evaluability in practice**

Overall, sufficient data is available to assess the design, implementation and results of the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC to satisfy accountability needs and to generate learning to inform course correction and future pandemic preparedness. Substantial internal and external documentation is available explaining the intervention design – original and evolving objectives, design choices, trade-offs and assumptions – and causal pathways from inputs through to impact; implementation progress; emerging results; and lessons

¹⁸ Transformative learning theory was developed by Jack Mezirow in the late 1900s. He used this theory to describe how people develop and use critical self-reflecting to consider their beliefs and experiences and, over time, change dysfunctional means of seeing the world. Mezirow was interested in people's world views and what leads people to change their particular view of the world. Transformative Learning Theory (Mezirow) - Learning Theories (learning-theories.com).

learned to date, including on barriers to effective implementation. Nonetheless, some decision points are not documented and may be contested, which will require triangulation of multiple data sources. There is a need to interpret implementation progress in the context of the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC's role in the pandemic response and the wider operating environment, which has been highly political and dynamic, having evolved substantially over time. As such, it will be important for the evaluation to determine what 'good' looked like at different points in time, recognizing that COVAX was operating in emergency mode in response to an unprecedented situation. Given the complexity of the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC design and its operating environment, assessing its contribution to observed results will also be challenging and require significant analysis and triangulation of data sources.

Given how recently COVAX was established, key internal and external stakeholders are mostly still engaged and are expected to be able to provide detailed information in response to the EQs and the political and economic context in which COVAX was operating. Accessing these stakeholders through key informant interviews (KIIs) and focus group discussions will be critical to generating the evidence required to answer the EQs robustly, especially those where significant analysis and triangulation are required. While country stakeholders and the staff of COVAX implementing partners are extremely busy and will have limited time to engage with the evaluation, the evaluability assessment process did indicate strong interest and willingness to do so.

There are, however, gaps in the availability of outcome and impact data and some disconnect between the EQs and the evaluation scope of work. There are challenges in obtaining complete data on the targeting and administration of vaccines among intended vulnerable populations in participant countries, and gaps in data regarding the health and socioeconomic impact of the intervention (the methodology for estimating the latter is under development). The evaluability assessment also highlighted that the EQs do not specifically cover all of the programmatic areas of the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC ToC, i.e. market shaping, procurement and delivery, equitable allocation and CRD. As such, there is some scope for differing expectations on the scope of work.

#### Usefulness

There is substantial interest in the evaluation across a range of stakeholders. However, stakeholders have different needs and expectations from it. Among the stakeholders interviewed, there was an even split of those who saw the evaluation's primary use as being to generate learning and those who saw it as being to serve an accountability purpose.¹⁹ More specifically, COVAX implementing partners are most in need of – in the short term at least – rapid learning to inform course correction. As noted above, the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC design is expected to continue evolving, and there is potential for the evaluation to influence and inform design decision making. The Gavi Board requires that the evaluation be used as part of good governance to demonstrate accountability for the use of ODA and achievement of results to donors, investors and countries participating in COVAX. This is broadly aligned to a strong expectation from many other stakeholders for a holistic evaluation that seeks to understand whether COVAX has been able to overcome power imbalances to ensure equitable global access to COVID-19 vaccines and to generate transformative learning for future pandemic preparedness.

¹⁹ Themes of particular interest across accountability and learning include equity, sustainability and the implications of COVAX for Gavi's 'routine' business model. Within learning objectives, learning for course correction and for future pandemic responses is deemed most important, with a desire for lessons to inform course correction more urgently. This was echoed in online survey responses. Around a third of those interviewed are keen to see detailed learning on programmatic areas, especially around market shaping but also more broadly on learning from end to end of the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC change pathway. Another third of key informants are interested to learn about the organizational and governance mechanisms in place, particularly to understand whether the right mix of partners is engaged and whether the division of labor is appropriate. A quarter of key informants suggested the need for the evaluation to have a broader focus, not just exploring COVAX but including exploration of the wider operating environment, including within ACT-A. Other areas of need, mentioned less often, include: exploring communication; and engagement with AMC countries.

### 2.6 Recommendations to strengthen evaluability

A number of recommendations are drawn from the evaluability assessment and taken forward into the evaluation design:

- 1. Consider ways for the evaluation to balance different stakeholder needs and expectations from the evaluation. While this evaluation can help answer part of the question on whether COVAX has been able to ensure equitable global access to COVID-19 vaccines and can aid lesson-learning for future pandemic preparedness its focus on just the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC will not allow for a full answer. The evaluation can, however, align to other evaluation processes conducted on similar topics and other areas of COVAX in order to learn lessons more holistically and to seek to understand how and whether equity (i) has been a central principle in the design of the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC (equity in process), and (ii) is reflected in the results achieved (equity in outcomes).²⁰ Equity should be considered in at least three ways:
  - in the distribution of and access to vaccines across country income categories (i.e. HICs, MICs and LICs);
  - in the distribution of and access to vaccines between individual countries; and
  - in the distribution of and access to vaccines within countries, such as between geographical areas and population groups and by gender.²¹
- 2. Further develop the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC ToC to elaborate on the causal pathways and comprehensively include assumptions explicit, implicit, documented and undocumented. This should capture all previous and future design iterations. This process is underway and is a core component of the proposed evaluation design.
- 3. The evaluation is focused on Gavi and the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC, although it is unlikely to be possible or most helpful to evaluate these in isolation. Rather, the evaluation should consider the interconnectedness of roles, responsibilities and ways of working between agencies to facilitate COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC results.
- 4. Ensure that the evaluation considers the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC in the context of COVAX and ACT-A more generally and of the geopolitical and wider contextual factors at play. This will necessarily involve taking into consideration factors both within and outside of Gavi's direct control, and factors over which it has both higher and lower levels of control and can be held accountable for (see Annex 7).
- 5. Clarify the wording of some proposed EQs to ensure questions are evaluable and avoid misunderstanding/different expectations on the scope of work. We have sought to do this in the revised set of EQs within the proposed evaluation design in a number of ways, including the following:
  - A set of EQs has been included in the revised set of EQs for the evaluation design to understand implementation of specific programmatic implementation components (resource mobilization, market shaping, procurement and delivery, equitable allocation and CRD).
  - Deprioritize EQ 4.1 on the strength of Gavi/COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC systems and process to capture, collate and disseminate learning – from the evaluation scope of work, but recommend to Gavi that the monitoring, evaluation and learning (MEL) function has sufficient capacity to fulfill these functions on an ongoing basis.
  - Shift EQ 4.2 to 'right results' module to ensure evidence and findings are generated on how barriers and enablers to outcome achievement relate to the change pathways implicit in the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC ToC and to factors outside of Gavi's direct control.

²⁰ For examples on equity in outcomes, see UNICEF guidance (Section 3.1).

https://evalpartners.org/sites/default/files/EWP5_Equity_focused_evaluations.pdf

²¹ This is beyond the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC's sphere of responsibility and control, and may not be the focus of the evaluation.

- Include an additional learning EQ to understand what can be learned from a comparison of country experiences of securing maximum possible vaccination supply and applied to the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC for the achievement of intended outcomes and impact.
- 6. Ensure that the evaluation design is cognizant of limited stakeholder availability to engage with the evaluation and builds in sufficient flexibility to secure both broad-based inputs and the inputs of key stakeholders from COVAX implementing partners and participating countries.

These recommendations are made to the Gavi Secretariat and Office of the COVAX Facility to strengthen evaluability:

- Strengthen data availability on the recipients of COVID-19 vaccines, including disaggregation by vulnerable populations in participant countries, by taking steps to improve eJRF reporting completeness, triangulating data from other sources, and/or undertaking special studies in a sample of countries.
- 8. Finalize the methodology for impact metrics on reducing morbidity, mortality and the socioeconomic impact of the pandemic.

## 3. Multi-stage evaluation design

This section, developed based on the findings of the evaluability assessment, discusses the evaluation design. This is a multi-stage evaluation over a 10-year horizon, in line with the initially envisaged life span for the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC. Given that the intention is for the multi-stage evaluation (possibly following the formative review and baseline study) to be put out to tender, it is anticipated that, following normal procurement processes, elaboration of the evaluation approach and methodology will form a scoring part of the technical proposal in the tenderers' response. This would then be further developed in detail in the winning bidder's own inception phase.

Thus the scope of this section is not a detailed methodological prescription for conducting the multi-stage evaluation. It sets out: the purpose, principles and strategic direction of the multi-stage evaluation; the scope of work; proposed revisions to the EQs; and the broad outline of a suggested approach, including elements of its implementation.

Throughout the section a series of options and recommendations are presented and, based on the recommended course of action, further options and recommendations are made. These are summarized in Annex 19.

#### 3.1 Purpose and principles of the multi-stage evaluation

Across all stakeholders, the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC needs to be evaluated, for three main reasons:

- Learning is central to a flexible and adaptive approach to tackling complex problems in a dynamic environment to support course correction
- Good governance accountability and transparency
- Learning to inform future pandemic preparedness efforts.

In essence, these are accountability and/or learning purposes. They should not be seen as a dichotomy – an evaluation can be designed to serve both, for instance with learning used immediately to improve management and implementation, and with learning generated retrospectively at the end of a program to conclusively inform a policy, another funding initiative, or a future response.

The value of evaluation is predicated on it being useful and used. Given the institutional context for the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC and its multiple stakeholders, the multi-stage evaluation needs to promote learning and accountability at all levels. Given the significance of its role in responding to the COVID-19

pandemic, there is enormous stakeholder interest in the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC. Its evaluation has a range of stakeholders, who are the target audience for all or part of the evidence and learning generated. As highlighted above, each of these stakeholders has different interests in the multi-stage evaluation. (A communication and learning plan is set out in Annex 16, and a dissemination plan is set out in Annex 17.) The following are priority users and uses of the evaluation:

- Gavi Board, primarily to hold the Secretariat and Office of the COVAX Facility to account for their role in implementing the COVAX Facility and AMC, alongside other implementing partners, for the use of ODA and achievement of results to donors, investors and all countries participating in COVAX.
- COVAX implementing partners, particularly the Gavi Secretariat and Office of the COVAX Facility to
  enable (a) rigorous testing, learning and adjustment of the complex COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC
  model to ensure fitness for purpose within its operating environment and optimize the conditions for
  desired results to be achieved; and (b) comprehensive tracking of the progress and contribution of the
  COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC to intended results, with explanations of how and why this is or is not
  being achieved.
- The global health community writ large, including AMC countries, with a proactive focus on equity, to report objectively on the extent to which COVAX has been able to address power imbalances to ensure equitable access to COVID-19 vaccines and inform future pandemic preparedness.

### 3.2 Revised EQs

Table 5 sets out the list of core EQs which are designed to apply across the stages of the multi-stage evaluation. These have been revised from those presented in the RfP, based on the findings of the evaluability assessment, as discussed above and in Annex 4. As with the evaluability assessment, they have also been grouped by evaluation module as follows, which is discussed in Section 3.3: (1) right things (design); (2) right way (implementation); (3) right results; and (4) learning. The table also responds to recommendation 1 of the evaluability assessment by highlighting how equity will be considered in both the design of the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC (equity in process) and the results achieved (equity in outcomes).

Table 5 - Revised core EQs for the multi-stage evaluation

Evaluation module	EQ #	EQs (Bold = headline EQ)	Description/justification for revision	How equity ²² will be considered	
<b>H</b>	1	Is the design and intervention logic underpinning the COVAX Facility and AMC clear, relevant, inclusive and appropriate to enable achievement of intended outcomes and impact?	Condensed	Assessment of appropriateness will center around whether the design is aligned to the principles of equity and fairness	
1. Right things: Design	1.1	To what extent are the overall design of the COVAX Facility and AMC and specific strategies clearly justified and documented, and is the overall design clear and coherent?	Focus on design clarity: is there an (updated) ToC, are strategic choices clear	Exploring the implications of design choices for equity and how equity considerations were factored into prioritization	
	1.2	Recognizing the dynamic nature of the pandemic and geopolitical context, what design revisions were made since the original design, and why?	Focus on design revision: rationale	decisions	
	1.3	How did external stakeholders and COVAX partners contribute to the original design, and subsequent design revisions of the COVAX Facility and AMC, and what impact did this have?	Focus on design responsiveness: participation	Exploring whether all major stakeholder groups were sufficiently engaged in design decision-making processes and the implications of this for how equity considerations were prioritized	
	1.4	Are any design revisions needed for course correction? What are the design lessons for future pandemic responses?	Focus on design lessons – for now and later	Exploring the implications of design choices for equity	
<del>ر</del> ې؛ *رې؛	2	Have the COVAX Facility and AMC been successfully implemented?	Focus more broadly on implementation, with specifics of implementation covered under operational and programmatic domains	Assessment to understand whether equity in design is being operationalized as intended across operational and programmatic functions/components	
	2.1	Have the COVAX Facility and AMC been operationalized successfully? (operational domain)	2.1 and sub-questions 2.2.1–2.1.4 focus on operational domain		
2. Right way: Implemen t- ation	2.1.1	Have the COVAX Facility and AMC management structures/governance arrangements been fit for purpose?	Focus on appropriateness of management and governance	Exploring the implications of management and governance choices on equity – whether all major stakeholder groups were sufficiently engaged in key processes	
	2.1.2	Have the COVAX Facility and AMC risk management processes been fit for purpose?	Focus on appropriateness of risk management processes rather than specific risks	Analysis of the balance struck between managing financial risk and programmatic risk (i.e. the risk of not implementing or achieving programmatic targets) and the implications of this for equity	
	2.1.3	To what extent were the estimated costs of setting up and implementing the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC in terms of finances and staff allocation reasonable and appropriate?	Focus on how appropriate costs were in relation to scope and scale of work	Consideration of implications or trade-offs for equity	
	2.1.4	Has the level of stakeholder engagement and communication been appropriate?	Focus on appropriateness of engagement rather than extent of engagement	Exploring whether all major stakeholder groups were sufficiently engaged in implementation decision-making processes and the implications of this for how equity considerations have been prioritized	
	2.2	To what extent have the specific COVAX Facility and AMC programmatic/intervention areas been implemented successfully? (programmatic domain)	2.2 and sub-questions focus on the programmatic domain. These areas will be considered across all evaluation modules		

²² Equity and fairness are at the heart of the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC's design and can be considered in at least three ways: in the distribution of and access to vaccines across country income categories (i.e. HICs, MICs and LICs); in the distribution of and access to vaccines between individual countries; and in the distribution of and access to vaccines within countries, such as between geographical areas and population groups and by gender.

	2.2.1	To what extent has an appropriate resource mobilization strategy been established and implemented to secure adequate resources for full and timely implementation of intended activities?	Adapted from previous EQ 2.5	Exploring whether/how resource mobilization enabled/ hampered equity goals to be met	
	2.2.2	To what extent have market shaping activities been implemented to ensure that COVID-19 vaccines are accessible and affordable for lower-income countries?	_	Exploring whether products focused on reasonably meet the needs of all stakeholders	
	2.2.3	To what extent have the COVAX Facility and AMC supported procurement and delivery functions to ensure that COVID-19 vaccines are provided to participants as planned?	Added to address programmatic component of the ToC	Explicit focus on equity, including through analysis of cross- country and within-country allocation, distribution and access	
	2.2.4	To what extent have the COVAX Facility and AMC supported the operationalization of the allocation mechanism to ensure a fair and equitable distribution of COVID-19 vaccines?			
	2.2.5	To what extent have the COVAX Facility and AMC supported CRD to facilitate the rollout of COVID-19 vaccines at the scale required to achieve intended outcomes and impact?			
$\sim$	3	To what extent have the COVAX Facility and AMC, alongside the roles of other COVAX implementing partners, contributed to the achievement of intended outcomes and impact within the geopolitical and economic landscape?		Analysis to understand whether/how equity is being achieved in outcomes	
	3.1	To what extent have the COVAX Facility and AMC intended intermediate outcomes been achieved?	Focus on results under Gavi control	Explicit focus on equity, including through analysis of cross-	
3. Right results:	3.2	To what extent have the COVAX Facility and AMC intended outcomes and goals been achieved?	Focus on results beyond Gavi control	access	
Outcomes and impact	3.3	What is the evidence to suggest that the COVAX Facility and AMC incurred unintended consequences and results beyond the ToC, and what were the implications?	Focus on unintended results. Reframed to broaden out interest to any possible unintended consequences	Analysis of the equity implications of any unintended consequences (e.g. impact on health systems and access, vaccine hesitancy spilling over to routine immunization, etc.)	
	3.4	How have the COVAX Facility and AMC, alongside the roles of other COVAX implementing partners, contributed to achievement of outcomes and impacts within the global geopolitical and economic landscape?	Focus on contribution to impact	Exploring whether intervention has contributed to improvements in equitable cross-country and within-	
	3.5	What are the most important barriers and enablers to achieving the outcomes and goals in the COVAX ToC at all levels of implementation?	Understanding barriers and enablers to intended change	<ul> <li>country allocation, distribution and access; and barriers/enablers to this</li> </ul>	
	4	What lessons can be drawn from the design and implementation of the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC for course correction, Gavi 5.0, and future pandemic responses?			
1.5.2.1	4.1	What are the most important lessons learned through design and implementation experience that have implications for COVAX Facility and AMC course correction?	None		
4. Learning	4.2	What are the most important lessons learned through design and implementation experience that have implications for Gavi 5.0?	None	Summary of design and implementation findings and	
	4.3	What are the most important lessons learned through design and implementation experience that have implications for future pandemic responses?	None	learnings of relevance to equity	
	4.4	What can be learned from other agencies/arrangements/contexts and applied to the COVAX Facility and/or AMC for the achievement of outcomes and impact?	Focus on comparators	-	
	4.5	What can be learned from a comparison of countries' experiences of securing maximum possible vaccination supply and coverage, and applied to the COVAX Facility and AMC for the achievement of outcomes and impact?	Focus on country realities	Analysis will focus on how the principles of equity and fairness are realized from other settings	

## **3.3 Strategic direction and methodological approach for the multi-stage** evaluation

#### 3.3.1 Overarching evaluation structure and design

**To meet stakeholder needs, the evaluation approach should blend the principles of both (i) a periodic and phased formative-summative evaluation and (ii) real-time evaluation.** The findings of the evaluability assessment indicate a strong need and stakeholder demand (particularly from the Gavi Secretariat, Office of the COVAX Facility and other implementing partners – i.e. CEPI, UNICEF and WHO) for an evaluation function that uses evidence and supports rapid learning to support future design iterations. A 'real-time evaluation' approach would be suitable to meet this need – this is an evaluation that would collect data and report back findings in real time, or as quickly as practicable.²³

The EQs, however, stemming from the Gavi Board requirement (but also the expressed desire from stakeholders external to COVAX) for a fully independent and robust evaluation that meets an accountability objective, would require a more holistic evaluation of what has worked well and less well in the design, set-up and implementation of the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC, and in terms of what results have been achieved. A periodic and phased formative-summative²⁴ evaluation approach would typically meet this need – i.e. conducted at predetermined time intervals, where the scope shifts from design and early implementation at the outset and places more weight on assessing results over time.²⁵ Such an approach would also be appropriate for generating learning to inform course correction and transformative learning for future pandemic preparedness. However, such learning may not always come at the right times to inform course correction in a highly dynamic environment.

As such, a blended approach would be most appropriate.²⁶ This should enable the evaluation of specific components of the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC ToC in real time, as well as providing a coherent evaluation narrative on its overall contribution to outcomes and impact. In so doing, the approach can be learning and utilization-focused while still able to cover the entire ToC and scope of work (as required), provide full responses to the EQs, and meet the stated evaluation purpose on accountability. In practice, this will involve:

 periodic baseline, midterm and end-term evaluation exercises covering the full scope of work, including stage-specific questions (nested within the core EQs) of particular relevance to each point in time an exercise is conducted²⁷

²³ This would involve a series of real-time evaluations conducted on specific parts or causal pathways of the ToC, with a strong focus on generating learning (single, double and triple loop) to inform immediate course correction. For a comprehensive description, see

https://www.betterevaluation.org/sites/default/files/Real%20time%20evaluation%20paper%20Dec%202020%20FINAL.pdf

²⁴ Formative evaluation work would be designed to inform ongoing implementation. It must feed into learning systems and processes that allow course correction. Summative evaluation work would provide a regular evaluative process running from year to the end-term – i.e. the period from when initial outcomes should be emerging to when substantive impacts start to be seen. In complex adaptive systems, reflexive and social learning is necessary to understand non-linear effects – the evaluation will contribute to this ongoing learning and sense-making: 'In evaluating complex interventions we should settle for constantly improving understanding and practice by focusing on reducing key uncertainties'. Ling, T. (2012). *Evaluating complex and unfolding interventions in real time*. Evaluation, 18 (1), 79–91.

²⁵ This approach would start with a formative review and baseline study, followed by periodic evaluation exercises (e.g. annually, biannually, or just once through a midterm evaluation) and finish with an end-term evaluation.

²⁶ Itad has extensive experience in conducting large multi-stage evaluations which accompany the implementation of complex projects, where evidence is often phased and formative during implementation and builds towards a final summative assessment. For example, Itad's evaluation of the Global Challenges Research Fund (GCRF) – available from https://www.itad.com/project/evaluation-of-the-global-challenges-research-fund/ – utilizes a series of modules which progress and cumulatively build the evidence base. The first stage is about pre-conditions for success, moving in time to consider early-stage results (outputs) and then towards outcomes and impacts. Another example was Itad's evaluation of the Adolescents 360 programme – available from https://www.itad.com/project/evaluation-of-adolescents-360/

²⁷ The core EQs set out in Table 5 are framed at a relatively high level and are designed to stay fairly constant over the entire multi-stage evaluation (although more could be added, as needed). These will be answered through the formative-summative evaluations over time. Stage-specific EQs, nested within each of the core EQs, will be framed for each formative-summative evaluation process. These EQs will ensure that the evaluation is answering the most relevant questions and is focused on those questions that are possible to answer at any given moment in time.

 the flexibility to conduct 'rapid reviews' focused on specific parts of the ToC where learning is needed quickly (e.g. to address operational issues and influence rapid course correction).

Figure 1 illustrates the envisaged complimentary relationship between the formative-summative evaluation work, stage-specific EQs, rapid reviews, and wider COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC MEL function, and highlights the type of learning that could be generated at each stage.²⁸ Annex 14 provides more detail on how rapid reviews complement and add value to the formative-summative evaluations and continuous learning function.

We note the importance of having a continuous learning function to generating, collating (i.e. through the learning library), analyzing and using learning for immediate course correction and future pandemic preparedness. The evaluation can support this function through synthesis across all evaluation activity and the development of synthesis learning products, but the function should be led by the Office of the COVAX Facility/Gavi ELU. An approach for the evaluators and ELU to work together is set out in Annex 7.



Figure 1 - Complementarity between both (i) periodic and phased formative-summative evaluation and (ii) rapid reviews

**A complexity-aware, mixed-method design is most appropriate.** The COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC system is 'complicated' in and of itself and 'complex' as it engages in the real world to produce results. The scope of the evaluation (which must take account of the context, factors within and outside of Gavi's

²⁸ Single loop: Identifying discrepancies between planned and actual activities and results and suggesting ways to improve compliance, but without necessarily addressing the cause. Double loop: Exploring root causes of problems to revisit ToC assumptions and adjust systems, processes and/or capacities for implementation. Triple loop: Reviewing what evidence is being used and exploring how learning action happens to support decision making. Tarek, M. (2020, December 12). 06 Single Double Triple Loop Learning. [Video]. YouTube.

For example, questions about impact cannot generally be answered in the early years as there is a series of activity, output and uptake processes to go through to get to impact.

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=iWHOsnrsuPo; Rogers, P. (2021, April 15). *Why do we need more real-time evaluation*? Better Evaluation. https://www.betterevaluation.org/en/blog/why-do-we-need-more-real-time-evaluation

direct control, and factors over which it has both higher and lower levels of control and can be held accountable for) requires a complexity-aware design. This dictates that some approaches will be more relevant and feasible to application than others. Moreover, the type of questions being asked of the evaluation are a mix of 'how well', 'how much' and 'how' questions. The types of EQs, the demand for findings at different times for different uses, and the scale of the evaluation mean that no single method or approach will fully address the requirements of the evaluation. A mixed-method design is required.

#### 3.3.2 Overarching evaluation approach and method

It is recommended that the evaluation design be theory-based. Theory-based approaches to evaluation use an explicit ToC to draw conclusions about whether and how an intervention/program contributed to observed results.²⁹ A ToC provides a conceptual analytical model of how an intervention is expected to produce results. Alongside the inputs and sequence of events that lead to results (i.e. the intervention logic), the ToC describes the mechanisms of change, as well as the assumptions, risks and context that support or hinder the achievement of intended outcomes. As such, a ToC allows evaluators to better understand causal linkages and test these to verify the theory. Theory-based approaches are well suited to (and were originally developed to tackle) the evaluation of more complicated and complex interventions, and complement – and can be used in combination with – most evaluation methods and data collection techniques.

Annex 8 provides a detailed description of the 'evaluation' ToC constructed as part of the evaluability assessment for the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC. This 'version 0' ToC presents the core activities and outputs of the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC, plus intermediate and higher-level outcomes. The ToC also describes the main programmatic activity areas of the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC (i.e. resource mobilization, market shaping, equitable allocation and CRD) and captures the higher-level goals (i.e. health and socioeconomic change) to which the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC are intended to contribute. Once the ToC is fully developed (as part of the baseline process), the final EQs will be mapped to the ToC to enable the systematic testing of the theory to understand what is and is not working as intended over time. Importantly, as is highlighted in Annex 8, we recognize that the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC design and the context in which they are operating have evolved substantially over time and are likely to continue to do so. As such, and to ensure that the evaluation findings are as current as practicable, the ToC will require frequent revision and updating throughout the evaluation process.

**To assess COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC results, the evaluation should adopt a generative causation approach.** To meet the evaluation purpose, as set out in Section 3.1, the evaluation will need to make causal inference – i.e. to establish whether and how implementation of the COVAX Facility and AMC has contributed to observed results. As set out in

²⁹ Treasury Board of Canada Secretariat. (2009). *Theory-Based Approaches to Evaluation: Concepts and Practices*. http://www.tbs-sct.gc.ca/cee/tbae-aeat/tbae-aeattb-eng.asp

Table **6** (and described in more detail in Annex 7), there are four types of approach for establishing causeand-effect linkages.

Approach	Aspect of causal relationship	Type of causal question	Description of causal mechanism
Regularity framework ³¹	Association between single cause and effect	Did the intervention cause the effect? How much is the net effect of the intervention?	None
Counterfactual framework ³²			None
Configurational ³³	Association between configurations of conditions and effects; description of causal mechanism	What configurations of factors are necessary and/or sufficient for the effect?	Only basic ingredients are described: conditions, their combinations and disjunctions
Generative causation	Description of causal mechanism	How was the effect produced? How did it come about?	In-depth

Table 6 - Four types of approach for causal inference³⁰

*Regularity and counterfactual frameworks* are ruled out as the principal methodological approach since such approaches do not deal well with complexity, nor provide sufficient insight into the causal mechanism (i.e. how and why the mechanisms in question, operating in the prevailing context, generate social behavior and explain how outcomes were achieved). *Configurational approaches* are also ruled out since such approaches identify the ingredients of the causal mechanism but do not provide in-depth insight of how and why outcomes were achieved. Such insight is critical to answering the EQs and understanding how and why the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC have contributed to the achievement of intended outcomes and goals. Nonetheless, these methods may have some merit for inclusion in the evaluation approach in order to answer specific EQs or parts of EQs, likely in later evaluation phases when sufficient data on outcomes is available to facilitate the level of statistical analysis required.

*Generative causation approaches* are designed to identify the mechanisms and contexts that explain outcome patterns and so provide the most complete approach to causal explanation. These approaches rely on generating a strong theory of how the mechanism(s) interacts in the prevailing context to achieve the intended outcomes. For instance, we would expect to consider through this approach how the COVAX Facility acted to influence market shaping and was enabled and/or hampered by various contextual factors, such as those that related to vaccine manufacturers, regulators, policymakers, and other purchasers. This works with a theory-based approach to examine the extent to which and how an intervention has produced or influenced observed results.³⁴

Within the family of generative causation, theory-based evaluation (TBE) approaches, the overall multistage evaluation should primarily utilize contribution analysis and process tracing as the most practical methods to implement and directly answer the EQs. While a mixed-method design will be appropriate, there are benefits to adopting a consistent overarching overall approach and method, as outlined below. The influential Stern et al. paper on options for evaluation in international development³⁵ identifies two

³⁰ Befani, B. and Mayne, J. (2014). *Process Tracing and Contribution Analysis: A Combined Approach to Generative Causal Inference for Impact Evaluation*. Institute of Development Studies. IDS Bulletin, 45 (6), 17–36. https://core.ac.uk/download/pdf/43538408.pdf

³¹ Regularity frameworks that statistically analyze (e.g. through regression) the frequency of association between cause and effect are ruled out since data on outcomes is sparse and such approaches do not provide insights into the causal mechanism (i.e. the mechanisms and contexts that generate social behaviour and explain how and why outcomes were achieved).

³² Counterfactual frameworks determine the difference between two situations identical apart from the intervention in question. However, these quantitative approaches (e.g. randomized control trials) are not feasible since random assignment is not possible. Qualitative approaches are more feasible, yet – as set out in Section 2.1 – there are substantial challenges to defining an appropriate overall counterfactual for the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC, due to its unique character and the context in which it is operating. Narrower counterfactuals for specific parts of the ToC may help demonstrate causal linkage but will not provide holistic answers to the EQs on their own or provide insight on how and why change occurred.

³³ Configurational approaches identify a number of 'cases' with different attributes and seek to understand how the combination of these cases and attributes can explain variations in outcomes across contexts. This can be operationalized through qualitative comparative analysis to determine the conditions that are necessary and sufficient for an outcome to occur. Such approaches identify the ingredients of the causal mechanism but do not provide in-depth insight of how and why outcomes were achieved.

³⁴Treasury Board of Canada Secretariat. (2021, March 22). *Theory-Based Approaches to Evaluation: Concepts and Practices*. Government of Canada. https://www.canada.ca/en/treasury-board-secretariat/services/audit-evaluation/evaluation-government-canada/theory-based-approaches-evaluation-concepts-practices.html

³⁵ Stern, E., Stame, N., Mayne, J., Forss, K., Davies, R. and Befani, B. (2012). *Broadening the Range of Designs and Methods for Impact Evaluations* (Working Paper 38). Department for International Development.
types of approach to TBE that support causal inference – process-oriented and mechanism-oriented – though notes that these are usually inextricably interwoven:

- Process-oriented: Follows various causal links in a chain of implementation of an intervention, 'built around a "theory" that is a set of assumptions about how the intervention achieves its objectives and under what conditions'.³⁶ The most commonly used are contribution analysis and process tracing.
- Mechanism-based: In order to make a causal claim, a mechanism that 'makes things happen' needs to be identified. But mechanisms do not operate in a vacuum – the interaction with context is important. Mechanism-based evaluation seeks the connection between causes and effects through deep theoretical analysis, based on mid-range theories. This stems from a 'realist' perspective, and its most common method is realist evaluation.³⁷

Table 7 provides a quick comparison of contribution analysis and realist evaluation and suggests that either could be used to good effect to answer the EQs. However, the evaluability assessment findings (see Section 2.3), notably around the limited availability of stakeholders to engage with the evaluation, and the ability to directly answer the EQs of interest, suggest that contribution analysis and process tracing will be the most practical and useful methods to implement.

We note, however, the importance of understanding how the context has shaped and influenced design, implementation and results to ensure external validity – i.e. how well findings can be expected to apply to other settings. Our approach to implementing contribution analysis is set out in Section 4.1.3.3 and Annex 12. Approaching the evaluation in this way will involve repeatedly looping back to test evidence against the ToC on how and why change happens, and as such would allow for repeated updates to the ToC to be made across the phases of the evaluation. This approach will generate learning for immediate course correction and will deal well with the dynamic nature of the evaluand design and operating environment. Gaining an in-depth understanding of how well the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC have worked in the context of the COVID-19 pandemic response will also be useful for generating transformative learning on future pandemic responses.

Ivietnoa	How is it used?	Pros	Cons
<b>Contribution</b> analysis	<ul> <li>Used to understand the likelihood the intervention has contributed to an outcome observed through a step-by-step process which explores how the contribution would have come about, and uses a broad range of evidence to test this. This argues that a reasonable contribution causal claim can be made if: <ul> <li>There is a reasoned ToC for the intervention</li> <li>Activities of the intervention were implemented as per the ToC</li> <li>The ToC is supported and confirmed by evidence on observed results and underlying assumptions – the chain of expected results occurred. The ToC has not been disproved.</li> </ul> </li> <li>Other influencing factors have been assessed and <i>either</i> have been shown not to have made a significant contribution <i>or</i> their relative role in contributing to the desired result has been recognized.</li> <li>Findings are likely to be worded as 'Analysis suggests that X, alongside the contribution towards the achievement of outcome A'.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Useful where there is scope or opportunity to affect rollout of a program</li> <li>Able to confirm or revise a ToC</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Quality of analysis and contribution claim dependent on the quality of the thinking on the attribution problem and ToC</li> <li>Does not provide definitive proof that the intervention has had a causal effect but rather provides an evidenced logical line of reasoning which gives some level of confidence of a contribution</li> <li>Works on average effects – therefore should not be used if there is a large degree of variance about how a program has been implemented or an expectation of different outcomes for different groups</li> </ul>

Table 7 - Comparison of contribution analysis and realist evaluation

³⁶ Ibid.

³⁷ Pawson, R. and Tilley, N. (1997). *Realistic Evaluation*. Sage.

Used to understand 'what works, for whom and in what circumstances'. Specific, hypothesized causal mechanisms, in context, are articulated (Context + Mechanism = Outcome) and evidence is gathered to test each. The method recognizes that context determines how, or if, this causal mechanism operates. It is particularly appropriate for evaluating:

- new initiatives, pilot programs and trials, or programs that seem to work but 'who for and how' is not yet understood
- Realist evaluation
- programs that will be scaled up, to understand how to adapt the intervention to new contexts
- programs that have previously demonstrated mixed patterns of outcomes, to understand how and why the differences occur.

Findings are likely to be worded as 'remember A', 'beware of B', 'take care of C', 'D can result in both E and F', 'Gs and Hs are likely to interpret I quite differently', 'if you try J make sure that K has also been considered'.³⁸  Refines public policy theory through the testing of underlying theories of how social systems work

- Provides a method to undertake impact evaluation when a counterfactual unfeasible
- Builds the wider evidence base of an area by providing a framework for testing hypotheses that may be relevant beyond a particular intervention
- Is method-blind, in the sense that it is an evaluation design that can employ a variety of analytical methods with it
- Is time-consuming and resource-intensive for both commissioner and contractor
- Requires subject-matter expertise to undertake
- Depending on the design of the evaluation, it may not provide an average net effect of the intervention

# 3.4 Operationalizing the multi-stage evaluation

## 3.4.1 Scope of work

The evaluation is clearly focused on Gavi and the design, implementation and results of the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC. As per the ToC (see Annex 8), the scope of work has been broken down into both *operational* (i.e. management structures and governance arrangements, risk management processes, and stakeholder engagement and communication functions) and *programmatic* (i.e. resource mobilization, market shaping,³⁹ procurement and delivery, equitable allocation and CRD) aspects of the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC design.

While the evaluation should focus on Gavi and the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC specifically, it is unlikely to be possible or helpful to evaluate these in isolation. Rather, the evaluation must consider the interconnectedness of roles, responsibilities and ways of working between implementing partners to facilitate COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC results. The evaluation will do this in two ways:

It will not evaluate other COVAX implementing partners directly but will draw on the findings, conclusions and recommendations of other evaluation processes and evidence on the design, implementation and results of their work (i.e. CEPI's role in development and manufacturing; WHO's role in policy and allocation; and UNICEF's and PAHO's roles in procurement and delivery).⁴⁰ This will aid our understanding of how the ToC has played out in practice.⁴¹

³⁸ Realist Evaluation Learning Group. (2018, May 14). *Realist evaluation: is it worth it? Launching a new series reflecting on five years of realist evaluation practice at Itad*. Itad. https://www.itad.com/article/realist-evaluation-is-it-worth-it-launching-a-new-series-reflecting-on-five-years-of-realist-evaluation-practice-at-itad/

³⁹ We note that market shaping refers to the scope of activities intended and implemented by the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC, which may not be as comprehensive as articulated in the Gavi Market Shaping Strategy.

⁴⁰ This will include the WHO ACT-A Strategic Review (already conducted); CEPI mid-term review and C-19 report (already conducted); Independent Commission for Aid Impact (ICAI) UK aid response to COVID-19 (already conducted); World Bank evaluation of COVID-19 response to save lives and protect the poor (2021); Foreign, Commonwealth and Development Office (FCDO) annual review of COVAX AMC (Q1 2022); International Development Association (IDA)/ Norwegian Agency for Development Cooperation (NORAD) evaluation of ACT-A/COVAX (Q3/4 2022); and evaluation of UNICEF contribution to ACT-A (2023). Johnson, L. and M. Gamarra (2021) COVID-19 Global Evaluation Coalition, "How are the COVID- 19 response and recovery efforts being evaluated? Landscape analysis of National and International evaluations and reviews of COVID-19 response and recovery efforts." OECD, Paris, www.covid19-evaluation-coalition.org/documents/COVID- 19_Landscaping_paper_Sept_2021. ⁴¹ Specifically, the intended completion of other (i.e. non-Gavi) implementing partner activities and achievement of results will be included as assumptions within the ToC for the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC. Through the review of other evaluations and evidence on the design, implementation and results of their work these assumptions will be tested to gain an understanding of whether the ToC is working as intended.

• It will consider the 'contribution' of Gavi to areas that multiple COVAX partners jointly administer, particularly those areas that Gavi is not primarily responsible for (e.g. allocation, CRD support, procurement and delivery).

The evaluation should also consider the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC in the context of COVAX and ACT-A more generally, and of the geopolitical and wider contextual factors at play. While not in scope for this evaluation to evaluate directly, this will include gaining a thorough understanding of:

- The geopolitical context of vaccine manufacturing and bilateral procurement
- Global and country-level pandemic preparedness and response strategies (self-financing participants (SFPs) and AMC)
- Bilateral and multilateral development bank support for vaccines and programming.

As such, this will necessarily involve taking into consideration factors both within and outside of Gavi's direct control, and factors over which Gavi has both higher and lower levels of control and for which it can be held accountable.

## 3.4.2 Modules and methods

A multi-module design will provide an organizing framework and structure to the mixed-method approach. As stated above, no single method or approach will fully meet the evaluation needs; a mixed-method design is required. We propose four evaluation modules that provide a framework to organize the EQs and summarize the focus of the evaluation at different stages of the ToC. The modules enable a structured hybrid design whereby different methods can be employed for each module, according to where they are most fit for purpose. This is in line with best practice for complex and highly political initiatives, for which it is now widely argued that the best hope for 'generating trustworthy causal inferences' is through mixed methodology or multi-method evaluation designs.⁴²

In summary, our proposed modules, through a combination of methods, will cover the following:

- Module 1 Right things (design relevance and coherence):⁴³ The evaluation will interrogate whether the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC and its components were and remain relevant to the problems they were designed to address, by assessing: (1) whether the ToC/intervention design and revisions are appropriate and based on evidence and with clear assumptions; (2) what change in the pandemic or geopolitical context prompted design revisions; (3) whether and how stakeholders were involved in original design and subsequent revisions; (4) whether any design changes are needed for course correction; and (5) whether lessons can be learned for future pandemic responses.
- Module 2 Right ways (efficiency of implementation): The need to differentiate between (i) crosscutting EQs that focus on the operations of the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC and (ii) EQs that focus on the programmatic areas across the ToC is important for this module. We make this explicit by dividing the 'right way' questions into two parts:
  - Operational domain: These EQs interrogate whether the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC have been implemented successfully, by conducting an overall assessment of the extent to which the program has been implemented according to plans, with a specific focus on the extent to which (1) the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC management structures and governance arrangements are fit for purpose, (2) risk management processes have been fit for purpose, (3) the costs of setting up and implementing the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC were reasonable and appropriate, and (4) stakeholder engagement and communication has been appropriate.

⁴² Sanderson (2002). Evaluation, Policy Learning and Evidence-Based Policy-Making. Public Administration, 80, 1–22.

⁴³ The modules link with the OECD DAC criteria (https://www.oecd.org/dac/evaluation/revised-evaluation-criteria-dec-2019.pdf), with equity as a cross-cutting criterion. Sustainability is not explicitly referenced.

- Programmatic domain: This is focused on understanding if: resource mobilization, market shaping, procurement and delivery, equitable allocation and CRD inputs, activities and outputs have been implemented successfully and as intended.
- Module 3 Right results (effectiveness and impact): The evaluation will seek to understand the available evidence on the achievement of outcomes and goals (intended and unintended), the contribution of the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC to these results, and the barriers and enablers to their achievement.
- Module 4 Learning: Summarizing and prioritizing lessons learned, building on the work done under the earlier modules (to inform immediate course correction) and on what can be learned from other agencies, arrangements and contexts and applied for the achievement of intended outcomes and impact. This will include opportunities for transformative learning, for instance on the overall design of the COVAX Facility and AMC and the contextual constraints which influence this design, and implications for future pandemic preparedness.

Having constructed an 'evaluation' ToC,⁴⁴ the principal methods for the evaluation will be as follows:

- **Political economy analysis** will be used to identify the political and practical dimensions of designing and operationalizing a global vaccine procurement and delivery mechanism, and to analyze the appropriateness of the selected design within the context of the incentives, relationships, and distribution and contestation of power between the different stakeholders engaged and with interests in its design and operationalization.
- **Benchmarking** will be used in a variety of ways across the scope of work, including to benchmark design decisions against criteria to assess the appropriateness of decision making, and to establish if the right systems, processes and capacities were/are in place through comparison to established norms, standards, best practices and comparator organizations.
- Process tracing will be used to assess whether intended actions and activities have been implemented as intended, and the linkages and assumptions underpinning the ToC have worked as intended, and – where this is not the case – explore how and why so. This will include analysis of alternate explanations for observed results, and of unintended consequences and barriers and enablers to the achievement of results.
- **Root cause analysis** will be used to analyze the underlying causes of observed issues or challenges during implementation, where the root causes are not well understood.
- **Contribution analysis** will, building on findings from other methods, be used to understand how and why the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC has contributed to observed outcomes.

Annex 10 presents a detailed evaluation framework for the multi-stage evaluation, including proposed methods and data sources (documentation, information sources, KIIs, focus group discussions, websurveys, comparator case studies and country case studies) for each EQ. Annex 12 describes the analytical methods proposed and how they will be used in more detail.

## 3.4.3 Synthesis

**Framing the overall multi-stage evaluation within a theory-based approach will support cross-EQ synthesis and enable the formulation of strong responses to high-level EQs, overall conclusions and recommendations.** For analysis against individual EQs it will be important to draw together evidence from different data sources. This will be coded and used to populate standardized evidence matrices. This structured way of working and approach enables a systematic approach to collating, analyzing, summarizing and comparing data and findings against different elements of the ToC and for the EQs. This

⁴⁴ This will include: nested ToCs that focus on specific programme components; analysis of the supporting evidence base and assumptions; and a timeline of design iterations since launch. It will be revised and updated frequently throughout the evaluation process.

standardized approach also ensures that users of the final report are able to trace back from recommendations to specific findings and the data upon which they are based. It also enables a comprehensive and systematic approach to cross-EQ synthesis, which will be critical to developing well-rounded and robust findings against the high-level EQs, and in development of the overall conclusions on strengths and weaknesses, and recommendations on design, implementation and results. It is recommended that synthesis be conducted using a thematic analysis approach, or a variation with similar attributes. This involves systematically identifying significant, reoccurring or common patterns/themes and summarizing them under thematic headings. Themes are then related to each other and grouped into larger overarching categories.^{45,46}

We expect synthesis to take place regularly and at multiple levels, including:

- Country case study level: Analysis of data and synthesis of findings at individual country case study level and across country case studies
- By module: Analysis of data against individual EQs synthesized through the lenses of right things, right way, right results and learning
- By programmatic area: Analysis of data synthesized through the lenses of resource mobilization, market shaping, procurement and delivery, equitable allocation and CRD
- Cross-module: Analysis of data synthesized to identify overall strengths and weaknesses
- *For equity:* Synthesis to understand how equity has been considered in both the design of the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC (equity in process) and results achieved (equity in outcomes) (see Table 5).

The synthesis process should involve a series of steps to ensure a systematic, rigorous qualitative analysis, as set out in Annex 12.

It will be important to work alongside the Office of the COVAX Facility to co-create conclusions and recommendations. These processes work best where stakeholders have seen draft findings in advance and have had an opportunity to provide initial comments. Allowing this before the workshop will help to ensure that stakeholders provide a more reflective perspective, which, based on our experience, generates a more conducive environment for thinking through overall conclusions and recommendations on how best to move forward. For the avoidance of doubt, while the co-creation process should help to build consensus on conclusions and recommendations, these should remain the responsibility of the independent evaluators, who must be free to reject suggestions of others if it is felt appropriate to do so.

## 3.4.4 Phasing of evaluation activity

**Evaluation activity should be phased to ensure that outputs are relevant and useful and meet the overall evaluation purpose.** As above, baseline, midterm and end-term formative-summative evaluations should cover the full scope of work (i.e. EQs across all four modules, including all cross-cutting programmatic modules)⁴⁷ and be designed to meet an accountability and learning objective. These evaluation processes should be tailored – through stage-specific EQs – to ensure that the evaluation is answering relevant questions and is focused on those questions that are possible to answer at any given moment in time. For example, questions about design will be a high priority at the baseline; however, questions on impact cannot generally be answered at this stage as there is a series of activity, output and uptake processes to go through to get to impact.

⁴⁵ Gale, N. K., Heath, G., Cameron, E. *et al.* (2013). Using the framework method for the analysis of qualitative data in multi-disciplinary health research. BMC Med Res Methodol 13, 117. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2288-13-117

⁴⁶ Braun, V. and Clarke, V. (2006). *Using thematic analysis in psychology*. Qualitative Research in Psychology, 3:2, 77–101. DOI: 10.1191/1478088706qp063oa.

⁴⁷ I.e. resource mobilization, market shaping, procurement and delivery, equitable allocation and CRD.

As shown in Table 8, we divide the evaluation life span into three phases and consider the relative emphasis on the scope of work across each phase. Each formative-summative evaluation would be interspersed with 'rapid reviews' focused on specific parts of the ToC where learning is required (e.g. to address operational issues and influence rapid course correction). Annex 14 illustrates how rapid reviews complement and add value to the overall formative-summative evaluations and continuous learning function led by the Office of the COVAX Facility/Gavi ELU.

Stage-specific EQs and rapid review topics will be aligned to Secretariat learning needs and will provide useful evidence, findings and recommendations to inform course correction and efforts to strengthen future pandemic preparedness.

The formative review and baseline study, midterm reviews and end-term evaluation would be timed to ensure that findings, conclusions and recommendations are made available at least two months prior to either the April/May or October PPC meeting, ensuring that evaluation outputs are also available to inform the subsequent May/June and November Board meetings each year. This would mean conducting an indicative six-month evaluation process between either August and January or February and July. The exact timing and scope of work, as determined by stage-specific EQs, should be agreed separately for each evaluation process, in part based on the expected content of each PPC/Board meeting it is being timed to coincide with and inform.

We provide a summary of the primary users for each of the EQs in Annex 10 (Table 20) and an overview of when different types of evaluation findings (i.e. findings on course correction versus future pandemic preparedness) are likely to be produced, to meet different evaluation user needs anticipated, in Annex 16 (Table 25).

The flexibility to conduct rapid reviews when evidence is needed will improve the chances that learning comes at the right time to inform course correction in a highly dynamic environment.

Table 8 - Overall staged arrangement of evaluation activity

Stage and type of evaluation activity	When
<b>Phase 1: Formative review and baseline study:</b> Learning-focused formative review of design and set-up to highlight what has worked well and less well. Central focus on Module 1 and Module 2. Reduced focus on Module 3.	2022 to 2023
<b>Phase 2: Midterm review(s):</b> Conducted periodically (e.g. annually or biannually) from the formative review and baseline study through to end-term evaluation. Scope would shift from formative/process evaluations focused on Module 1 and Module 2 in earlier years to place more weight on summative evaluations focused on Module 3 over time.	2024 to 2027
Phase 3: End-term: Summative evaluation covering full scope but focused primarily on Module 3.	2028 to 2030
<b>Rapid reviews:</b> Conducted in targeted technical/thematic areas as needed, but outside of other evaluation work listed above.	Throughout

Figure 2 presents the envisaged areas of focus within the evaluation scope and how this will evolve over time and at different phases of the evaluation. This includes:

- **Phases:** As shown in orange, the 10-year evaluation lifespan is split into three phases covering the need for periodic baseline, midterm and end-term evaluation exercises. Rapid reviews would be conducted flexibly across those phases, alongside continuous learning led by the Gavi ELU.
- **Modules:** The four modules and high-level questions for each are presented in green on the lefthand side with the green arrows running from left to right indicating the relative emphasis placed on each across the evaluation phases.
- **Programmatic areas:** The five programmatic areas identified in the ToC are presented in blue. Each of the areas will be considered at each phase but at different levels of intensity, as indicated by the diagonal arrows. This is dictated by the information that is available and what is most useful to be answered at a given moment in time.

Figure 2 – Multi-stage evaluation plan

			COVAX Facil	ity and AMC external, for	mative-summative evaluation	ation phases	
		Phase 1 (2022–2023): Forr and baseline assess	native review sment	Phase 2 (2024–2027) midterm e	: Periodic summative valuations	Phase 3 (2028–2 end-term	030): Summative evaluation
				Rapid evaluations in areas	of particular interest/need		
	Right things: Is the design and intervention logic underpinning the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC clear, relevant, and appropriate?	Predominant focus d	uring the formative revi	ew and baseline study			
modules	Right way: Have the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC been successfully implemented?				Continued focu	is throughout formative-summ	native evaluation phases
Evaluatior	Right results: To what extent have the COVAX Facility and AMC contributed to the achievement of intended outcomes and impact?				Increasing focu	us throughout formative-summ	native evaluation phases
	Learning: What lessons can be drawn on the design and implementation of the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC?	Continued focus throughout formative-summative evaluation phases			ses		
		Strong focus in formative baseline study, as well a	review and s midterm	Continued for evaluation	cus throughout on phases	Increasing foc evaluatio	us throughout in phases
		Re	source mobilization	Market shaping	Equitable allocation	Procurement and delivery	Country readiness
				Cross-cutting pro	ogrammatic areas	1	

 $\ast$  Subject to change and/or refinement based on the trajectory of COVAX Facility and longevity of COVAX AMC

# 3.5 Risks, challenges and limitations

The evaluability assessment has raised a number of potential risks, challenges and limitations to conducting the multi-stage evaluation, as set out in Table 9 alongside proposed mitigation strategies. Specific recommendations are also included, which are summarized/repeated in Section 4.3.

Table 9 - Risks, challenges and limitations

Risk, challenge, limitation	Mitigating measure(s)
The evaluation scope of work does not meet all stakeholder needs, particularly with respect to the global health community's desire for holistic reporting on the extent to which COVAX has been able to (i) address power imbalances to ensure equitable access to COVID-19 vaccines and (ii) support efforts that inform future pandemic preparedness efforts.	Significant efforts have been made during the evaluability assessment phase to elicit a broad range of views on the evaluation purpose and scope, which have informed the proposed evaluation design and the communications and learning plan. The distinction between (i) holistic formative-summative evaluation processes conducted every one to two years, interspersed with rapid reviews in select areas to inform learning, and (ii) the continuous learning function provided by the ELU, conducted alongside these, is designed to best meet all stakeholder needs. With respect to the specific request referenced, fully answering this question would require a broader remit than this evaluation's focus on just the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC. We propose to mitigate this risk to the extent possible through this evaluation with methods such as political economy analysis, to explore how power imbalances and political and economic concerns and incentives have influenced (a) design and implementation decisions in the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC, and (b) SFP and AMC countries' decision-making processes around whether and how to engage with the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC.
	areas of COVAX to learn lessons more holistically.
Fatigue within the Office of the COVAX Facility and other COVAX implementing partners, and limited	While country stakeholders and the staff of COVAX implementing partners are extremely busy and will have limited time to engage with the evaluation, the evaluability assessment process did indicate strong interest and willingness to do so. Nonetheless, a number of steps are included within the proposed approach to mitigate this risk:
the evaluation, may reduce ability to obtain all of the	• The proposed evaluation design is based around an approach that is robust but practical to implement. The selection of evaluation methods has been made in part based on the availability of stakeholders to engage in the evaluation process.

most relevant data sources and solicit sufficient evidence to robustly answer EQs.	<ul> <li>The expectations for stakeholder engagement for each evaluation exercise are clearly presented in this report, alongside the implications of this level of engagement not being met.</li> <li>Efforts will be made to reduce the evaluation footprint, such as by minimizing the number of requests of each stakeholder, holding focus group discussions where feasible, and making use of web-surveys and remote working (including for interviews and learning events) where possible.</li> <li>Agreement on the timing of each evaluation exercise will be based, in part, on stakeholder availability.</li> <li>Sufficient time to collect data will be built into the workplan for each evaluation exercise, designed to give greater flexibility to stakeholders on when to provide their inputs.</li> <li>It is recommended that the Gavi ELU support the implementation of these steps and continue its role in stimulating interest and engagement of stakeholders in the evaluation.</li> </ul>
Limited involvement of broader stakeholder groups (i.e. beyond the core partners directly engaged in implementing COVAX) in data collection may affect perceived or actual objectivity and independence of evaluation findings.	<ul> <li>Ensure engagement with a broad set of stakeholder groups/constituencies representing the key bodies and working structures involved in the governance, management and implementation of COVAX, and specifically the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC. Of particular importance is the need to engage with a broad range of representatives from the Global South, and specifically AMC92 country representatives and civil society representatives, as well as key partners (e.g. AVAT, PAHO, UNICEF and WHO).</li> <li>Steps are also proposed to ensure that the evaluation has good governance and oversight itself, including with:</li> <li>An owner within Gavi, anticipated to continue to be from the ELU, working in strong collaboration with the Office of the COVAX Facility.</li> <li>A steering and technical advisory group internal to the evaluation team to guide the evaluation and to act as a broker, as needed, with external stakeholders.</li> <li>An evaluation team with strong internal capacity to implement the evaluation, a robust methodology and workplan in place, access to required data, and strong quality assurance function, led by a senior evaluation expert, to ensure that the evaluation is implemented as intended and in adherence to best practice and ethical guidelines.</li> <li>An advisory panel to the Gavi Secretariat to advise on quality, fitness for purpose, and risk. We note that the Evaluation Steering Committee and Evaluation Advisory Committee jointly meet this need.</li> <li>It is recommended that the Gavi ELU support the implementation of these steps to ensure broad stakeholder engagement in the evaluation and good governance.</li> </ul>
Different perspectives and understandings of the intervention logic may make it difficult to develop a single ToC that is universally accepted, thus reducing buy-in among some stakeholders.	Our approach to evolving the ToC has involved: (a) eliciting various stakeholders' existing conceptions of how the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC is expected to work; and (b) constructing a single model that is evaluable but seeks to represent the diversity of stakeholder perceptions elicited. We have not yet conducted the planned participatory exercise to systematically explore and build consensus around the ToC for the evaluation. This workshop should take place at the outset of the proposed formative review and baseline study with this purpose in mind and to ensure that the ToC is sufficiently well developed to be evaluable. It is recommended that the Gavi ELU support the facilitation of this workshop.
Stakeholder views and perspectives may be influenced by the high level of commentary on COVAX in the media and academic and gray literature.	<ul> <li>While we cannot guarantee that stakeholder inputs are not influenced by the media, political context and commentary surrounding COVAX, steps are proposed to mitigate the risk that the data collected by the evaluation (and subsequent findings, conclusions and recommendations) might reflect such stakeholder bias. The steps are as follows:</li> <li>Robust selection of a cross-section of stakeholders to be interviewed, including the broad set of stakeholder groups/constituencies involved in the governance, management and implementation of the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC. Of particular importance is the need to engage with a broad range of representatives from the Global South, and specifically AMC92 country representatives and civil society representatives, as well as key partners (e.g. AVAT, PAHO, UNICEF and WHO). This will enable us to speak to informed experts able to assert their own independent viewpoints and different world viewpoints – cutting through the media discourse and commentary, to help us form independent and well-rounded judgments.</li> </ul>

	<ul> <li>Ensuring the positionality of the respondent is recorded (beyond job title and organization), as this will help at analysis stage to separate out and triangulate different findings from different stakeholder groups.</li> <li>Robust triangulation with other evidence, and how this has been established and evolved over time, and building in of flexibility to pursue emerging or unexpected lines of enquiry.</li> </ul>
The evolving nature of the pandemic and the intervention logic for the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC may limit the applicability of EQs, findings, conclusions and	Through the ToC development process we will seek to capture the evolution of the intervention logic over time. Recognizing the responsiveness of the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC design to an evolving context, each stage of the evaluation will start with an update of any revisions of design and strategy since the last assessment. The ToC will be updated as needed. Every stage of the evaluation will include a ToC situation assessment and assess the relevance, coherence and appropriateness of design choices, including the decision-making process as well as the content of any design revisions.
recommendations.	This response will be appropriate for most changes to the intervention logic. However, it may not cover all eventualities (e.g. where COVAX was ceased midterm or where the design was changed so much that prior evaluation efforts became redundant). In such a situation, the evaluation scope of work and design would need to be immediately revised.
	We have proposed periodic evaluation processes with stage-specific questions at each juncture, interspersed with rapid reviews on specific issues of interest. We have also proposed an approach and methods that major on understanding the importance of context to implementation and results. This will allow the evaluation to ensure it is asking relevant questions and take account of the evolving context at any given moment in time. We also note that, while the evaluand design has been highly dynamic in its first two years of operations, we could also reasonably expect it to reach more of a steady state in years to come.
A number of aspects of the evaluation may be highly sensitive and possibly contentious, for instance in relation to the proposed political economy analysis when seeking to understand the incentives, relationships, and distribution and contestation of power between the different	We recognize the timeliness of this independent evaluation and the high stakes involved, and have set out an approach to deliver robust, evidence-based insights in response to the EQs and to meet the evaluation purpose. Conducting evaluative work can involve delivering difficult messages on things that may not be working as well as they should, or that could be done differently. We are mindful of the intensity and level of effort the COVAX implementing partners have invested in establishing the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC and delivering results, and in response our communication will always be clear, constructive and appreciative, but we will not shy away from being critical where we feel it is needed. We will work hard to build relationships with key stakeholders to facilitate constructive exchanges, ensuring that what we say is always grounded in sufficiently robust evidence. This will include engaging with our Technical Advisory Group to ensure that messaging is tailored appropriately and, where needed, comes from the right people.
stakeholders engaged in the design and operationalization of the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC. This may result in some stakeholders seeking to discredit the evaluation findings in order to avoid addressing the issue(s).	It is further recommended that the Gavi ELU ensure that the steps proposed to ensure good governance for the evaluation are fully adopted to further reduce the risk that the evaluation findings are unfairly criticized or discredited.
Some causal pathways in the ToC are not able to be fully explored and understood due to a lack of	As per Section 3.4.1 on the scope of work, the evaluation will not evaluate other COVAX implementing partners but will consider the interconnectedness of roles, responsibilities and ways of working between implementing partners to facilitate COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC results. It will do this in two ways:
data and evidence on the completion of non-Gavi COVAX implementing partner activities and results. This may mean that only partial responses to	<ul> <li>It will draw on the findings, conclusions and recommendations of other evaluation processes and evidence on the design, implementation and results of their work (i.e. CEPI's role in development and manufacturing; WHO's role in policy and allocation; and UNICEF's and PAHO's roles in procurement and delivery). This will aid an understanding of how the ToC has played out in practice.</li> </ul>

EQs can be provided.

 It will consider the 'contribution' of Gavi to areas that multiple COVAX partners jointly administer, particularly those areas that Gavi is not primarily responsible for (e.g. allocation, CRD support, procurement and delivery).

It is recommended that the Gavi ELU maintain contact with COVAX implementing partners and other groups (e.g. the OECD COVID-19 Global Evaluation Coalition) to keep abreast of other evaluation processes and gain access to documents as soon as possible.

# 3.6 Evaluation governance

An evaluation of this scale, duration and multi-module design, and with such significant stakeholder interest, requires good oversight itself. Assuming an outsourced evaluation team, it is considered that the evaluation needs three elements of governance:

- An owner within Gavi, anticipated to continue to be from the ELU, working in strong collaboration with the Office of the COVAX Facility
- A steering and technical advisory group internal to the evaluation team to guide the evaluation and to act as a broker, as needed, with external stakeholders
- An evaluation team with strong internal capacity to implement the evaluation, a robust methodology and workplan in place, access to required data, and strong quality assurance function, led by a senior evaluation expert, to ensure that the evaluation is implemented as intended and in adherence to best practice and ethical guidelines
- An advisory panel to the Gavi Secretariat to advise on quality, fitness for purpose, and risk. We note that the Evaluation Steering Committee and Evaluation Advisory Committee jointly meet this need.

# 4. Evaluation activities for Phase 1 (2022–23)

This section describes the evaluation and learning activities proposed for Phase 1 of the multi-stage evaluation covering the period 2022–23. The main activities are (1) a formative review and baseline study; (2) rapid reviews in particular areas of interest/need; and (3) support for a continuous, real-time learning function.

The focus of this phase is a combination of (i) accountability for intermediate results and (ii) learning for course correction. Future stages from 2024 onwards will have an expanded focus to include accountability for outcome-level results and generating transformative learning for future pandemic responses.

# 4.1 Formative review and baseline study design

Building on the sections above and the expectations and priorities articulated by stakeholders through this phase of work, this section sets out the scope of work and our proposed approach to the formative review and baseline study. This will result in an overall evaluation report due in 2022 (timing to be confirmed).

## 4.1.1 Purpose and scope of the formative review and baseline study

The RfP asked for three related pieces of work: an evaluability assessment; an evaluation design; and a baseline study. A baseline study would usually seek to collect data at the outset of a project or program, against which progress can be measured over time. However, given that COVAX was established in mid-2020 and the 'baseline' study will be conducted in 2022, Itad's proposal and inception report have framed the study as a review of what has worked well and less well to date in designing and operationalizing the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC, and as an opportunity to test the early stages of the ToC and take a snapshot of progress against critical areas of the ToC at this point in time.

Given the utility and stakeholder demand for a review of this type, such an approach is still considered to be most relevant in order to meet both an overall accountability and learning purpose, and could also be used to collect baseline data essential for measurement of progress over time on the effectiveness and performance of the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC.

To avoid any confusion on the scope of this study, it is referred to in this report as a 'formative review and baseline study'. The approach set out below is aligned to the overall methodological approach for the multi-stage evaluation set out in Section 1. Annex 11 presents a detailed evaluation framework, including stage-specific EQs for each phase of evaluation, and proposed methods for each EQ which are elaborated in Annex 12.

## 4.1.2 EQs for the formative review and baseline study

The stage-specific EQs and the key issues for consideration for the formative review and baseline study are shown in Table 10. The fact that there is a relatively large number of key issues is intentional, as we are aiming to ensure that there is comprehensive coverage of the crucial initial stages of the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC.

## Table 10 - Formative review and baseline study EQs

Module & EQ		Stage-specific questions for formative review and baseline study	Key issues for consideration during the formative review and baseline study
Ð	1	Given the uncertain nature of the emerging pandemic, was the COVAX Facility and AMC design developed in an evidence-based and coherent manner to maximize the chances for success?	<ul> <li>Design choices to be a global purchasing and allocation mechanism (including SFPs)</li> <li>Market shaping strategies employed</li> <li>Design of AMC</li> <li>Operationalizing the allocation mechanism based on principles of equity and fairness</li> </ul>
			<ul> <li>Relative balance between focus on scaling vaccine procurement and scaling country-level delivery</li> </ul>
1. Right things: Design	1.1	To what extent is the overall design of the COVAX Facility and AMC and specific strategies clearly justified and documented, including the evidence base, and assumptions related to causal links between outcomes? Is the overall design clear and coherent?	<ul> <li>ToC and intervention logic evidence base and assumptions</li> <li>Problem/context analysis, recognizing dynamic market, geopolitical and epidemiological context</li> <li>Alignment to COVAX vaccine pillar and ACT-A</li> <li>Roles, responsibilities and ways of working between organizations</li> <li>Other strategic options and trade-offs considered and documented</li> </ul>
	1.2	How has the design shifted over time based on the evolving pandemic and geopolitical context, and based on what justification and evidence?	<ul> <li>Articulation of prevailing context</li> <li>Mapping of adaptation and modification to ToC, and justification provided, including evidence and assumptions</li> <li>Other strategic options and trade-offs considered and documented</li> </ul>
	1.3	How were external stakeholders and COVAX partners contribute to the original design of the COVAX Facility and AMC, and what impact did this have?	<ul> <li>Mapping of key stakeholders by programmatic area</li> <li>Understanding of power asymmetries between stakeholders</li> <li>Identification of opportunity for meaningful engagement by different constituency groups</li> </ul>
	1.4	Are design revisions needed to inform course correction to facilitate short-term progress and results?	<ul> <li>Alternative strategic options and trade-offs</li> <li>'Path dependencies' for design revisions to be successful</li> </ul>
6	2	Have the COVAX Facility and AMC been successfully set up and implemented thus far?	Synthesis of operational and programmatic issues analyzed through sub-questions below
ίΩ¥	2.1	Are COVAX Facility and AMC operations suitable and appropriate, and been successfully set up and implemented thus far?	<ul> <li>Synthesis of operational issues analyzed through sub-questions below</li> </ul>
<b>VUV</b>	2.1.1	Are the COVAX Facility and AMC management structures and governance arrangements suitable and appropriate for a new entity working in an emergency setting?	<ul> <li>Evolution of management/governance structures</li> <li>Supportiveness of management and governance arrangements in operationalizing the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC</li> </ul>
2. Right way: Implement	2.1.2	Are risk management systems, processes and capacities suitable and appropriate for dealing with the inherent risks associated with the COVAX Facility and AMC mandate?	<ul> <li>Risk assumed on behalf of the group of organizations that constitute COVAX, and challenges posed, if any</li> <li>Identification and mitigation of financial and programmatic challenges and risks</li> </ul>
ation	2.1.3	Were the initial set-up costs for the COVAX Facility and AMC reasonable and appropriate for the organization mandate and proposed scale of operations?	<ul> <li>Review of costs incurred by Gavi in set up of COVAX Facility and AMC</li> <li>Level of Gavi staff effort in managing Office of the COVAX Facility</li> <li>Staff availability and working conditions</li> </ul>
	2.1.4	How were external stakeholders and COVAX partners engaged in the early implementation of the COVAX Facility and AMC, and how did this guide decision making to support governance, management and implementation?	<ul> <li>Presence of appropriate stakeholder engagement plan</li> <li>Implementation of stakeholder engagement plan</li> <li>Implementation of processes to ensure coherence and coordination across partners working to achieve common outcomes (e.g. within the COVAX pillar, other ACT-A pillars, Health Systems and Response Connector (HSRC), International Financial Institutions (IFIs) and regional organizations and mechanisms, i.e. AVAT)</li> </ul>
	2.2	Have COVAX Facility and AMC programmatic areas been successfully set up and implemented thus far?	<ul> <li>Synthesis of programmatic issues analyzed through sub-questions below</li> <li>For all sub-questions, consideration of the respective roles and contributions of all COVAX implementing partners to implementation</li> </ul>

	2.2.1	Was a persuasive and appropriate resource mobilization strategy	Presence of investment case
		articulated to secure adequate resources for full and timely	<ul> <li>Use of innovative financing mechanisms</li> </ul>
		implementation of intended activities? To what extent were initial	<ul> <li>Sufficiency of resources mobilized to allow for the ToC to be operationalized as intended and in a timely manner</li> </ul>
		expectations and targets met in a timely manner?	• Evolution of strategy in response to context (e.g. collaboration with World Bank, incorporating donations, cost-
			sharing for procurement and in-country delivery, and the emergence of new procurement platforms, such as
			AVAT)
	2.2.2	Was the market shaping approach adopted sufficiently powered and	<ul> <li>Presence of systems, processes, capacities and tools to deliver market shaping objectives</li> </ul>
		implemented to meet initial expectations on vaccine manufacturing	<ul> <li>Contextual barriers or enablers to the involvement and influence of the COVAX Facility and AMC in market</li> </ul>
		and pricing, and to secure supply?	shaping
			Strengths and weaknesses of APAs to achieve the desired outcomes given the changing landscape
			<ul> <li>Trade-offs between the range of market objectives</li> </ul>
			Coordination/communication with participants
			Implementation course corrections required
	2.2.3	Was the role of the COVAX Facility and AMC clearly articulated, agreed	Clarity of roles and responsibilities for the COVAX Facility and AMC
		and implemented to support procurement and delivery functions?	<ul> <li>Approaches used to coordinate with other partners</li> </ul>
		How well has this worked to date?	<ul> <li>Evolution of procurement and delivery processes to respond to the changing context and needs (e.g. managing descriptions is provided in the first STD).</li> </ul>
			donations, numanitarian buffer, SFPS)
			<ul> <li>Processes to coordinate between securing advance purchase agreements (APAs) and the later stages of recommended by the securing advance purchase agreements (APAs) and the later stages of</li> </ul>
	224	To what extent has the allocation mechanism design been reviewed	procurement and derivery of doses
	2.2.4	To what extent has the anotation mechanism design been reviewed,	<ul> <li>Stakeholder engagement</li> <li>Coordination with partners to operationalize the allocation approach</li> </ul>
		and equitable distribution of COVID-19 vaccines?	Coordination with parties to operationalize the anotation approach
			<ul> <li>Distribution of volcines consistent with the allocation inclusion</li> <li>Alignment of varcine distribution to country paeds and preferences (e.g. presentation, evolvy date)</li> </ul>
			<ul> <li>Alignment of vaccine distribution to country needs and preferences (e.g. presentation, expiry date)</li> <li>Alternative ontions and trade-offs</li> </ul>
	2.2.5	Was the role of Gavi and the COVAX Facility and AMC vis-à-vis CRD	<ul> <li>Prioritization of CRD vis-à-vis other programmatic areas over time</li> </ul>
	21213	clearly articulated, agreed and implemented in a timely manner?	<ul> <li>Presence of systems, processes and capacities to assess and support CRD, including country readiness</li> </ul>
		, , , , , ,	assessments
			<ul> <li>Coordination with other stakeholders for achievement of joint results</li> </ul>
			<ul> <li>Country communications on vaccine availability and allocation decisions</li> </ul>
			<ul> <li>Alignment of technical assistance (TA) and sufficiency of resource envelope to country needs for delivery</li> </ul>
			readiness
			Presence of feedback loops to identify and address lessons learned and adapt ways of working
			Timeliness of disbursements
	3	What initial COVAX Facility and AMC results have been achieved and	<ul> <li>Synthesis of issues analyzed through sub-questions below</li> </ul>
		to what extent are intended outcomes and impacts on track to being achieved?	Analysis of global geopolitical and economic landscape of actors involved in the delivery of COVID-19 vaccines
	3.1	To what extent does the early emerging evidence suggest that	Verification and triangulation of Monitoring and Reporting Framework data on intermediate outcomes across the
3. Right	-	intended intermediate outcomes across the programmatic areas of	programmatic areas of the ToC (i.e. market shaping, procurement and delivery, equitable allocation and CRD)
results:		the ToC are likely to be achieved?	
Outcomes	3.2	To what extent does the early emerging evidence suggest that	Verification and triangulation of Monitoring and Reporting Framework data on outcomes and goals, including (1)
and impact		intended outcomes and goals are likely to be achieved?	delivery to countries, (2) number of persons vaccinated, (3) equitable access
		- ·	

	3.3	What emerging evidence is there to suggest unintended consequences and results beyond the ToC?	<ul> <li>Effects of the COVAX Facility and AMC on routine immunization efforts</li> <li>Other unintended results areas</li> </ul>
	3.4	To what extent does the early emerging evidence suggest that the COVAX Facility and AMC is likely to contribute to achievement of outcomes and impacts within the global geopolitical and economic landscape?	<ul> <li>Consideration of the role of Gavi and Office of the COVAX Facility vis-à-vis other COVAX implementing partners and stakeholders working for the achievement of common outcomes and impact</li> </ul>
	3.5	What does the early emerging evidence suggest are barriers and enablers to achieving results?	<ul> <li>Review and synthesis of barriers and enablers identified through literature and in conducting the formative review and baseline study</li> </ul>
	4	What are the emerging lessons from the design and implementation of the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC that have implications for course correction and Gavi 5.0?	<ul> <li>Synthesis and prioritization of lessons learned</li> </ul>
4. Learning	4.1	What are the emerging lessons from the design and implementation of the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC that have implications for course correction?	<ul> <li>Specific areas for learning are posed in Section 4.1.6 and Annex 10</li> </ul>
4. Leanning	4.2	What are the emerging lessons from the design and implementation of the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC that have implications for Gavi 5.0?	<ul> <li>Specific areas for learning are posed in Section 4.1.6 and Annex 10</li> </ul>
	4.3	What are the emerging lessons from the design and implementation of the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC that have implications for future pandemic preparedness?	<ul> <li>N/A for formative review and baseline study</li> </ul>
	4.4	Which agencies, arrangements and contexts are most likely to provide useful learning for different aspects (design, operational, programmatic) of the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC, and what can we learn from them?	<ul> <li>Review and synthesis of learning generated from comparator analyses conducted across formative review and baseline study</li> </ul>
	4.5	What can be learned from a comparison of countries' experiences of securing maximum possible vaccination supply, and applied to the COVAX Facility and/or COVAX AMC for the achievement of outcomes and impact?	<ul> <li>Identification of outliers from cross-country portfolio analysis</li> <li>Analysis of underlying reasons for observed differences, including how countries across the income spectrum have responded to the realities of sourcing vaccines differently, and which agencies and/or arrangements each has drawn down on, or not, and why</li> </ul>

## 4.1.3 Methodology for the formative review and baseline study

In line with the overall methodological approach set out in Section 3.4.2, the methods proposed for the formative review and baseline study are set out below by evaluation module. This is supplemented by a detailed evaluation framework in Annex 11 and a description of analytical methods in Annex 12.

## 4.1.3.1 Module 1: Right things

The formative review and baseline study will seek to fully understand the COVAX Facility and AMC design and how it has evolved over time to analyze and assess its appropriateness within the prevailing global, regional and country context and the geopolitical and wider contextual factors at play. This will respond to EQs 1–1.4. It will involve:

## Constructing a revised 'evaluation' ToC for the COVAX Facility and AMC

A first step is to construct and document a ToC for the COVAX Facility and AMC that is agreed by relevant stakeholders, taking into account that the design has evolved since its launch in April 2020, with discussions underway for further revisions in 2022 and beyond. The output will be a ToC for the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC as of 2022, including nested ToCs that focus on specific program components.⁴⁸ In line with the overall approach, this will involve framing ToC assumptions and attention to causal mechanisms. Another output is a timeline of design iterations since launch. These outputs will serve as an analytical framework for other aspects of the evaluation, including design (relevance & appropriateness), implementation and results.

The process for constructing the ToC will be participatory, based on the principle of joint reflection by relevant stakeholders involved in strategy development since launch, including global, regional and country stakeholders. Sampling of key informants for Module 1 will seek to balance interests and perspectives to ensure comprehensive, balanced evidence. Recognizing the competing commitments of key staff from Gavi and COVAX partners, the participatory process will be iterative and creative. A first step is to undertake KIIs and further documentation review to clarify design considerations and choices made during the life of the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC, including trade-offs. Annex 8 contains the ToC constructed as part of the evaluability assessment for the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC, which will serve as a starting point for discussion. One or more feedback workshops will enable a facilitated dialogue among various stakeholders involved in design decisions, highlighting consensus and/or varying perspectives on design trade-offs.

## Political economy analysis and benchmarking of design decisions

These methods will be used in a complementary way to evaluate the appropriateness of the COVAX Facility and AMC design. Evidence is drawn from KIIs, focus group discussions (including ToC consensus workshops), a desk review and a web-based stakeholder survey.⁴⁹

Using the design timeline mentioned above, we will identify the political and practical dimensions of designing and operationalizing a global vaccine procurement and delivery mechanism, and analyze the appropriateness of the selected design within the context of the incentives, relationships, and distribution and contestation of power between the different stakeholders engaged and with interests in its design and operationalization. As per Section 2.1, evaluating the appropriateness of overall design and specific program strategies will explore the counterfactual ('what if') scenarios of various strategic options considered and not considered, or comparative analysis of similar interventions and strategies (comparators).

⁴⁸ For example, Annex 8 provides a draft nested ToC for the market shaping programmatic area. This will be refined and further developed in the initial stages of the baseline study and will serve to help frame the baseline evaluative study on the market shaping element of the programme.
⁴⁹ Stakeholder survey across all modules; will include relevant (open-ended) questions on relevance and design.

We will use benchmarking to assess the process of decision revisions against a set of criteria around reasonableness,⁵⁰ fairness,⁵¹ equity and responsiveness, on the basis of a literature review and validated through KIIs.

We will use various established sectoral political economy analysis (PEA) methodologies⁵² for description, analysis and mapping of the political economy around access to COVID-19 vaccines, to assess stakeholder influence against alignment with COVAX principles, aims and strategies (e.g. global vaccine manufacturing and allocation).

## 4.1.3.2 Module 2: Right way

The formative review and baseline study will provide a formative, learning-focused assessment of implementation progress for each of the programmatic areas of the ToC (resource mobilization, market shaping, procurement and delivery, equitable allocation and CRD) and to understand how well each of the operational aspects of the ToC (including the management and governance model, stakeholder engagement and communication, and risk management systems and processes) have facilitated this progress. This will involve the following:

Benchmarking against objective criteria and comparator analysis

A benchmark – what 'good' looked like – will be established through the use of best practice frameworks, norms and standards, adjusted to account for the unprecedented context in which COVAX has been operating. This will provide a basis against which to assess (a) if the right systems, processes and resources were in place to implement the ToC as intended, in the prevailing context; and (b) the appropriateness of decision making over time. Drawing on a document review, comparator case studies and KIIs, predominantly at global level, this will cover the operational aspects of the ToC as follows:

- 1. Management and governance arrangements (EQ2.1.1): This will ascertain whether the right capabilities, culture and practices were in place to best enable and support the operations of the Office of the COVAX Facility, understand the way accountability works between key stakeholders at different levels, and the reasons/drivers for any failures or successes. As per the evaluability assessment recommendations, it will be important to ensure that the evaluation remains focused on Gavi and the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC, while also considering the interconnectedness of roles, responsibilities and ways of working between agencies.
- 2. Risk management (EQ 2.1.2): Evaluative enquiry will focus on systematically documenting how risk management processes have been designed and delivered to comprehensively identify and prioritize financial and programmatic risks, and whether these systems and processes enable implementation along the ToC and for the achievement of outcomes and impact. Systems and processes would also be assessed against benchmark comparison frameworks, including Gavi's business and usual approach to risk management. The assessment will consider the importance of having risk management processes that are appropriate to a highly dynamic context within a public health emergency.
- 3. Operational costs (EQ 2.1.3): This will involve a review of documentation to understand the resource envelope developed by the Secretariat, what was included and what assumptions were made in the budgeting process. It will also review what was approved by the Board to set up and implement the Office of the COVAX Facility. We will conduct analysis of the estimated costs for conducting core processes and benchmark this against established norms/parameters and comparator analysis,

⁵⁰ Daniels, N. and Sabin, J. (2006). *Limits to Health Care: Fair Procedures, Democratic Deliberation, and the Legitimacy Problem for Insurers. Philosophy & Public Affairs,* 26 (4). https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1088-4963.1997.tb00082.x

⁵¹ Developed by Daniels and Caplan as a policy tool to generate discussion on trade-offs in health policy. Daniels, N., Light, D. W. and Caplan, R. L (1996). *Benchmarks of Fairness for Health Care Reform*. Oxford University Press; and Caplan, R. L., Light, D. W. and Daniels, N. (1999). *Benchmarks of Fairness: A Moral Framework for Assessing Equity. International Journal of Health Services* 29 (4), 853–869. https://doi.org/10.2190/DBBU-WUC4-Y23L-4LEA

⁵² e.g. Political Economy Analysis. WaterAid. Sector Strategy Tool.

https://washmatters.wateraid.org/sites/g/files/jkxoof256/files/PEA%20toolkit_Sector%20Strategy%20Tool.pdf

predominantly based on the cost of administering other global health and emergency response initiatives (e.g. the Gavi Secretariat). We will also collect data through KIIs on whether stakeholders consider that these costs were perceived to be appropriate, the actual level of effort required to manage and implement the Office of the COVAX Facility, and staff availability and working conditions to do so.

4. Stakeholder engagement (EQ 2.1.4): Building on the stakeholder mapping under Module 1, additional analysis will map the relationships, influence and interactions between stakeholders during implementation. This will draw on broad-based KIIs and a stakeholder survey to solicit stakeholder perspectives, as well as document review, to assess whether the level of stakeholder engagement and communication is appropriate. We will also benchmark to established standards and comparison to Gavi's business and usual approach to stakeholder engagement and communication, as well as the approaches adopted by other agencies working in global health and emergency response.

A thorough understanding of how well COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC operations have been implemented will enable a number of ToC assumptions to be tested, and process tracing will be set up to explore whether and how these operations have enabled or hampered programmatic implementation and results.

Comparator analysis will also be used to benchmark implementation progress for some programmatic areas of the ToC, as set out in Annex 11.

### **Process tracing**

EQs 2.2–2.5 will use process tracing to assess whether the linkages and assumptions underpinning the ToC have worked as intended, and – where this is not the case – explore how and why not. Specifically, 'inward-out' analysis will be conducted to trace the linkages within the ToC from inputs to activities to outputs. It will take a *monitoring data plus* approach – i.e. it will use existing monitoring data alongside additional verification. Testing will involve gathering evidence on how well the programmatic components have been implemented against the ToC to contribute to change.

This will be complemented by 'outward-in' process tracing to see if observed results are consistent with the ToC and can be traced back to COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC outputs, activities and inputs. In so doing, the method will enable alternative explanations to be ruled out and provide an understanding of how and why the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC are working to facilitate change. The analysis will enable identification of unintended consequences and barriers and enablers to the achievement of results; in so doing, it will also provide evidence for other EQs (e.g. EQs 3.3 and 3.5).

During the baseline and formative evaluation stage, the focus will be on tracing key activities related to specific programmatic areas – Box 1 provides an example – as well as linkages across programmatic areas, such as coordination between CRD assessments and allocation decisions. An overall analysis will then be conducted to understand, across the ToC, which components are working as intended and which are not. This will draw on the history of decision analysis conducted under Module 1.

### Box 1: Example of analysis for resource mobilization programmatic area

With the ToC reflecting the critical thinking behind the resource mobilization strategy, including how the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC was pitched to external audiences through the investment case, the history of decision and timeline analysis and process tracing will establish when activities were implemented, commitments were secured, funds were received and targets were met.

Drawing on the findings of the PEA from Module 1, we would then seek to systematically test the various assumptions within the ToC to understand the factors related to the mechanism (i.e. the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC design and its operationalization) and the context that explain how and why the observed results were or were not achieved. Root cause analysis will analyze the underlying causes of observed issues or challenges during implementation. This would be based on substantial document review, KIIs and focus group

discussion, and may draw on other complementary methods to analyze issues and communicate the findings, such as force field analysis.

We would then seek to understand and explore the implications of this analysis, and specifically any delays to fundraising, to the operationalization of other areas of the ToC.

### **Root cause analysis**

Root cause analysis will be used across the scope of work to further explore, analyze and understand the root causes underlying observed challenges or successes identified through a variety of triangulated data sources. This will complement process tracing and other methods by moving beyond identifying what challenges or successes have occurred to determining why a particular challenge or success has occurred. An example is provided in Annex 12.

## 4.1.3.3 Module 3: Right results

The formative review and baseline study will provide a high-level assessment of results, in order to understand progress towards intermediate outcomes and overall equity goals, and a preliminary assessment of the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC contribution to these observed results.

## Verifying and use of COVAX Reporting Framework indicators

For the formative review and baseline study, although some data is available to report on the emerging results of the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC, this will be fairly limited and mostly on intermediate outcomes given that COVAX was only established in 2020. Nonetheless, in response to substantial stakeholder interest in exploring this area we will undertake a high-level assessment of results. This will involve triangulation and analysis of the COVAX Reporting Framework with other data (i.e. from documents, information systems, KIIs from global and country stakeholders, country case studies and anecdotal reporting) as part of a process of verification. This will provide a cross-country comparative portfolio analysis of all AMC countries and a preliminary but rounded assessment on the extent to which intended results have been achieved, including whether equity goals have been or are likely to be achieved. This will include analysis of the distribution of and access to vaccines across country income categories, the distribution of and access to vaccines between countries, and the distribution of and access to vaccines within countries (e.g. between geographical areas and population groups).⁵³

Specifically in relation to the assessment of which population groups are receiving vaccines, the evaluation will draw on: the pool of qualitative learning available through WHO regional teams (who host regular webinars to engage with countries through Q&A); country-level learning through the BID Initiative⁵⁴ library (a learning network between countries and between regional and global partners) and via additional learning networks;⁵⁵ and information obtained from Gavi country program and communication staff engagements with country implementers. The proposed country case studies will also supplement this analysis.

This assessment of results will provide a snapshot in time that will be used for comparison in later evaluation processes. It will also highlight areas of high and low performance within the portfolio, the reasons for which will be explored through EQ 4.5 on what can learned from different country experiences and applied to the COVAX Facility and/or COVAX AMC for the achievement of results.

⁵³ Although the latter is beyond Gavi's control and area of direct responsibility, it is relevant to the achievement of COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC results and overall value for money.

⁵⁴ Bid Initiative. Resource Library. https://bidinitiative.org/resource-library/

⁵⁵ E.g. Geneva Learning Foundation, TechNet, etc.

## **Contribution analysis**

Contribution analysis is used to understand the likelihood the intervention has contributed to an outcome, observed through a step-by-step process which explores how the contribution would have come about. It uses a broad range of evidence to test this. A more complete description is provided in Annex 12. This will be used to develop findings against EQ 3.4 and frame the overall narrative on COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC results.

Given the relatively early timeline of implementation and the clear appetite among stakeholders to understand the implications of design choices and implementation processes, the formative review and baseline study will involve a high-level assessment of results and partial implementation of contribution analysis.

## 4.1.3.4 Module 4: Learning

## Synthesis and prioritization of lessons learned

In line with the overall methodological approach, the evaluation will: synthesize learning across all evaluation activity; develop synthesis learning products; and facilitate uptake of lessons learned. Learning will be of relevance to COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC course correction, implementation of Gavi 5.0 and future pandemic preparedness, drawing on lessons from other agencies, arrangements and contexts. In so doing, it will respond to EQs 4.1–4.4. The approach to synthesis is outlined in Section 3.4.3, and the validation and prioritization process for lessons learned is detailed in Annex 12.

Particular learning priorities which the formative review and baseline study will seek to generate learning on are as follows.

## **Operationalising COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC**

What did we learn about:

- How governance and organizational structures could be designed to allow the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC to adapt to changing market dynamics, implementation challenges, etc. across multiple partners in an ever-changing environment, to enable the partners to be successful
- Implementation to date across programmatic and operational elements of the ToC and what the implications of these lessons are for course correction
- The design and implementation of market shaping strategies in a global pandemic context
- The relative balance required between focusing efforts on scaling vaccine procurement and scaling country-level delivery
- The role that COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC has played in procurement within the early introduction and rollout experience⁵⁶
- How the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC are pivoting and responding to equity concerns e.g. through adapting allocation, in light of countries' absorption capacities, to avoid vaccine wastage?

Lessons for Gavi 5.0

Did we learn anything about:

- Reaching zero-dose communities through COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC experiences to date
- What it takes to successfully introduce new vaccines in MICs
- Any unintended impacts on routine immunization efforts
- The implications of the design and implementation learning experience generally for Gavi 5.0

 $^{^{\}rm 56}$  We note that WHO is active in this learning space already.

 If/how barriers to sustainable and equitable new vaccine introductions have changed in light of COVID-19? It will be useful to explore how COVAX is contributing to equitable introduction and use – for example, exploring how the COVAX vaccine delivery strategy is changing in response to respective country absorption capacities in order to avoid waste of vaccines.

## Lessons for future pandemic preparedness

The formative review and baseline study will not seek to specifically draw out lessons for future pandemic preparedness or response. These lessons will be drawn out during later midterm evaluations from the various design, operational and programmatic areas of the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC ToC. Any such analysis will take account of the ways in which future pandemics could differ from COVID-19 and the implications of these differences for extrapolation from the COVID-19 experience.

## 4.1.4 Data collection

Data collection will necessarily involve a broad review of the available documentation and literature, as well as information sources providing data and evidence of relevance to the evaluation. It will also involve a series of country case studies, where country experiences can be explored in depth.

All evaluation activity will be conducted in as participatory a manner as possible, and the evaluation will engage with a broad set of stakeholder groups/constituencies representing the key bodies and working structures involved in the governance, management and implementation of the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC. Of particular importance is the need to engage with a broad range of representatives from the Global South, and specifically AMC92 country representatives and civil society representatives, as well as key partners (e.g. AVAT, PAHO, UNICEF and WHO). Such efforts will accommodate the limited time some stakeholders are able to devote to the evaluation, such as by minimizing the number of requests of each stakeholder, holding focus group discussions where feasible, and making use of a web-survey.

For KIIs, it is suggested that stakeholders are purposively sampled – as they were for the evaluability assessment and evaluation design process – in discussion with the ELU, in part based on their availability to engage with the evaluation process and also to ensure that different world views, interests and perspectives are incorporated into the data collected. We present three options for stakeholder engagement through KIIs during the formative review and baseline study, alongside the likely implications to the scope, scale and/or quality of work in Table 11 below. We will seek Gavi's input on these options as we start Phase 1.

Level of stakeholder engagement through KIIs	Implications and potential mitigating actions
<b>1. Anticipated/regular:</b> Broad access to a variety of stakeholders across constituency groups, engaged in and/or knowledgeable about the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC, as well as COVAX and the ACT-A more generally, at global, regional and country levels. Expected to involve discussions with 50+ stakeholders.	None. Evaluation process can proceed in line with best practice across the full scope of work, as planned.
<b>2. Slightly reduced:</b> More limited access to one or only a few representatives of stakeholder or constituency groups engaged in and/or knowledgeable about the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC. Stakeholders would still cover the key bodies and working structures identified as critical to engage with. Expected to involve discussions with around 35 stakeholders.	Robustness of evaluation findings may be somewhat compromised if inputs of key stakeholders cannot be fully solicited. Particular issues could be raised with Gavi as they arise to ensure that quality is sufficient. Some narrowing of the scope of work (i.e. to exclude areas where key informants are not available) may help to resolve the issue.
<b>3. Significantly reduced:</b> Only a selection of stakeholders and constituency groups engaged in the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC would be accessed, including some of those	Robustness of evaluation findings across the entire scope of work highly likely to be substantially compromised, risking the utility of the entire evaluation process. Significant narrowing of

Table 11 - Options for stakeholder engagement through KIIs for the formative review and baseline study

previously identified as critical to engage with. Expected to involve discussions with around 20 stakeholders.

the scope of work to focus only on areas where key informants are may resolve the issue of quality, although the evaluation would likely be unable to report against high-level EQs and develop conclusions on overall performance to generate recommendations of relevance to the Board and PPC.

Country case studies will be used to triangulate the data collected from other sources and extend the data collected to capture country-specific experiences and contexts that will enrich the findings for a number of EQs. They will be particularly helpful in ensuring that the views and perspectives of a broad range of country stakeholders (including health and finance ministries, civil society and humanitarian actors, subnational, district and local leadership) are captured. It is suggested that countries are purposively sampled to meet this purpose and ensure that a range of diverse country experiences and contexts is incorporated within the evaluation data sample. For instance, we expect this to include AMC92 countries with both high and low allocation or supply of vaccines through COVAX; SFPs with both high and low dependency on COVAX for vaccine procurement; countries with and without local vaccine manufacturing capacity; low-and middle-income countries (LMICs) with/without regional joint procurement initiatives; and AMC92 countries will enable analysis against EQ 4.5 in order to understand the underlying reasons for observed differences between countries emerging from a cross-country portfolio analysis, including how countries across the income spectrum have responded to the realities of sourcing vaccines differently, and which agencies and/or arrangements each has drawn down on, or not, and why.

While travel may not be required for all case studies, given the ongoing pandemic and associated travel restrictions it is also likely that the evaluation team's presence and/or ability to travel to countries will be factored into the selection process.

# 4.2 Other evaluative activity for Phase 1

## 4.2.1 Proposed rapid reviews

The overall objectives of the rapid reviews are to: support the Office of the COVAX Facility to flexibly generate learning where it is needed quickly to influence course correction; generate a better understanding of the implementation context; and/or evaluate in detail the efficiency, effectiveness, sustainability or equity of COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC programmatic areas.

The objectives, scope of work and methodology would be determined by the Office of the COVAX Facility/Gavi ELU on a case-by-case basis, depending on implementation needs and opportunities. Summative evaluations may recommend that rapid reviews be undertaken, or they may validate topics suggested by stakeholders. In turn, rapid reviews may inform the ongoing learning function. It is expected that two or three rapid reviews would be conducted within Phase 1 (2022–23), with approximately 40 days of evaluator input (level of effort) over one to two months each. The approach and methodology would be broadly aligned to the formative-summative evaluation, for instance utilizing a theory-based approach and designed to test specific parts of the ToC. It would, however, be implemented in line with the principles and features of real-time evaluation, for instance by collecting data and reporting in real time (or as quickly as practically possible), actively seeking to support different types of learning (e.g. single loop, double loop and triple loop), and by engaging different users in dialogue for sense-making and action planning.⁵⁷

⁵⁷ Rogers, P. (2021, April 15). *Why do we need more real-time evaluation*? Better Evaluation. https://www.betterevaluation.org/en/blog/why-dowe-need-more-real-time-evaluation; Ling, T. (2012). *Evaluating complex and unfolding interventions in real time*. Evaluation, 18 (1), 79–91; Rogers, P. (2020, December 2020). *Monitoring and Evaluation for Adaptive Management: Real-Time Evaluation*. Better Evaluation. https://www.betterevaluation.org/en/blog/why-do-we-need-more-real-time-evaluation

Two potential examples for rapid reviews that could usefully be conducted in 2022 or 2023 to guide course correction are provided in Box 2 below.

### Box 2: Potential rapid review topics for 2022 and/or 2023: CRD, humanitarian buffer, securing supply

Increasing priority has been accorded to CRD over time, and efforts are underway to ensure that significant emphasis is placed on this area from 2022 onwards. Similarly, work is currently underway to design, implement and learn from the initial operationalization of the humanitarian buffer.

The formative review and baseline study may confirm the need for such emphasis but, given the limited implementation experience to date, will be ill-timed to provide inputs on how well designed and implemented it has been thus far. However, rapid reviews could be conducted alongside the Office of the COVAX Facility's work to provide ongoing inputs and answer its specific questions on how to design and course correct in these areas, possibly including through the generation of contextual understanding (e.g. on vaccine hesitancy or service delivery barriers as components of CRD). These inputs would be extremely useful and insightful to the following formative-summative evaluation exercise, which would then be well placed to evaluate implementation progress and results. As such, the ability to flex the timing, scope of work and focus of the rapid review to guide learning and course correction would complement and add value over and above the formative-summative evaluation work.

An alternative topic is to focus on Gavi's role and activities in securing supply of COVID-19 vaccines. While much work has been done in this area to date, it is also a high priority area for 2022-23 where, again, a rapid review could likely be structured to support implementation and immediate course correction decision making in real time, as well as supplementing the formative-summative evaluation.

As with other evaluative work, the rapid reviews should be focused on Gavi but recognise the work of other COVAX partners – e.g. for CRD, WHO's role in providing normative guidance, UNICEF and PAHO's role in delivery and supply chain strengthening, and the Global Fund's role in health systems strengthening.

The exact purpose, scope of work and methods for any rapid reviews would need to finalised at a later date and agreed with Gavi on a case-by-case basis using the criteria mentioned below.

While rapid reviews would be conducted outside of the scope of the formative-summative evaluation work, they could be included within the scope of a single evaluation contract with a service provider or commissioned to external consultants or firms with relevant expertise. There are likely benefits to selecting the former (i.e. with a familiar and 'up to speed' evaluation team, and to ensure coordination across the evaluation activities) but mechanisms should be in place to avoid any real or perceived conflict of interest.⁵⁸

In deciding whether it is appropriate for the formative-summative evaluation providers to conduct a rapid review it is suggested that the following criteria are considered:

- There is a clear use case i.e. the scope of work will be focused on Gavi and support the generation of learning where it is needed quickly to influence course correction, generate a better understanding of the implementation context, and/or evaluate in detail the efficiency, effectiveness, sustainability or equity of COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC programmatic areas.
- Conducting the rapid review will not duplicate other work and does not pose a conflict of interest for the evaluator(s).
- There is a clear decision point to make use of the information generated by the rapid review.
- There are sufficient resources available (human and financial) to conduct the rapid review to the level of rigor required to appropriately influence the decision being made.
- Conducting the rapid review will support the wider formative-summative evaluation work, and be useful in terms of answering the core EQs.
- The proposed team has technical expertise and availability to conduct the rapid review in the desired time frame.

⁵⁸ A potential conflict of interest may arise where an evaluator supports work to find a solution and then seeks to evaluate it.

Itad will proactively identify any potential conflicts of interest as part of its regular project management risk review, and the involvement of Itad team members will be managed in line with Itad's wellestablished and rigorous project management and quality assurances procedures. This will include:

- Where identified, Itad will discuss any potential conflicts with the ELU and propose and agree mitigation measures. This may include changes to proposed team members and/or bringing in additional team members who focus exclusively on rapid review(s).
- As Itad's direct reporting line is to the ELU, all terms of reference for rapid reviews and deliverables will be approved and signed off by the ELU. In line with our internal quality assurance procedures, Sam McPherson, a Partner at Itad who is not part of the formative-summative evaluation team, will provide quality at entry (focus on agreeing terms of reference (ToRs) and design), as well as quality at exit to (focus on results and reports) for all deliverables.

## 4.2.2 Continuous learning

The evaluation should support the continuous learning activity that is ongoing within the Office of the COVAX Facility/Gavi ELU. There is a strong need for the Office of the COVAX Facility/Gavi ELU to learn, both for immediate course correction and for future pandemic preparedness. Ongoing efforts include generating,⁵⁹ collating through the learning library, analyzing and using learning for immediate course correction. The main added value this evaluation can provide is to combine, triangulate through analysis, and synthesize the varied learning outputs emerging from both the Office of the COVAX Facility/ Gavi ELU and this evaluation. Providing this synthesis of learning across the evaluation activity and working to engage user groups will help to facilitate uptake of lessons learned among key stakeholder groups.

Annex 7 identifies three potential evaluation design options, providing different levels of support to the Office of the COVAX Facility/Gavi ELU and an approach for the evaluators and ELU to work together. A light-touch learning support option is recommended, involving support to facilitate 'learning point' meetings, synthesize lessons learned arising from the multi-stage evaluation (MSE) and any additional COVAX Facility evaluation activities, and facilitate validation and prioritization of lessons learned (e.g. through sense-making workshops⁶⁰ and/or recommendation co-creation workshops with relevant teams). This approach would rely on the Office of the COVAX Facility/Gavi ELU to facilitate learning sessions (i.e. to clarify implications of recommendations, what needs to happen, by whom and by when, etc.) and generally support the use of learning for decision making and course correction. This would ensure that the evaluation team helpfully supports the learning function but retains independence from the evaluand in terms of how learning is used.

This collaborative and phased approach can be expected to deliver:⁶¹

- 1. *single loop learning* by guiding the Office of the COVAX Facility's immediate response to operational problems, such as to reduce fund disbursement delays;
- 2. *double loop learning* by testing assumptions and change pathways in the ToC to identify root causes and guide adjustment to systems, processes and/or capacities; and
- 3. *triple loop learning* through facilitated *'learning point' meetings* to understand how learning generated through the MSE is being used to support decision making and course correction.

⁶¹ Single loop: Identifying discrepancies between planned and actual activities and results and suggesting ways to improve compliance, but without necessarily addressing the cause. Double loop: Exploring root causes of problems to revisit ToC assumptions and adjust systems, processes and/or capacities for implementation. Triple loop: Reviewing what evidence is being used and exploring how learning action happens to support decision making. Tarek, M. (2020, December 12). *O6 Single Double Triple Loop Learning*. [Video]. YouTube.

 ⁵⁹ Through a combination of formal (e.g. reviews, embedded learning) and informal (e.g. captured via team meetings and calls) opportunities.
 ⁶⁰ Designed to provide a space for individuals bringing different world view perspectives to question/interrogate lessons arising from data analysis, aiming to minimize bias and promote transformative learning.

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=iWHOsnrsuPo; Rogers, P. (2021, April 15). *Why do we need more real-time evaluation?* Better Evaluation. https://www.betterevaluation.org/en/blog/why-do-we-need-more-real-time-evaluation

We note the potential uncertainty related to how learning priorities and related EQs will be determined and selected (or not) at the different stages of the MSE. See Annex 7 for a proposed decision tree process.

We also note the potential uncertainty regarding which aspects of COVAX-related learning fall under the remit and responsibility of the broader Gavi 5.0 Learning System versus the remit of the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC MSE. One option could be for the ELU to consider prioritizing learning priorities related to COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC course correction and future pandemic preparedness given its comparative advantage in these content areas, and to consider addressing learning priorities that are relevant specifically to GAVI 5.0 within the remit of the 5.0 Learning System team. These could be commissioned by the Secretariat ELU (rather than included in the COVAX MSE) as centralized and/or decentralized evaluation and/or rapid review pieces, as they align more closely with the broader Gavi 5.0 Learning System portfolio. A communication and learning plan is provided in Annex 16 and a dissemination plan in Annex 17. Annex 7 provides a figure that outlines how the evaluation team propose to collaborate with the ELU during the MSE.

# 4.3 Recommendations to operationalize the evaluation approach

Assuming that the proposed design options⁶² (see Annex 19) are agreed and accepted, a number of recommendations are made to the Gavi Secretariat and Office of the COVAX Facility to operationalize the evaluation approach – these apply to the formative review and baseline study, but are also relevant to the MSE:

- Gavi should work with other COVAX implementing partners to integrate/align this evaluation process with others to more fully answer bigger-picture questions than this evaluation (which is focused on Gavi and COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC) will be able to – for instance in relation to whether, how and why COVAX as a whole has been able to address power imbalances to ensure equitable access to COVID-19 vaccines.
- Sufficient resources should be devoted to the evaluation function to ensure that:
  - The Office of the COVAX Facility/Gavi ELU is sufficiently capacitated to implement a continuous learning function, as supported by the evaluation, and can help to ensure that methodologies and findings are well understood, as well as guiding and coordinating the formative-summative evaluation work and rapid reviews, particularly if these are conducted by different evaluators.
  - Formative-summative evaluations holistically cover what has worked well and less well in the design, set-up and implementation of the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC, and in terms of what results have been achieved.
  - Rapid reviews can be conducted, outside of the core formative-summative evaluation work, to respond to particular areas of need.
  - A good governance function is maintained (e.g. with a well-resourced 'owner' of the evaluation within the Gavi Secretariat/Office of the COVAX Facility, and continued Evaluation Steering Committee and Evaluation Advisory Committee functions).
  - A strong evaluation team is selected with strong internal capacity to implement the evaluation, with a robust methodology and workplan in place, access to required data, and strong technical advisory support across the scope of work and quality assurance function.
- Efforts should be made by the ELU and others within the Gavi Secretariat and Office of the COVAX Facility to ensure that the required level of stakeholder engagement is achieved in line with the

⁶² These options relate to priority users and uses of the evaluation; EQs; scope of work; design to blend the principles of both (i) a periodic and phased formative-summative evaluation and (ii) real-time evaluation; overarching theory-based, 'realist-informed' evaluation approach; envisaged areas of focus within the evaluation scope and how this will evolve over time and at different phases of the evaluation; proposed evaluation methods; and mitigating measures to address risks, challenges and limitations.

evaluation plan developed, for instance to meet expectations for KIIs, workshops, sense-making and co-creation activities.

- The Gavi ELU should maintain contact with COVAX implementing partners and other groups (e.g. the OECD COVID-19 Global Evaluation Coalition) to keep abreast of other evaluation processes and gain access to documents as soon as possible.
- Strengthen data availability on the recipients of COVID-19 vaccines, including disaggregation by vulnerable populations in participant countries, by taking steps to improve eJRF reporting completeness, triangulating data from other sources, and/or undertaking special studies in a sample of countries.

# 5. Annexes

# Annex 1: Glossary of key terms⁶³

- Accountability Obligation of government, public services or funding agencies to demonstrate to citizens that contracted work has been conducted in compliance with agreed rules and standards or to report fairly and accurately on performance results vis-à-vis mandated roles and/or plans. This may require a careful, even legally defensible, demonstration that the work is consistent with the contract terms. Projects commonly focus on upward accountability to the funding agency, while downward accountability involves making accounts and plans transparent to the primary stakeholders. Ensuring accountability is one part of the function of monitoring and evaluation (learning and management are the other two).
- Activity Actions taken or work performed in a project to produce specific outputs by using inputs, such as funds, technical assistance and other types of resources.
- Adaptive management A process that integrates project design, management and monitoring to provide a framework for testing assumptions, adaptation and learning.
- Assumption A condition that needs to be met for the successful achievement of objectives. Assumptions are hypotheses about why we believe change will happen in a certain way, and why we believe certain conditions are necessary and sufficient for a change to happen.
- Attribution The causal link of one thing to another; e.g. the extent to which observed (or expected to be observed) changes can be linked to a specific intervention in view of the effects of other interventions or confounding factors.
- Baseline information Information usually consisting of facts and figures collected at the initial stages of a project – that provides a basis for measuring progress in achieving project objectives and outputs.
- Baseline study An analysis describing the situation in a project area including data on individual primary stakeholders – prior to a development intervention. Progress (results and accomplishments) can be assessed and comparisons made against it. It also serves as an important reference for the completion evaluation.
- Benchmark Reference point or standard against which performance or achievements can be compared. A benchmark might refer to what has been achieved in the past, by other comparable organizations, or what could reasonably have been achieved under the circumstances.
- **Capacity** The ability of individuals and organizations to perform functions effectively, efficiently and in a sustainable manner.
- **Capacity building** The processes through which capacity is created.
- Causal relationship A logical connection or cause-and-effect linkage existing in the achievement of related, interdependent results. Generally, the term refers to plausible linkages, not statistically accurate relationships.
- **Causality analysis –** The study of cause-and-effect relations that link an intervention to its impacts.
- Effect Intended or unintended change resulting directly or indirectly from a development intervention.

⁶³ Drawn primarily from: a range of sources, including International Fund for Agricultural Development (IFAD). (2020). *Managing for Impact in Rural Development: A guide for project M&E*. https://www.ifad.org/documents/38714182/39723123/toc.pdf/e7c718e2-56b9-4f60-b404-3f31448a38a2

- Effectiveness A measure of the extent to which a project attains its objectives at the goal or purpose level; i.e. the extent to which a development intervention has attained, or is expected to attain, its relevant objectives efficiently and in a sustainable way.
- Efficacy The extent to which the project's objectives were achieved or expected to be achieved, taking into account their relative importance.
- Efficiency A measure of how economically inputs (funds, expertise, time, etc.) are converted into outputs.
- **Evaluability** The extent to which an activity or project can be evaluated in a reliable and credible fashion.
- Evaluation A systematic (and as objective as possible) examination of a planned, ongoing or completed project. It aims to answer specific management questions and to judge the overall value of an endeavour and supply lessons learned to improve future actions, planning and decision making. Evaluations commonly seek to determine the efficiency, effectiveness, impact, sustainability and relevance of the project or organization's objectives. An evaluation should provide information that is credible and useful, offering concrete lessons learned to help partners and funding agencies make decisions.
- **External evaluation** Conducted by evaluator(s) outside of the implementing project/programme team, lending it a degree of independence, objectivity and often technical expertise.
- End-term evaluation An external evaluation that occurs after project completion.
- Facilitator A person who helps members of a group conduct a meeting in an efficient and effective way but who does not dictate what will happen.
- Feedback The transmission of evaluation findings to parties for whom it is relevant and useful so as to facilitate learning. This may involve the collection and dissemination of findings, conclusions, recommendations and lessons learned from experience. Specifically in the context of evaluation, to return and share the evaluation results with those who participated in the evaluation.
- Formative evaluation Evaluation conducted during implementation to improve performance. It is intended for managers and direct supporters of a project.
- **Goal** The higher-order programme or sector objective to which a development intervention, such as a project, is intended to contribute. Thus it is a statement of intent.
- Impact The changes in the lives of rural people, as perceived by them and their partners at the time of evaluation, plus sustainability-enhancing change in their environment to which the project has contributed. Changes can be positive or negative, intended or unintended.
- Implementing partners COVAX core implementing partners represent CEPI, Gavi, UNICEF and WHO.
- Indicator Quantitative or qualitative factor or variable that provides a simple and reliable basis for assessing achievement, change or performance. A unit of information measured over time that can help show changes in a specific condition. A given goal or objective can have multiple indicators.
- Indirect effects The unplanned changes brought about as a result of the intervention.
- Joint evaluation An evaluation to which different institutions and/or partners contribute.
- Learning Reflecting on experience to identify how a situation or future actions could be improved and then using this knowledge to make actual improvements. This can be individual or group-based. Learning involves applying lessons learned to future actions, which provides the basis for another cycle of learning.

- Lessons learned Knowledge generated by reflecting on experience that has the potential to improve future actions. A lesson learned summarizes knowledge at a point in time, while learning is an ongoing process.
- Market shaping Used in a consistent way with the Gavi Market Shaping Strategy 2021-2025 (i.e. efforts that aim to make life-saving vaccines and other immunisation products more accessible and ffordable for lower-income countries). However, we note that the scope of activities intended for and implemented through the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC may not be as comprehensive as for the Gavi Market Shaping Strategy 2021-2025.
- Means of verification The expected source(s) of information that can help answer the performance question or indicators. This is found in the third column of the standard logframe. It is detailed further in the monitoring and evaluation (M&E) matrix.
- Method The specific tools for analysis used to conduct the evaluation.
- Midterm evaluation Evaluation performed towards the middle of the period of implementation of the intervention.
- Monitoring The regular collection and analysis of information to assist timely decision making, ensure accountability and provide the basis for evaluation and learning. It is a continuing function that uses methodical collection of data to provide management and the main stakeholders of an ongoing project or programme with early indications of progress and achievement of objectives.
- Monitoring and evaluation The combination of monitoring and evaluation which together provide the knowledge required for: (a) effective project management and (b) reporting and accountability responsibilities.
- Objective A specific statement detailing the desired accomplishments or outcomes of a project at different levels (short to long term). A good objective meets the criteria of being impact-oriented, measurable, time-limited, specific and practical.
- Objective hierarchy The different levels of objectives, from activities up to goal. If the project is
  designed well, realization of each level of objectives in the hierarchy should lead to fulfilment of the
  project goal.
- Objectively verifiable indicators A group of criteria (not necessarily measurable) used to verify the degree of accomplishment (foreseen or actual) of the sectoral purpose, the objective, and the inputs and outputs of a project. They can be quantitative, and therefore both verifiable and measurable, or qualitative, and therefore only verifiable.
- Outputs The tangible (easily measurable, practical), immediate and intended results to be produced through sound management of the agreed inputs. Examples of outputs include goods, services or infrastructure produced by a project and meant to help realize its purpose. These may include changes, resulting from the intervention, that are needed to achieve outcomes.
- Participation One or more processes in which an individual (or group) takes part in specific decision making and action, and over which s/he may exercise specific controls. It is often used to refer specifically to processes in which primary stakeholders take an active part in planning and decision making, implementation, learning and evaluation. This often has the intention of sharing control over the resources generated and responsibility for their future use.
- Participatory evaluation A broad term for the involvement of primary and other stakeholders in evaluation. The primary focus may be the information needs of stakeholders rather than the donor.
- Partner The organization in the project country with which the funding agency collaborates to achieve mutually agreed objectives. Partners may include host country governments, local and

international non-governmental organizations (NGOs), universities, professional and business associations, private businesses, etc.

- Performance The degree to which a development intervention or a development partner operates according to specific criteria/standards/guidelines or achieves results in accordance with stated goals or plans.
- Precondition Condition that must be fulfilled before a project can become effective (e.g. when disbursement against the loan becomes possible).
- Process evaluation An evaluation aimed at describing and understanding the internal dynamics and relationships of a project, programme or institution.
- Process monitoring The activities of consciously selecting processes, selectively and systematically
  observing them to compare them with others, and communicating about what has been observed to
  learn how to steer and shape the processes.
- Project An intervention that consists of a set of planned, interrelated activities designed to achieve defined objectives within a given budget and a specified period of time.
- Project management The process of leading, planning, organising, staffing and controlling activities, people and other resources in order to achieve particular objectives.
- **Purpose** The positive improved situation that a project or programme is accountable for achieving.
- Qualitative Something that is not summarized in numerical form, such as minutes from community meetings and general notes from observations. Qualitative data normally describe people's knowledge, attitudes or behaviours.
- Quantitative Something measured or measurable by, or concerned with, quantity; expressed in numbers or quantities.
- Reach The beneficiaries and other stakeholders of a development intervention, whether sectors, groups of people or geographic areas of the country or region.
- Relevance The extent to which the objectives of a project are consistent with the target group's priorities and the recipients' and donors' policies.
- Reliability Consistency or dependability of data and evaluation judgements, with reference to the quality of the instruments, procedures and analyses used to collect and interpret evaluation data. Information is reliable when repeated observations using the same instrument under identical conditions produce similar results.
- Resources Items that a project has or needs in order to operate, such as staff time, managerial time, local knowledge, money, equipment, trained personnel and sociopolitical opportunities.
- Result The measurable output, outcome or impact (intended or unintended, positive or negative) of a development intervention.
- **Review** An assessment of the performance of a project or programme, periodically or on an asneeded basis. A review is more extensive than monitoring but less extensive than evaluation.
- **Sample** The selection of a representative part of a population in order to determine parameters or characteristics of the whole population.
- Situation analysis The process of understanding the status, condition, trends and key issues affecting people, ecosystems and institutions in a given geographic context at any level (local, national, regional, international).

- Stakeholder An agency, organisation, group or individual who has a direct or indirect interest in the project/programme, or who affects or is affected positively or negatively by the implementation and outcome of it.
- Stakeholder participation Active involvement by stakeholders in the design, management and monitoring of the project. Full participation means all representatives of key stakeholder groups at the project site become involved in mutually agreed, appropriate ways.
- Sustainability The likelihood that the positive effects of a project (such as assets, skills, facilities or improved services) will persist for an extended period after the external assistance ends.
- Target A specified objective that indicates the number, timing and location of that which is to be realised.
- Target group The specific group for whose benefit the project or programme is undertaken, closely related to impact and relevance.
- Theory of Change A 'Theory of Change' explains how activities are understood to produce a series of results that contribute to achieving the final intended impacts. It can be developed for any level of intervention – an event, a project, a programme, a policy, a strategy or an organization.
- Triangulation Use of a variety of sources, methods or field team members to cross-check and validate data and information to limit biases.
- Validity The extent to which something is reliable and actually measures up to or makes a correct claim. This includes data collection strategies and instruments.
- Validation The process of cross-checking to ensure that the data obtained from one monitoring method are confirmed by the data obtained from a different method.

# **Annex 2: Document review and bibliography**

Table 12 - Types and quantities of documents reviewed by the Itad team

Document type	Number*
Gavi documents	116
COVAX partnership documents	72
Core partner documents	27
Independent documents	24
Academic literature	36
Grey literature	84
TOTAL NUMBER	359

*as of 26 November 2021

### **Gavi documents**

#### **Executive board**

"Advance Market Commitment Resource Mobilisation", Gavi, 15 December 2020

"Annex A - Alternative options explored for the administration of the Facility and key reasons for not exploring further", Gavi, 30 July 2020

"Annex A - COVAX AMC pledges and donations", Gavi, 1 October 2021

"Annex A - COVAX AMC support to India - Data Tables", Gavi 15 December 2020

"Annex A - Implications and Anticipated Impact", Gavi, 15 December 2020

"Annex A - Report of the Chief Executive Officer", Gavi, 16 June 2021

"Annex A: AMC eligible economies", Gavi, 15 December 2020

"Annex A: Implications/Anticipated impact", Gavi, 29 September 2020

"Annex A: Terms of the COVAX AMC", Gavi, 30 July 2020

"Annex B - Allocation Humanitarian Buffer and Contingency provision", Gavi, 30 September

"Annex B - COVAX Budget 2021 and three-year forecast", Gavi, 15 December 2020

"Annex B-Risk analysis", Gavi, 30 July 2020

"Annex B: COVAX Reporting Framework", Gavi, 1 May 2021

"Annex B: Pledges to the Gavi COVAX AMC", 15 December 2020

"Annex B: The COVAX AMC Group: proposed eligible economies", Gavi, 30 July 2020

"Annex C - COVAX Reporting Framework", Gavi, 15 December 2020

"Annex C - Lessons from Gavi's Advance Market Commitment for Pneumococcal Conjugate Vaccines", Gavi, 30 July 2020

"Annex C: COVAX Risk Report", Gavi, 23 June 2021

"Annex D: COVAX Country Participation Model: Risk Considerations", Gavi, 23 June 2021

"Annex D: Facility resourcing needs over time", Gavi, 30 July 2020

"Annex E - Draft Learning Agenda", Gavi, 15 December 2020

"Annex E- Draft Gavi 5.0 Theory of Change and Learning Priorities", Gavi, 15 December 2021

"Annex E: Participation model options", Gavi, 23 June 2020

"Annex F: Design of COVID-10 Delivery and System Strengthening (CDSS) envelope and cross-cutting delivery elements", Gavi, 23 June 2020

"Appendix 1: COVAX Country Participation Model: Analysis of the various demand scenarios and summary of SFP consultations", Gavi, 1 May 2021

"CIVIL SOCIETY AND COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT APPROACH", Gavi, 23 June 2021

"COVAX AMC FINANCIAL FORECAST", Gavi, 23 May 2021

"COVAX AMC SUPPORT TO INDIA", Gavi, 15 December 2020

"COVAX BUFFER FOR HIGH-RISK GROUPS IN HUMANITARIAN SITUATIONS", Gavi, 22 March 2021

"COVAX Facility operationalisation and vaccine program", Gavi, 15 December 2020

"COVAX Facility Operationalisation and Vaccine Programme", Gavi, 15 December 2020

"COVAX Facility Operationalisation and Vaccine Programme", Gavi, 29 September 2021

"COVAX Key strategic issues - Slide Deck", Gavi, 28 September 2021 "COVAX Key Strategic Issues", Gavi, 28 September 2021 "COVAX Resource Mobilisation Update", Gavi, 28 September 2021 "COVAX UPDATE", Gavi, 23 June 2021 "COVID-19 VACCINE DEVELOPMENT, ACCESS AND DELIVERY", Gavi, 24 June 2020 "COVID-19: GAVI'S IMMEDIATE AND INTERIM RESPONSE", Gavi, 11 May 2020 "COVID-19: VACCINE DEVELOPMENT, ACCESS AND DELIVERY – slide deck", Gavi, 24 June 2020 "Gavi 5.0: An Overview of Key Issues", Gavi, 28 September 2021 "Gavi Alliance Board Meeting - 19 March 2020", Gavi, 19 March 2020 "Gavi Alliance Board Meeting - 15 May 2020", Gavi, 15 May 2020 "Gavi Alliance Board Meeting - 24 June 2020", Gavi, 24 June 2020 "Gavi Alliance Board Meeting – 30 July 2020", Gavi, 30 July 2020 "Gavi Alliance Board Meeting Review of Decisions - 19 March 2020", Gavi, 19 March 2020 "Gavi Alliance Board Meeting Review of Decisions - 22 March 2020 – Slide Deck", Gavi, 22 March 202 "Gavi Alliance Board Meeting Review of Decisions - 23 June 2020 – Slide Deck", Gavi, 23 June 2020 "Gavi Alliance Board Meeting Review of Decisions – 15 May 2020", Gavi, 15 May 2020 "Gavi Alliance Board Meeting Review of Decisions - 24 June 2020", Gavi, 24 June 2020 "Gavi Alliance Board Meeting Review of Decisions - 30 July 2020", Gavi, 30 July 2020 "GAVI COVAX AMC – Board Meeting", Gavi, 22 March 2021 "GAVI COVAX AMC & COVAX FACILITY STRUCTURE AND GOVERNANCE", Gavi, 30 July 2020 "GAVI COVAX AMC", Gavi, 30 July 2020 "GAVI'S ENGAGEMENT ON COVID-19", Gavi, 19 March 2020 "Report of the Chief Executive Officer", Gavi, 15 December 2020 "Report of the Chief Executive Officer", Gavi, 21 September 2021

#### "STRATEGIC PARTNERSHIPSWITH INDIA", Gavi, 23 June 2021

#### Audit & Finance Committee

"Gavi Alliance Audit and Finance Committee – COVAX 20 January 2021 Virtual Meeting", Gavi, 20 January 2021

"Gavi Alliance Audit and Finance Committee 13 October 2020 Virtual Meeting", Gavi, 13 October 2020

"Gavi Alliance Audit and Finance Committee - COVAX 11 December 2020 Virtual Meeting", Gavi, 11 December 2020

"Gavi Alliance Audit and Finance Committee – COVAX 2 March 2021 Virtual Meeting", Gavi 2 March 2021

"Gavi Alliance Audit and Finance Committee – COVAX 25 March 2021 Virtual Meeting", Gavi, 25 March 2021

"Gavi Alliance Audit and Finance Committee – COVAX 22 April 2021 Virtual Meeting", Gavi, 22 April 2021

"Gavi Alliance Audit and Finance Committee – COVAX 3 June 2021 Virtual Meeting", Gavi, 3 June 2021

"Gavi Alliance Audit and Finance Committee Meeting", Gavi, 22 June 2020

"Gavi Alliance Audit and Finance Committee – COVAX 13 July 2021 Virtual Meeting", Gavi, 13 July 2021

"Gavi Alliance Audit and Finance Committee Meeting", Gavi, 23 July 2020

"Gavi Alliance Audit and Finance Committee Meeting", Gavi, 15 September 2020

"Gavi Alliance Audit and Finance Committee Meeting", Gavi, 21 October 2021

"Gavi Alliance Audit and Finance Committee – COVAX 2/3 5 November 2020 Virtual Meeting", Gavi, 5 November 2020

"Gavi Alliance Audit and Finance Committee Meeting", Gavi, 23 November 2020

"Gavi Alliance Audit and Finance Committee - COVAX 3 25 November 2020 Virtual Meeting", Gavi, 25 November 2020

#### **Evaluation Advisory Committee**

"Gavi Alliance Evaluation Advisory Committee Meeting 14-15 April 2021 Virtual meeting", Gavi, 14 April 2021 "Gavi Alliance Evaluation Advisory Committee Meeting", Gavi, 18 November 2021

#### **Governance Committee**

"Gavi Alliance Governance Committee Meeting", Gavi, 8 September 2020

"Gavi Alliance Governance Committee Meeting", Gavi, 24 November 2020

"Gavi Alliance Governance Committee Meeting", Gavi, 10 December 2020

"Gavi Alliance Governance Committee Meeting", Gavi 8 October 2020

"Gavi Alliance Governance Committee Meeting", Gavi, 15 May 2021

#### **Classified as Internal**

Final evaluability assessment and evaluation design report

#### **Shareholders Council**

"COVAX Facility Shareholders Council Meeting 1", Gavi, 2 November 2020

"Shareholders Council Meeting 2", Gavi, 28 January 2021

"Shareholders Council Meeting 3", Gavi, 18 March 2021

"Shareholders Council Meeting 4", Gavi, 18 May 2021

"Shareholders Council Meeting 5", Gavi, 14 July 2021

#### **Advance Market Commitment Engagement Group**

"Advance Market Commitment Engagement Group Meeting 4", Gavi, 17 May 2021

"Advance Market Commitment Engagement Group Meeting 1", Gavi, 19 November 2020

"Advance Market Commitment Engagement Group Meeting 2", Gavi, 27 January 2021

"Advance Market Commitment Engagement Group Meeting 3", Gavi, 17 March 2021

"Advance Market Commitment Engagement Group Meeting 5", Gavi, 12 July 2021

#### **Programme and Policy Committee**

"Gavi Alliance Programme and Policy Committee Meeting", Gavi, 28 October 2020

"Gavi Alliance Programme and Policy Committee Meeting", Gavi, 26 May 2020

"COVAX Buffer for high-risk groups in humanitarian situations", Gavi, 1 March 2021

"Gavi Alliance Programme and Policy Committee Meeting 1 March 2021 Virtual meeting", Gavi, 1 March 2021

"Gavi Alliance Programme and Policy Committee Meeting 19-20 May 2021 Virtual meeting", Gavi, 19 May 2021

#### Situational reports

"Gavi COVID-19 Situation Report – 5", Gavi, 14 April 2020 "Gavi COVID-19 Situation Report - 6", Gavi, 21 April 2020 "Gavi COVID-19 Situation Report – 7", Gavi, 28 April 2020 "Gavi COVID-19 Situation Report – 8", Gavi, 7 May 2020 "Gavi COVID-19 Situation Report - 9", Gavi, 22 May 2020 "Gavi COVID-19 Situation Report - 10", Gavi, 3 June 2020 "Gavi COVID-19 Situation Report - 11", Gavi, 16 June 2020 "Gavi COVID-19 Situation Report - 12", Gavi, 1 July 2020 "Gavi COVID-19 Situation Report - 13", Gavi, 16 July 2020 "Gavi COVID-19 Situation Report – 14", Gavi, 29 July 2020 "Gavi COVID-19 Situation Report – 15", Gavi, 11 August 2020 "Gavi COVID-19 Situation Report - 16", Gavi, 25 August 2020 "Gavi COVID-19 Situation Report – 17", Gavi, 9 September 2020 "Gavi COVID-19 Situation Report - 18", Gavi, 24 September 2020 "Gavi COVID-19 Situation Report - 19", Gavi, 15 October 2020 "Gavi COVID-19 Situation Report - 20", Gavi, 18 November 2020

#### Other

"Gavi COVAX Reporting Framework Indicator Reference Sheets", Gavi, 4 June 2021

"The Vaccine Alliance - Risk and Assurance Report 2020", Gavi, 2021

"Annex B - CSCE Theory of Change and Strategic Initiative", Gavi, 2021 [DIAGRAM]

"The Gavi COVAX AMC an Investment Opportunity", Gavi

"COVAX Facility Governance – Slide Deck", Gavi, 17 March 2021

"Strategy and implication of COVID-19 – Slide Deck", Gavi, 24 June 2020

### **COVAX** partnership documents

"Allocation Mechanism for COVAX Facility Vaccines", COVAX, 1 November 2020 "ALLOCATION ROUND 3: Pfizer-BioNTechVaccine, April –June 2021", COVAX, 12 April 2021

"ALLOCATION ROUND 4: AstraZeneca/Oxford Vaccine Exceptional allocation to address 2nddose needs and shipment delays", COVAX. 16 July 2021 "ALLOCATION ROUND 5: Pfizer-BioNTech Vaccine", COVAX, 15 July 2021 "ALLOCATION ROUND 6: Sinopharm & Sinovac Vaccines", COVAX, 4 August 2021 "BRIEFING NOTE ADDITIONAL INFORMATION ON INDEMNIFICATION FOR COVAX AMC PARTICIPANTS", COVAX, 1 November 2020 "BRIEFING NOTE FOR GOVERNMENTS AND ORGANISATIONS", COVAX, 1 November 2020 "Costs of delivering COVID-19 vaccine in 92 AMC countries Updated estimates from COVAX Working Group on delivery costs", COVAX, 8 February 2021 "COVAX AMC APPLICATION GUIDANCE", COVAX, 13 November 2020 "COVAX AMC ENGAGEMENT GROUP TERMS OF REFERENCE", COVAX, 1 March 2021 "COVAX AMC ENGAGEMENT GROUP TERMS OF REFERENCE", COVAX, September 2020 "COVAX AMC STAKEHOLDERS GROUP TERMS OF REFERENCE", COVAX, September 2020 "COVAX FACILITY ADVANCE MARKET COMMITMENT ("AMC") ENGAGEMENT GROUP MEETING - 27 January 2021" COVAX, 27 January 2021 "COVAX FACILITY ADVANCE MARKET COMMITMENT ("AMC") ENGAGEMENT GROUP MEETING - 17 March 2021", COVAX, 17 March 2021 "COVAX FACILITY ADVANCE MARKET COMMITMENT ("AMC") ENGAGEMENT GROUP MEETING - 17 May 2021", COVAX, 17 May 2021 "COVAX Facility AMC Engagement Group Summary Minutes of Meeting 1", COVAX, 1 November 2020 "COVAX FACILITY CONSENSUS GROUP TERMS OF REFERENCE", COVAX, September 2020 "COVAX Facility Explainer Participation Arrangements for Self-Financing Economies", COVAX, 2020 "COVAX FACILITY INDEPENDENT PRODUCT GROUP TERMS OF REFERENCE", COVAX, September 2020 "COVAX Facility Information session with industry", COVAX, 12 August 2020 "COVAX FACILITY SHAREHOLDERS COUNCIL EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE TERMS OF REFERENCE", COVAX, September 2020 "COVAX Facility Shareholders Council Final Minutes of Meeting 1 –2 November 2020", COVAX, 1 November 2020 "COVAX FACILITY SHAREHOLDERS COUNCIL OPERATING PROCEDURES", COVAX, September 2020 "COVAX FACILITY SHAREHOLDERS COUNCIL TERMS OF REFERENCE", COVAX, September 2020 "COVAX Global Supply Forecast", COVAX, 1 April 2021 "COVAX GLOBAL SUPPLY FORECAST", COVAX, 20 January 2021 "COVAX Global Supply Forecast", COVAX, 8 September 2021 "COVAX Introduction (Explainer)", COVAX, 15 August 2021 "COVAX no-fault compensation program for AMC eligible economies", COVAX, 5 July 2021 "COVAX REDEPLOYMENT POLICY", COVAX, 6 October 2021 "COVAX Reporting Framework - ToC", COVAX, 2020 [DIAGRAM] "COVAX Update", WHO, 25 February 2021 "COVAX: The Vaccine Pillar of the access to COVID-19 tools (ACT) accelerator structure and principles", COVAX, 17 March 2020 "Dialogue with civil society: ACT-A and COVID-19 vaccines", COVAX, 27 October 2020 "Fair allocation mechanism for COVID-19 vaccines through the COVAX Facility", COVAX, 09 September 2020 "FIRST ROUND OF ALLOCATION: ASTRAZENECA/OXFORD VACCINE", COVAX, 2 March 2021 "How COVAX is mitigating uncertainty', COVAX, 2020 [DIAGRAM] "One World Protected - Gavi-COVAX AMC Investment Opportunities", Gavi, 15 April 2021 "PRINCIPLES FOR SHARING COVID-19 VACCINE DOSES WITH COVAX", COVAX, 18 December 2020 "Response to Joint Letter from Human Rights Watch, Public Citizen, MSF Access Campaign and Amnesty International-25March2021", COVAX, 25 March 2021 "Self-Financing Participants and AMC-Eligible economies", COVAX, 12 May 2021 "Supply Chain & Manufacturing Taskforce", COVAX, 12 May 2021 "The COVAX Facility and the AMC DCVMN Annual General Meeting", COVAX, 4 November 2020 "THE COVAX FACILITY: INTERIM DISTRIBUTION FORECAST", COVAX, 3 February 2021 "The Gavi COVAX AMC Investment Opportunity Launch Event - Participant list", COVAX, 15 April 2021 "THE SHARE HOLDERS COUNCIL MEETING - 18 March2021", COVAX, 18 March 2021 "THE SHARE HOLDERS COUNCIL MEETING - 18 May 2021", COVAX, 18 May 2021 "THE SHARE HOLDERS COUNCIL MEETING - 28 January 2021", COVAX, 28 January 2021 "UNICEF SUPPLY DIVISION & GAVI:CCE Programme and Market updates on COVID-19 and Gavi 5.0", Gavi/UNICEF, 5 November 2020 "Who's Who in COVAX", COVAX, 1 May 2021 "Workstream Conveners Call (1/2) - COVAX Facility and AMC Evaluation and global market assessment", COVAX, 21 June 2021 "Workstream Conveners Call (1/2) - COVAX Facility and AMC Evaluation Notes", COVAX, 21 June 2021 "WSC briefing - COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC Theory of Change (ToC) and Evaluation update", COVAX, 21 June 2021 "WSC Meeting (1/2)", COVAX, 11 October 2021

**Independent Allocation of Vaccines Group** 

"Allocation logic and algorithm to support allocation of vaccines secured through the COVAX Facility Explainer based on commonly asked questions", IAVC, 15 February 2021

"Allocation Mechanism Interaction with the COVAX Facility", IAVG [DIAGRAM]

"FACILITY DISTRIBUTION Pfizer/BioNTech", IVAG, 15 March 2021

"Governance and Decision-making Structure", IAVG [DIAGRAM]

"IAVG Vaccine Allocation Decision for Round 7", IAVG, 17 September

"Report of the Independent Allocation of Vaccines Group on the allocation of COVAX Facility secured vaccines", IAVG, 29 July 2021

"Report of the Independent Allocation of Vaccines Group on the allocation of COVAX Facility secured vaccines", IAVG, 15 July 2021

"Report of the Independent Allocation of Vaccines Group on the allocation of COVAX Facility secured vaccines

"Report of the Joint Allocation Taskforce (JAT) on the distribution of COVAX Facility secured vaccines COVAX

"Report of the Joint Allocation Taskforce (JAT) on the distribution of COVAX Facility secured vaccines COVAX ALLOCATION ROUND 4 – Second Dose Needs", IAVG, 2021

"Report of the Joint Allocation Taskforce (JAT) on the distribution of COVAX Facility secured vaccines COVAX ALLOCATION ROUND 5/Q3 Available Supply", IAVG, 6 July 2021

"Summary of the July 2021 allocation round and decision-making process, including graphs and data", IAVG, 22 February 2021

## ACT-A

"ACT Accelerator Facilitation Council Vaccine Manufacturing Working Group Report to the G20", ACT-A, 20 October 2021

"ACT now, ACT together 2020-2021 Impact Report", ACT-A, 28 April 2021

"ACT-Accelerator Impact Report: Summary", ACT-A, 23 April 2021

"ACT-Accelerator Prioritized Strategy & Budget for 2021", ACT-A, 12 April 2021

"ACT-Accelerator Strategic Review - Inception report", ACT-A/Dalberg, 17 August 2021

"ACT-Accelerator Strategic Review", ACT-A/Dalberg, 8 October 2021

"Strategic Plan & Budget - October 2021 to September 2022", ACT-A, 28 October 2021

### **Core partner documents**

#### CEPI

"2020 Annual Progress Report", CEPI, 31 March 2021

"A proposal to establish a globally fair allocation system for COVID-19 vaccines", CEPI, 25 March 2020

"CEPI mid-term review and COVID-19 response review: combined report", CEPI

"Enabling Equitable Access to COVID-19 Vaccines: Summary of equitable access provisions in CEPI's COVID-19 vaccine

development agreements", CEPI, 31 August 2021

"Equitable Access Committee (EAC) meeting -26 May 2020", CEPI, 26 May 2020

"JCG Meeting Summary", CEPI, 8 September 2020

"Minutes of Board meeting #13", CEPI, 15, March 2021

"Minutes of Board meeting #14", CEPI, 24 June 2021

"Public summary Board meeting #10", CEPI, 29 June 2020

"Public Summary Board meeting #11", CEPI, 16 September 2020

"Public Summary Board meeting #12", CEPI, 2 December 2020

"Public summary of extraordinary Board meeting", CEPI, 30 April 2020

"Public summary of extraordinary Board meeting", CEPI, 7 May 2020

"Summary Equitable Access Committee (EAC) meeting - May 7th 2020", CEPI, 7 May 2020

"Summary of CEPI Scientific Advisory Committee (SAC) meeting", CEPI, 13 May 2020

"Summary of CEPI Scientific Advisory Committee (SAC) meeting", CEPI, 20 August 2020

"Summary of Executive & Investment Committee – 14 April 2020", CEPI, 14 April 2020

"Summary of Executive and Investment Committee (EIC) meeting", CEPI, 7 July 2020

"Summary of Executive and Investment Committee meeting-23 April 2020", CEPI, 23 April 2020

### WHO

"A World in Disorder. Global Preparedness Monitoring Board Annual Report 2020.", WHO, 2020

"Access to COVID-19 Tools Accelerator overview and update", WHO, 1 July 2021

"ACT-Accelerator Vaccine Pillar (COVAX) Civil Society & Community Representation", WHO, 14 September 2021

"Case for Private Sector Support", WHO, 1 December 2020

"COVID-19 Vaccination & COVAX rollout: WHO Member States Information Session", WHO, 8 April 2021

"Global C-19 Vaccination Strategy – SAGE Extraordinary meeting", WHO, 29 June 2021 "Strategy to Achieve Global Covid-19 Vaccination by mid-2022", WHO, 2021

#### UNICEF

"UNICEF Annual Report 2020", UNICEF, 1 June 2021

### Independent documents

"A DOUBLE DOSE OF INEQUALITY", Amnesty International, 22 September 2021

"A Proposal to End the COVID-19 Pandemic", International Monetary Fund, 1 May 2021

"Access to Vaccines, Therapeutics, and Diagnostics", The Independent Panel for Pandemic Preparedness and Response, 1 May 2021

"Addressing Market Failures: The Role of CEPI in Bridging the Innovation Gap to Prevent the Next Pandemic", Volta

Capital/Pandemic Action Network/Africa Centres for Disease Control and Prevention, 7 September 2021

"Annex - Documentation Set: Synthesis of Core Design Decisions taken on the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC Structures", Global Health Consulting, 12 August 2021

"ASSESSING COUNTRY READINESS FORCOVID-19 VACCINES", The World Bank, 1 March 2021

"Civil Society Integration within the ACT-A Vaccine Pillar", Civil Society Signatories, 29 July 2020

"COVAX Facility & AMC: Documentation Project", Global Health Consulting, 12 August 2021

"COVAX Facility Risk Framework", Citi, 25 November 2020

"COVID-19 and the cost of vaccine nationalism", RAND Corporation, 2020

"COVID-19 vaccine expiry forecast for 2021 and 2022", Airfinity. 20 September 2021

"COVID-19: Make it the Last Pandemic", The Independent Panel for Pandemic Preparedness and Response, 2021

"Documentation Project: To synthesis core design decisions taken on the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC", Global Health Consulting, 12 August 2021

"Dose of Reality: How rich countries and pharmaceutical corporations are breaking their vaccine promises", The People's Vaccine, 21 September 2021

"Ending the Covid-19 Pandemic: The Need for a Global Approach", Eurasia Group, 25 November 2020

"Engaging Civil Society to Support Equitable Access to COVID-19 Vaccines", International Vaccine Access Centre, 21 October 2020 "FINANCING COVID-19 VACCINATION EFFORTS WITH EQUITY", Save the Children, 2021

"Global Health Cluster Position on COVID-19 vaccination in Humanitarian settings", Health Cluster, 1 April 2021

"Holding the World to Account: Urgent Actions Needed to Close Gaps in the Global COVID-19 Response", COVID Global Accountability Platform, 18 November 2021

"One for All: An Updated Action Plan for Global Covid-19 Vaccination", Rockefeller Foundation, 1 June 2021 "PFIZER'S POWER", Public Citizen, 19 October 2021

"Platform for ACT-A Civil Society & Community Representatives: Statement on the ACT-Accelerator Strategic Review", Platform for ACT-A Civil Society & Community Representatives, 12 October 2021

"Q4 Global Forecast. One year on: vaccination successes and failures", Economist Intelligence Unit, November 2021

"Vaccine Equity & Access in Crisis: COVID-19 Vaccination Updates from Conflict-Affected and Fragile States", MedGlobal, 22 February 2021

### **Academic literature**

"10 Images That Illustrate The Shameful Global Vaccine Inequity", Madhukar Pai, Nature, 28 August 2021

"A beautiful idea: how COVAX has fallen short", Ann Danaiya Usher, The Lancet, 19 June 2021

"Access to and equitable distribution of COVID-19 vaccine in low-income countries", Krishna Prasad Acharya, NPJ Vaccines, 14 April 2021

"Access to COVID-19 vaccines: looking beyond COVAX", The Lancet, 11 March 2021

"COVAX COVID-19 response: "we will only be safe when everybody is safe!", Jose Eric M Lacsa, Journal of Public Health, 17 June 2021

"Addressing COVID-19 during times of competitive politics and failed institutions", Andres Barkil-Oteo, Journal of Global Health, 13 November 2021

"Covax must go beyond proportional allocation of covid vaccines to ensure fair and equitable access", Lisa M Herzog et al., British Medical Journal, 5 January 2021

"COVID-19 and global equity for health: The good, the bad, and the wicked", Elvin H. Geng, PLOS Medicine, 1 October 2021 "COVID-19 and the Contradictions of Globalization, Populism and Nationalism", Fred Aja Agwu, Foreign Policy in the Age of Globalization, Populism and Nationalism, 26 June 2021

"COVID-19 Vaccine Diplomacy and Equitable Access to Vaccines Amid Ongoing Pandemic", Khan Sharun et al., Archives of Medical Research, 4 April 2021
"COVID-19 vaccines : equitable access, vaccine hesitancy and the dilemma of emergency use approvals", Ames Dhai, South African Journal of Bioethics and Law, 1 December 2020

"COVID-19 vaccines for all?", Ann Danaiya Usher, The Lancet, 13 June 2020

"Embedding global access in development of future pandemic vaccines", Suerie Moon, British Medical Journal, 20 September 2021

"Equitable global access to coronavirus disease 2019 vaccines", Jason L Schwartz, British Medical Journal, 15 December 2020 "European collaborations on medicine and vaccine procurement", Sabine Vogler et al., The Bulletin of the World Health Organisation, 1 October 2021

"Five steps to solving the vaccine inequity crisis", Tedros Adhanom Ghebreyesus, PLOS, 13 October 2021

"Global access to COVID-19 vaccines: a scoping review of factors that may influence equitable access for low and middle-income countries", Elizabeth F Peacocke, British Medical Journal, 30 September 2021

"Health leaders criticise limited ACT-A review", Ann Danaiya Usher, The Lancet, 21 August 2021

"How the world is (not) handling surplus doses and expiring vaccines", Jane Feinmann, British Medical Journal, 25 August 2021 "Incentivising wealthy nations to participate in the COVID-19 Vaccine Global Access Facility (COVAX): a game theory perspective", David McAdams, British Medical Journal Global Health, 30 November 2020

"International Collaboration to Ensure Equitable Access to Vaccines for COVID-19: The ACT-Accelerator and the COVAX Facility", Mark Eccleston-Turner et al., The Milbank Quarterly, 2 March 2021

"International cooperation in a non-ideal world: the example of COVAX", Florencia Luna, Felicitas Holzer, Cadernos Ibero-Americanos de Direito Sanitário, 16 September 2021

"Learn from the lessons and don't forget them': identifying transferable lessons for COVID-19 from meningitis A, yellow fever and Ebola virus disease vaccination campaigns", Julie Collins et al., British Medical Journal, 17 September 2021

"Pharmaceutical Industry's Engagement in the Global Equitable Distribution of COVID-19 Vaccines: Corporate Social Responsibility of EUL Vaccine Developers", Meekang Sung et al., Multidisciplinary Digital Publishing Institute, 15 October 2021

"Regional vaccine production is key to ensuring equity", Shanthi Mendis, British Medical Journal, 5 October 2021

"Risky business: COVAX and the financialization of global vaccine equity", Felix Stein, Springer, 20 September 2021

"Sanctioned countries in the global COVID-19 vaccination campaign: the forgotten 70%", Karl Blanchet et al., Conflict in Health, 17 September 2021

"Survival of the wealthiest? Wait in line for COVID-19 vaccination", Azza Sarfraz et al., British Medical Journal, 19 August 2021 "The battle for COVID-19 vaccines highlights the need for a new global governance mechanism", Anna Mia Ekstrom, Nature Medicine, 11 March 2021

"The long road ahead for COVID-19 vaccination in Africa", Sara Jerving, The Lancet, 4 September 2021

"The Role of International Law in Vaccinating Against COVID-19: Appraising the COVAX Initiative", Armin von Bogdandy, Heidelberg Journal of International Law, 19 November 2021

"Vaccine apartheid: This is not the way to end the pandemic", Vanessa S Lanziotti, et al., Journal of Paediatrics and Child Health, 21 October 2021

"Vaccine nationalism: contested relationships between COVID-19 and globalization", Yanqiu Rachel Zhou, Taylor & Francis, 10 August 2021

"Vaccine shortages prompt changes to COVAX strategy", Ann Danaiya Usher, The Lancet, 23 October 2021

"Viewpoint: vaccine inequity in the spotlight", Mustapha Bittaye et al., British Medical Journal, 7 October 2021

"WHO's allocation framework for COVAX: is it fair?", Siddhanth Sharma et al., British Medical Journal, 9 April 2021

#### **Grey literature**

"A review says ACT-A should continue. Experts say changes are needed", Devex, 14 October 2021. Accessed

at: https://www.devex.com/news/a-review-says-act-a-should-continue-experts-say-changes-are-needed-101830 "Access to More Doses Holding Covax Back; Hope India Will Resume Vaccine Exports Soon: Gavi CEO", News18, 17 September 2021. Accessed at: https://www.who.int/news/item/16-09-2021-international-organizations-vaccine-manufacturers-agree-tointensify-cooperation-to-deliver-covid-19-vaccines

"Actions must speak louder than words: five asks to achieve equity in vaccine delivery", The United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees, 28 October 2021. Accessed at: https://www.unhcr.org/news/press/2021/10/617ad7ea4/actions-must-speak-louder-words-five-asks-achieve-equity-vaccine-delivery.html

"Africa CDC official: Undelivered COVID-19 vaccine pledges 'not useful'", Devex, 21 September 2021. Accessed at: https://www.devex.com/news/africa-cdc-official-undelivered-covid-19-vaccine-pledges-not-useful-101667 "Africa trying to replicate Moderna's COVID vaccine in an attempt to lessen the gap of vaccine inequity", Firstpost, 25 October 2021. Accessed at: https://www.firstpost.com/world/africa-trying-to-replicate-modernas-covid-vaccine-in-an-attempt-to-lessen-

the-gap-of-vaccine-inequity-10083471.html

"African nations gear up for an influx of COVID-19 vaccines", Devex, 12 August 2021. Accessed

at: https://www.devex.com/news/african-nations-gear-up-for-an-influx-of-covid-19-vaccines-

100564?mkt_tok=Njg1LUtCTC03NjUAAAF_IRnqyd6QJFiaJ6KNWjBnDm5GjoA65IQN_dZpuZ2RabqZ_x_urFc-ATx8jRWrqzPYk0gV-PkWpu8P_XLS2voC_sKPfUWd2c0z2uUQeaGUwe7xTg&utm_content=text&utm_source=nl_newswire&utm_term=article "After Biden's COVID-19 summit, questions on whether world will deliver", Devex, 23 September 2021. Accessed at:

"Better Late than Never, but Act Now", Global Issues, 12 October 2021. Accessed

at: https://www.globalissues.org/news/2021/10/12/29031

"As India limits syringe exports, a supply crunch has buyers looking elsewhere", The New York Times, 18 Novemeber 2021. Accessed at: https://www.nytimes.com/2021/11/18/world/asia/covid-syringes-india.html

"Blinken says the U.S. has a deal to send Johnson & Johnson vaccine doses to conflict zones", The New York Times, 10 November 2021. Accessed at: https://www.nytimes.com/2021/11/10/us/politics/blinken-johnson-johnson-vaccine-covax.html?searchResultPosition=1

"Commentary: COVAX helps whip COVID-19 vaccine market into shape", CNA, 15 October 2021. Accessed at: https://www.channelnewsasia.com/commentary/covid-19-coronavirus-vaccine-covax-country-coverage-pfizer-moderna-2243981

"Commentary: Why hasn't COVAX, the global COVID-19 vaccine program, worked out as promised?", CNA, 3 September 2021. Accessed at: https://www.channelnewsasia.com/commentary/covax-what-happened-donation-vaccines-rich-countries-2151786 "Covax's Achievement and Planning for the Next Pandemic", Wall Street Journal, 21 November 2021. Accessed at: https://www.wsj.com/articles/gavi-covax-covid-19-vaccine-international-developing-world-export-production-11637356779

"COVAX can succeed, but only if governments actually commit", Politico, 30 September 2021. Accessed

at: https://www.politico.eu/article/coronavirus-vaccine-donations-poor-countries-covax-governments-commit/

"Covax falters as rich countries buy up Covid vaccines", The Financial Times, 24 October 2021. Accessed

at: https://www.ft.com/content/0e240929-033a-457f-a735-ec7cf93b2f3c

"Covax misses its 2021 delivery target – what's gone wrong in the fight against -vaccine nationalism?", University of Manchester, 21 September 2021. Accessed at: https://www.manchester.ac.uk/discover/news/whats-gone-wrong-in-the-fight-against-vaccinenationalism/

"COVAX Was a Great Idea, But Is Now 500 Million Doses Short of Its Vaccine Distribution Goals. What Exactly Went Wrong?", Time, 9 September 2021. Accessed at: https://time.com/6096172/covax-vaccines-what-went-wrong/

"Covax, a global program to distribute Covid vaccines, cuts its 2021 forecast for available doses by a quarter", The New York Times, 8 September 2021. Accessed at: https://www.nytimes.com/2021/09/08/health/covax-global-covid-vaccine-boosters.html "COVID-19: New research reveals Pfizer is making misleading claims about distribution of vaccines to low income countries", Amnesty International UK, 11 November 2021. Accessed at: https://www.amnesty.org.uk/press-releases/covid-19-new-researchreveals-pfizer-making-misleading-claims-about-distribution

"Covid vaccine: India to resume vaccine exports from October", BBC, 21 September 2021. Accessed at: https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/world-asia-india-58634570

"Covid-19 vaccinations: More than 50 nations have missed a target set by the WHO", BBC, 1 October 2021. Accessed at: https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/56100076?at_medium=RSS&at_campaign=KARANGA

"COVID-19 vaccine alliance chair: African political leadership lacking", Devex, 16 September 2021. Accessed

at: https://www.devex.com/news/covid-19-vaccine-alliance-chair-african-political-leadership-lacking-101627

"COVID-19: UN Secretary-General says the world has failed an ethics test", UN, 21 September 2021. Accessed

at: https://unric.org/en/covid-19-un-secretary-general-says-the-world-has-failed-an-ethics-test/

"Delayed vaccination timelines will cost the global economy US\$2.3trn", The Economist, 25 August 2021. Accessed at:

https://www.eiu.com/n/delayed-vaccination-timelines-will-cost-the-global-economy-us2-3trn/

"Ending the Pandemic: The Road to an Inclusive Recovery", The World Bank / International Monetary Fund, 12 October 2021.

Accessed at: https://live.worldbank.org/ending-the-pandemic-inclusive-recovery

"EU pledges 200 million vaccine doses to Africa, low-income nations", Axios, 14 September. Accessed

at: https://www.axios.com/scoop-the-modi-shot-campaign-de4da455-5ab2-468b-b8ff-

 $c8db3072589a.html?utm_source=twitter\&utm_medium=social\&utm_campaign=editorial\&utm_content=politics-modiintersection and the social\&utm_campaign=editorial\&utm_content=politics-modiintersection and the social\&utm_campaign=editorial\&utm_campaign=editorial\&utm_campaign=editorial\&utm_campaign=editorial\&utm_campaign=editorial\&utm_campaign=editorial\&utm_campaign=editorial\&utm_campaign=editorial\&utm_campaign=editorial\&utm_campaign=editorial\&utm_campaign=editorial\&utm_campaign=editorial\&utm_campaign=editorial\&utm_campaign=editorial\&utm_campaign=editorial\&utm_campaign=editorial\&utm_campaign=editorial\&utm_campaign=editorial\&utm_campaign=editorial\&utm_campaign=editorial\&utm_campaign=editorial\&utm_campaign=editorial\&utm_campaign=editorial\&utm_campaign=editorial\&utm_campaign=editorial\&utm_campaign=editorial\&utm_campaign=editorial\&utm_campaign=editorial\&utm_campaign=editorial\&utm_campaign=editorial\&utm_campaign=editorial\&utm_campaign=editorial\&utm_campaign=editorial\&utm_campaign=editorial\&utm_campaign=editorial\&utm_campaign=editorial\&utm_campaign=editorial\&utm_campaign=editorial\&utm_campaign=editorial\&utm_campaign=editorial\&utm_campaign=editorial\&utm_campaign=editorial\&utm_campaign=editorial\&utm_campaign=editorial\&utm_campaign=editorial@utm_campaign=editorial@utm_campaign=editorial@utm_campaign=editorial@utm_campaign=editorial@utm_campaign=editorial@utm$ 

"Gavi Board meets to discuss routine immunisation, COVAX's 2022 strategy", Gavi, 29 September 2021. Accessed at: https://www.gavi.org/news/media-room/gavi-board-meets-discuss-routine-immunisation-covaxs-2022-strategy "Gavi and humanitarian agancies pattnet to deliver COVID 10 vascings to the meet vulnerable people in the world" Gavi

"Gavi and humanitarian agencies partner to deliver COVID-19 vaccines to the most vulnerable people in the world", Gavi, 16 November 2021. Accessed at: https://www.gavi.org/news/media-room/gavi-and-humanitarian-agencies-partner-deliver-covid-19-vaccines-most-vulnerable

"Gavi and Switzerland collaborate to prioritise supply to COVAX", Gavi, 24 November 2021. Accessed at:

https://www.gavi.org/news/media-room/gavi-and-switzerland-collaborate-prioritise-supply-covax

"Global COVID vaccine program Covax falls short of its distribution target", Fortune, 8 September 2021. Accessed at:

https://fortune.com/2021/09/08/covax-global-vaccine-program-low-income-countries/

"Global leaders commit further support for global equitable access to COVID-19 vaccines and COVAX", WHO, 21 September 2021. Accessed at: https://www.who.int/news/item/23-09-2021-global-leaders-commit-further-support-for-global-equitable-access-to-covid-19-vaccines-and-covax

"Health is a political choice", Gavi, 29 October 2021. Accessed a: https://www.gavi.org/vaccineswork/health-political-choice "High-income countries called on to share COVID-19 vaccines quickly", ReliefWeb, 31 August 2021. Accessed at: https://reliefweb.int/report/world/high-income-countries-called-share-covid-19-vaccines-quickly

"How Covax failed on its promise to vaccinate the world", The Bureau of Investigative Journalism, 8 October 2021. Accessed at: https://www.thebureauinvestigates.com/stories/2021-10-08/how-covax-failed-on-its-promise-to-vaccinate-the-world "How the COVAX vaccine program is faring, and what challenges developing nations still face", Public Broadcasting Service, 17 November 2021. Accessed at: https://www.pbs.org/newshour/show/how-the-covax-vaccine-program-is-faring-and-what-challenges-developing-nations-still-face

"In a first, COVAX to send COVID shots only to least covered nations", Reuters, 1 October 2021. Accessed at: https://www.reuters.com/business/healthcare-pharmaceuticals/first-covax-send-covid-shots-only-least-covered-nations-2021-10-01/

"India could ship vaccines to COVAX in a few weeks, say sources", Reuters, 9 November 2021. Accessed at:

https://www.msn.com/en-us/news/world/india-could-ship-vaccines-to-covax-in-a-few-weeks-say-sources/ar-AAQu3eT "In secret vaccine contracts with governments, Pfizer took hard line in push for profit, report says", Washington Post, 21 October 2021. Accessed at: https://www.washingtonpost.com/world/2021/10/19/secret-vaccine-contracts-with-governments-pfizertook-hard-line-push-profit-report-says/

"India delays COVID-19 vaccine supplies to WHO-backed COVAX, sources say", Reuters, 20 October 2021. Accessed at: https://www.reuters.com/world/india/india-delays-covid-19-vaccine-supplies-who-backed-covax-sources-say-2021-10-19/ "International Organizations, Vaccine Manufacturers Agree to Intensify Cooperation to Deliver COVID-19 Vaccines", WHO, 16 September 2021. Accessed at: https://www.who.int/news/item/16-09-2021-international-organizations-vaccine-manufacturersagree-to-intensify-cooperation-to-deliver-covid-19-vaccines

"International organizations, vaccine manufacturers take stock of COVID-19 vaccine rollout, share views for 2022", The World Bank, 9 November 2021. Accessed at: https://reliefweb.int/report/world/international-organizations-vaccine-manufacturers-take-stock-covid-19-vaccine-rollout

"Joint Statement of the Multilateral Leaders Taskforce on Scaling COVID-19 Tools", The World Bank, 27 August 2021. Accessed at: https://www.worldbank.org/en/news/statement/2021/08/27/joint-statement-of-the-multilateral-leaders-taskforce-on-scaling-covid-19-tools

"Less than 10% of African countries to hit key COVID-19 vaccination goal", WHO, 26 October 2021. Accessed at: https://www.afro.who.int/news/less-10-african-countries-hit-key-covid-19-vaccination-goal

"LICs need to boost health spending by 57% for more COVID-19 jabs", Devex, 9 September 2021. Accessed at:

https://www.devex.com/news/lics-need-to-boost-health-spending-by-57-for-more-covid-19-jabs-101521

"Local Covid vaccines fill gap as UN Covax scheme misses target", The Guardian/Scidev, 13 October 2021. Accessed at: https://www.theguardian.com/global-development/2021/oct/13/local-covid-vaccines-fill-gap-as-un-covax-scheme-misses-target

"Mass vaccination: COVID-19 protection for the many, not the few", Global Government Forum, 18 November 2021. Accessed at: https://www.globalgovernmentforum.com/mass-vaccination-covid-19-protection-for-the-many-not-the-few/

"Moderna agrees to sell up to 110 million Covid vaccine doses to African countries", The New York Times, 26 October 2021. Accessed at: https://www.nytimes.com/2021/10/26/world/africa/covid-moderna-african-union.html?searchResultPosition=2 "Moderna, Racing for Profits, Keeps Covid Vaccine Out of Reach of Poor", The New York Times, 9 October 2021. Accessed at: https://www.nytimes.com/2021/10/09/business/moderna-covid-vaccine.html

"New ACT-Accelerator strategy calls for US\$ 23.4 billion international investment to solve inequities in global access to COVID-19 vaccines, tests & treatments", The World Health Organisation, 28 October 2021. Accessed at:

https://www.who.int/news/item/28-10-2021-new-act-accelerator-strategy-calls-investment

"Next time, we can close the vaccine gap much faster", GatesNotes, 13 October 2021. Accessed

at: https://www.gatesnotes.com/Health/Closing-the-vaccine-gap

"Only 14% of promised Covid vaccine doses reach poorest nations", The Guardian, 21 October 2021. Accessed

at: https://www.theguardian.com/society/2021/oct/21/only-14-of-promised-covid-vaccine-doses-reach-poorest-nations

"Opinion: Solidarity can overcome this pandemic", Devex, 24 November 2021. Accessed at:

https://www.devex.com/news/opinion-solidarity-can-overcome-this-pandemic-102078

"Poor countries won't get boosters anytime soon, as rich countries surge ahead, Covax architect says", The Washington Post, 19 November 2021. Accessed at: https://www.yahoo.com/entertainment/poor-countries-wont-boosters-anytime-195559616.html "Pharmaceutical companies and rich nations delivering just one in seven of the doses promised for developing countries", Oxfam, 21 October 2021. Accessed at: https://www.oxfam.org/en/press-releases/pharmaceutical-companies-and-rich-nations-deliveringjust-one-seven-doses-promised

"Putting people before profits: Should IP rights on COVID-19 vaccines be waived?", One, 10 November 2021. Accessed at: https://www.one.org/africa/blog/ip-rights-covid-vaccines/

"Report: Johnson & Johnson Fails to Deliver Any Contracted Doses to COVAX in October, While Providing 12 Million to Wealthy Countries", Public Citizen, 23 November 2021. Accessed at: https://www.citizen.org/news/report-johnson-johnson-fails-to-deliver-any-contracted-doses-to-covax-in-october-while-providing-12-million-to-wealthy-countries/

"Statement from Dr Richard Hatchett, CEO of CEPI, following the G20 Health & Finance Ministers meeting", CEPI, 29 October 2021. Accessed at: https://cepi.net/news_cepi/statement-from-dr-richard-hatchett-ceo-of-cepi-following-the-g20-health-finance-ministers-meeting/

"The COVAX forecast that's 'bad for the whole world", Devex, 9 September 2021. Accessed at:

https://www.devex.com/news/devex-newswire-the-covax-forecast-that-s-bad-for-the-whole-world-101577

"The COVAX scheme aimed to deliver two billion COVID vaccines to developing countries this year. It's well off-target", ABC, 13 November 2021. Accessed at: https://www.abc.net.au/news/2021-11-14/covax-scheme-two-billion-covid-vaccine-developingworld-target/100616646

"The G20 Must Recommit to COVAX", Project Syndicate, 3 September 2021. Accessed at: https://www.project-

syndicate.org/commentary/four-ways-in-which-g20-must-support-covax-by-seth-berkley-2021-09

"The Global Vaccine Drive Is Failing. Can It Be Saved?", The New Yorker, 14 September 2021. Accessed at: https://www.nytimes.com/2021/09/14/opinion/vaccine-covid-pandemic-covax.html

"The Introduction of the COVID-19 Vaccine: Lessons from Cameroon", BID Learning Network, 25 May 2021. Accessed at: https://bidinitiative.org/resource-library/posts/covid-19-vaccine-introduction-challenges-and-lessons-learned-from-cameroon/ "The Introduction of the COVID-19 Vaccine: Lessons from Liberia", BID Learning Network, 26 May 2021. Accessed at:

https://bidinitiative.org/resource-library/posts/covid-19-vaccine-introduction-challenges-and-lessons-learned-from-liberia/ "The Introduction of the COVID-19 Vaccine: Lessons from Malawi", BID Learning Network, 27 May 2021. Accessed at: https://bidinitiative.org/resource-library/posts/covid-19-vaccine-introduction-challenges-and-lessons-learned-from-malawi/

"The Introduction of the COVID-19 Vaccine: Lessons from Zambia", Virtual panel (BID Learning Network), BID Learning Network, 28 May 2021. Accessed at: https://bidinitiative.org/resource-library/posts/covid-19-vaccine-introduction-challenges-and-lessons-learned-from-zambia/

"The Modi shot campaign", Axios, 14 September 2021. Accessed at: https://www.axios.com/scoop-the-modi-shot-campaign-de4da455-5ab2-468b-b8ff-

c8db3072589a.html?utm_source=twitter&utm_medium=social&utm_campaign=editorial&utm_content=politics-modi "The Necessary Voice of the Global South", Project Syndicate, 5 October, 2021. Accessed at: https://www.project-

syndicate.org/commentary/world-must-heed-developing-countries-call-for-climate-action-vaccine-equity-by-javier-solana-2021-10?barrier=accesspaylog

"The Test of Pandemic Preparedness", Gavi, 1 November 2021. Accessed at: https://www.gavi.org/vaccineswork/test-pandemic-preparedness

"The stark reality of the failure of COVAX and its implications for Africa", Aidspan, 13 October 2021. Accessed

at: https://gfo.aidspan.org/gfo_article/stark-reality-failure-covax-and-its-implications-africa

"The World Is at War With Covid. Covid Is Winning", The New York Times, 21 September 2021. Accessed

at: https://www.nytimes.com/2021/09/21/opinion/sunday/covid-vaccine-world.html

"Vaccines are finally arriving in Africa—but the rollout will be a challenge", The Economist, 12 November 2021. Accessed at:

https://www.economist.com/graphic-detail/2021/11/12/vaccines-are-finally-arriving-in-africa-but-the-rollout-will-be-a-challenge "Vaccine knowledge needs to be a global public good", World Trade Organisation, 16 November 2021. Accessed at:

https://www.wto.org/english/res_e/booksp_e/wtr21_e/00_wtr21_e.pdf

"What Needs to Change to Enhance Covid-19 Vaccine Access", WHO, 24 September 2021. Accessed

at: https://www.who.int/news/item/24-09-2021-what-needs-to-change-to-enhance-covid-19-vaccine-access

"Where a Vast Global Vaccination Program Went Wrong", New York Times, 2 August 2021. Accessed

at: https://www.nytimes.com/2021/08/02/world/europe/covax-covid-vaccine-problems-africa.html

"Where are we on COVID-19 after a year of TRIPS waiver negotiations?", Devex, 7 October 2021. Accessed at:

https://www.devex.com/news/where-are-we-on-covid-19-after-a-year-of-trips-waiver-negotiations-101795

"WHO and MPP announce the first transparent, global, non-exclusive licence for a COVID-19 technology", World Health Organisation, 23 November 2021. Accessed at: https://www.who.int/news/item/23-11-2021-who-and-mpp-announce-the-firsttransparent-global-non-exclusive-licence-for-a-covid-19-technology

"WHO calls on world leaders at the UN General Assembly to focus on vaccine equity, pandemic preparedness, and getting the SDGs back on track", ReliefWeb, 17 September 2021. Accessed at: https://reliefweb.int/report/world/who-calls-world-leadersun-general-assembly-focus-vaccine-equity-pandemic-preparedness

"WHO's EUL status to Covaxin to accelerate equitable access of vaccine", Business Times, 3 November 2021. Accessed at: https://www.business-standard.com/article/current-affairs/who-s-eul-status-to-covaxin-to-accelerate-equitable-access-of-vaccine-121110301601_1.html

"Why are rich countries still monopolizing Covid-19 vaccines?, Vox, 9 November 2021. Accessed at:

https://www.vox.com/22759707/covid-19-vaccine-gap-covax-rich-poor-countries-boosters

"Why can't we tackle Covid and climate heating? Nationalism and stupidity", The Guardian, 25 September 2021. Accessed at: https://www.theguardian.com/commentisfree/2021/sep/25/why-cant-we-tackle-covid-and-climate-heating-nationalism-and-stupidity

"Why millions may never get a Covid-19 jab", The Telegraph, 10 November 2021. Accessed at:

https://www.telegraph.co.uk/global-health/science-and-disease/now-never-millions-may-miss-covid-19-jab-forever/ "Why the African Union isn't waiting for COVAX", Politico, 24 November 2021. Accessed at:

https://www.politico.com/news/2021/11/24/african-union-vaccines-covax-523254

"With rich countries paying more for vaccines, the supply for Latin America is falling short, the W.H.O. says.", The New York Times, 6 October 2021. Accessed at: https://www.nytimes.com/2021/10/06/world/americas/covax-vaccine-latin-'america.html?searchResultPosition=1

"World Bank head criticizes donors for messy COVID-19 vaccine delivery", Devex, 8 November 2021. Accessed at: https://www.devex.com/news/world-bank-head-criticizes-donors-for-messy-covid-19-vaccine-delivery-102046

## **Annex 3: People interviewed**

The following 26 key informants (Table 13) took part in interviews as part of the evaluability assessment/evaluability design phase:

Table	13 -	List	of	key	informant	interview	participants	

Individual	Organization	Stakeholder group
Prashant Yadav	Center for Global Development	Academic/research
Arthur Baker	Arthur Baker	Academic/research
Lia Tadesse (and Ministerial Team)	Ministry of Health, Ethiopia	AMC92 representative
Nel Druce	United Kingdom Foreign, Commonwealth and Development Office	AMC92 representative
Arvind Mungur	United Kingdom Foreign, Commonwealth and Development Office	AMC92 representative
Kate O'Brien	WHO	COVAX technical partner
Andrew Jones	UNICEF	COVAX technical partner
Soumya Swaminathan	WHO	COVAX technical partner
Richard Hatchett	CEPI	COVAX technical partner
Ann Lindstrand	WHO	COVAX technical partner
Benjamin Shcreiber	UNICEF	COVAX technical partner
Claudia Nannei	WHO	COVAX technical partner
Orin Levine	Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation	Donor, foundation or bank
Violaine Mitchell	Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation	Donor, foundation or bank
Seth Berkley	Gavi	Gavi Secretariat
Aurelia Nguyen	Gavi	Gavi Secretariat
Derrick Sim	Gavi	Gavi Secretariat
Santiago Cornejo	Gavi	Gavi Secretariat
Thabani Maphosa	Gavi	Gavi Secretariat
Marie-Ange Saraka-Yao	Gavi	Gavi Secretariat
Andrew Freeman	Gavi	Gavi Secretariat
Sanne Wendes	Gavi	Gavi Secretariat
Brenda Killen	Gavi	Gavi Secretariat
Laura Craw	Gavi	Gavi Secretariat
Sai Prasad	Developing Countries Vaccine Manufacturers Network	Private sector
Gabriel Mesa (and Ministerial Team)	Colombian Ministry of Health	SFP representative

## Annex 4: Evaluability assessment (EA) methodology and process

Our EA approach rests on the methodology developed by Dr Rick Davies⁶⁴ – a member of our Technical Advisory Group - involving three steps (Figure 3):

- 1. **Engagement** Through the inception phase, in collaboration with the Gavi ELU, we identified boundaries and agreed on the outputs of the EA and identified the resources available for the assessment and options for stakeholder engagement (Step 1).
- 2. **Analysis** Systematic analysis of evidence across three dimensions (in principle, practice and usefulness) against a set of evaluability questions and criteria (Step 2).⁶⁵
- 3. Learning Synthesis, analysis and feedback of initial findings to stakeholders, culminating in recommendations to strengthen the evaluability of the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC (Step 3).

Figure 3 - EA approach



The following sections detail each step in the EA, setting out the purpose, approach and outputs for each. Table 14 sets out the list of EQs from the RfP which have been grouped by module to provide an organizing framework to structure the evaluation design.⁶⁶ The EA is conducted on these EQs.

Table	14 -	EQs	used	for	EΑ
-------	------	-----	------	-----	----

Module	EQ	EQs (Bold = headline EQ)
$\bigcirc$	1	Is the intervention design and logic underpinning the COVAX Facility and AMC clear, relevant, evidence- based and understood by all stakeholders?
₩ ₩	1.1	To what extent and how did external stakeholders and COVAX partners contribute to the original program design, and what impact did this have?
1. Right things: Design	1.2	<ul> <li>How effective and appropriate is the design of the COVAX Facility and AMC, including proposed market shaping strategies, to achieving the intervention outcomes and goals?</li> <li>A - To what extent does the intervention logic capture the geopolitical context shaping supply, demand and access to COVID-19 vaccines (including related to intellectual property rights and patents, trade secrets and transparency, and sharing of data and technology)?</li> <li>B - How strategic and appropriate were the choices and trade-offs made in designing the intervention?</li> </ul>
	1.3	What assumptions underpin the intervention logic, and have they been upheld?
	2	To what extent have the COVAX Facility and AMC been implemented as intended and efficiently, including in a timely and agile manner?
	2.1	What risks/challenges were encountered during the implementation of the COVAX Facility and AMC, and how were these mitigated/resolved?

⁶⁴ Davies, R. (2021). Evaluability Assessment As Jigsaw Puzzle. PowerPoint presentation for the ADA, Government of Austria.

⁶⁵ Given the breadth of stakeholders involved in the design and operationalization of the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC, and the evolving nature of the COVAX Facility's organizational arrangements, we examine the third dimension of usefulness through the prism of two corresponding 'sub-dimensions': stakeholder demands and expectations; and the wider organization and external context.

⁶⁶ As explained in the inception report, the evaluation questions have been slightly adapted and refined from those in the RfP. The purpose of this has not been to steer the evaluation scope of work but to structure the questions.

វតិ	2.2	How appropriate and relevant are the COVAX Facility and AMC management structures and governance arrangements?					
<i>έ</i> δξ ^ώ	2.3	Are the actual and opportunity costs of implementing the COVAX Facility and AMC reasonable and appropriate?					
2. Right way:	2.4	To what extent have relevant external stakeholders been engaged throughout implementation in the manner intended, and what factors affected engagement?					
Implementation	2.5	How effective was the resource mobilization strategy of the COVAX Facility and AMC?					
	3	To what extent have the COVAX Facility and AMC contributed to the achievement of intended outcomes and impact?					
3. Right results: Outcomes and impact	3.1	<ul> <li>To what extent have the intended intermediate outcomes been achieved?</li> <li>A - Did COVAX Facility market shaping strategies achieve their intended objectives (including rapid development of vaccine portfolio, increased manufacture, pooled demand, secure supply)?</li> <li>B - How well were the COVAX Facility &amp; AMC able to solicit participation of SFP and AMC countries?</li> <li>C - Did the COVAX Facility &amp; AMC allocate vaccines among participating economies and countries as intended?</li> <li>D - Were COVAX Facility &amp; AMC efforts to support vaccination program delivery in-country provided as intended?</li> </ul>					
	3.2	<ul> <li>To what extent have the COVAX Facility and AMC achieved (or to what extent are they likely to achieve) intended high-level outcomes and impact?</li> <li>A - Rapidly increased equitable distribution of vaccines across countries, including in fragile and conflict-affected states.</li> <li>B - Delivering vaccination to intended vulnerable populations in participant countries.</li> <li>C - Reducing morbidity, mortality and the socioeconomic impact of the pandemic.</li> <li>D - Ending the acute phase of the COVID-19 pandemic globally.</li> </ul>					
	3.3	How have the COVAX Facility and AMC contributed to the achievement of these outcomes and impact within the global geopolitical and economic landscape of actors involved in development and delivery of COVID-19 vaccines?					
	3.4	What evidence is there to suggest unintended consequences and results beyond the ToC, including in relation to any effects of the COVAX Facility and AMC on routine immunization efforts?					
	4	What lessons can be drawn on the design and implementation of the COVAX Facility and AMC?					
	4.1	To what extent have systems and processes been established to capture, collate and disseminate learning around identified needs/gaps?					
ነ¥ ነ ነግ	4.2	What are the most important barriers and enablers to achieving the outcomes and goals in the COVAX ToC at all levels of implementation?					
4. Learning	4.3	<ul> <li>What are the priority learnings from implementation of the COVAX Facility and AMC to inform:</li> <li>A - course correction for the COVAX Facility and AMC?</li> <li>B - implementation of Gavi 5.0?</li> <li>C - future pandemic preparedness and vaccine innovation and access?</li> </ul>					
	4.4	What can be learned from other agencies/arrangements/contexts and applied to the COVAX Facility and/or AMC for the achievement of intended outcomes and impact?					

## Step 1 – Engagement

This step was completed in the inception phase and communicated in our inception report, submitted to Gavi on 17 September 2021.

#### Collaboration

Throughout the evaluative process we have had regular (and much appreciated) communications with the focal points from the ELU. Based on ELU feedback indicating that the staff of COVAX implementing partners were extremely overstretched and had asked the evaluators to be respectful of their time and priorities, we did not hold wider stakeholder interviews during the inception phase.

This posed a number of challenges/limitations related to stakeholder buy-in to both the evaluation process and its findings and access to data, which we have sought to address through broad-based engagement in the current phase of work to assess evaluability and design the MSE – see Section 1.

Mapping and collecting data sources

Our main data sources are documents, information systems and stakeholders.

**Documents:** Over 300 documents pertaining to COVAX, and specifically the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC, have been reviewed and logged. Relevant documents, covering a broad scope, were sourced through the ELU and via desk research of select journals, media and gray literature. The materials identified included reports, meeting slide decks and Board documents, as well as media articles and academic material. These documents have been used to build our understanding of the institutional context of the assignment and evaluand, laying the foundation for the EA. A bibliography is provided in Annex 2.

**Information systems:** A number of information systems have informed the assignment. This includes the COVAX Reporting Framework and COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC MEL Strategy, WHO's Coronavirus (COVID-19) Dashboard, the Access to COVID-19 tools funding commitment tracker, UNICEF's COVID-19 Vaccine Market Dashboard, and Our World in Data statistics and research on COVID-19 vaccinations. We have also reviewed vaccine development and supply landscapes/forecasts to understand what information has been, and can be expected to continue to be, made available over time (available from CEPI, UNICEF and other sources), as well as information on other vaccine development and/or purchase agreements outside of COVAX (as tracked through the UNICEF COVID-19 Vaccine Market Dashboard and various other trackers).⁶⁷

**Stakeholders:** Through a stakeholder mapping and hierarchical card sorting (HCS) exercise conducted with the ELU we: (a) identified stakeholders of direct relevance to the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC – this includes those engaged in implementation, management, governance, and oversight, as well as external stakeholders; (b) elicited the significant differences between the identified stakeholders; and (c) considered the implications of these differences for conducting the EA. This highlighted a highly complex stakeholder landscape, with multiple interactions between different stakeholders across the various technical areas of the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC and its management, governance and oversight functions.

A sample of 26 stakeholders representing the key bodies and structures engaged in the governance, oversight and management of the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC, as well as external stakeholders with a good understanding of the global health and COVAX-specific landscape, was interviewed during the evaluability assessment/evaluability design phase. Further, a web-survey (designed to facilitate much broader-based inputs to the evaluability assessment/evaluability design process) was distributed to over 300 stakeholders. A summary of the web-survey outputs and analysis is provided in Annex 5.

Across the stakeholder interviews and web-survey we have sought to ensure strong representation from a mix of core implementing partners of COVAX, other stakeholders engaged in COVAX operationalization, and a broader set of stakeholders with an interest in COVAX. This includes:

- Country governments, including: high and higher-middle-income SFPs via the COVAX Shareholders Council; low and lower-middle-income countries via the AMC Engagement Group; and OECD donors via the AMC Investors Group and OECD COVID-19 Global Evaluation Coalition
- Community and civil society, including via the Platform for ACT-A Civil Society & Community Representatives, Gavi CSO Constituency, and members of the civil society Global Financing Facility (GFF) resource and engagement hub
- Multilateral organizations, including the COVAX core implementing partners (CEPI, Gavi, UNICEF and WHO), development banks and other representatives engaged in the governance, oversight and management of the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC
- Private sector, including collaborations/networks of vaccine manufacturers and individuals and representatives of organizations engaged in the engaged in the governance, oversight and management of the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC

⁶⁷ For instance, the Regulatory Affairs Professionals Society COVID-19 Vaccine Tracker and the New York Times Coronavirus Vaccine Tracker.

 Others, including public health institutes/agencies, foundations and a number of academic, research and training institutes.

### **Analysis framework**

Table 15 presents our EA framework.⁶⁸ This includes a set of evaluability questions and criteria which we have applied in order to understand how and how robustly each of the EQs can be responded to, or rather how problematic it will be to answer each of the EQs, and how useful it will be to do so. This has provided the basis on which to refine and prioritize the EQs, highlight the weaknesses and gaps that are critical to address for a robust evaluation to proceed, and develop an appropriate evaluation design.

⁶⁸ This draws on the experience and expertise of Dr Rick Davies, for instance as set out in Davies, R. (2021). *Evaluability Assessment As Jigsaw Puzzle*. PowerPoint presentation for the ADA, Government of Austria.

#### Table 15 - EA framework

Evaluability dimension	Evaluat	pility question	Evaluability criteria
ر <u>م</u>	1	Are the planned activities, short- to medium-term outcomes, objectives and goals of the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC clearly defined and time-bound?	Clarity
Eq	2	To what extent does the ToC present measurable short- to medium-term outcomes, objectives and goals, and proposed steps towards achieving these?	Clarity
Evaluability in principle	3	Is there a causal chain which clearly connects the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC to the final impact goal, and is it likely that the intervention goal(s) will be achieved within the intervention time frame?	Plausibility
	4	Are there valid and reliable indicators at each stage of the ToC which will capture what is expected to happen?	Validity/Reliability
	5	Are the assumptions underlying the ToC clear, particularly with regard to external actors?	Contextualization
	6	Are there linkages in the ToC that are most critical to the success of the project and should therefore be the focus of a future evaluation?	Testability
	7	Are changes to the intervention captured by the ToC, and does it provide an accurate reflection of the current intervention logic?	Consistency
	8	Is the ToC articulated in a consistent way across project documentation and between stakeholders?	Consistency/ Agreement
	9	Are there expected to be multiple interactions between different project components and/or stakeholders, thereby complicating attribution of causes and identification of effects? How clearly defined are the expected interactions?	Complexity
	10	Is the business/investment case for the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC clearly articulated?	Data availability
-	11	Is complete data on the a) activities, b) outputs, c) outcomes and d) goals expressed in the ToC?	Data availability
	12	Are monitoring and measurement frameworks functional, reliable and able to collect data against all indicators and with sufficient frequency?	Data availability
		Does a relevant baseline or counterfactual exist and can it feasibly be applied? What data and methods are required?	Baseline and
	13		counterfactual
Evaluability in			relevance and
practice		Are the populations and groups receiving vaccines through the intervention identifiable, and is this data available at an appropriate frequency?	Data availability
			(relative to
	14		product end
			users)
		Is adequate disaggregated data (e.g. for gender and other equity-related indicators) available to measure impact against the ToC outcomes?	Data availability
	15		(relative to end
			user groups)

#### Classified as Internal

Final evaluability assessment and evaluation design report

Evaluability dimension	Evaluability question		Evaluability criteria
	16	What is the current capacity of staff, systems and processes to collect/generate data relevant to the ToC, results framework and desired outcomes and goals, using approaches that enable consistent analysis against these?	Capacity
Usefulness – stakeholder demand –	17	Have the key stakeholders and primary evaluation audiences been identified, and will they participate in the evaluation design and evaluation process?	Participation
	18	What EQs are of interest to which stakeholders, and is it realistic for the evaluation to answer them?	Expectations
	19	What are stakeholder expectations for the evaluation design and process? How will this affect their participation?	Expectations
	20	What is the current capacity of COVAX staff, systems and processes to synthesize and interpret data and generate learning from it?	Capacity
<b>ነ</b> ∗ያ ጜግ	21	How much time is available to conduct data collection, and what are the scheduling opportunities and constraints?	Resources
Usefulness – wider institutional context	22	To what extent are stakeholders able to use new learning to adapt interventions within existing project cycles?	Capacity
	23	Are there opportunities for the evaluation to have an influence, and how does the time frame of the intervention affect the ability to extract useful learnings and lessons?	Capacity
	24	Are sufficient resources available to support an evaluation?	Resources
	25	What coordination is required with other bodies involved in the implementation of the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC?	Participation
	26	Are external events able to be identified and taken into account?	External events

## Step 2 – Analysis

Dimension 1 – Evaluability in principle (design)

To assess evaluability in principle, we analyzed the evidence base underlying the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC ToC, including an examination of assumptions, enablers and challenges, the perceived objectives of the intervention among stakeholders, and the timeframe of the ToC. This involved a substantial document review, as well as KIIs with stakeholders to gain insights into their understanding of the ToC and how it aligns with implementation of the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC. Through this process we gained a good understanding of the evolving nature of the design of the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC, reflected in iterations of the ToC, and different stakeholder perceptions of how the intervention logic is intended to work. We then sought to develop a single model that is evaluable but represents the diversity of stakeholder perceptions elicited during the EA. This process was not completed, but sufficient progress was made to present a ToC that can guide further discussion during the formative review and baseline study.

Dimension 2 – Evaluability in practice (data availability)

We appraised the availability of data (from documents, KIIs and information systems) to understand whether it is sufficient to test the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC ToC and answer each of the EQs. This has resulted in the identification of some gaps that need to be filled in order to evaluate progress against the desired pathways of the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC ToC, which are the basis of recommendations detailed below to strengthen data quality and availability.

Dimension 3 – Usefulness (stakeholder demand/wider institutional context)

This component of the EA has provided an understanding of: the demands, requirements and expectations of stakeholders (internal and external to the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC) for the MSE; how the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC intervention is structured; the context in which it operates; and how monitoring data is currently used and absorbed through learning pathways.

## Step 3 – Learning: Synthesis, implications of EA and MSE design

We present this synthesis of evaluability findings in Section 2.5 – 'Overall evaluability' – and implications of the EA for MSE design in Section 3.3 – 'Strategic direction and methodological design approach of the multi-stage evaluation'. To arrive at this synthesis, module leads shared results of their module EAs during evaluation team workshops, as well as a proposed approach to MSE design. During workshops we explored the implications of findings and discussed design options together. The content of these discussions on the relative pros and cons of different design approaches is summarized above.

## Annex 5: Web-survey outputs and analysis

A web-survey was designed to facilitate much broader-based inputs to the evaluability assessment/evaluability design process. In total, 54 participants responded to the web-survey.

Figure 4 (below) gives a summary of the web-survey's respondents, grouped by stakeholder type. Civil society represents the largest respondent group (24 out of the 54 total respondents). No responses were received from those representing COVAX technical partners, the private sector, academic/research institutions, or those categorized as 'other'.



Figure 4 - Summary by respondent type

The figures below represent the respondents' answers to each of the four survey questions.⁶⁹ Across all results no clear trend or viewpoint could be attributed to a particular stakeholder group.

⁶⁹ Where individuals did not respond to a specific question, or where entire groups did not respond to the survey, data points were excluded from the following analysis.



Figure 5 - Overall, how do you think an evaluation of the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC can add the most value?

Participants were asked to identify where they thought the evaluation would add the most value. A broad range of suggestions were presented by respondents and are shown in Figure 5. Respondents most frequently referenced course correction for the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC as an area of value (n=28). This was followed by using the evaluation to ensure accountability (n=16). The broad range of responses to this question indicate the perceived value and usefulness of undertaking this evaluation. Importantly the value of this evaluation is broad, and its usefulness is perceived by a range of different stakeholder groups.



Figure 6 - Does this scope of work respond well to your needs?

Figure 6 illustrates how well the current scope of the evaluation meets different stakeholder needs. From these survey results we can see that the scope broadly meets participants' needs, with only one participant stating that their needs were not met. However, 13 participants did express that, currently, their needs are only partially met. Figure 7 (below) looks to elaborate on these potential gaps in need.





Figure 7 shows that the perceived gaps in the current evaluation scope varied heavily between participants. As a result, 14 separate gaps were identified. The most frequently proposed gap was an exploration of the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMCs 'support and engagement at a country level' (n=5). Thirteen participants responded that nothing was missing from the evaluation scope, while four responded that they felt something was missing but did not provide any further details.

Finally, respondents were asked what areas of the scope of work they consider most important (Figure 8). Here the overarching modules areas (right things, right way, right results) were most frequently selected by respondents. While the results indicate that all three areas were considered important, right ways and right results were seen as the most valuable (n=10 for both areas). Five participants stated that all areas of the evaluation scope were important.



Figure 8 - What areas of the scope of work do you consider most important?

## Annex 6: Findings from the EA

Table 16 presents a summary, linked to the sections above, of how problematic it is expected to be to answer each EQ, where green indicates no major anticipated problems, yellow indicates some anticipated problems, and red indicates that there are major anticipated problems.

Table 16 - EA scoring by E
----------------------------

Module	EQ	EQs (Bold = headline EQ)	Evaluability in principle*	Evaluability in practice	Usefulness
<b>A</b>	1	Is the intervention design and logic underpinning the COVAX Facility and AMC clear, relevant, evidence-based and understood by all stakeholders?		Significant documentation & data available to assess design	Significant interest in EQ and very useful to answer
1. Right things: Design	1.1	To what extent and how did external stakeholders and COVAX partners contribute to the original program design, and what impact did this have?	Intervention logic and causal chain presented in the draft	Data available and possible to verify stakeholder engagement	Significant external interest in EQ and important to understand equity in process
	1.2	the draft How effective and appropriate is the design of the COVAX Facility and AMC, including proposed market shaping strategies, to achieving the intervention outcomes and goals? A - To what extent does the intervention logic capture the geopolitical context shaping supply, demand and access to COVID-19 vaccines (including related to intellectual property rights and patents, trade secrets and transparency, and sharing of data and technology)? B - How strategic and appropriate were the choices and trade-offs made in designing the intervention?		Significant documentation & data available to assess design, potentially drawing on narrow counterfactual and comparator analysis	Significant interest in EQ and very useful to answer
	1.3	What assumptions underpin the intervention logic, and have they been upheld?	Assumptions has comprehensive	ave not been ly documented	Critical to answer EQ
نې نې	2	To what extent have the COVAX Facility and AMC been implemented as intended and efficiently, including in a timely and agile manner?	Significant doc data available although data aligned and ne implementatio context**	umentation & to answer EQ, not always ed to interpret n progress in	Significant stakeholder interest in EQ and critical to answer
2. Right way: Implemen -tation	2.1	What risks/challenges were encountered during the implementation of the COVAX Facility and AMC, and how were these mitigated/resolved?	Significant doct available on ris systems, what encountered a	umentation & data k management risks were nd how mitigated	Internal and external stakeholder interest in EQ and very useful to answer
	2.2	How appropriate and relevant are the COVAX Facility and AMC management structures and governance arrangements?	Documentation but some proce points not reco official docume	n & data available, esses and decision orded in/aligned to entation	Internal stakeholder interest in EQ and very useful to answer
	2.3	Are the actual and opportunity costs of implementing the COVAX Facility and AMC reasonable and appropriate?	Actual cost data available and potential to benchmark to comparators to assess appropriateness. Analysis of opportunity costs needs boundaries and may be problematic		Not raised as a particular priority by stakeholders, although relevant to consider
	2.4	To what extent have relevant external stakeholders been engaged throughout implementation in the manner intended, and what factors affected engagement?	Data available verify stakehol	and possible to der engagement	Significant external interest in EQ and important to understand equity in process
	2.5	How effective was the resource mobilization strategy of the COVAX Facility and AMC?	Some documer available but ga any delays occu be challenging	ntation & data aps in data on why urred which may to fully answer	Significant stakeholder interest in EQ and critical to answer

	3	To what extent have the COVAX Facility and AMC contributed to the achievement of intended outcomes and impact?	Despite some challenges, overall there is sufficient data available to assess results	Significant stakeholder interest in EQ and critical to answer
3. Right results: Outcomes and impact	3.1	To what extent have the intended intermediate outcomes been achieved? A - Did COVAX Facility market shaping strategies achieve their intended objectives (including rapid development of vaccine portfolio, increased manufacture, pooled demand, secure supply)? B - How well was the COVAX Facility & AMC able to solicit participation of SFP and AMC countries? C - Did the COVAX Facility & AMC allocate vaccines among participating economies and countries as intended? D - Were COVAX Facility & AMC efforts to support vaccination program delivery in- country provided as intended?	Significant data available to verify intermediate outcomes, including from COVAX Reporting Framework and external sources	Although there is significant external stakeholder interest in this area, much is already known and has been reported on. There is appetite, however, for an independent perspective which understands the full spectrum of implementation and decision points connected to results
	3.2	<ul> <li>To what extent have the COVAX Facility and AMC achieved (or to what extent is it likely to achieve) intended high-level outcomes and impact?</li> <li>A - Rapidly increased equitable distribution of vaccines across countries, including in fragile and conflict-affected states.</li> <li>B - Delivering vaccination to intended vulnerable populations in participant countries.</li> <li>C - Reducing morbidity, mortality and the socioeconomic impact of the pandemic.</li> <li>D - Ending the acute phase of the COVID-19 pandemic globally.</li> </ul>	Some gaps in data are anticipated on disaggregated vaccine coverage by population group, and measures to assess health and socioeconomic impacts are yet to be finalized. The vision to 'end the acute phase of the pandemic' has also not been specifically defined	Significant stakeholder interest in EQ to understand the performance of the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC in achieving results. Critical to answer
	3.3	How have the COVAX Facility and AMC contributed to the achievement of these outcomes and impact within the global geopolitical and economic landscape of actors involved in development and delivery of COVID- 19 vaccines?	Will require significant data collection and efforts to disentangle the complexity of the evaluand and broader context to make causal claims and establish contribution	Significant stakeholder interest in the contextualization of results and the implications for results of the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC situation within a broader ecosystem of global players. Critical to answer
	3.4	What evidence is there to suggest unintended consequences and results beyond the ToC, including in relation to any effects of the COVAX Facility and AMC on routine immunization efforts?	Significant data available on unintended consequences and possible to assess further to fully answer EQ	Significant stakeholder interest in consequences on routine immunization efforts. Critical to answer
	4	What lessons can be drawn on the design and implementation of the COVAX Facility and AMC?	Overall, there is sufficient data available to answer the learning EQs	Significant stakeholder interest in EQ and critical to answer
	4.1	To what extent have systems and processes been established to capture, collate and disseminate learning around identified needs/gaps?	Learning systems and processes are clear and data is available to assess how well they are working	EQ not considered a high priority for evaluation to focus on
4. Learning	4.2	What are the most important barriers and enablers to achieving the outcomes and goals in the COVAX ToC at all levels of implementation?	Some barriers and enablers are documented internally and externally, but further data collection is required to fully answer EQ	Significant stakeholder interest in EQ and critical to answer
	4.3	<ul> <li>What are the priority learnings from</li> <li>implementation of the COVAX Facility and AMC</li> <li>to inform:</li> <li>A - course correction for the COVAX Facility</li> <li>and AMC?</li> <li>B - implementation of Gavi 5.0?</li> </ul>	Significant learning already generated but not systematically documented and shared. Particular gap in learning on how equitable distribution is being achieved at country level	Significant stakeholder interest in EQ and critical to answer

	C - future pandemic preparedness and vaccine innovation and access?		
4.4	What can be learned from other agencies/arrangements/contexts and applied to the COVAX Facility and/or AMC for the achievement of intended outcomes and impact?	Good potential to use comparator analysis for learning, particularly to address gap in learning on how equitable distribution is being achieved at country level	Significant stakeholder interest in EQ and critical to answer

* Not relevant for all EQs. Where this is the case the table cell has been merged with evaluability in practice.

** These challenges apply to all EQs in Module 2 but, for the sake of brevity, are not repeated.

Table 17 presents a summary, linked to the sections above, of how problematic it is expected to be to answer each evaluability assessment question (EAQ), where green indicates no major anticipated problems, yellow indicates some anticipated problems, and red indicates that there are major anticipated problems.

Table 17 - Evaluability assessment scoring by EAQ

Evaluability dimension	Evaluability questions	Right things	Right way	Right results	Learning
Ê	1: Are the planned activities, short- to medium-term outcomes, objectives and goals of the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC clearly defined and time-bound?	Goals consistent, activities and strategies evolving			N/A
Evaluability in principle	2: To what extent does the ToC present measurable short- to medium-term outcomes, objectives and goals, and proposed steps towards achieving these?	Reporting framework aligned with draft ToC			N/A
	3: Is there a causal chain which clearly connects the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC to the final impact goal, and is it likely that the intervention goal(s) will be achieved within the intervention time frame?	Causal chain clear at high level but needs to be unpacked for each programmatic component. Achievement of final impact goal unlikely within current time frame			N/A
	4: Are there valid and reliable indicators at each stage of the ToC which will capture what is expected to happen?	Reporting framework aligned with draft ToC but some impact metrics are not fully developed			N/A
	5: Are the assumptions underlying the ToC clear, particularly with regard to external actors?	Limited assumptions presented in the ToC			N/A
	6: Are there linkages in the ToC that are most critical to the success of the project and should therefore be the focus of a future evaluation?	All linkages are critical, but with some priority outputs & intermediate outcomes to achieving overall equity goal			N/A
	7: Are changes to the intervention captured by the ToC, and does it provide an accurate reflection of the current intervention logic?	Draft ToC is updated, still evolving. Nested ToCs for programmatic areas need to be developed			N/A
	8: Is the ToC articulated in a consistent way across project documentation and between stakeholders?	Two draft v	ersions cor	isistent and shared	N/A
	9: Are there expected to be multiple interactions between different project components and/or stakeholders, thereby complicating attribution of causes and identification of effects? How clearly defined are the expected interactions?	Many proje different sta identified e	ct compon akeholders ffects chall	ents and multiple interaction make the attribution of caus enging	s of es to

Evaluability dimension	Evaluability questions	Right things	Right way	Right results	Learning
	10: Is the business/investment case for the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC clearly articulated?	Investment case exists	for the Facility and	d AMC	N/A
Evaluability in practice	11: Is complete data on the (a) activities, (b) outputs, (c) outcomes and (d) goals expressed in the ToC?	Reporting framework mentions data sources for most indicators – not for all ToC assumptions	Multiple data so activities and ou governance doo routine reportin Framework data most outcomes	ources on utputs through uments and other og; Reporting a available against and goals	N/A
	12: Are monitoring and measurement frameworks functional, reliable and able to collect data against all indicators and with sufficient frequency?	Reporting Framework i goals, but some impact	ndicators are deve t metrics are not y	eloped for all ToC et fully developed	N/A
	13: Does a relevant baseline or counterfactual exist and can it feasibly be applied? What data and methods are required?	No useful overall count choice counterfactuals	N/A		
	14: Are the populations and groups receiving vaccines through the intervention identifiable, and is this data available at an appropriate frequency?	N/A	Data is available countries which	e for many received	N/A
	15: Is adequate disaggregated data (e.g. for gender and other equity-related indicators) available to measure impact against the ToC outcomes?	N/A	are unknown ar complete repor	opulation groups ad frequency of ting is variable	N/A
	16: What is the current capacity of staff, systems and processes to collect/generate data relevant to the ToC, results framework and desired outcomes and goals, using approaches that enable consistent analysis against these?	N/A	Significant dema Facility staff and vaccine delivery capacity is unsp	ands on COVAX d in-country s staff, but overall ecified	N/A

Evaluability dimension	Evaluability questions	Right things	Right way	Right results	Learning
Usefulness -	17: Have the key stakeholders and primary evaluation audiences been identified, and will they participate in the evaluation design and evaluation process?	Stakeholder g	groups defined, av enthusiasm	ailability for particip and agreement to d	ation limited, although o so
stakeholder demand	18: What EQs are of interest to which stakeholders, and is it realistic for the evaluation to answer them?	Design timeline; 'what if' for key design decisions; & stakeholder engagement in design – reasonably realistic for MSE to answer them	Different areas of the scope (operational and programmatic) identified by stakeholders. Realistic for them to be answered within the structure of the evaluation design	Results questions are of interest to stakeholders, but through the lens of design and implementation choices link to results; realistic for MSE to answer them	Stakeholders have identified interest in different areas of scope – these insights have been integrated into the communications and learning plan
	19: What are stakeholder expectations for the evaluation design and process? How will this affect their participation?	N/A	No particular expectations expressed	No particular expectations expressed	None expressed. KIIs appeared to welcome opportunity to share views during EA

Evaluability dimension	Evaluability questions	Right things	Right way	Right results	Learning
	20: What is the current capacity of COVAX staff, systems and processes to synthesize and interpret data and generate learning from it?	N/A	Clear appetite to use learning app pieces in a holist	o generate learning. Jears high. Capacity Cic way is a current g	Capacity to generate and to synthesize across learning gap
	21: How much time is available to conduct data collection, and what are the scheduling opportunities and constraints?	Stakeholders have evaluation design	e limited time to er to accommodate s	ngage in evaluation p sufficient time for da	process, but potential for ata collection
	22: To what extent are stakeholders able to use new learning to adapt interventions within existing project cycles?	N/A	COVAX Facility a learning approad stakeholder eng	nd COVAX AMC are ch and are doing this agement time could	used to a continuous s organically. Limitations on l limit learnings being used
	23: Are there opportunities for the evaluation to have an influence, and how does the time frame of the intervention affect the ability to extract useful learnings and lessons?	N/A	N/A	N/A	Yes, though changeable opportunities. Will require close collaboration with ELU to keep reassessing learning priorities and communication opportunities
	24: Are sufficient resources available to support an evaluation?	N/A	N/A	N/A	Based on EA experience, yes. ELU is responsive and available
	25: What coordination is required with other bodies involved in the implementation of the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC?	Significant coordin UNICEF, PAHO, CE management of th	nation is required a PI), as well as stak ne COVAX Facility a	across the COVAX im eholders engaged in and COVAX AMC	plementing partners (WHO, the governance and
	26: Are external events able to be identified and taken into account?	Learning from oth commissioned by by the COVID-19 G responses such as etc.	er relevant externa UNICEF, the World Global Evaluation C personal protectiv	al evaluations (e.g. e l Bank and some OE coalition) or other CC ve equipment (PPE)	evaluative work to be CD members as coordinated OVID-19 emergency procurement and provision,

## Annex 7: Determining the overall evaluation design

#### **Dealing with complexity**

In recent years there has been an increasing appreciation in public policy and evaluation that policy approaches have been inadequate, unable to deal with uncertainty, and 'failing to appreciate the complexity of human behavior and the systems in which we live'. The problems we face are understood to be unintended consequences of intervening in complex systems, including 'ecosystems, financial markets, and energy markets, or societal phenomena such as urbanization and migration'.⁷⁰

The now commonplace view that the social world is composed of complex systems has resulted in policy and programming responses that more overtly acknowledge uncertainty, as evidenced by increasing use of adaptive policy and adaptive management approaches. This has created new challenges for evaluation, and the more complex the intervention, the more difficult will be the evaluation.

The COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC is a system that encompasses many interacting global agents, serving a range of different functions across a number of sectors, requiring feedback from recipient countries and communities to refine ideas and adjust approaches. Based on the findings from the EA and drawing on a range of literature in this area, the system can be usefully framed as one that moves from being 'complicated' at the activity and output end of the results chain to one that is increasingly 'complex' as it progresses towards impact.⁷¹

In results chain terms, the relationships at the activity and output end of the chain are comparatively straightforward. There is established knowledge and understanding of how Gavi and other implementing partners of COVAX translate financial inputs into activities and outputs related to the shaping of markets for the equitable distribution and use of vaccines. While this requires factors outside of Gavi's direct sphere of control, which infers complexity, this part of the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC system may be conceived as merely complicated.⁷² Even when we consider that the system design is regularly subject to evolution this can still be characterized as complicated rather than complex.

Towards the outcome and impact parts of the results chain, the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC is in the 'real world' – i.e. where the achievement of results is subject to the context in which the intervention is operating, at global, regional and country levels. Making progress here entails change that is iterative, adaptive and non-linear. This is a messy space that can be characterized as highly complex.⁷³

⁷⁰ Sanderson, I. (2002). *Evaluation, Policy Learning and Evidence-Based Policy-Making*. Public Administration, 80, 1–22; ECD. (2017). *Debate the Issues: Complexity and policy making*. OECD Insights, OECD Publishing, Paris. http://www.oecd.org/economy/debate-the-issues-complexity-and-policy-making-9789264271531-en.htm

 $^{^{\}rm 71}\,{\rm For}$  instance, using the Stacey matrix and David Snowden's Cynefin framework.

For the Stacey matrix see Zimmerman, B.(2001). Ralph Stacey's Agreement & Certainty Matrix. Better Evaluation.

https://www.betterevaluation.org/en/resources/guide/ralph_staceys_agreement_and_certainty_matrix

For the Cynefin framework see Snowden, D. J. and Boone, M. E. (2007, November). A Leader's Framework for Decision Making. Harvard Business Review. https://hbr.org/2007/11/a-leaders-framework-for-decision-making

⁷² Complicated systems assume an ordered universe and involve a number of interrelated parts, which interact in broadly predictable ways. Interventions in these systems expect the parts and process to 'function in a predictable way if the whole intervention [continued below] is to succeed. The processes are broadly predictable and outputs arrive at outcomes in well-understood ways'. Ling, T. (2012). *Evaluating complex and unfolding interventions in real time*. Evaluation, 18 (1), 79–91. https://doi.org/10.1177/1356389011429629

Complicated interventions (evaluands) have these characteristics: implemented through multiple agencies, multiple simultaneous causal strands, and different causal mechanisms operating in different contexts Rogers, P. J. (2008). Using Programme Theory to Evaluate Complicated and Complex Aspects of Interventions. Evaluation, 4 (1), 29–48. https://doi.org/10.1177/1356389007084674

⁷³ Complex systems are unordered, and function in ways that are much less predictable. The relationship between cause and effect may not be immediately apparent and can only be determined through emerging patterns. There will usually be multiple perspectives from different actors in complex systems, and learning about change in these systems requires aspects of social learning. These systems are non-linear, may respond in non-proportional ways, and may be in constant flux or indeed resist change, affected by context, and characterized by feedback loops that make the system adaptive. Therefore, interventions in these systems are: 'characterized by feedback loops, adaptation and learning by both those delivering and those receiving the intervention [...] They are both sensitive to starting conditions and outcomes tend to change, possibly significantly, over time. Complex interventions have multiple components which may act independently and interdependently'. Ling, T. (2012). *Evaluating complex and unfolding interventions in real time*. Evaluation, 18(1), 79–91. https://doi.org/10.1177/1356389011429629

Given the conceptual and, more importantly, practical need to draw some boundaries around the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC to enable us to define the evaluand and its attributes, this strategy opts to frame the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC as a two-system model, or a system with two domains: the 'complicated' domain, which might be considered 'COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC – the intervention' and the 'complex' domain, which might be considered 'COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC – outcomes in context'.



Figure 8 – Types of system within COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC

Introducing a two-domain evaluation object (evaluand) for the evaluation does have some implications, and there are pitfalls to both seeing everything as complicated and compartmentalizing complexity. Traditional evaluation approaches that rely on frequency or counterfactual frameworks⁷⁴ to establish cause and effect fail to take account of context, non-linearity and other features of complex systems, such as tipping points. But there are also problems with approaches that graft complexity-aware methods onto conventional ones to evaluate 'the complex bits' of programs. Epistemologically, problems arise from bolting together reductionist and holistic approaches⁷⁵ without acknowledging either (i) how this affects the construction of areas such as program theory and EQs or (ii) that complexity is central to the nature of the evaluand.

Our proposed evaluation design distinguishes between these domains and proposes methods that are appropriate for each within the evaluation modules: right things, right way, right results, and learning. This recognizes the importance of studying the influence of context on causality as part of a complexity-informed evaluation approach.

#### **Selecting methods**

The overall evaluation design should be complementary to the methods deployed under each module. As such, selecting the overall evaluation design is both a bottom-up and top-down prioritization process.

For Module 3, the choice of methods is challenging. With high-profile evaluations such as this, there is an understandable desire to use methods that can measure and make strong attribution claims for impacts. These types of claim are produced with reductive methods that rely on regularity frameworks or, more

⁷⁴ Stern, E. (2015). *Impact Evaluation. A Guide for Commissioners and Managers*. Bond. https://www.bond.org.uk/sites/default/files/resource-documents/impact_evaluation_guide_0515.pdf

⁷⁵ Ling, T. (2012). Evaluating complex and unfolding interventions in real time. Evaluation, 18 (1), 79–91.

https://doi.org/10.1177/1356389011429629

commonly, counterfactual frameworks as the basis for causal inference. Establishing cause-and-effect linkage, or making a causal claim, may be achieved through four possible models:⁷⁶

- **Regularity frameworks** that statistically analyze the frequency of association between cause and effect.
- Counterfactual frameworks that determine the difference between two situations identical apart from the intervention in question. This is the basis for randomized control trials and quasi-experimental approaches.
- Multiple causation in combinations of causes that lead to effect are analyzed in configurational approaches, such as qualitative comparative analysis and contribution analysis.
- Generative causation, in which the mechanisms that cause effects are identified, for example through theory-based and realist approaches.

The first and second of these models depend on being able to manipulate the causal actors and control the context of intervention; the third and fourth are suited to situations, such as the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC, where this control is not feasible and evaluators must depend on observation.

In using the term 'causality', it is important to be clear that this does not imply a linear or binary relationship between cause (intervention) and effect (impact). It is possible that the relationship between cause and effect may be:⁷⁷

- Both necessary and sufficient: the cause always leads to the intended effect and is the only way to achieve this.
- Necessary but not sufficient: the cause is a necessary precondition for intended effects but they will
  not be achieved with other factors.
- Sufficient but not necessary: the intervention is one way to arrive at the effect but there are other ways.
- Neither necessary nor sufficient but a contributory cause: the intervention is a vital part of a 'package' of causal factors that together are sufficient to produce the intended effect. However, on its own the program is neither sufficient nor always necessary if, for example, other effective causal packages did not include the intervention of interest.

The concept of 'contributory cause' recognizes that effects may be produced by several causes at once, none of which might be necessary nor sufficient for impact on its own. Thus effects are a result of a 'causal package', which is the intervention plus other factors. The idea of 'causal packages' is most relevant in the impact evaluation of complex interventions, such as the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC. The intervention is a contributory cause of the impact if:⁷⁸

- The causal package with the intervention was sufficient to bring about the impact, and
- The intervention was a necessary part of that causal package.

⁷⁶ Stern, E. (2015). *Impact Evaluation. A Guide for Commissioners and Managers.* Bond. https://www.bond.org.uk/sites/default/files/resource-documents/impact_evaluation_guide_0515.pdf

⁷⁷ Stern, E., Stame, N., Mayne, J., Forss, K., Davies, R. and Befani, B. (2012). *Broadening the Range of Designs and Methods for Impact Evaluations* (Working Paper 38). Department for International Development.

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/67427/design-method-impact-eval.pdf ⁷⁸ Stern, E. (2015). *Impact Evaluation A Guide for Commissioners and Managers*. Bond. https://www.bond.org.uk/sites/default/files/resource-documents/impact_evaluation_guide_0515.pdf

Contributory causality is relevant when it is likely when there is more than one possible cause, i.e. the intervention is just one part of a causal package. In complex systems the cause will seldom be the intervention – something done to the system – taken alone.

It should be noted that the evaluation approach should not overemphasize the causal question 'did the intervention make a difference?'; equally important is the explanatory question 'how did the intervention make a difference?' The 'how' question gets to the heart of causal mechanism, and allows context to be examined – 'when', 'where', and for whom does the intervention work, 'under what conditions?'⁷⁹

How context is dealt with is an important differentiator between different evaluation approaches. Experimental approaches conceive of contextual factors as confounding variables for which the evaluator should control. In theory-based approaches, interventions are considered to operate in interaction with context (people, policies, culture, etc.) and so context is key to understanding the interplay between programs and effects. Context is therefore considered to be part of the evaluation, as it is critical to uncovering the circumstances in which, and the reasons why, a particular intervention works. These approaches acknowledge that particular contexts can enhance or detract from program effectiveness and that such contexts may include factors that are within or outside the control of implementers.⁸⁰

It therefore follows that, in theory-based approaches and realistic evaluation, the impact of interventions cannot be determined with any degree of confidence if there is no knowledge about the context within which they have taken place. 'An understanding of context is, therefore, vital in relation to attributing cause. Context is also seen as important in terms of replicating the intervention in any future setting or in learning about possible generalizable causal pathways'.⁸¹

In TBE, theory bridges causes and effects. The influential Stern paper on options for evaluation in international development⁸² identifies two types of TBE approach – process-oriented and mechanismoriented – though it notes that these are usually inextricably interwoven (as it is proposed that they will be here). Process-oriented TBE follows various causal links in a chain of implementation of an intervention, 'built around a "theory" that is a set of assumptions about how the intervention achieves its objectives and under what conditions'.⁸³ The most commonly used process-oriented TBE methods are contribution analysis and process tracing, and there are others, such as Participatory Impact Pathway Analysis,⁸⁴ that use impact pathway analysis.

In mechanism-based TBE, in order to make a causal claim, a mechanism that 'makes things happen' needs to be identified. But mechanisms do not operate in vacuums – the interaction with context is important. Mechanism-based TBE seeks the connection between causes and effects through deep theoretical analysis, based on mid-range theories.⁸⁵ This type of TBE stems from a 'realist' perspective, and its most common method is realist evaluation.⁸⁶

Case-based methods make systematic causal analysis of 'cases'. The method most relevant to the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC is Qualitative Comparative Analysis (QCA). This makes quantitative analysis, using

https://doi.org/10.1177/1356389013495617

⁷⁹ Byrne, D. (2013). Evaluating complex social interventions in a complex world. Evaluation, 19 (3), 217–28.

⁸⁰ Blamey, A. and Mackenzie, M. (2007). *Theories of Change and Realistic Evaluation: Peas in a Pod or Apples and Oranges*? Evaluation, 13 (4), 439–55. https://doi.org/10.1177/1356389007082129

⁸¹ Ibid.

⁸² Stern, E., Stame, N., Mayne, J., Forss, K., Davies, R. and Befani, B. (2012). *Broadening the Range of Designs and Methods for Impact Evaluations* (Working Paper 38). Department for International Development.

 $https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/67427/design-method-impact-eval.pdf^{83}\ lbid.$ 

⁸⁴ Douthwaite, B., Kuby, T., van de Fliert, E. and Schulz, S. (2003). *Impact pathway evaluation: an approach for achieving and attributing impact in complex systems*. Agricultural Systems, 78 (2), 243–65. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0308-521X(03)00128-8

⁸⁵ Stern, E., Stame, N., Mayne, J., Forss, K., Davies, R., & Befani, B. (2012). *Broadening the Range of Designs and Methods for Impact Evaluations* (Working Paper 38). Department for International Development.

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/67427/design-method-impact-eval.pdf ⁸⁶ Pawson, R. and Tilley, N. (1997). *Realistic Evaluation*. Sage.

fuzzy set logic, of 'configurations' of cases and their qualitative attributes to determine the conditions that are necessary and sufficient for an outcome to occur.

The suggested design for the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC MSE is to use a blend of methods from the TBE family, particularly in relation to Modules 2 and 3.

### **Approach to learning**

Our approach to learning is predominantly based on synthesizing and prioritizing lessons learned, gathered and documented through the earlier modules.

As noted above, the objective is to generate learning to inform course correction and transformative learning for future pandemic preparedness. Transformative learning theory is primarily aimed at encouraging arguments and world views to be questioned through a 'disorienting dilemma'. The basic premise is that 'disorientation' will lead to a fundamental change in the way that we view the world. The evaluation team recognize that this 'challenge' function is particularly important in the context of the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC evaluation. This is because (a) the MSE process spans a 10-year period, representing an important investment and opportunity to track the evolution of the Facility and AMC in response to pandemic evolution, and (b) the global health community needs answers to the macro-level question of how it can respond most effectively to plan for and respond to future pandemics or similar global health security threats. The evaluation approach has been designed to facilitate such learning in a number of ways:

- Primary learning content focus: We have set out the intention to focus learning from the formative review and baseline study on informing course correction for the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC and Gavi 5.0. This is because it is the right time for this sort of learning and it will be of value now. Later evaluation processes will have a stronger emphasis on learning for future pandemic preparedness and response.
- Evaluation approach and methodology: The evaluation approach places a strong emphasis on understanding the context and how this has influenced design, implementation and results. This includes PEA to explore how power imbalances and political and economic concerns and incentives have influenced the design and implementation of the COVAX Facility and AMC, and also how these incentives have influenced SFP and AMC country decisions on whether and how to engage with COVAX. This analysis of context will provide a strong basis to challenge the status quo.
- Data collection: We have proposed a robust stakeholder engagement approach and data collection process to ensure that different world views are captured. This includes interviewing global experts, both within and outside of the COVAX architecture.
- Evaluation team: Our team includes a Technical Advisory Group of globally recognized experts that will
  advise the team throughout the evaluation. It will also include a well-respected and competent partner
  organization from the Global South to implement the evaluation that will also ensure that different
  world views are captured.
- Stakeholder engagement: Our approach includes a reflective and open validation processes (e.g. sense-making/learning and validation workshops with relevant stakeholder groups) to ensure that different world views are integrated within the development and finalization of recommendations.

In terms of 'how' synthesis and prioritization are done, we propose a continuous learning support approach during the formative review and baseline (and recommend this later, throughout the MSE). Our continuous learning approach aims to:

synthesize learning across all evaluation activity;

- develop synthesis products that present learning from the evaluation;
- work collaboratively with and support the Office of the COVAX Facility/Gavi ELU continuous learning function; and
- facilitate uptake of lessons learned among key stakeholder groups for the MSE.

We identify three potential options providing different levels of support to the learning function administered by the Office of the COVAX Facility/Gavi ELU, as outlined below.

Table 18 - Options for levels of learning support

	Option 1: Light-touch learning support	Option 2: Mid-level learning support	Option 3: Semi-embedded learning support
Learning point meetings	Facilitate learning point meetings to: (a) revisit and agree upcoming learning priorities; (b) understand how learning generated through the MSE is being used to support decision making and course correction; (c) agree to any refinements needed in the way learning is presented within the MSE.	Per light-touch	Per light-touch
Documents and products	Synthesis of lessons learned arising from formative/summative evaluations and rapid reviews.	Per light-touch	Per light-touch
Workshops	Facilitation to support validation of lessons learned through sense-making workshops/ recommendation co- creation workshops with relevant teams.	Per light-touch	Per light-touch
Updating the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC communications and learning plan	Following learning point meetings and evaluation activity synthesis. To ensure evolving learning priority and communication needs are captured.	Per light-touch	Per light-touch
Facilitating learning action sessions as required		At the end of each formative/summative evaluation and rapid review, facilitate a <i>learning</i> <i>action meeting</i> with key and relevant teams to help articulate the learning pathway action plan for recommendations, i.e. clarifying implications of the recommendations, what needs to happen, by whom and by when, etc.	Per mid-level
Coordination with Gavi Learning System learning hubs			At the end of each formative/ summative evaluation and rapid review, the external evaluation learning lead contacts Gavi LS learning hubs to explore and facilitate sharing of any programmatic, equity-related, AMC country- related learning that can be used to inform hub's own learning and dissemination

We identify the following pros and cons for each option:

- Light-touch learning support: This is our recommended option. This option relies on the Office of the COVAX Facility/Gavi ELU leading on activity related to learning uptake of evaluation findings. This option affords the external evaluation team maximum independence, which is important to stakeholder groups, as we discovered through document review and KIIs.
- Mid-level learning support: This would provide a discrete amount of additional technical support to the learning function to support action/uptake of learning arising from evaluations and rapid reviews. While this option could help MEL and the wider Office of the COVAX Facility staff to operationalize recommendations, it could reduce the perception of evaluation team independence.
- Semi-embedded learning support: This would provide additional technical support to foster explicit linkage between the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC MSE activity and the wider Gavi 5.0 Learning System learning hubs. This could help to promote cross-pollination of learning arising from formative review and baseline country work and potential for triangulation of learning from hubs related to country experiences. However, this option implies an even more reduced level of independence and could raise concern around potential conflict of interest.

Assuming a light-touch option is selected, a proposed approach to working alongside the ELU is set out in Figure 9 below.



Figure 9 – Working alongside the ELU to produce evaluation findings, validate lessons and recommendations

## Annex 8: Articulating the evaluation ToC for COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC

Building on the work conducted in the evaluability assessment and incorporating the existing ToC work, Figure 9 presents an updated articulation of the overall ToC for the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC – referred to as the evaluation ToC.



Figure 10 - Updated ToC for the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC

**Evolving design**. This ToC reflects the status quo as of late 2021, and recognizes the evolving nature of the design of the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC, as it includes design revisions in the past 18 months of operation, in response to pandemic and geopolitical realities. There are ongoing discussions about design revisions needed for course correction, and indeed for the period 2022 onwards. The ToC for the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC will need to be a living document, to be reviewed and revised as the evaluation proceeds.

**Intervention logic.** The ToC presents the core activities and outputs of the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC, plus intermediate and higher-level outcomes. It also shows higher-level goals, i.e. health and socioeconomic change, to which the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC contribute. Main programmatic activity areas of the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC (each with their own, specific intervention logic, see below) evolve around: 1) engagement of *self-financing participants and AMC92 participants*, and joint procurement resulting in secured vaccine doses and a broad vaccine portfolio; 2) application of the equitable *vaccine allocation framework*, resulting in the most equitable and efficient allocation of secured doses; 3) *procurement and distribution of vaccine doses* to participants, resulting in availability of vaccine doses for the most at risk populations across and within countries; and 4) assessment of and support for *country-level vaccine delivery readiness* for AMC92 countries resulting in increased efficiency and effectiveness of vaccine delivery to high-risk populations.

**Evidence and assumptions.** The design of the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC is based on prior experience of COVAX partners and evidence from earlier programs on large scale procurement and delivery of vaccines. That said, this is a novel initiative designed under time pressure, so various assumptions lie behind program components as well as causal links between activities and outcomes. Various assumptions have been identified by the Office of the COVAX Facility, Gavi Secretariat and partners, and articulated in project documents. The ToC provides a conceptual framework to clarify, identify additional and test assumptions as well as to gather evidence for causal links.

**Collaborative effort.** The ToC for the Facility and AMC is focused on the areas of Gavi's primary responsibility within the COVAX pillar but takes into account the roles and contributions of all COVAX partners, as well as other stakeholders. Although the Office of the COVAX Facility coordinates the implementation of the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC, its success depends on all COVAX partners' contributions, including but not limited to 1) WHO's normative and technical support for equitable allocation and CRD; 2) UNICEF and PAHO's procurement and delivery of commodities, and 3) CEPI's work on incentivizing research, development and manufacturing of COVID-19 vaccines. The ToC will clarify roles and responsibilities, and interdependencies between COVAX partners' work, as they evolve, and clarify the scope of the multi-stage evaluation vis-à-vis evaluative work commissioned by partners around their efforts. The figure below (Figure 11) indicates the remit of Gavi's primary area of responsibility within the Facility and AMC, including key program areas with joint responsibilities.





**Guiding EQs**. The ToC serves as the basis for the theory-based evaluation approach, as it guides EQs around assumptions and design options (right design), and testing the causal links between inputs and outputs (right way) and to outcomes and impact (right results). Also, as the ToC captures design revisions over time, it guides EQs through the evaluation approach about the geopolitical and epidemiological context, decision making processes and outcomes around the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC.

**Program areas within the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC**. The ToC helps clarify where specific program areas sit – see Figure 12. Clearly, the evaluation, and the core EQs, apply to the Facility and AMC as a whole, but also to specific program components. All COVAX Facility programmatic areas will be included in all stages of the formative-summative evaluations, albeit at varying degrees of intensity. Specific programmatic areas or strategies may be evaluated though additional rapid reviews, as the need arises, or at the recommendation of a formative-summative evaluation. Note that programmatic areas and specific strategies are not static; new programmatic areas may emerge and relative importance of various programmatic areas will change over time, for example country level delivery versus scaling up manufacturing.

Figure 12 – Programmatic areas within the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC ToC



#### "Nested TOCs" for programme strategies

# Annex 9: Data sources and descriptions

#### Table 19 - Relavent data sources

Data source	What	Relevance to EQ	Who	Reporting frequency	Notes
<u>COVAX Reporting</u> <u>Framework</u>	Topline performance metrics spanning inputs through to impact, mapped against COVAX core Theory of Change	2.2 – 2.2.5 3 – 3.5	Gavi Secretariat	Quarterly	Impact modelling still under development Complementary monitoring and reporting will also be of clear interest – e.g. the CRD Implementation Monitoring Review; COVID-19 Vaccine Delivery Support (CRD) monitoring data
WHO-UNICEF elecontric Joint Reporting Form (eJRF) – COVID-19 module	Vaccination uptake (total) and disaggregated by gender, health workers, older adults and vulnerable people (co-morbidities, long- term care inhabitants)	3.2, 3.3, 3.4	WHO and UNICEF	Monthly	Reporting completeness is lacking/inconsistent Some regions are asking for differentiated data on COVAX vs non-COVAX doses; estimates are otherwise used (Gavi/WHO)
WHO Officially Reported COVID-19 Vaccination Data	By region and by country: Procured doses by vaccine type and procurement mechanism Vaccine uptake by per 100 population and by month Doses received and remaining Vaccinated by age group, target group and sex By region: Vaccine policy & Vaccine delivery strategy Acceptance and demand Wastage Supply management/cold chain	3.2, 3.3, 3.4	WHO	Daily	171 countries reported
National Vaccine Deployment Plans (NVDPs)	Operational measures per country to support: Regulatory preparedness Planning and coordination & Costing and budget Target populations and vaccination strategies Supply chain and healthcare waste management Human resources Vaccine acceptance and demand & Vaccine safety Immunization monitoring	3.2, 3.3	Country governments with input from WHO, UNICEF and partners	N/A	Some NVDPs currently available online – e.g. <u>Sudan</u> – but not all countries have published
COVID-19 Vaccine Market Dashboard	COVID-19 vaccine supply agreements by recipient Reported COVID-19 vaccine price per dose COVID-19 vaccine deliveries Immunization device overview	3.1, 3.2, 3.3, 3.4	UNICEF-run platform with data aggregated UNICEF and PAHO logistics data, and from other public sources, Our World in Data	Not known	
<u>WHO Coronavirus</u> (COVID-19) Dashboard	Confirmed COVID-19 cases and deaths (globally, regionally and nationally)	3.2, 3.4	World Health Organization	Daily (weekdays)	

#### Classified as Internal

Final evaluability assessment and evaluation design report

IMF-WHO COVID-19 Vaccine Tracker	No. vaccine doses secured by countries/regions through: bilateral agreements, donations, COVAX, World Bank, Asian Development Bank and other institutions	3.1, 3.4	IMF/WHO	Weekly
Global Dashboard for Vaccine Equity	Vaccine roll-out data combined with socioeconomic data – by country and L/M/H IC status; coverage status; cost of vaccination coverage as % of GDP	2.2.4, 3.1, 3.2	UNDP with data from UNICEF, IMF, WHO, COVAX, OWD and other sources	Unclear

## **Annex 10: Multi-stage evaluation framework**

This table can be read in conjunction with Annex 16 (Table 24) which provides an overview of when different types of evaluation findings (i.e. findings on course correction, versus future pandemic preparedness) are likely to be produced, to meet different evaluation user needs anticipated.

E velve tieve		Come FOR (Ballel -			Stage-specific EQs			Cuitoria (an indaina		
Evaluation	EQ	Core EQs (Bold =	When	Formative review	Mid-term	End-term	Primary users	Criteria for Judging	Analytical methods	Data sources
module		neadime EQ)		and baseline study				performance		
1. Right things: Design	1	Is the design and intervention logic underpinning the COVAX Facility and AMC clear, relevant, inclusive and appropriate to enable achievement of intended outcomes and impact?	<ul> <li>Baseline</li> <li>Midterm</li> <li>End- term⁸⁷</li> </ul>	Given the uncertain nature of the emerging pandemic, was the COVAX Facility and AMC design developed in an evidence based and coherent manner to maximize the chances for success?	What is the emerging evidence on whether and how the design is appropriate to facilitate progress towards results?	To what extent did the design facilitate the achievement of results?	<ul> <li>Board &amp; PPC</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Design, evidence and assumptions clearly documented</li> <li>Options and trade-offs considered</li> <li>Strong and</li> </ul>		
	1.1	To what extent are the overall design of the COVAX Facility and AMC and specific strategies clearly justified and documented, and is the overall design clear and coherent?	<ul> <li>Baseline</li> <li>Midterm</li> <li>End-term</li> <li>Rapid reviews</li> </ul>	To what extent is the overall design of the COVAX Facility and AMC and specific strategies clearly justified and documented, including the evidence base, and assumptions related to causal links between outcomes? Is the overall design clear and coherent?	To what extent is the overall design of the COVAX Facility and AMC and specific strategies, including any revisions, clearly justified and documented, including the evidence base, and assumptions related to causal links between outcomes? Is the overall design clear and coherent?	To what extent has the overall design of the COVAX Facility and AMC and specific strategies been clearly justified and documented, including the evidence base, and assumptions related to causal links between outcomes? Is the overall design clear and coherent?	<ul> <li>Office of COVAX Facility</li> <li>COVAX implementing partners</li> <li>COVAX participants</li> <li>Wider global health community, including CSOs</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Storing and broad-based support for selected design coherent, well justified and in line with (a) COVAX principles, aims and strategies; and (b) global needs</li> <li>Evidence of design revisions</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>ToC construction, incorporating history of decisions and timeline analysis</li> <li>Political economy analysis</li> <li>Benchmarking of design decisions against process criteria</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>KIIs</li> <li>FGDs</li> <li>Document review</li> <li>Stakeholder workshops</li> <li>Web-survey</li> <li>Country case studies</li> </ul>
	1.2	Recognizing the dynamic nature of the pandemic and geopolitical context, what design revisions were made since the original design, and why?	<ul> <li>Baseline</li> <li>Midterm</li> <li>End- term</li> </ul>	How has the design shifted over time based on the evolving pandemic and geopolitical context, and based on what justification and evidence?	How has the design shifted over time based on the evolving pandemic and geopolitical context, and based on what justification and evidence?	How has the design shifted over time based on the evolving pandemic and geopolitical context, and based on what justification and evidence?		in response to evidence of what works and evolving context		

#### Table 20 - Multi-stage evaluation framework

⁸⁷ Formative-summative evaluation work will assess overall design, whereas stage-specific EQs or rapid reviews may assess the relevance and coherence of specific program areas or strategies.

1.3	How did external		How were external	How have external	How have external	Equity in design	
	stakeholders and		stakeholders and	stakeholders and	stakeholders and	process (e.g. with	
	COVAX partners		COVAX partners	COVAX partners	COVAX partners	transparency,	
	contribute to the		contribute to the	contributed to design	contributed to the	consensus,	
	original design, and		original design of the	revisions over time,	COVAX Facility and	stakeholder	
	subsequent design	<ul> <li>Baseline</li> </ul>	COVAX Facility and	and what impact has	AMC design, and	participation)	<ul> <li>Stakeholder</li> </ul>
	revisions of the	<ul> <li>Midterm</li> </ul>	AMC, and what	this had?	what impact has this	Evidence of	analysis
	COVAX Facility and	End-	impact did this have?		had?	broad-based	Political economy
	AMC, and what	term				inputs	analysis
	impact did this					influencing	
	have?					design	
						Broad-based	
						support for	
						selected design	
1.4	Are any design		Are design revisions	Are design revisions	What are the design	Evidence that	
	revisions needed		needed to inform	needed for course	lessons for future	current design is	
	for course	<ul> <li>Baseline</li> </ul>	course correction to	correction? Can	pandemic responses?	sub-optimal for	
	correction? What	<ul> <li>Midterm</li> </ul>	facilitate short-term	emerging lessons		present context	Synthesis of
	are the design	End-	progress and results?	inform future		<ul> <li>Alternative</li> </ul>	analysis and
	lessons for future	term ⁸⁸		pandemic responses?		options, trade-	findings from other
	pandemic	<ul> <li>Rapid</li> </ul>				offs and path	EQs
	responses?	reviews				dependencies	
						analyzed and	
						justified	

⁸⁸ The first part of the EQ will be asked at baseline and midterm, possibly also through rapid reviews. The second part will be asked at midterm and end-term, possibly also through rapid reviews.
		Core EQs (Bold =			Stage-specific EQs					
module	EQ	headline evaluation question)	When	Formative review and baseline study	Mid-term	End-term	Primary users	performance	methods	Data sources
	2	Have the COVAX Facility and AMC been successfully implemented?	<ul> <li>Baseline</li> <li>Midterm</li> <li>End- term</li> <li>Rapid reviews</li> </ul>	Have the COVAX Facility and AMC been successfully set up and implemented thus far?	Have the COVAX Facility and AMC been successfully implemented to date?	Were the COVAX Facility and AMC implemented as intended?	<ul> <li>Board &amp; PPC</li> <li>Office of COVAX</li> <li>Facility + implementing partners</li> <li>COVAX</li> <li>Participants</li> <li>Wider GH</li> <li>community</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Activities implemented in accordance with plans and expectations</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Synthesis of analysis and findings from EQs 2.1-2.2</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Document review</li> <li>KIIs/FGDs</li> </ul>
	2.1	Have the COVAX Facility and AMC been operationalized successfully? (operational domain)	<ul> <li>Baseline</li> <li>Midterm</li> <li>End- term</li> <li>Rapid reviews</li> </ul>	Are COVAX Facility and AMC operations suitable and appropriate, and been successfully set up and implemented thus far?	Have COVAX Facility and AMC operations been fit for purpose and successfully implemented to date?	Were COVAX Facility and AMC operations implemented as intended and how did this facilitate or impede the achievement of results?		<ul> <li>COVAX Facility and AMC operations facilitate and enable implementation in accordance with plans and expectations</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Synthesis of analysis and findings from EQs 2.1.1-2.1.4</li> </ul>	Comparator case studies
2. Right way: Implemen- tation	2.1.1	Have the COVAX Facility and AMC management structures/governance arrangements been fit for purpose?	<ul> <li>Baseline</li> <li>Midterm</li> <li>Rapid reviews</li> </ul>	Are the COVAX Facility and AMC management structures and governance arrangements suitable and appropriate for a new entity working in an emergency setting?	Have the COVAX Facility and AMC management structures and governance arrangements been well implemented and fit for purpose?	Was the COVAX Facility and AMC well managed and governed and to what extent did this facilitate or impede the achievement of results?	<ul> <li>Board &amp; PPC</li> <li>Office of COVAX</li> <li>Facility</li> <li>COVAX</li> <li>implementing partners</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>The right capabilities, culture and practices are in place to enable implementation</li> <li>Agreed governance principles followed as intended</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Benchmarking to capability, culture and practice framework</li> <li>History of decisions and timeline analysis</li> <li>Process tracing</li> <li>Root cause analysis</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>KIIs/FGDs</li> <li>Document review</li> <li>Web-survey</li> </ul>
	2.1.2	Have the COVAX Facility and AMC risk management processes been fit for purpose?	<ul> <li>Baseline</li> <li>Midterm</li> <li>End- term</li> </ul>	Are risk management systems, processes and capacities suitable and appropriate for dealing with the inherent risks associated with the COVAX Facility and AMC mandate?	Have the COVAX Facility and AMC risk management processes been well implemented and fit for purpose?	Were risk management processes appropriate and to what extent did this facilitate or impede the achievement of results?		<ul> <li>Principles are in place to manage the effects of uncertainty on objectives</li> <li>Risk management is integrated into activities and functions</li> <li>Policies, procedures and practices are systematically applied</li> <li>Financial and programmatic risks are identified</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Risk management benchmark assessment</li> <li>Timeline analysis</li> <li>Comparator analysis (Gavi business as usual)</li> <li>Process tracing</li> <li>Root cause analysis</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Document review</li> <li>KIIs</li> <li>Comparator case studies</li> </ul>

							in a timely manner and mitigated		
2	2.1.3 To what extent were the estimated costs of setting up and implementing the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC in terms of finances and staff allocation reasonable and appropriate?	<ul> <li>Baseline</li> <li>Midterm</li> <li>End- term</li> <li>Rapid reviews</li> </ul>	Were the initial set up costs for the COVAX Facility and AMC reasonable and appropriate for the organization mandate and proposed scale of operations?	To what extent are ongoing costs of implementing the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC in terms of finances and staff allocation reasonable and appropriate?	To what extent were the estimated costs of setting up and implementing the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC in terms of finances and staff allocation reasonable and appropriate?		<ul> <li>Set-up costs are at or below relevant benchmarks</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Costing analysis for core processes</li> <li>Comparator analysis (Gavi Secretariat and other GHIs))</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Document review</li> <li>KIIs/FGDs</li> <li>Comparator case studies</li> </ul>
2	2.1.4 Has the level of stakeholder engagement and communication been appropriate?	<ul> <li>Baseline</li> <li>Midterm</li> <li>Rapid reviews</li> </ul>	How were external stakeholders and COVAX partners engaged in the early implementation of the COVAX Facility and AMC, and how did this guide decision making to support governance, management and implementation?	How have external stakeholders and COVAX partners engaged in the implementation of the COVAX Facility and AMC, and how has this been used guide decision making to support governance, management and implementation?	How have external stakeholders and COVAX partners contributed to decision making in support of governance, management and implementation, and what impact has this had?	<ul> <li>Board &amp; PPC</li> <li>Office of COVAX</li> <li>Facility + implementing partners</li> <li>COVAX</li> <li>Participants</li> <li>Wider GH</li> <li>community</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Equity in decision making</li> <li>Governance and management arrangements support participation and engagement of all relevant stakeholders in key processes</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Stakeholder analysis</li> <li>Benchmarking to established standards</li> <li>Comparator analysis (Gavi business as usual)</li> <li>Process tracing</li> <li>Root cause analysis</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Document review</li> <li>KIIs/FGDs</li> <li>Stakeholder survey</li> <li>Comparator case studies</li> </ul>

		Core EQs (Bold =		Stage-specific EQs						
Evaluation module	EQ	headline evaluation question)	When	Formative review and baseline study	Mid-term	End-term	Primary users	Criteria for judging performance	Analytical methods	Data sources
2. Right way: Implementation	2.2	To what extent have the specific COVAX Facility and AMC programmatic/ intervention areas been implemented successfully? (programmatic domain)	<ul> <li>Baseline</li> <li>Midterm</li> <li>End- term</li> <li>Rapid</li> <li>reviews</li> </ul>	Have COVAX Facility and AMC programmatic areas been successfully set up and implemented thus far?	Have COVAX Facility and AMC programmatic areas been successfully implemented to date with expectations and targets met in a timely manner?	Were COVAX Facility and AMC programmatic areas implemented as intended, with expectations and targets met in a timely manner?		<ul> <li>COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC programmatic activities implemented in accordance with plans and expectations</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Synthesis of analysis and findings from other EQs</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Document review</li> <li>KIIs/FGDs</li> <li>Stakeholder workshops</li> <li>Web-survey</li> <li>Comparator case studies</li> <li>Country case studies</li> </ul>
	2.2.1	To what extent has an appropriate resource mobilization strategy been established and implemented to to secure adequate resources for full and timely implementation of intended activities?	<ul> <li>Baseline</li> <li>Midterm</li> <li>End- term</li> <li>Rapid reviews</li> </ul>	Was a persuasive and appropriate resource mobilization strategy articulated to secure adequate resources for full and timely implementation of intended activities? To what extent were initial expectations and target met in a timely manner?	Has the resource mobilization strategy been well implemented, with expectations and targets met in a timely manner, to ensure ongoing delivery of the COVAX Facility and AMC ToC?	Were sufficient resources raised in a timely manner to secure adequate resources for full and timely implementation of intended activities?	<ul> <li>Board &amp; PPC</li> <li>Office of COVAX</li> <li>Facility</li> <li>COVAX implementing partners</li> <li>COVAX</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Consensus amongst stakeholders on the strength of investment case</li> <li>Resources mobilized as planned/required to operationalize ToC</li> <li>Evidence of adaptation in response to evolving context</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Quantitative analysis of financial data</li> <li>Process tracing</li> <li>Root cause analysis</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Info systems</li> </ul>
	2.2.2	To what extent have market shaping activities been implemented to ensure that COVID- 19 vaccines are accessible and affordable for lower- income countries?	<ul> <li>Baseline</li> <li>Midterm</li> <li>End- term</li> <li>Rapid reviews</li> </ul>	Was the market shaping approach adopted sufficiently powered and implemented to meet initial expectations on vaccine manufacturing and pricing?	Have market shaping activities been well implemented, with expectations and targets met in a timely manner, to ensure COVID- 19 vaccines are accessible and affordable for lower-income countries?	Was the market shaping approach adopted and implemented sufficient to facilitate achievement of intended outcomes and impact?	<ul> <li>Wider global health community, including CSOs</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Sufficient 'market power', tools and processes to influence supply and secure rapid access to adequate vaccines</li> <li>Demonstrated influence on supply and supply expansion</li> <li>Coordination with other stakeholders appropriate and adequate</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Process tracing</li> <li>Root cause analysis</li> <li>Comparator analysis (intro. of ART, and other Gavi/UNICEF market shaping efforts)</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Info systems</li> <li>Document review</li> <li>KIIs</li> <li>Web-survey</li> <li>Comparator case studies</li> </ul>
	2.2.3	To what extent have the COVAX Facility and AMC supported procurement and delivery functions to ensure that COVID- 19 vaccines are provided to	<ul> <li>Baseline</li> <li>Midterm</li> <li>End- term</li> <li>Rapid reviews</li> </ul>	Was the role of the COVAX Facility and AMC clearly articulated, agreed and implemented to support procurement and delivery functions?	Has the role of the COVAX Facility and AMC sufficient been successfully implemented to support procurement and delivery	Was the role of the COVAX Facility and AMC sufficient and appropriate to support procurement and delivery functions, and provide		<ul> <li>Roles and responsibilities well established</li> <li>Coordination with other stakeholders appropriate</li> <li>Adaptation in response to evolving context</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Process tracing</li> <li>Root cause analysis</li> <li>Country cross-case analysis</li> <li>Comparator analysis</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Info systems</li> <li>Document review</li> <li>KIIs</li> <li>Web-survey</li> <li>Country case studies</li> </ul>

224	participants as planned?		How well has this worked to date?	functions, and provide COVID- 19 vaccines to participants as planned?	COVID-19 vaccines to participants as planned?	<ul> <li>Doses procured/purchased and shipped to delivery points in timely manner to meet targets/ expectations</li> </ul>	(PAHO Revolving Fund, and Gavi/UNICEF business as usual)	Comparator case studies
2.2.4	the COVAX Facility and AMC supported the operationalization of the allocation mechanism to ensure a fair and equitable distribution of COVID-19 vaccines?	<ul> <li>Baseline</li> <li>Midterm</li> <li>Rapid reviews</li> </ul>	the allocation mechanism design been reviewed, adjusted, and operationalized? Does this appear likely to ensure a fair and equitable distribution of COVID-19 vaccines?	allocation mechanism been operationalized and modified, as needed, and what progress is being made to ensure a fair and equitable distribution of COVID-19 vaccines?	Has the allocation mechanism been successfully operationalized to ensure a fair and equitable distribution of COVID-19 vaccines?	<ul> <li>Barriers and enablers to equitable allocation are widely communicated and understood</li> <li>Coordination between stakeholders appropriate</li> <li>Barriers to equitable allocation identified and addressed</li> <li>Equitable allocation, aligned to country needs and preference</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Process tracing</li> <li>Root cause analysis</li> <li>Country cross-case analysis</li> <li>Comparator analysis (PPE or C-19 treatments through ACT- A, and H1N1)</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Klis/FGDS</li> <li>Web-survey</li> <li>Info systems</li> <li>Document review</li> <li>Country case studies</li> </ul>
2.2.5	To what extent have the COVAX Facility and AMC supported CRD to facilitate the rollout of COVID-19 vaccines at the scale required to achieve intended outcomes and impact?	<ul> <li>Baseline</li> <li>Midterm</li> <li>Rapid reviews</li> </ul>	Was the role of Gavi and the COVAX Facility and AMC vis- à-vis CRD clearly articulated, agreed and implemented in a timely manner?	To what extent has the COVAX Facility and AMC provided sufficient, timely and appropriate support to ensure CRD for the rollout of COVID-19 vaccines? Does this appear likely to facilitate achievement of intended outcomes and impact?	To what extent has the COVAX Facility and AMC's support for CRD enabled the rollout of COVID-19 vaccines and the achievement of intended outcomes and impact?	<ul> <li>Barriers and enablers to CRD are understood</li> <li>CRD support systems and tools facilitate and enable TA and finance provision in accordance with plans and expectations</li> <li>CRD designed to add value and meet country needs</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Process tracing</li> <li>Root cause analysis</li> <li>Country cross-case analysis</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>KIIs/FGDs</li> <li>Web-survey</li> <li>Information systems</li> <li>Document review</li> <li>Country case studies</li> </ul>

		Core EQs (Bold =			Stage-specific EQs					
module	EQ	headline evaluation question)	When	Formative review and baseline study	Mid-term	End-term	Primary users	performance	methods	Data sources
3. Right results: Outcomes and impact	3	To what extent have the COVAX Facility and AMC contributed to the achievement of intended outcomes and impact within the geopolitical and economic landscape?	<ul> <li>Baseline</li> <li>Midterm</li> <li>End- term</li> <li>Rapid reviews</li> </ul>	What initial COVAX Facility and AMC results have been achieved and to what extent are intended outcomes and impacts on track to being achieved?	What results have been achieved to date and how has the COVAX Facility and AMC contributed to them within the global geopolitical and economic landscape? What are factors enabling and constraining success?	What results have been achieved, and how has the COVAX Facility and AMC contributed to them within the global geopolitical and economic landscape? What factors have enabled and/or constrained results?		<ul> <li>Intended results have been achieved, or are likely to be achieved in a timely manner</li> <li>Positive contribution to observed results vis-à-vis the role of others</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Verification of COVAX</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>KIIs/FGDs</li> <li>Document review</li> </ul>
	3.1	To what extent have intended intermediate outcomes been achieved?	<ul> <li>Baseline</li> <li>Midterm</li> <li>End- term</li> <li>Rapid reviews</li> </ul>	To what extent does the early emerging evidence suggest that intended intermediate outcomes across the programmatic areas of the ToC are likely to be achieved?	To what extent have intermediate outcomes been achieved at the mid- term, and are likely to be fully achieved by the end-term?	To what extent have intended intermediate outcomes been achieved?	<ul> <li>Board &amp; PPC</li> <li>Office of COVAX Facility</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Intended results have been achieved, or are likely to be</li> </ul>	Framework indicator data Outward-in process tracing Root cause analysis	<ul> <li>Info systems</li> <li>Web- survey</li> <li>Country case studies</li> </ul>
	3.2	To what extent have the COVAX Facility and AMC intended outcomes and goals been achieved?	<ul> <li>Midterm</li> <li>End- term</li> <li>Rapid reviews</li> </ul>	To what extent does the early emerging evidence suggest that intended outcomes and goals are likely to be achieved?	To what extent have intended outcomes and goals been achieved at the mid- term, and are likely to be fully achieved by the end-term?	To what extent have intended outcomes and goals been achieved?	<ul> <li>COVAX</li> <li>COVAX</li> <li>implementing</li> <li>partners</li> <li>COVAX</li> <li>participants</li> <li>Wider global</li> <li>basith</li> </ul>	achieved in a timely manner		
	3.3	What is the evidence to suggest that the COVAX Facility and AMC incurred unintended consequences and results beyond the ToC, and what were the implications?	<ul> <li>Baseline</li> <li>Midterm</li> <li>End- term</li> <li>Rapid reviews</li> </ul>	What emerging evidence is there to suggest unintended consequences and results beyond the ToC?	What evidence is there to suggest unintended consequences and results beyond the ToC?	What were the unintended consequences and results beyond the ToC, and what were the implications?	community, including CSOs	<ul> <li>Unintended consequences are understood and responded to</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Outward-in process tracing</li> <li>Root cause analysis</li> <li>Synthesis of findings to identify unintended consequences</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>KIIs/FGDs</li> <li>Document review</li> <li>Info systems</li> <li>Web- survey</li> <li>Country case studies</li> <li>Survey</li> </ul>
	3.4	How have the COVAX Facility and AMC contributed to achievement of outcomes and impacts within the global geopolitical and economic landscape?	<ul> <li>Midterm</li> <li>End- term</li> <li>Rapid reviews</li> </ul>	To what extent does the early emerging evidence suggest that the COVAX Facility and AMC is likely to contribute to achievement of outcomes and impacts within the global geopolitical	To what extent has the COVAX Facility and AMC contributed, and is likely to continue, to achievement of outcomes and impacts within the global geopolitical	How have the COVAX Facility and AMC contributed to achievement of outcomes and impacts within the global geopolitical and economic landscape?		<ul> <li>Positive contribution to observed results vis-à-vis the role of others</li> <li>Reasons for strong / weak contribution are understood</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Contribution analysis</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>KIIs/FGDs</li> <li>Document review</li> <li>Info systems</li> <li>Web- survey</li> <li>Country case studies</li> </ul>

#### Classified as Internal

3.5	What are the most important barriers and enablers to achieving the outcomes and goals in the COVAX	<ul> <li>Baseline</li> <li>Midterm</li> <li>End-</li> </ul>	and economic landscape? What does the early emerging evidence suggest are barriers and enablers to achieving results?	and economic landscape of actors? What are the most important barriers and enablers to achieving the outromes and goals	What were the most important barriers and enablers to achieving the outcomes and goals	<ul> <li>Barriers and enablers are</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Synthesis of findings to</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>KIIs/FGDs</li> <li>Document review</li> <li>Info systems</li> </ul>
	ToC at all levels of implementation?	term Rapid reviews		in the COVAX ToC?	in the COVAX ToC?	understood and responded to	barriers and enablers	<ul> <li>Web- survey</li> <li>Country case studies</li> </ul>

					Stage-specific EQs			Critoria for		
Evaluation module	EQ #	EQs (Bold = headline evaluation question)	When	Formative review and baseline study	Mid-term evaluations	End-term evaluation	Primary users	judging performance	Analytical methods	Data sources
4. Learning	4	What lessons can be drawn from the design and implementation of the COVAX Facility and AMC? What are the most important	<ul> <li>Baseline</li> <li>Midter m</li> <li>End- term</li> <li>Rapid reviews</li> </ul>	emerging lessons from the designthe design and implementation of the COVAX Facility and COVAXare there from the COVAXinclude the COVAXBaselineandAMC that have implications for course correction, Gavi 5.0, and future pandemic responses?Facility and that haveimplementationMidterof the COVAXfuture pandemic responses?that have implicationsimplementation implicationsimplementation termCOVAX AMC thatfor course correction, and for courseimplications for courseimplementation implicationsimplementation implicationsRapidhave implications for coursefor course Gavi 5.0, and futureBoard & PPCimplementation generated, collated and Facilityreviewsfor course correction and Gavi 5.0?implementation futureimplementic responses?implementic responses?What are theWhat lessons can be drawn from emorging lessonsWhat lessons ten design and implementation of are the design and implementation of emorging lessonsWhat lessons ten design and implementation of are the design and implementation of are the design and implementation of emorging lessonswhat have from are the design and implementation of are the design and implementation of 	<ul> <li>Synthesis and prioritisatio</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>KIIs/FGDs</li> </ul>				
	1	lessons learned through design and implementation experience that have implications for COVAX Facility and AMC course correction?	<ul> <li>Baseline</li> <li>Midter</li> <li>End- term</li> <li>Rapid reviews</li> </ul>	emerging lessons from the design and implementation of the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC that have implications for course correction?	the design and implementation of the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC that have implications for course correction?	are there from the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC that have implications for course correction?	g partners COVAX participants	g of how lessons can be applied to COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC and/or other contexts understood	n of lessons learned Sense- making workshops Country cross-case analysis	<ul> <li>Document review</li> <li>Stakeholde r workshops</li> <li>Web- survey</li> </ul>
	4. 2	What are the most important lessons learned through design and implementation experience that have implications for Gavi 5.0?	<ul> <li>Midter m</li> <li>End- term</li> <li>Rapid reviews</li> </ul>	What are the emerging lessons from the design and implementatio n of the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC that have	What lessons can be drawn from the design and implementation of the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC that have implications for Gavi 5.0?	What lessons are there from the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC that have implications for Gavi 5.0?	<ul> <li>Board &amp; PPC</li> </ul>			

			implications for					
			Gavi 5.0?					
4. 3	What are the most important lessons learned through design and implementation experience that have implications for future pandemic responses?	<ul> <li>Midter m</li> <li>End- term</li> <li>Rapid reviews</li> </ul>	This area is intentionally blank as the main focus of learning for this formative review and baseline is on more immediate COVAX course correction.	What lessons can be drawn from the design and implementation of the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC that have implications for future pandemic responses?	What lessons are there from the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC that have implications for future pandemic responses?	<ul> <li>Global health community</li> </ul>		
4. 4	What can be learned from other agencies/arrangements/context s and applied to the COVAX Facility and/or AMC for the achievement of intended outcomes and impact?	<ul> <li>Baseline</li> <li>Midter</li> <li>End-term</li> <li>Rapid</li> <li>reviews</li> </ul>	Which agencies, arrangements and contexts are most likely to provide useful learning for different aspects (design, operational, programmatic) of the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC, and what can we learn from them?	What can be learned from other agencies/arrangements/context s and applied to the COVAX Facility and/or AMC for the achievement of outcomes and impact?	What lessons are there from the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC and other agencies, arrangement s and contexts for future pandemic response efforts?	<ul> <li>Board &amp; PPC</li> <li>Office of COVAX</li> </ul>		
4.5	What can be learned from a comparison of countries' experiences of securing maximum possible vaccination supply and coverage, and applied to the COVAX Facility and/or AMC for the achievement of intended outcomes and impact?	<ul> <li>Baseline</li> <li>Midter</li> <li>Midter</li> <li>End-</li> <li>term</li> <li>Rapid</li> <li>reviews</li> </ul>	What can be learned from an initial comparison of countries' experiences of securing maximum possible vaccination supply and coverage, and applied to the COVAX Facility and AMC for the achievement of outcomes and impact?	What can be learned from a comparison of countries' experiences of securing maximum possible vaccination supply and coverage, and applied to the COVAX Facility and AMC for the achievement of outcomes and impact?	What lessons are there from the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC and countries' experiences of securing maximum possible vaccination supply and coverage for future pandemic response efforts?	<ul> <li>Facility</li> <li>COVAX implementin g partners</li> <li>COVAX participants</li> </ul>		

# Annex 11: Formative review and baseline study evaluation framework

Table 21 - Formative review and baseline study evaluation framework

EQ #	Stage-specific questions	Key issues for consideration	Primary users	Criteria for judging performance	Analytical methods	Data sources
1	Given the uncertain nature of the emerging pandemic, was the COVAX Facility and AMC design developed in an evidence based and coherent manner to maximize the chances for success?	<ul> <li>Design choices to be a global purchasing and allocation mechanism (including SFPs)</li> <li>Market shaping strategies employed</li> <li>Design of AMC</li> <li>Operationalizing the allocation mechanism based on principles of equity and fairness</li> <li>Relative balance between focus on scaling vaccine procurement and scaling country-level delivery</li> </ul>		<ul> <li>Design, evidence and assumptions clearly documented</li> <li>Options and trade-offs considered</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>ToC construction, incorporating history of decisions</li> </ul>	
1.1	To what extent is the overall design of the COVAX Facility and AMC and specific strategies clearly justified and documented, including the evidence base, and assumptions related to causal links between outcomes? Is the overall design clear and coherent?	<ul> <li>ToC and intervention logic evidence base and assumptions</li> <li>Problem/context analysis, recognizing dynamic market, geopolitical and epidemiological context</li> <li>Alignment to COVAX vaccine pillar and ACT-A</li> <li>Roles, responsibilities and ways of working between organizations</li> <li>Other strategic options and trade-offs considered and documented</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Board &amp; PPC</li> <li>Office of COVAX Facility</li> <li>COVAX implementing partners</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Strong and broad-based support for selected design</li> <li>Selected design coherent, well justified and in line with (a) COVAX principles, aims and strategies; and (b) global needs</li> <li>Evidence of design revisions in response to evidence of</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>and timeline analysis</li> <li>Political economy analysis</li> <li>Benchmarking of design decisions against process criteria</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>KIIs</li> <li>FGDs</li> <li>Document review</li> <li>Stakeholder</li> </ul>
1.2	How has the design shifted over time based on the evolving pandemic and geopolitical context, and based on what justification and evidence?	<ul> <li>Articulation of prevailing context</li> <li>Mapping of adaptation and modification to ToC, and justification provided, including evidence base and assumptions</li> <li>Other strategic options and trade-offs considered and documented</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>COVAX participants</li> <li>Wider global health community,</li> </ul>	what works and evolving context		workshops • Web-survey • Country case studies
1.3	How were external stakeholders and COVAX partners contribute to the original design of the COVAX Facility and AMC, and what impact did this have?	<ul> <li>Mapping of key stakeholders by programmatic area</li> <li>Power asymmetries between stakeholders</li> <li>Identification of opportunity for meaningful engagement by different constituency groups</li> </ul>	including CSOs	<ul> <li>Equity in design process</li> <li>Evidence of broad-based inputs influencing design</li> <li>Broad-based support for selected design</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Stakeholder analysis</li> <li>Political economy analysis</li> </ul>	
1.4	Are design revisions needed to inform course correction to facilitate short-term progress and results?	<ul> <li>Alternative strategic options and trade-offs</li> <li>'Path dependencies' for design revisions to be successful</li> </ul>		<ul> <li>Evidence that current design is sub-optimal for present context</li> <li>Alternative options, trade- offs and path dependencies analyzed and justified</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Synthesis of analysis and findings from other EQs</li> </ul>	

EQ #	Stage-specific questions	Key issues for consideration	Primary users	Criteria for judging performance	Analytical methods	Data sources
2	Have the COVAX Facility and AMC been successfully set up and implemented thus far? Are COVAX Facility and AMC operations suitable and appropriate, and been successfully set up and implemented thus far?	Synthesis of operational and programmatic issues analyzed through sub-questions below Synthesis of operational issues analyzed through sub- questions below	_	<ul> <li>Activities implemented in accordance with plans and expectations</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Synthesis of analysis and findings from EQs 2.1–2.2</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Document review</li> <li>KIIs/FGDs</li> <li>Web-survey</li> <li>Comparator case studies</li> </ul>
2.1.1	Are the COVAX Facility and AMC management structures and governance arrangements suitable and appropriate for a new entity working in an emergency setting?	<ul> <li>Evolution of management and governance structures</li> <li>Whether and how management structures and governance arrangements have enabled or hampered programmatic implementation and results</li> <li>Staff availability and working conditions</li> </ul>	a Decid & DDC	<ul> <li>The right capabilities, culture and practices are in place to enable implementation</li> <li>Agreed governance principles followed as intended</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Benchmarking to capability, culture and practice framework</li> <li>History of decisions and timeline analysis</li> <li>Process tracing</li> <li>Root cause analysis</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>KIIs/FGDs</li> <li>Document review</li> <li>Web-survey</li> </ul>
2.1.2	Are risk management systems, processes and capacities suitable and appropriate for dealing with the inherent risks associated with the COVAX Facility and AMC mandate?	<ul> <li>Level of risk assumed by Gavi on behalf of COVAX</li> <li>Identification and mitigation of financial and programmatic challenges and risks</li> <li>Whether and how risk management has enabled or hampered programmatic implementation and results</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Board &amp; PPC</li> <li>Office of COVAX Facility</li> <li>COVAX implementing partners</li> <li>COVAX participants</li> <li>Wider global health community, including CSOs</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Principles are in place to manage the effects of uncertainty on objectives</li> <li>Risk management is integrated into activities and functions</li> <li>Policies, procedures and practices are systematically applied</li> <li>Financial and programmatic risks are identified in a timely manner and mitigated</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Risk management benchmark assessment</li> <li>Timeline analysis</li> <li>Comparator analysis (Gavi business as usual)</li> <li>Process tracing</li> <li>Root cause analysis</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Document review</li> <li>KIIs</li> <li>Comparator case studies</li> </ul>
2.1.3	Were the initial set up costs for the COVAX Facility and AMC reasonable and appropriate for the organization mandate and proposed scale of operations?	<ul> <li>Costs incurred by Gavi in set up of COVAX Facility and AMC</li> </ul>	-	<ul> <li>Set-up costs are at or below relevant benchmarks</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Costing analysis for core processes</li> <li>Comparator analysis (Gavi Secretariat and other GHIs)</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Document review</li> <li>KIIs/FGDs</li> <li>Comparator case studies</li> </ul>
2.1.4	How were external stakeholders and COVAX partners engaged in the early implementation of the COVAX Facility and AMC, and how did this guide decision making to support governance, management and implementation?	<ul> <li>Presence and implementation of stakeholder engagement plan</li> <li>Processes to ensure coherence and co-ordination across partners (e.g. within COVAX, other ACT A pillars, HSRC, IFIs and regional organizations and mechanisms)</li> <li>Whether and how stakeholder engagement enabled or hampered programmatic implementation and results</li> </ul>		<ul> <li>Equity in decision making</li> <li>Governance and management arrangements support participation and engagement of all relevant stakeholders in key processes</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Stakeholder analysis</li> <li>Benchmarking to established standards</li> <li>Comparator analysis (Gavi business as usual)</li> <li>Process tracing</li> <li>Root cause analysis</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Document review</li> <li>KIIs/FGDs</li> <li>Stakeholder survey</li> <li>Comparator case studies</li> </ul>

EQ #	Stage-specific questions	Key issues for consideration	Primary users	Criteria for judging performance	Analytical methods	Data sources
2.2	Have COVAX Facility and AMC programmatic areas been successfully set up and implemented thus far?	<ul> <li>Synthesis of programmatic issues analyzed through sub-questions below</li> <li>For all sub-questions, consideration of the respective roles and contributions of all COVAX implementing partners to implementation</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Board &amp; PPC</li> <li>Office of COVAX Facility</li> <li>COVAX implementing</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Activities implemented in accordance with plans and expectations</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Synthesis of analysis/findings from other EQs</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Document review</li> <li>KIIs/FGDs</li> <li>Stakeholder workshops</li> </ul>
2.2.1	Was a persuasive and appropriate resource mobilization strategy articulated to secure adequate resources for full and timely implementation of intended activities? To what extent were initial expectations and targets met in a timely manner?	<ul> <li>Presence of investment case</li> <li>Use of innovative financing mechanisms</li> <li>Sufficiency of resources mobilized to allow for the ToC to be operationalized as intended and in a timely manner</li> <li>Evolution of strategy in response to context (e.g. collaboration with World Bank, incorporating donations, cost-sharing for procurement and in-country delivery, and the emergence of new procurement platforms such as AVAT</li> </ul>	partners COVAX participants Wider global health community	<ul> <li>Consensus amongst stakeholders on strength of investment case</li> <li>Resources mobilized as planned/required to operationalize the ToC</li> <li>Evidence of adaptation in response to evolving context</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Quantitative analysis of financial data</li> <li>Process tracing</li> <li>Root cause analysis</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Web-survey</li> <li>Comparator case studies</li> <li>Country case studies</li> <li>Info systems</li> </ul>
2.2.2	Was the market shaping approach adopted sufficiently powered and implemented to meet initial expectations on vaccine manufacturing and pricing, and to secure supply?	<ul> <li>Presence of systems, processes, capacities and tools to deliver market shaping objectives</li> <li>Contextual barriers or enablers to the involvement and influence of the COVAX Facility and AMC in market shaping</li> <li>Strengths and weaknesses of APAs to achieve the desired outcomes given the changing landscape</li> <li>Trade-offs between the range of market objectives</li> <li>Coordination/communication with participants</li> <li>Implementation course-corrections required</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>COVAX implementing partners</li> <li>COVAX participants</li> <li>Wider global health community</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Sufficient 'market power', tools and processes to influence supply and secure access vaccines</li> <li>Influence on supply</li> <li>Coordination with other stakeholders appropriate and adequate</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Process tracing</li> <li>Root cause analysis</li> <li>Comparator analysis (intro. of ART, and other Gavi/UNICEF market shaping efforts)</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Info systems</li> <li>Document review</li> <li>KIIs</li> <li>Web-survey</li> <li>Comparator case studies</li> </ul>
2.2.3	Was the role of the COVAX Facility and AMC clearly articulated, agreed and implemented to support procurement and delivery functions? How well has this worked to date?	<ul> <li>Clarity of roles and responsibilities</li> <li>Approaches used to coordinate with other partners</li> <li>Evolution of procurement and delivery processes to respond to the changing context and needs (e.g. managing donations, humanitarian buffer, SFPs)</li> <li>Processes to coordinate between securing APAs and the later stages of procurement and delivery of doses</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>COVAX implementing partners</li> <li>COVAX participants</li> <li>Wider global health community</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Roles and responsibilities well established</li> <li>Coordination with other stakeholders appropriate</li> <li>Adaptation in response to evolving context</li> <li>Doses procured/purchased and shipped to delivery points in timely manner to meet targets/expectations</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Process tracing</li> <li>Root cause analysis</li> <li>Country cross-case analysis</li> <li>Comparator analysis (PAHO Revolving Fund, and Gavi/UNICEF business as usual)</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Info systems</li> <li>Document review</li> <li>KIIs</li> <li>Web-survey</li> <li>Country case studies</li> <li>Comparator case studies</li> </ul>
2.2.4	To what extent has the allocation mechanism design been reviewed, adjusted, and operationalized? Does this appear likely to ensure a fair and equitable distribution of COVID- 19 vaccines?	<ul> <li>Stakeholder engagement</li> <li>Coordination with partners to operationalize the allocation approach</li> <li>Distribution of volumes consistent with the allocation mechanism</li> <li>Alignment of vaccine distribution to country needs and preferences (e.g. presentation, expiry date)</li> <li>Alternative options and trade-offs</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Board &amp; PPC</li> <li>Office of COVAX Facility</li> <li>COVAX implementing partners and participants</li> <li>Wider GH community</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Barriers and enablers to equitable allocation are widely communicated and understood</li> <li>Coordination between stakeholders appropriate</li> <li>Barriers to equitable allocation identified and addressed</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Process tracing</li> <li>Root cause analysis</li> <li>Country cross-case analysis</li> <li>Comparator analysis (PPE or C- 19 treatments through ACT-A, and H1N1)</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>KIIs/FGDs</li> <li>Web-survey</li> <li>Info systems</li> <li>Document review</li> <li>Country case studies</li> </ul>

				<ul> <li>Equitable allocation, aligned to country needs and preference</li> </ul>		
2.2.5	Was the role of Gavi and the COVAX Facility and AMC vis-à-vis CRD clearly articulated, agreed and implemented in a timely manner?	<ul> <li>Prioritization of CRD vis-à-vis other programmatic areas over time</li> <li>Presence of systems, processes and capacities to assess and support CRD, including country readiness assessments</li> <li>Coordination with stakeholders for achievement of joint results</li> <li>Country comms on vaccine availability and allocation decisions</li> <li>Alignment of TA and sufficiency of resource envelope to meet country needs</li> <li>Presence of feedback loops to identify and address lessons learned and adapt ways of working</li> <li>Timeliness of disbursements</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Board &amp; PPC</li> <li>Gavi Sec + Office of COVAX Facility</li> <li>COVAX implementing partners and participants</li> <li>Wider GH community</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Barriers and enablers to CRD are understood</li> <li>CRD support systems and tools facilitate and enable TA and finance provision in accordance with plans and expectations</li> <li>CRD designed to add value and meet country needs</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Process tracing</li> <li>Root cause analysis</li> <li>Country cross-case analysis</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>KIIs/FGDs</li> <li>Web-survey</li> <li>Information systems</li> <li>Document review</li> <li>Country case studies</li> </ul>

EQ #	Stage-specific questions	Key issues for consideration	Primary users	Criteria for judging performance	Analytical methods	Data sources
3	What initial COVAX Facility and AMC results have been achieved and to what extent are intended outcomes and impacts on track to being achieved?	<ul> <li>Synthesis of issues analyzed through sub-questions below</li> <li>Analysis of global geopolitical and economic landscape of actors involved in the delivery of COVID-19 vaccines</li> </ul>			<ul> <li>Verification of COVAX</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>KIIs/FGDs</li> <li>Document</li> </ul>
3.1	To what extent does the early emerging evidence suggest that intended intermediate outcomes across the programmatic areas of the ToC are likely to be achieved?	<ul> <li>Verification and triangulation of Monitoring and Reporting Framework data on intermediate outcomes across the programmatic areas of the ToC (i.e. market shaping, procurement and delivery, equitable allocation and CRD)</li> </ul>	Board & PPC     Gffice of	<ul> <li>Intended results have been achieved, or are likely to be achieved in a timely manner</li> </ul>	Framework indicator data Outward-in process tracing	review Info systems Web-survey Country case studies
3.2	To what extent does the early emerging evidence suggest that intended outcomes and goals are likely to be achieved?	<ul> <li>Verification and triangulation of Monitoring and Reporting Framework data on outcomes and goals, including 1) delivery to countries, 2) number of persons vaccinated, 3) equitable access</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>COVAX Facility</li> <li>COVAX implementing</li> </ul>		analysis	
3.3	What emerging evidence is there to suggest unintended consequences and results beyond the ToC?	<ul> <li>Effects of the COVAX Facility and AMC on routine immunization efforts?</li> <li>Other unintended consequences and results</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>COVAX participants</li> <li>Wider global health community, including CSOs</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Unintended consequences are understood and responded to</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Outward-in process tracing</li> <li>Root cause analysis</li> <li>Synthesis of findings to identify unintended consequences</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>KIIs/FGDs</li> <li>Document review</li> <li>Info systems</li> <li>Web-survey</li> <li>Country case studies</li> <li>Survey</li> </ul>
3.4	To what extent does the early emerging evidence suggest that the COVAX Facility and AMC is likely to contribute to achievement of outcomes and impacts within the global	<ul> <li>Consideration of the role of Gavi and Office of the COVAX Facility vis-à-vis other COVAX implementing partners and stakeholders working for the achievement of common outcomes and impact</li> </ul>		<ul> <li>Positive intermediate outcomes in countries securing supply from COVAX</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Contribution analysis</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>KIIs/FGDs</li> <li>Document review</li> <li>Info systems</li> <li>Web-survey</li> </ul>

geopolitical and economic landscape?		Evidence of COVAX Facility     and COVAX AMC	<ul> <li>Country case studies</li> </ul>
		contribution to outcomes	
What does the early emerging evidence suggest are barriers enablers to achieving results? 3.5	<ul> <li>Review and synthesis of barriers and enablers identified through literature and in conducting the formative review and baseline study</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Barriers and enablers are understood and responded to</li> <li>Synthesis of findings to identify barriers and enablers</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>KIIs/FGDs</li> <li>Document review</li> <li>Info systems</li> <li>Web-survey</li> <li>Country case studies</li> </ul>

EQ #	Stage-specific questions	Key issues for consideration	Primary users	Criteria for judging performance	Analytical methods	Data sources
4	What are the emerging lessons from the design and implementation of the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC that have implications for course correction and Gavi 5.0?	Synthesis and prioritization of lessons learned	<ul> <li>Board &amp; PPC</li> <li>Office of COVAX Facility</li> <li>COVAX</li> <li>implementing</li> </ul>			
4.1	What are the emerging lessons from the design and implementation of the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC that have implications for course correction?	<ul> <li>Specific areas for learning are posed in Section 4.1.6 and Annex 16</li> </ul>	partners COVAX participants			
4.2	What are the emerging lessons from the design and implementation of the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC that have implications for Gavi 5.0?	<ul> <li>Specific areas for learning are posed in Section 4.1.6 and Annex 16</li> </ul>	Board & PPC	<ul> <li>Lessons are generated, collated and disseminated</li> <li>Understanding of how</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Synthesis and prioritization of lessons learned</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>KIIs/FGDs</li> <li>Document</li> </ul>
4.4	Which agencies, arrangements and contexts are most likely to provide useful learning for different aspects (design, operational, programmatic) of the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC, and what can we learn from them?	<ul> <li>Review and synthesis of learning generated from comparator analyses conducted across formative review and baseline study</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Board &amp; PPC</li> <li>Office of COVAX Facility</li> <li>COVAX implementing partners and participants</li> </ul>	lessons can be applied to COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC and/or other contexts understood	<ul> <li>Sense-making workshops</li> <li>Country cross-case analysis</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Stakeholder workshops</li> <li>Web-survey</li> </ul>
4.5	What can be learned from an initial comparison of countries' experiences of securing maximum possible vaccination supply and coverage, and applied to the COVAX Facility and AMC for the achievement of outcomes and impact?	<ul> <li>Identification of outliers from cross-country portfolio analysis</li> <li>Analysis of underlying reasons for observed differences, including how countries across the income spectrum have responded to the realities of sourcing vaccines differently, and which agencies and/or arrangements each has drawn down on, or not, and why</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Board &amp; PPC</li> <li>Office of COVAX Facility</li> <li>COVAX implementing partners and participants</li> </ul>			

# Annex 12: Analytical methods per evaluation module

## A. Right things

#### ToC construction and history of decisions analysis

Each stage of the evaluation will start with an update of any revisions in overall and/or specific design since the last assessment. A comprehensive ToC will be constructed in a stakeholder workshop during the formative review and baseline study, including nested ToCs for program areas, assumptions and evidence base. Recognizing the responsiveness of the COVAX Facility and AMC design to an evolving context, every subsequent formative-summative evaluation exercise will include a ToC assessment and update, evaluating the relevance and coherence of design choices made in the interim, including the content and decisionmaking process of any revision.

#### **Political Economy Analysis**

We propose to use PEA as a tool to identify the political dimensions of designing and operationalizing the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC, and to analyze the appropriateness of the selected design within the context of the incentives, relationships, and distribution and contestation of power between the different stakeholders engaged and with interests in its design and operationalization.⁸⁹ The PEA will draw upon *stakeholder analysis* conducted within the formative review and baseline study to map the level of stakeholder influence against their alignment with COVAX principles, aims or strategies (e.g. urgency, equal access globally, joint procurement) and *timeline analysis* to generate a clear understanding of the specific contexts in which stakeholders were acting.

#### **Benchmarking design revisions**

To further the analysis of appropriateness, we propose to assess or benchmark the process of decision revisions against a set of criteria. This would seek to understand if/how equity and other considerations were inbuilt in the design revision process. The selected criteria could usefully be drawn from existing 'Benchmarks of fairness'⁹⁰ and 'Accountability for reasonableness'⁹¹ frameworks to include criteria such as 'transparency', 'consensus' and 'stakeholder participation'. Others will likely be applicable and could be agreed at the outset of the formative review and baseline study.

#### **B.** Right way

Evaluation approaches for EQs in the operational domain are as follows:

#### Benchmarking

A benchmark – what 'good' looked like – will be established through the use of best practice frameworks, norms and standards, adjusted to account for the unprecedented context in which COVAX was operating. This will provide a basis against which to assess (a) if the right systems, processes and resources were in place to implement the ToC as intended, in the prevailing context; and (b) the appropriateness of decision making over time. Drawing on a document review, comparator case studies and KIIs, predominantly at

⁸⁹ Mcloughlin, C. (2014). *Political Economy Analysis: Topic Guide (2nd Ed.)*. Governance and Social Development Resource Centre. https://gsdrc.org/wp-content/uploads/2015/07/PEA.pdf

⁹⁰ Developed by Daniels and Caplan as a policy tool to generate discussion on trade-offs in health policy. Daniels N., Light, D.W. and Caplan, R. L. (1996). *Benchmarks of Fairness for Health Care Reform*. Oxford University Press; Caplan, R. L., Light, D. W., & Daniels, N. (1999). *Benchmarks of Fairness: A Moral Framework for Assessing Equity*. International Journal of Health Services, 29 (4), 853–69. https://doi.org/10.2190/DBBU-WUC4-Y23L-4LEA

⁹¹ Daniels, N. and Sabin, J. (2006). *Limits to Health Care: Fair Procedures, Democratic Deliberation, and the Legitimacy Problem for Insurers*. Philosophy & Public Affairs, 26 (4), 303–50. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1088-4963.1997.tb00082.x

global level, this will cover the operational aspects of the ToC through the following frameworks, norms and standards:

Capability, culture and practice mapping

This will be used as a benchmark to assess the governance and management arrangements for EQ 2.1.1 in place to support the operations of the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC, in understanding the way accountability works in the relationship between key stakeholders at different levels, and the reasons/drivers for any failures or successes. The method draws on the approach used in Global Accountability Reports⁹² and the Multilateral Organisation Performance Assessment Network (MOPAN) 3.1 methodology,⁹³ as articulated in Figure 13 (below).





This provides a helpful framework to understand whether the right conditions are/were in place to best enable and support COVAX Facility and AMC operations. For instance, it may be that a good management structure and policy is in place and that there is a culture which would help promote adherence, but that there is some confusion in terms of responsibility or a lack of coordination between various internal actors, constraining success. Our initial impression is that there is some ambiguity and difference of opinion regarding roles and responsibilities in management arrangements, particularly between the Office of the COVAX Facility and wider Gavi Secretariat and other COVAX implementing partners, and also in some governance structures. Where issues are identified, a RACI (Responsible, Accountable, Consulted,

⁹² Based on the framing adopted in the Accountability Reports 2008 and 2011: Lloyd, R., Warren, S. and Hammer M. (2008). *2008 Global Accountability Report*. One World Trust. https://acfid.asn.au/sites/site.acfid/files/resource_document/Pathways-to-Accountability-II.pdf; Hammer M. and Lloyd R. (2011). *Pathways to Accountability II - The 2011 revised Global Accountability Framework*. One World Trust. http://www.oneworldtrust.org/uploads/1/0/8/9/108989709/2008_global_accountability_report.pdf

⁹³ https://www.mopanonline.org/ourwork/themopanapproach/Methodology_3.1_FinalUnformatted.pdf

Informed) analysis, drawing on the stakeholder mapping, may be used to test where accountability and responsibility sit within the relevant governance and management structures.⁹⁴

For the formative review and baseline study, this will involve an assessment of:

- *Capabilities* the extent to which procedures, mechanisms, processes and roles and responsibilities are clearly documented and distributed to stakeholders.
- *Culture* whether the attitudes and behaviors of staff, such as their perceptions of external stakeholders and how they interact with them, support capabilities.
- *Practices* whether there is any divergence between what is included in the formal documentation and what happens in practice.

For management specifically, we will draw on established literature to support the diagnosis of issues arising and solutions, such as Cross and Carboni's (2021) categorization of patterns of network connectivity and collaborative practices that lead to dysfunction which undermine performance.⁹⁵

For governance specifically, we will evaluate whether the key principles agreed upon by the COVAX implementing partners to guide good governance in the COVAX collaboration were followed as intended:⁹⁶

- Governance structures provide a comprehensive view on the investment of public funds, enabling the right decisions to be taken in a timely manner.
- Appropriate members are selected for critical advisory groups.
- Decision making is done in an impartial and fair manner, with appropriate consideration given to conflicts of interest, which are identified and managed appropriately.
- Information on critical discussions and progress is provided in a transparent and timely manner.

This assessment will likely be expanded in later stages of the evaluation.

#### Risk management analysis

The evaluative enquiry for EQ 2.1.2 will be focused on systematically documenting how risk management processes have been designed and delivered to comprehensively identify and prioritize financial and programmatic risks. This will include a detailed review of the risk assessment strategy documentation produced by the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC.

The design will be assessed against the ISO 3100:2018(en): 'Risk Management – Guidelines' as a benchmark comparison framework.⁹⁷ This exerts that managing risk is based on the principles, framework and process set out in Figure 14, where the:

• principles are the foundation for managing risk and should enable an organization to manage the effects of uncertainty on its objectives;

⁹⁴ RACI analysis would describe the participation of the various stakeholders in completing activities or deliverables for an organization's processes, and will plot this in terms of who is responsible, who is accountable, who is consulted and who is informed for each process. This is presented in a matrix and used to map where accountability and responsibility sit within an organization/management structure, as well as where gaps in roles and responsibilities may exist and/or where there are any apparent or real conflicts of interest. It would also be helpful to analyse how any tensions within the existing arrangements may shift as responsibilities and accountabilities move.

⁹⁵ Cross, R. and Carboni, I. (2021). When collaboration fails and how to fix it. MIT Sloan Management Review. Winter 2021.

⁹⁶ COVAX. (2020, 17 March). COVAX: The Vaccine Pillar of the access to COVID-19 tools (ACT) accelerator structure and principles.

⁹⁷ International Organization for Standardization. (2018). *Risk management — Guidelines*. (ISO Standard No. 31000:2018). https://www.iso.org/obp/ui/#iso:std:iso:31000:ed-2:v1:en

- framework assists the organization to integrate risk management into significant activities and functions, i.e. through its governance and management; and
- process ensures the systematic application of policies, procedures and practices to the activities of communicating and consulting, establishing the context and assessing, treating, monitoring, reviewing, recording and reporting risk.



Figure 14 – Components of the ISO risk management guidelines⁹⁸

This benchmark will be used to assess the design of the risk management function, considering the particular needs of operating within and seeking to address a public health emergency, and will also identify where issues have arisen and how these link to deficiencies in the design over time. This will be linked to the timeline analysis. For instance, key events include the appointment of Gavi as being the host and administrator for the COVAX Facility (30 July 2020); the establishment of the Gavi governance committee (8 October 2021); the news that the Serum Institute India announced delays in production (25 March 2021); and the COVAX global supply forecast release (8 September 2021).

The analysis will also benefit from comparison to Gavi's business and usual approach to risk management.

#### **Costing assessment**

For EQ 2.1.3 we will review the available documentation in order to understand the resource envelope approved by the Board to administer the Office of the COVAX Facility and the actual costs of implementing the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC, both in total and as a percentage of the total budget/expenditure, which will be benchmarked to various other agencies working in global health and emergency response.

If data is made available, we would also conduct a detailed costing analysis of some of the core processes implemented by the Office of the COVAX Facility. This would involve estimating the cost of specific core processes that are central to the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC ToC and mapping these out in detail (what has been done, by when and by whom, and allocating costs to different steps based on how long people spend delivering them and how many people are involved). This will create a visual representation

⁹⁸ International Organization for Standardization. (2018). *Risk management — Guidelines*. (ISO Standard No. 31000:2018). https://www.iso.org/obp/ui/#iso:std:iso:31000:ed-2:v1:en

of the process and provide a template for analysis of how these core processes work in practice, what works well, and where the biggest inefficiencies have been.

#### Analysis of stakeholder engagement and communication

Building on the stakeholder mapping and analysis under Module 1 to determine stakeholder engagement and influence in design processes, additional analysis will be conducted for EQ 2.1.4 to map the relationships, influence and interactions between stakeholders during implementation, and to assess the communications processes and functions. To assess whether the level of stakeholder engagement in implementation is appropriate, we propose to draw upon existing benchmark assessment analytical tools (such as the AA1000 Stakeholder Engagement Standard,⁹⁹ the MEASURE stakeholder engagement tool¹⁰⁰ and the Stakeholder Engagement Model)¹⁰¹ as well as relationship index tools (such as the Edelman Relationship Index)¹⁰² to develop a bespoke benchmark assessment tool which can be used to assess the level of stakeholder engagement as well as the quality of this engagement. The analysis will also benefit from comparison to Gavi's 'business as usual' approach to stakeholder engagement and the approaches adopted by other agencies working in global health and emergency response.

#### Box 3: Note on comparator analysis

As noted elsewhere in this section, comparator analysis will be used across both operational and programmatic areas of the ToC and will provide highly useful information if: (a) the comparator is highly relevant to the element of the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC being assessed; and (b) a detailed understanding can be gained on the specific, highly dynamic context that the operational structures and processes have operated in over time. Such analysis will be resource-intensive. For these reasons we will conduct only a few of the most relevant comparator analyses, focused on specific strategies or elements of the ToC. The proposal is for comparator analysis to be used in the following ways:

- To compare the cost of administering the Gavi Secretariat for implementation of the Gavi 5.0 Strategy to the cost of setting up the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC. This comparison may be expanded to capture the set-up costs of other global health and emergency response initiatives with a similar mandate and proposed scale of operations.
- To compare stakeholder engagement, risk management, market shaping and procurement and delivery approaches used for the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC to the Gavi approach to implementing the Gavi 5.0 Strategy.
- To compare the market shaping approaches used for the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC to the approach used for the introduction of antiretroviral therapy (ART).
- To compare the procurement and delivery approaches used for the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC to the approach used by the PAHO Revolving Fund.
- To compare the operationalization of the allocation mechanism for the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC to the approaches used for the allocation of PPE or COVID-19 treatments through ACT-A, and also for H1N1 vaccines.

⁹⁹ AccountAbility. AA1000 Series of Standards. https://www.accountability.org/standards/

¹⁰⁰ MEASURE Evaluation. *Stakeholder Engagement - An assessment and implementation tool for identifying stakeholders in a data collection initiative and engaging them as contributors and beneficiaries*. https://www.globalhealthlearning.org/sites/default/files/page-files/DDIU_Stakeholder_Engagement.pdf

¹⁰¹ Morphy, T. *Stakeholder Engagement - Definition and Overview*. Stakeholder Map. https://www.stakeholdermap.com/stakeholderengagement.html

¹⁰² Edelman. (2020). 2020 Edelman Trust Barometer. https://www.edelman.com/trust/2020-trust-barometer

At the start of the baseline and formative review, we will articulate the rationale and specific criteria used for selecting comparators. C4D Principles on generalization¹⁰³ will be used to guide how we gather, frame and present the learning from comparators.

#### **Process tracing**

Process tracing will be used for 'inward-out' analysis (complementing the 'outward-in' analysis proposed under Module 3 – right results), to follow the use of inputs and activities up to the achievement of outputs. It will look across the ToC, taking a 'monitoring data plus' approach – i.e. it will use existing monitoring data alongside additional verification. 'Testing' will involve gathering evidence on how well the programmatic components have been implemented against the ToC to contribute to change. For example, to inform question 2.2.4, Gavi and UNICEF procurement information and administration systems will be analyzed to see what data was collected, how timely and complete the information was and the extent to which Gavi analyzed this data against country information to monitor equitable allocation and administration to identify and address problems in a timely manner.

During the baseline and formative evaluation stage, the focus will be on tracing key activities related to specific programmatic areas, as well as linkages across programmatic areas (e.g. coordination between CRD assessments and allocation decisions). An overall analysis will then be conducted to understand, across the ToC, which components are working as intended and which are not. Root cause analysis will be used in a complementary way to explore how and why the theory is or is not working as intended.

#### **Root cause analysis**

We will use root cause analysis to further explore, analyze and understand the root causes underlying observed challenges or successes identified through a variety of triangulated data sources. Root cause analysis moves beyond identifying what challenges or successes have occurred towards helping to determine why a particular challenge or success has occurred.

Rather than using root cause analysis in isolation, it will be combined with other analytic methods (e.g. force field analysis) as part of the broader evaluation – functioning as a tool to help the evaluation better describe and interrogate cause and effect within processes. Following our experiences across a number of complex evaluations, we anticipate that issues/challenges amenable to root cause analysis will be observable from a number of data sources (document review, KIIs, etc.). This is likely to generate a long list of implementation issues that are viewed as important by stakeholders. The root cause analysis is then used to create prioritized lists of causes, based on their perceived importance to key stakeholders.

#### **C.** Right results

Verifying and use of COVAX Monitoring and Reporting Framework indicators

This method involves the triangulation and analysis of the COVAX Monitoring and Reporting Framework with other data (i.e. from documents, information systems and anecdotal reporting) as part of a process of verification. This will provide a rounded assessment on the extent to which intended results have been achieved. This will include an assessment of whether equity goals have been or are likely to be achieved. It will need to consider: the distribution of and access to vaccines across country income categories; the distribution of and access to vaccines between countries; and the distribution of and access to vaccines within countries, such as between geographical areas and population groups.

Gavi has already established a Monitoring and Reporting framework for COVAX, with a number of indicators – particularly those relating to higher-level impacts – still under development. Our evaluation

¹⁰³ https://www.betterevaluation.org/en/C4D-Hub/Synthesise/Generalise-findings

approach to right results proposes to harness relevant data from this framework, for example against output metrics 11 (percentage of COVAX participants administering COVAX-supported doses as part of their COVID-19 response), 12 (number of COVID-19 Vaccine Delivery Support requests approved) and 13 (total resources (USD) disbursed to AMC participants through the COVID-19 Vaccine Delivery Support program); and outcome metrics 15.0 and 15.1 (COVID-19 vaccination coverage supported by COVAX – aggregate percentage across total population of COVAX participant countries). As outlined in the EA findings for right results (see Annex 6), a number of the metrics require further thinking and the methodology behind them is still under development, e.g. impact metrics 18 (number of COVID-19 deaths averted) and 19 (proxy metrics related to social and economic impacts).

This assessment of results will provide a snapshot in time that will be used for comparison in later evaluation processes. It will also highlight areas of high and low performance within the portfolio, the reasons for which will be explored through EQ 4.5 on what can learned from different country experiences and applied to the COVAX Facility and/or COVAX AMC for the achievement of results.

#### **Outward-in process tracing**

In practice, for the evaluation this will mean testing the individual causal pathways outlined in the ToC to understand how the evaluand (the mechanism) is working in the prevailing context to facilitate the desired outcomes and impact.

This approach will build on the work conducted under Module 2 (right way) by following the stated results at outcome and impact levels back towards outputs, activities and inputs, in order to understand how and why change happens. This can be referred to as an 'outward-in' approach.

This method will be used iteratively, tracking backwards from the results repeatedly to refine and test the ToC causal pathways. This approach will provide an in-depth and nuanced understanding of how well the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC has worked to achieve results in the prevailing context over time. This approach is therefore suitable to the shifting realities and context of the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC, as it is dynamic and sensitive to changes in direction which may influence observed results and unintended consequences. The analysis will also enable identification of unintended consequences and barriers and enablers to the achievement of results.

Having tested the causal pathways across the programmatic components of the ToC, an overall analysis can be conducted on how these programmatic components have linked together and where and how the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC has played a role in influencing the achievement of observed outcomes and overall goals related to equity. This can then be synthesized to support analysis of the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC's contribution to results.

#### **Contribution analysis**

Contribution analysis is a method that was developed by John Mayne¹⁰⁴ and which is used to demonstrate a 'plausible association' and understand the likelihood that an intervention has contributed to an outcome observed, through a step-by-step process which explores how the contribution would have come about and which uses a broad range of evidence to test this.

The six steps involved are set out in Figure 15 (below).

¹⁰⁴ Mayne, J. 'Contribution Analysis: Addressing Cause and Effect' in K. Forss, M. Marra and R. Schwartz (eds.). (2011). *Evaluating the Complex*. Transaction Publishers. The full form of this methodology demands a number of repeat data collection rounds to build, test and strengthen the contribution story in an iterative way.





**Step 1: Delineate the causal issue and hypothesis to be tested.** Contribution analysis is appropriate for answering the EQs – notably EQs 3 and 3.4, which are concerned with the contribution of the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC to observed results.

**Step 2: Develop a ToC.** There are multiple types of ToC, and the type used in a given situation depends on what the theory is to be used for. Review of the contribution analysis literature, and discussion with people in the wider community of practice, points to using a ToC based on the 'drivers' that underpin a program and affect how it performs and what is delivered. There will be a series of underpinning drivers of the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC that explain how and why the program is implemented as it is, how it

performs and what results it delivers at global and country levels. These drivers need to be identified and then, if assessing the contribution of the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC is the main interest, it will be necessary to determine how what the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC have done interacts with these drivers; and this affects how they in turn influence what is implemented and how. For example, a number of country-specific contribution analyses of Global Fund support to the achievement of programmatic results identified drivers related to political and social commitment to service delivery, the presence of barriers to accessing services, and health systems issues, as well as the actions of development partners and the Global Fund in particular. As noted elsewhere in the report, a ToC is under development and will be completed at the outset of the formative review and baseline study.

**Step 3: Gather the existing evidence on the ToC.** A range of evidence, particularly in relation to documents and from information systems, has already been collected through the EA, although it will need to be updated to account for recent developments and to capture all parts of the ToC. Much will come from the process tracing work and root cause analysis, but we also expect to collect a significant amount of the evidence required through KIIs, focus group discussions and country case studies.

**Step 4: Assemble and assess the contribution story and challenges to it.** With the information and evidence assembled, a contribution story will be drafted that sets out why it is reasonable to assume that the actions of the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC and operation of the drivers have contributed to the observed outcomes. We then have to assess how credible this story is: will reasonable people agree with the story? Does the pattern of results observed validate the results chain? Where are the main weaknesses in the story? There always will be weaknesses: these point to where additional data or information is needed.

**Step 5: Seek out additional evidence.** Having identified where the contribution story is less credible, we will then gather additional evidence in terms of the results that have occurred, the reasonableness of key assumptions, and the role of external influences and other contributing factors.

**Step 6: Revise and, where the additional evidence permits, strengthen the contribution story.** With the new evidence, we should be able to build a more substantive and therefore more credible story – one that a reasonable person will be more likely to agree with. It will probably not be definitive, but the additional

evidence will have made it stronger and more plausible. Using a generative perspective, contribution analysis argues that a reasonable claim of causal contribution can be made if:

- There is a reasoned ToC: the key assumptions behind why change was expected to work make sense, are plausible, can be supported by evidence and/or existing research, and are agreed upon by at least some of the key players.
- The activities were implemented as set out in the ToC. This can be partly answered through the process mapping/nested ToC work.
- The ToC or key elements thereof is supported and confirmed by evidence on observed results and underlying assumptions. The chain of expected results occurred. The ToC has not been disproved.
- Other influencing factors have been assessed and *either* have been shown not to have made a
  significant contribution *or* their relative role in contributing to the desired result has been recognized.

It is anticipated that an increasing focus will be given to the 'right results' module, and to this method in particular, throughout the stages of the evaluation. Given the relatively early timeline of implementation and the clear appetite among stakeholders to understand the implications of design choices and implementation processes, the formative review and baseline study will involve a lighter-touch focus on outcomes and impacts and will not involve detailed contribution analysis.

## **D. Cross-cutting methods**

A number of methods will be applied across the scope of work, as follows:

## History of decisions and timeline analysis

As per Section 2.2, across all the EQs, in order to generate a clear understanding of the specific contexts in which operational structures and processes were implemented, there will need to be a forensic construction of a timeline for the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC operations for each of the stages under review. We have developed a preliminary version of a timeline as part of the EA in Annex 13. This will be further developed to provide a comprehensive overview of implementation decisions to date and the specific context in which these decisions were made and in which operational structures and processes were implemented. This will draw on secondary data and substantial qualitative data collection from the stakeholders engaged in implementation.

#### **Cross-case study analysis**

Case studies will be used across the EQs for the programmatic components of the ToC. Cross-case analysis will be used to draw lessons from across different country contexts, for example to identify enabling conditions and barriers to providing effective TA for CRD, depending on country-specific contextual factors. Cross-case analysis will also be useful to look across a broad spectrum of AMC countries (LICs and LMICs) and SFP countries (upper-middle-income countries (UMICs) and HICs) to understand, for instance, the extent to which vaccine allocation aligned with country needs and preferences, and the extent to which country readiness assessments were integrated into planning for allocation and procurement across different country cases.

#### **Synthesis**

As noted in Section 3.4.3, we expect synthesis to take place regularly and at multiple levels, including:

 Country case study level: Analysis of data and synthesis of findings at individual country case study level and across country case studies

- For specific EQs: This will provide responses to EQs related to identifing unintended consequences and barriers and enablers to desired changes
- *By module:* Analysis of data against individual EQs synthesized through the lenses of right things, right way, right results and learning
- By programmatic area: Analysis of data synthesized through the lenses of resource mobilization, market shaping, procurement and delivery, equitable allocation and CRD
- Cross-module: Analysis of data synthesized to identify overall strengths and weaknesses
- *For equity:* Synthesis to understand how equity has been considered in both the design of the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC (equity in process) and results achieved (equity in outcomes). (See Table 5)

The synthesis process should involve a series of steps to ensure a systematic, rigorous qualitative analysis:

**Step 1: Familiarization:** Team members review data collected, collate and analyse for each EQ, and familiarize themselves with the data, likely contained in evidence matrices and in drafted report sections. Notes are to be made on potential themes identified in this first round to inform coding, and clarifications raised with the other team members, as needed.

**Step 2: Generating an initial structural coding framework:** After the initial reading, a coding framework should be generated, based on the agreed ToC, EQs and broad areas of interest (see suggested synthesis levels above). Specialist coding software may facilitate data management for this process.

**Step 3: Iterative coding:** Team members code data for one or more EQs and identify emerging themes. Each EQ is coded by more than one team member, and, where there were differences in the coding, we reviewed this, discussed and reconciled (through further analysis if needed). This iterative process of coding and review serves to test the themes and discuss differences and interpretation against our original framework. To reconcile differences, problem tree analysis is conducted into cause and effect links. From this process, some new broader themes are likely to be identified, and codes consolidated into these. The broader themes are then tested and refined through a second round of coding and, where relevant, sub-themes are derived to reflect different dimensions within each theme. Broader themes are then tested and refined as needed.

**Step 4: Interpretation workshop:** Team members discuss the coded data and refine the themes and subthemes to arrive at agreed interpretations. The workshop process should follow a systematic approach to explore, challenge and consolidate the themes and findings – for instance:¹⁰⁵

1. **Determining how evidence is related:** identifying points of comparison or opposition within the reports and case studies, and identifying 'lines of argument' – inferences that cut across cases – through 'comparing and sorting interpretations, examining similarities and differences, and then integrating or framing these within a new interpretation' that applies across cases.¹⁰⁶

2. **Translation:** periodically revisiting the module reports and underlying data to attempt to 'translate' evolving concepts or themes back into the source data, checking to see how far they accurately reflected case study findings, and scrutinizing conceptual differences.

3. Juxtaposing insights from one report to make sense of a pattern noted in another.

4. **Reconciling** contradictory insights through unearthing differences that might lead to different outcomes.

 ¹⁰⁵ Noblit, G. W. and Hare, R. D. (1988). *Meta-ethnography: Synthesizing qualitative studies*. Newbury Park, Calif: Sage Publications.
 ¹⁰⁶ Pope, C., Mays, N. and Popay, J. (2007). *Synthesizing Qualitative and Quantitative Health Evidence: A Guide to Methods*. Maidenhead: Open University Press.

5. **Adjudicating** between contradictory findings from the reports to identify strengths and weaknesses in the original conclusions, and the strength of the underpinning evidence.

**Step 5: Drafting:** Team members each draft synthesized findings/conclusions/recommendations for one or more thematic areas, developing the interpretation further. The subsections are then reviewed and agreed by the wider team and integrated into the report.

It will also be important to work alongside the Office of the COVAX Facility to co-create conclusions and recommendations. These processes work best where stakeholders have seen draft findings in advance and have had an opportunity to provide initial comments. Allowing this before the workshop will help to ensure that stakeholders provide a more reflective perspective, which, based on our experience, generates a more conducive environment for thinking through overall conclusions and recommendations on how best to move forward. For the avoidance of doubt, while the co-creation process should help to build consensus on conclusions and recommendations, these should remain the responsibility of the independent evaluators, who must be free to reject suggestions of others if it is felt appropriate to do so.

Validation and prioritization of lessons learned

To validate and prioritize high quality lessons, we propose a lesson-learning *framework of criteria*¹⁰⁷ to provide a clear definition of what constitutes valid 'lessons learned'. In practice this means assessing the strength, importance and relevance of lessons emerging from formative-summative and rapid evaluation activity. See below (Table 22).

Criteria for good lessons learned development	How they can be applied in practice			
1. They are owned (by people who are ready to talk about them)	Ensuring COVAX team and other relevant stakeholder groups are engaged in exploring and adding depth/validation to lessons learned that emerge from evaluation activity.			
2. They are based on experience (which may be positive or negative)	Built into evaluation design – ensuring all relevant stakeholder groups have the opportunities to participate in ways accessible to them.			
3. They are verifiable (because the events involved are documented)	Synthesizing findings across evaluation components 1, 2 and 3 which arise from rigorous evaluation effort.			
4. They are useful to others (who read or hear about them)	To be explored during sense-making workshops with key stakeholder groups – noting that the composition of groups may			
5. They make a difference (when acted upon) <i>in</i> contrast with generalizations, which – while likely to be true – offer no implications for specific actions	change over time. Groups will need to be defined and adjusted based on timing of evaluation activity and 'area' of lesson.			
6.They are contextually grounded	-			
7. They have wide applicability (wider than recommendations) but they do not have universal applicability (i.e. not physical laws or moral truths)	To be validated through group critical reflection with key stakeholder groups, e.g. Gavi 5.0 colleagues, external agencies working in pandemic preparedness and response (comparators).			

Table 22 - Lessons learned framework of criteria

Lessons learned will rely on a process that includes:

 Robust triangulation of data sources – e.g. through KIIs, focus group discussions and document review used through Modules 1 to 3.

¹⁰⁷ Davies, R. (2009, August 26). *Expectations about identifying and documenting "Lessons Learned"*. https://mande.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2009/08/2009%2008%2026%20Guidance%20on%20identifying%20and%20documenting%20LL%20vs2.pdf

- Good quality synthesis as outlined in Section 3.4.3. The approach to synthesis requires combining multiple sources of information to develop a fuller understanding of what is happening in an area of enquiry. Synthesis can strengthen patterns and ideas or theories emerging from findings. We will adopt this approach to synthesize information in a written form gathered through evaluation components 1 to 3. Within these syntheses we recommend profiling the most important lessons learned through synthesis products, as outlined in the dissemination plan.
- A participatory process with relevant stakeholder groups to explore and sense-check lessons learned that have emerged using the criteria enclosed in Table 23. This should be facilitated by someone proficient in group critical evaluation and sense-making workshops in complicated intervention designs.

## **Annex 13: Timeline**

#### Figure 16 - COVAX timeline



#### **Classified as Internal**





# Annex 14: Integration and added value of rapid reviews

Figure 17 (below) illustrates how rapid reviews complement and add value to the overall formativesummative evaluations and continuous learning function led by the Office of the COVAX Facility/Gavi ELU.

Figure 17 - The value of rapid reviews to compliment formative-summative evaluations and continuous learning function

# How do rapid reviews complement and add value to formative-summative evaluations and continuous learning for the COVAX MEL function?



Figure 18 provides an example process of how rapid reviews are envisaged to inform course correction.





## Annex 15: Visual map of COVAX Facility and AMC learning system

Figure 19 - Visual map of COVAX Facility and AMC learning system



# Annex 16: Communication and learning plan

Overall, we recommend a communications approach that takes *utilisation, reporting* and *supporting use* dimensions into account. To inform this approach we have drawn on working sessions with the ELU, KIIs and the online survey.

**Utilisation focus:** We recognise the significant demand for learning and sharing of key achievements, lessons learned and proposed revisions to COVAX Facility and AMC design. We also recognise the inherent risk with evaluation work; that it does not achieve its intent. This can be due to a combination of factors, including insufficient engagement with the right stakeholder groups, and not ensuring a balanced representation of voices within all phases of the evaluation (especially among the 'voiceless' or hard to reach groups).¹⁰⁸ We recognise that evaluation impact can be limited when a specific and user-focused communication approach is not adopted from the start.

The strong utilization focus woven through this evaluability assessment and evaluability design work process has attempted to mitigate this risk. This focus will need to continue throughout future multi-stage evaluation efforts.

With this in mind we have developed a draft C&L plan for COVAX Facility and AMC through a systematic process. This process builds on the detailed stakeholder mapping efforts that took place during the inception phase. It includes five key steps:

**Step 1:** Using findings from the stakeholder mapping exercise during Inception Phase we identified five broad stakeholder groups. These were determined based around their core functions:

- 1. Accountable for performance of COVAX Facility and AMC. Key to decision making: PPC and Gavi Board.
- 2. **Responsible for delivery** of COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC: Office of the COVAX Facility.
- 3. Joint responsibility in delivering the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC: CEPI, WHO, UNICEF, PAHO.
- 4. **Constituent groups representing specific interests within the Gavi Board:** CSOs, governments (AMC Engagement Group, Shareholders Council), vaccine industry, research and technical health institutes.
- 5. Perception shaping role: the media.

**Step 2**: Identified 10 constituent subgroups across these five broad groups.

**Step 3:** Identified learning 'use cases' for each subgroup – i.e. considering their likely learning and communication needs.

**Step 4:** Developed a communication and learning pathway for each group as shown in the C&L plan (Table 24).

**Step 5:** Developed a draft dissemination plan to highlight products to be shared using time as the primary unit of analysis e.g. what will be shared at baseline, multi-stage evaluation points etc.

We recognise the limitations of this plan, not least as we have not yet spoken to many country-level stakeholders including CSOs and ministries of health/immunisation programme teams to gauge their needs. We expect to hone the C&L and dissemination plans ahead of the final evaluability assessment/evaluability design report as we speak to more key informants. We also welcome further interrogation of this plan with the COVAX MEL and communications teams.

**Reporting and supporting use:** Attention to both reporting and supporting use are integral to a strong communication and learning approach.

¹⁰⁸ https://evaluationstories.files.wordpress.com/2015/11/evaluations-that-make-a-difference-en_21sep15.pdf

Different types of reporting and synthesis products will be useful for different groups, to suit the type and complexity of information to be conveyed, and the result anticipated through communication. As outlined below and in the dissemination plan (Annex 17), reporting and synthesis products could include executive summaries / interim reports/ synthesis products / briefs/ slide decks / infographics/ brief videos and use of social media platforms to share evaluation key findings to enhance accessibility.

In terms of the topics or themes for synthesis and learning products we would anticipate these including – but not being limited to – the topics below:

- Barriers and enablers to achieving the outcomes and goals in the COVAX ToC and how these relate to course correction needs within the COVAX Facility and AMC
- Country-level learning including equity implications for COVAX Facility and AMC course correction, the wider Gavi 5.0 and future pandemic preparedness and response
- Specific learning emerging from specific areas of the ToC (e.g. learning on manufacturers engagement, use of humanitarian buffer, procurement, etc.)

We would anticipate additional synthesis and learning products being produced as key themes and lessons learned emerge. The framing and titles of products will require careful thought, honing and nuancing to meet target audience needs as these evolve over time.

To maximise the likelihood of evaluation findings and products being used to inform change as intended, Table 23 outlines the recommended set of activities be woven through the multi-stage evaluation.

Within the evaluation team	Within the Office of COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC leadership team & COVAX MEL and Communications team							
Communications and learni	ng plan – to frame C&L efforts							
The main tool to frame 'use' is to develop and communications and learning plan – outlining communication and learning needs of different evaluation stakeholder groups, types of products, channels of communication, intended results for each.	Find opportunities to integrate COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC learning in the wider Gavi 5.0 C&L plan.							
Learning Point - to cl	neck Learning Priorities							
Make best use of 'Learning Points' – to check learning priorities and reinforce triple loop learning. Ensure skilled facilitation for these sessions.	Make best use of 'Learning Points' – to check learning priorities and reinforce triple loop learning. Ensure right stakeholders are committed to this process through active, recurrent participation.							
Sharing of interim and emerging lessons - to generate interest and engagements in evaluation activity								
Include interim as well as final presentations to specific COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC and wider Gavi groups to socialise emerging findings / emerging recommendations.	Ensure right stakeholders attend right meetings to maximise chances of use.							
Use of group critical reflection and sense-making	sessions - to strengthen utility of recommendations							
Lead and facilitate 'group critical reflection' and 'sense- making' approaches to test lessons and ground them in context.	Ensure right stakeholders are committed to this process through active, recurrent participation. Through participation and observation invite colleagues who may be keen to develop skills to run these sessions internally.							
Sharing summative findings through accessible synthesis protogeneration transparent	oducts and social media - to engage broader audiences and be twith findings							
To increase external reach and use of multi-stage evaluation findings: Sharing summative findings through lessons learned synthesis products – especially with learning relevant for future pandemics through traditional written briefs/ reports + accessible methods e.g. infographics to repurpose and reinforce key content.	To increase external reach and use of multi-stage evaluation findings: Sharing summative findings through lessons learned synthesis products – especially with learning relevant for future pandemics through traditional written briefs/ reports + accessible methods e.g. <b>social media</b> , infographics to repurpose and reinforce key content.							
Recommendations tracking - to check if	and now learning is being used, is it useful							

Table 23 - Recommended formative learning and communication activities

	Recommendations tracking from baseline and evaluation findings "To follow future supposed applications of lessons						
	learned to test their wisdom in action." ¹⁰⁹						
Observation and documentation of learning behaviours - to reinforce LS culture							
	<b>Observe and document COVAX teams learning behaviours</b> – i.e. how the COVAX teams are modelling desirable learning behaviours. This is desired through Gavi 5.0 LS. Would be drawing out what behaviours are happening in COVAX team that could be identified, documented and shared more widely						
	with Gavi 5.0 LS context.						
Ensure COVAX Facility and learning is located in the Gavi 5.0	Learning System - to reinforce LS content and use of centralised						
system							
	Ensure evaluation reports, learning and synthesis products are systematically uploaded to the Gavi 5.0 UF/ Learning Portal (as well as COVAX learning library) to maximize chances of its use						
	their do co that learning nordi if to maximize chances of its doe.						

Table 24 presents the overall communication and learning plan.

 $^{^{109}\} https://archive.globalfrp.org/evaluation/the-evaluation-exchange/issue-archive/learning-organizations/lessons-learned$ 

#### Table 24 - Communication and learning plan

About the user					About how to engage them through C&L efforts						Timing
Learning need	EQs of interest (priority order)	Intended user group	What learning result (action/ state) do we expect?	Framing needs	Stakeholder matrix quadrant classification	Timing of communicati on	Type of learning product/ activity	Channels for distribution	Responsibility for production	Responsib ility for dissemina tion	
Immediate need: To understand where major COVAX Facility and AMC course corrections are needed - both programmatic and operational	4 3	PPC and Gavi Board	PPC fully informed and clear on what to recommend to Board	Needs robust analysis with sensitivity given level of personal & professional	Actively	Regular - throughout	Interim findings for meetings Evaluation	Reporting into Office of the COVAX Facility via ELU	Evaluation entities drawing on inputs from	ELU	Phase 1, 2022- 2023: Immediate course correction findings (and implications for Gavi 5.0) of formative review and baseline to be available ahead of Oct PPC
Longer term: How can COVAX Facility and AMC learning be leveraged for achievement of Gavi 5.0 goals & future pandemic preparedness and response	can 1 <b>O</b> i 2	1 Office of the COVAX 2 Facility	PPC and Board confident in using evaluation recommendatio ns. Office of the COVAX Facility understand and agree to implement	PC and Board confident in investment and burn-out, as well as contextualisatio ns. n Office of the OVAX Facility inderstand and agree to implement	engage	MISE	reports Synthesis products	PPC and Board meetings – routine and extraordinary	relevant stakeholder groups		and Nov Board meetings in 2022 Phase 2: 2024- 2027 Longer-term future pandemic preparedness findings to be available from 2024
To understand what advice/recommendati ons the Office of the COVAX Facility need to make operational and programmatic decisions	4 3 1 2	Office of the COVAX Facility Key bodies engaged in the governance and oversight of COVAX Facility and AMC operations ¹¹¹	Most important lessons and recommendatio ns for course correction are actioned	Needs robust analysis with sensitivity given level of personal & professional investment and burn-out, as well as contextualisatio n	Actively engage	Regular - throughout MSE	Interim findings for meetings Engagement in co-creation, learning points, sense-making workshops as relevant Evaluation reports Synthesis products	Respective team/committ ee meetings.	Evaluation entities drawing on inputs from relevant stakeholder groups	ELU	Phase 1, 2022- 2023: Immediate course correction findings (and implications for Gavi 5.0) of formative review and baseline to be available ahead of Oct PPC and Nov Board meetings in 2022
To understand what actions other COVAX implementing partners	4 2	Gavi, WHO, UNICEF, CEPI, PAHO	Most important lessons and recommendatio	Needs a partnership working lens	Actively engage	Regular - throughout MSE	Engagement in evaluation	Respective team/	Evaluation entities drawing on	ELU	a) For course correction needs (and implications

¹¹⁰ This is a matrix to help classify stakeholders into groups based on certain criteria. In this instance we created categories to determine the level of engagement we anticipate each group needing, to fulfill their learning and communication needs. Categories include Actively engage, ensure aligned, keep informed. Source: Stakeholder matrix - key matrices for stakeholder analysis https://www.stakeholdermap.com/stakeholder-matrix.html

¹¹¹ See COVAX. (2020, 17 March). COVAX: The Vaccine Pillar of the access to COVID-19 tools (ACT) accelerator structure and principles.

may need to take a) to course correct in the way they interact/ collaborate with Gavi, and b) to inform future pandemic preparedness and response efforts	3 1		ns for course correction are actioned	and understanding of working relationships between partners and different areas of expertise			activity, recommendati on co-creation, learning points, sense-making workshops as relevant Evaluation reports Synthesis products	committee meetings.	inputs from relevant stakeholder groups		for Gavi 5.0): Phase 1 findings of formative review and baseline to be available ahead of Oct PPC and Nov Board meetings in 2022 b) For longer term future pandemic preparedness: Phase 2: 2024- 2027 & Phase 3, 2028-2030
To understand CSO engagement in COVAX Facility and AMC and what role CSO's can play in course correction and future pandemic preparedness	4 3 2 1	Civil society	For CSOs to feel a) meaningfully engaged and represented in processes; and b) confident in advocating for change and using evaluation outputs to do so	Should be clear on how CSOs are engaged in COVAX Facility/AMC implementation , including clarity on how their engagement supports equity dimensions	Actively engage	Regular - throughout MSE	Engagement in evaluation activity, recommendati on co-creation, learning points, sense-making workshops as relevant Evaluation reports Synthesis products	Through Gavi Board, existing CSO networks at Gavi as well as through independent CSO alliances	Evaluation entities drawing on inputs from relevant stakeholder groups	ELU	Phase 1, 2022- 2023: Immediate course correction findings (and implications for Gavi 5.0) of formative review and baseline to be available ahead of Oct PPC and Nov Board meetings in 2022 For longer term future pandemic preparedness: Phase 2: 2024- 2027 & Phase 3, 2028-2030
To understand where course corrections are needed to ensure equitable access to COVID-19 vaccines through COVAX, balancing supply availability and country readiness to utilise vaccines Understand how countries can continue to engage with the COVAX Facility, and gain information desired (e.g. on supply) to improve country readiness	4 3 2 1	Governments – mostly focused on low- and lower- middle income countries AMC engagement group	For AMC92 countries to feel engaged and represented in key processes and influence evaluation findings. Also to influence COVAX Facility/AMC and country communications	Needs to clearly present the findings most relevant to LMIC governments, demonstrating an awareness of their role, concerns and voice in the evaluation process and COVAX	Actively engage	Regular - throughout MSE	Engagement in evaluation activity, recommendati on co-creation, learning points, sense-making workshops as relevant Evaluation reports Synthesis products	AMC Engagement Group meetings COVAX LMIC implementing countries contact lists	Evaluation entities drawing on inputs from relevant stakeholder groups	ELU / country communic ations team	Phase 1, 2022- 2023: Immediate course correction findings of formative review and baseline to be available ahead of Oct PPC and Nov Board meetings in 2022 Likely rapid review to focus on country readiness during 2022-2023

To understand how AMC donors and SFPs should continue to engage with the COVAX Facility and inform decisions regarding their role in course corrections and future pandemics	4 3 2 1	Governments – mostly focused on high- and higher- middle income countries COVAX Shareholders Council	For SFPs to feel able to make informed decisions supported by the evaluation findings	Needs to clearly and concisely present the strengths and limitations of the COVAX Facility and AMC, it's results and give priority to the relevant recommendatio ns	Ensure aligned	At key evaluation points - to share findings and learning from summative evaluations and rapid reviews where content is relevant	Engagement in evaluation activity, recommendati on co-creation, learning points, sense-making workshops as relevant Evaluation reports Synthesis products	COVAX Shareholders Committee meetings COVAX SFP and donor countries contact lists	Evaluation entities drawing on inputs from relevant stakeholder groups	ELU	Throughout all 3 phases, findings will produce evidence to inform this understanding, noting evaluation focus will need to align with any evolutions of the COVAX Facility and AMC model
To understand primarily what COVAX Facility and AMC investments are being made and how these are complementing the work of others, including through the ACT-A	4 3 2 1	Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation, FIND, the Global Fund, Unitaid, Wellc ome, and the World Bank	To feel able to make informed decisions about how they engage and support the COVAX Facility and AMC, supported by the evaluation findings	Needs to clearly and concisely present the strength and limitations of the COVAX Facility and AMC, it's results and give priority to the relevant recommendatio ns	Ensure aligned	At key evaluation points - to share findings and learning from summative evaluations and rapid reviews where content is relevant	Engagement in evaluation activity Evaluation reports Synthesis products	TRG, RAG, Market- Sensitive Decisions Committee (MSDC), Audit and Finance Committee (AFC), ACT-A	Evaluation entities drawing on inputs from relevant stakeholder groups	ELU	Phase 1, 2022- 2023: findings of formative review and baseline to be available ahead of Oct PPC and Nov Board meetings in 2022 Exploration of this topic will also likely continue through Phases 2 and 3
To understand the scope and success of actions to engage with vaccine manufacturers to develop a broad portfolio of affordable vaccines, increase supply and secure this supply for COVAX participating countries, and whether other strategies may have merit (e.g. IP waivers, technology transfer) To learn lessons from manufacturers further along the vaccine production and supply process, and/or those operating in similar/comparable contexts	4 2 3 1	Vaccine industry	To gain a stronger understanding of how COVAX intends to engage with vaccine manufacturers,a nd implications for engagement and supply mechanisms	Clear and concise messaging around COVAX Facility and AMC plans for engagement/ support to manufacturers.	Keep informed	At key evaluation points - to share findings and learning from summative evaluations and rapid reviews where content is relevant.	Engagement in evaluation activity Evaluation reports Synthesis products	Research and Development and Manufacturing Investment Committee (RDMIC)	Evaluation entities drawing on inputs from relevant stakeholder groups.	ELU	Phase 1, 2022- 2023: findings of formative review and baseline to be available ahead of Oct PPC and Nov Board meetings in 2022 Lesson learning from comparator studies will be carried out at different points through Phases 1, 2 and 3
To understand high level implications for sourcing and deploying vaccines in pandemic context	4 3	Research and technical health institutes, including SAGE and academia	To share key learning widely for the global public good	Clear, concise messaging within a future facing frame	Keep informed	At key evaluation points - to share findings and learning from summative evaluations and rapid reviews where content is relevant	Evaluation reports Synthesis products	Research and Development and Manufacturing Investment Committee (RDMIC)	Evaluation entities drawing on inputs from relevant stakeholder groups	ELU & evaluation entities through own web and social media presence	Phases 2 (2024- 2027) and 3 (2028-2030)
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------	--------	--------------------------------------------------------------------------------	------------------------------------------------------------------	--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------	------------------	----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------	------------------------------------------------	-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------	------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------	------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------	---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
To understand what has been achieved within context, and how equity could have been better served. Clarity on accountability mechanism within COVAX Facility and AMC	3 4	Media and global Health community writ large	To share key learning widely for the global public good	Need to promote transparency and balance through communication. Clear headline messages	Keep informed	At key evaluation points - to share findings and learning from summative evaluations and rapid reviews where content is relevant	Evaluation reports Synthesis products	Press releases, Gavi Alliance social media channels	Gavi Alliance Communicatio ns team in collaboration with COVAX ELU	Gavi Alliance Communic ations team in collaborati on with ELU	Throughout all 3 phases, although focus on results will be stronger in Phases 2 and 3

# Annex 17: Dissemination plan

Table 25 - Dissemination plan

Date/timeline	Evaluation outputs	Communication medium	Channels	Intended audience	Responsibility for dissemination
Q3 2022: Formative review and baseline study findings	Formative review and baseline study report, including synthesis products on e.g. barriers and enablers to achieving outcomes and goals and how these relate to course correction needs within the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC and Gavi 5.0	Interim reports, executive summary & translated into slide decks. Including use of visuals and infographics desirable to increase accessibility	PPC and Board Meetings Office of the COVAX Facility team meetings	PPC Gavi Board Office of the COVAX Facility COVAX implementing partners (CEPI, WHO, UNICEF)	Office of the COVAX ELU
TIMES TBC: Periodic evaluations	Evaluation report, including synthesis products on e.g. barriers and enablers to achieving outcomes and goals and how these relate to course correction needs within the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC and Gavi 5.0 + Learning from comparator agencies/arrangements/contexts + Learning from country case studies (including e.g. looking at the end-to-end process for individual countries)	Interim reports, executive summary & translated into slide decks + Concise learning briefs (synthesis product) & translated into slide decks. Including use of visuals and infographics desirable to increase accessibility + Varied social media platforms used by the Alliance to repurpose content and reinforce access to key messages + Q&A learning sessions online to socialise findings in key/critical areas for targeted groups	PPC and Board Meetings Office of the COVAX Facility team meetings	PPC Gavi Board Office of the COVAX Facility COVAX implementing partners (CEPI, WHO, UNICEF) Governments – implementers (LIC, LMIC, UMIC, HIC) Governments – donors (Germany, Japan, USA, etc.) CSOs – implementers Multilaterals Research and technical health institutes and academia Media	Office of the COVAX ELU
TIMES TBC: Ad hoc rapid reviews	Content TBC as needs arise – e.g. learning briefs on allocation, humanitarian buffer, procurement, support to country readiness, etc.	Concise briefs & translated into slide decks for internal use. Including use of visuals and infographics desirable to increase accessibility + Varied social media platforms used by the Alliance to repurpose content and reinforce access to key messages targeting external audiences + Q&A learning webinars to socialise findings in key/critical areas for targeted groups	PPC and Board Meetings Office of the COVAX Facility team meeting	TBC depending on focus of study. E.g. if exploring engagement with manufacturers will be important to ensure messages are targeted/accessible to that group E.g. Vaccine industry E.g. CSOs (where learning relates specifically to their engagement) E.g. multilaterals (where learning relates to how they can align and engage)	Office of the COVAX ELU

# Annex 18: Line of sight from EA to evaluation design

Table 26 - Line of sight from EA to evaluation design

Observation from evaluability assessment	Implication for evaluation design		
Right things – design			
Overall, the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC design is complicated but coherent. Across the many different project components, COVAX implementing partners work in interconnected ways to fulfill roles and responsibilities that facilitate COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC results. COVAX also operates in a highly complex operating environment.	The evaluation is focused on Gavi and the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC, although it is unlikely to be possible or helpful to evaluate these in isolation. Rather, the evaluation will consider the interconnectedness of roles, responsibilities and ways of working between agencies to facilitate COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC results. The evaluation will consider the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC in the context of COVAX and ACT-A more generally and of the geopolitical and wider contextual factors at play. This will involve taking into consideration factors both within and outside of Gavi's direct control, and factors over which it has both higher and lower levels of control and for which it can be held accountable.		
The EA did not include the planned participatory exercise with wider Office of the COVAX Facility staff to systematically explore the ToC, document assumptions and build consensus around it. Specific components of the ToC are not clear and/or coherent. For instance, the COVAX vision of 'end the acute phase of the pandemic but the and of 2021' was proved	A ToC development workshop is proposed at the outset of the formative review and baseline study to ensure that the ToC is sufficiently well developed to be evaluable. This will elaborate on the causal pathways and comprehensively include assumptions – explicit, implicit, documented and undocumented. It will also capture all previous and future design iterations. The ToC development workshop will seek to clarify issues such as this. Where this is not possible, these will be presented as findings and act as the basis for		
clearly defined nor plausible.	recommendations for revision.		
It is difficult to define and operationalize a counterfactual for the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC, due to its unique character as the first and only global procurement and delivery mechanism.	Analysis is based on a narrower counterfactual wherein we consider how different design options across specific programmatic components would have played out. One such alternative design choice counterfactual may be to understand if/how technology transfer could have been prioritized and included within the intervention design. Comparators are also used to supplement the analysis.		
<ul> <li>Particular areas of stakeholder interest in the COVAX</li> <li>Facility and COVAX AMC design include:</li> <li>The design choice to be a global purchasing and allocation mechanism (i.e. for all countries).</li> <li>The appropriateness of specific market shaping strategies, combining push and pull mechanisms.</li> <li>The appropriateness and feasibility of the allocation mechanism design, based on principles of equity and fairness.</li> <li>The relative balance between efforts focused on scaling vaccine procurement and scaling country-level delivery.</li> </ul>	These questions are included as key issues to explore within the formative review and baseline study, with some also presented as examples of rapid reviews.		
Right way – implementation			
<ul> <li>Data limitations mean that:</li> <li>Despite a wealth of information on implementation progress/decision points, data points are not always aligned with each other, and it is likely that some will be contested.</li> <li>There is a need to interpret implementation progress</li> </ul>	The evaluation design places substantial emphasis on conducting a history of decisions and timeline analysis to provide a comprehensive overview of implementation decisions to date and the specific context in which these decisions were made and the operational structures and processes were implemented. Through a range of methods specific to the needs of each EQ, benchmarking against objective criteria and comparator analysis are then used to		
in the context of the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC being set up as an emergency response to a public health emergency and highly uncertain operating environment.	determine, in the prevailing context, what 'good' looked like and to provide the basis (alongside comparator analysis) against which to assess the appropriateness of decision making. This includes a capability, culture and practice mapping and assessment, risk management analysis, costing assessment and analysis of stakeholder engagement.		
misunderstanding/different expectations on the scope of work.	clarity and focus to the questions. A set of EQs is included in the revised set of EQs for the evaluation design in		
The EA also highlighted that the EQs do not specifically cover all of the programmatic areas of the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC ToC, such as market shaping, procurement and delivery, equitable allocation and CRD. As	order to understand implementation of specific programmatic implementation components (resource mobilization, market shaping, procurement and delivery, equitable allocation and CRD).		

such, there is some scope for differing expectations on the					
<ul> <li>Scope of work.</li> <li>Particular areas of stakeholder interest for the evaluation to explore include: <ol> <li>The processes in place to communicate and engage with stakeholders.</li> <li>Whether internal systems and processes are appropriate to working in an emergency setting, given that they utilize Gavi capacity.</li> <li>Clarity of roles and responsibilities and the appropriateness of governance structures to guide decision making and ensure accountability.</li> <li>The importance of transparency in dealings between vaccine manufacturers, COVAX and participating countries, who have also engaged in bilateral procurement, to achieving COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC goals and objectives.</li> </ol> </li> </ul>	<ol> <li>Dealing with each point in turn:         <ol> <li>Communications processes have been included within EQ 2.1.4.</li> <li>All EQs under the operational domain consider whether internal systems and processes are fit for purpose given the context of working in a public health emergency.</li> <li>EQ 2.1.1 is focused on understanding whether management structures and governance arrangements been fit for purpose and will include capability, culture and practice mapping and assessment, and RACI analysis.</li> </ol> </li> <li>Transparency is considered as an important principle across the evaluation design, including as a criterion to assess equity in the design process, and with the following stage-specific questions posed within the formative review and baseline study: 'How well have communications functioned to enable transparency in COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC operations and dealings, and to facilitate joint efforts to achieve common outcomes?'</li> </ol>				
Right results					
There are gaps in the availability of outcome data on the recipients of COVID-19 vaccines – specifically, whether vaccines are being administered to intended vulnerable populations in participant countries, and with some impact metrics still being finalized.	<ul> <li>It is anticipated that quantitative analysis for some results will rely on estimates and/or the collation of country data outside of official COVAX reporting channels, which may be challenging to collect. Recommendations are also made to Gavi to:</li> <li>Seek ways to collect robust data on the recipients of COVID-19 vaccines, including disaggregation by vulnerable populations in participant countries.</li> <li>Finalize impact metrics on reducing morbidity, mortality and the socioeconomic impact of the pandemic.</li> </ul>				
Assessing the contribution of the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC to observed outcomes will require significant data collection and analysis. The assessment is complicated by the complexity of the evaluand – notably with many different project components and multiple interactions of different stakeholders, which makes the attribution of causes to identified effects challenging – and the timing of the intervention and the extent to which achievement of overall impacts and goals is realistically expected during the evaluation period. As such, an evaluation approach that can provide rigorous assessment of causality over time and which is based on a thorough understanding of the context and operating environment is recommended.	It is recommended that the evaluation design be based around a generative causation, theory-based approach, which will provide the most complete approach to causal explanation. Contribution analysis will meet this need but the emphasis should be placed on understanding the importance of context to the achievement of results and on ensuring external validity.				
There is significant interest in an assessment of the results of the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC against the benchmark of fair and equitable access to COVID-19 vaccines, and the reasons why intended results were or were not achieved.	Framing the overall MSE within a theory-based approach will support cross-EQ synthesis and enable the formulation of strong responses to high-level EQs, overall conclusions and recommendations on design, implementation and results.				
Learning					
Barriers to effective implementation have been documented, but there is a gap in the evidence on how implementation in some areas (resource mobilization, market shaping, procurement and delivery, equitable allocation and CRD) influences the achievement of results.	EQ 4.2 has been retained in the evaluation scope of work but situated within Module 3 on right results to ensure that data collection and analysis in this area is prioritized.				
Another gap relates to lessons learned from participating countries on which population groups are receiving vaccines, and how/whether equitable distribution is being achieved. This has implications for the Gavi 5.0 learning priority in terms of understanding how to reach zero-dose communities.	<ul> <li>The evaluation will draw on a rich pool of qualitative learning, available through:</li> <li>WHO regional teams, who host regular webinars to engage with countries through Q&amp;A.</li> <li>The BID Initiative¹¹² library (a learning network between countries and between regional and global partners) and additional learning networks.¹¹³</li> <li>Gavi country programs and communication staff regular engagements with country implementers.</li> </ul>				
A significant amount of rapid, day-to-day learning takes place but is not necessarily documented or shared with the ELU team in a systematic way.	The evaluation will respond to this gap: (a) through stocktake and reflection; and (b) by ensuring that synthesis products respond to specific learning needs identified in collaboration with the ELU. It is also explicitly designed to prioritize harmonization between evaluation products and the ELU's continuous learning function.				

¹¹² BID Initiative. *Resource Library*. https://bidinitiative.org/resource-library/

¹¹³ E.g. Geneva Learning Foundation, TechNet, etc.

There is scope to use comparator analysis for learn from other agencies, arrangements and contexts.	Comparator analysis is proposed as a method for Modules 1 and 2, and learning from these analyses will be synthesized for EQ 4.4. An additional EQ has also been included to learn from experiences across country contexts: <i>What can be learned from a comparison of countries' experiences of securing maximum possible vaccination supply and coverage, and applied to the COVAX Facility and/or AMC for the achievement of intended outcomes and impact?</i>			
There is a clear demand and need for learning to meet the evaluation purpose and stakeholder needs. The main challenge related to usefulness is the dynamic context resulting in quickly changing learning needs and priorities, which presents challenges for ensuring evaluation work is timely enough to meet those needs.	In such a dynamic context this will require commitment from the ELU and Office of the COVAX Facility to a formative evaluation approach and making good use of anticipated 'learning points' and other meetings. The evaluation approach also seeks to blend the principles of both (i) a periodic and phased formative- summative evaluation and (ii) real-time evaluation. The latter is designed to enable the evaluation of specific components of the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC ToC in real time to meet quickly changing needs.			
Evaluation question 4.1 – on the strength of Gavi/COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC systems and processes to capture, collate and disseminate learning – is not considered as high a priority as others.	The question has been excluded from the scope of work.			
Cross-cutting				
There is a strong need and stakeholder demand (particularly from the Office of the COVAX Facility and other implementing partners – i.e. CEPI, UNICEF and WHO) for an evaluation function that uses evidence and supports rapid learning to support future design iterations. There is also a need, stemming from the Gavi Board requirement but also from the expressed desire from stakeholders external to COVAX, for a fully independent and robust evaluation that meets an accountability objective.	To meet stakeholder needs, the evaluation approach blends the principles of both (i) a periodic and phased formative-summative evaluation and (ii) real-time evaluation. This is designed to enable the evaluation of specific components of the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC ToC in real time, as well as provide a coherent evaluation narrative on its overall contribution to outcomes and impact.			
The nature of the evaluand, the context it is operating in and the need to take into consideration factors both within and outside of Gavi's direct control, and factors over which it has both higher and lower levels of control and can be held accountable for, require a complexity-aware design and dictates that some approaches will be more relevant and feasible to application than others. Moreover, the type of questions being asked of the evaluation are a mix of 'how well', 'how much' and 'how' questions.	The types of EQs, the demand for findings at different times for different uses, and the scale of the evaluation mean that no single method or approach will fully address the requirements of the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC evaluation. A phased, multi-module and mixed-method design is proposed, within an overall realist-informed approach. This recognizes the importance of studying the influence of context on causality as part of a complexity-informed evaluation approach.			
Accessing stakeholders through KIIs and focus group discussions will be critical to generating the evidence required to answer the EQs robustly, especially those where significant analysis and triangulation are required. While country stakeholders and the staff of COVAX implementing partners are extremely busy and will have limited time to engage with the evaluation, the EA process did indicate strong interest and willingness to do so.	The evaluation design is cognizant of limited stakeholder availability to engage and builds in sufficient flexibility to secure both broad-based inputs and the inputs of key stakeholders from COVAX implementing partners and participating countries.			
There are different stakeholder needs and expectations from the evaluation. In particular, COVAX implementing partners are most in need of – in the short term at least – rapid learning to inform course correction. As noted above, the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC design is expected to continue evolving and there is potential for the evaluation to influence and inform design decision making. The Gavi Board requires that the evaluation be used as part of good governance to demonstrate accountability for the use of ODA and achievement of results to donors, investors and countries participating in COVAX. This is broadly aligned to a strong expectation from many other stakeholders for a holistic evaluation that seeks to understand whether COVAX has been able to overcome power imbalances to ensure equitable global access to COVID-19 vaccines and to learn lessons for future pandemic preparedness.	<ul> <li>The evaluation design seeks to balance different stakeholder needs and expectations, combining the principles of both (i) a periodic and phased formative-summative evaluation and (ii) real-time evaluation (see above).</li> <li>The evaluation places emphasis on understanding how/whether equity has been prioritized in both process and outcomes, and is considered in the following ways:¹¹⁴ <ul> <li>in the distribution of and access to vaccines across country income categories (i.e. HICs, MICs and LICs);</li> <li>in the distribution of and access to vaccines between individual countries; and</li> <li>in the distribution of and access to vaccines within countries, such as between geographical areas and population groups.</li> </ul> </li> </ul>			

¹¹⁴ While the latter should be considered, it is beyond the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC's sphere of responsibility and control, and may not be the focus of the evaluation.

### **Annex 19: Summary of evaluation design options**

Section 3 and Section 0 in the report present a series of options and recommendations and, based on the recommended course of action, further options and recommendations are made. These are summarized in the table below.

Table 27 - 3	Summary	of	evaluation	design	options
--------------	---------	----	------------	--------	---------

Strategic and/or methodological considerations         The following are priority users and uses of the evaluation:         Gavi Board, primarily to hold the Secretariat and Office of the COVAX Facility for their role in implementing the COVAX Facility and AMC, alongside other implementing partners, for the use of ODA and achievement of results to donors, investors and all countries participating in COVAX.	commended course of action	Evaluation design option			
The following are priority users and uses of the evaluation: <ul> <li>Gavi Board, primarily to hold the Secretariat and Office of the COVAX Facility for their role in implementing the COVAX Facility and AMC, alongside other implementing partners, for the use of ODA and achievement of results to donors, investors and all countries participating in COVAX.</li> </ul> <ul> <li>It is implicitly recommended that the evaluation design seek to meet all three uses as robustly practically as possible, without any bias or preference between them.</li> </ul>		Strategic and/or methodological considerations			
<ul> <li>COVAX implementing partners, particularly the Gavi Secretariat and Office of the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC model to ensure fitness for purpose within its operating environment and optimize the conditions for desired results to be achieved; and (b) comprehensive tracking of the progress and contribution of the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC to intended results, with explanations of how and why this is or is not being achieved.</li> <li>The global health community writ large, including AMC countries, with a proactive focus on equity, to report objectively on the extent to which COVAX has been able to address power imbalances to ensure equitable access to COVID-19 vaccines and inform future pandemic preparedness.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>It is implicitly recommended that the evaluation design seek to meet all three uses as robustly and practically as possible, without any bias or preference between them.</li> <li>Equity should be both prioritized as a central principle in the design of the COVAX Facility and AMC (equity in process) and reflected in the results achieved (equity in outcomes). Equity should be considered in at least three ways: <ul> <li>in the distribution of and access to vaccines across country income categories (i.e. HICs, MICs and LICs);</li> <li>in the distribution of and access to vaccines between individual countries; and</li> <li>in the distribution of and access to vaccines within countries, such as between geographical areas and population groups.</li> </ul> </li> </ul>	<ul> <li>The following are priority users and uses of the evaluation:</li> <li>Gavi Board, primarily to hold the Secretariat and Office of the COVAX Facility for their role in implementing the COVAX Facility and AMC, alongside other implementing partners, for the use of ODA and achievement of results to donors, investors and all countries participating in COVAX.</li> <li>COVAX implementing partners, particularly the Gavi Secretariat and Office of the COVAX Facility and COVAX implementing partners, particularly the Gavi Secretariat and Office of the COVAX Facility to enable (a) rigorous testing, learning and adjustment of the complex COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC model to ensure fitness for purpose within its operating environment and optimize the conditions for desired results to be achieved; and (b) comprehensive tracking of the progress and contribution of the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC to intended results, with explanations of how and why this is or is not being achieved.</li> <li>The global health community writ large, including AMC countries, with a proactive focus on equity, to report objectively on the extent to which COVAX has been able to address power imbalances to ensure equitable access to COVID-19 vaccines and inform future pandemic preparedness.</li> </ul>			
<ul> <li>In terms of the scope of work, the evaluation is focused on Gavi and the COVAX Facility and AMC, although it is unlikely to be possible or most helpful to evaluate these in isolation.</li> <li>The COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC results.</li> <li>The COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC in the context of COVAX and ACT-A more generally and consider in the context of Gavi's direct control and factors over which it both higher and lower levels of control and can be held accountable for.</li> </ul>	e evaluation should consider: The interconnectedness of roles, responsibilities and ways of working between agencies to facilitate COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC results. The COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC in the context of COVAX and ACT-A more generally and of the geopolitical and wider contextual factors at play. This will necessarily involve taking into consideration factors both within and outside of Gavi's direct control and factors over which it has both higher and lower levels of control and can be held accountable for.	In terms of the scope of work, the evaluation is focused on Gavi and the COVAX Facility and AMC, although it is unlikely to be possible or most helpful to evaluate these in isolation.			
<ul> <li>The findings of the EA indicate a strong need and stakeholder demand for an evaluation function that uses evidence and supports rapid learning to support future design iterations. A 'real-time evaluation' approach would be suitable to meet this need.</li> <li>The EQs, however, stemming from the Gavi Board requirement (but also from the expressed</li> <li>The nature of the evaluation and the context it is operating in, as well as the need to take into</li> </ul>	meet the priority users and uses for the evaluation and all stakeholder needs, the evaluation approach ould blend the principles of both (i) a periodic and phased formative-summative evaluation, and (ii) al-time evaluation. e nature of the evaluation and the context it is operating in, as well as the need to take into	<ul> <li>The findings of the EA indicate a strong need and stakeholder demand for an evaluation function that uses evidence and supports rapid learning to support future design iterations. A 'real-time evaluation' approach would be suitable to meet this need.</li> <li>The EQs, however, stemming from the Gavi Board requirement (but also from the expressed</li> </ul>			

	<ul> <li>meets an accountability objective, would require a more holistic evaluation of what has worked well and less well in the design, set-up and implementation of the COVAX Facility and AMC, and in terms of what has been delivered and what results have been achieved. A periodic and phased formative-summative²⁵evaluation approach – i.e. conducted at predetermined time intervals, where the scope shifts from design and early implementation at the outset and places more weight on assessing results over time – would typically meet this need.²⁶ Such an approach would also be appropriate for generating learning to inform course correction and future pandemic preparedness. However, such learning may not always come at the right times to inform course correction in a highly dynamic environment.</li> <li>A blended approach would enable the evaluation of specific components of the COVAX Facility and AMC ToC in real time, as well as provide a coherent evaluation narrative on its overall contribution to outcomes and impact. In so doing, the approach can be learning and utilization-focused while still able to cover the entire ToC and scope of work (as required), provide full responses to the EQs, and meet the stated evaluation purpose on accountability.</li> </ul>	higher and lower levels of control and can be held accountable for, requires a complexity-aware design and dictates that some approaches will be more relevant and feasible to application than others. Moreover, the type of questions being asked of the evaluation are a mix of 'how well', 'how much' and 'how' questions. The types of EQs, the demand for findings at different times for different uses, and the scale of the evaluation mean that no single method or approach will fully address the requirements of the COVAX Facility and AMC evaluation. A phased, multi-module and mixed-method design is required.
W ov ev th ap	hile a mixed-method design will be appropriate, there are benefits to adopting a consistent rerarching overall approach and method, as outlined below. To meet the evaluation purpose, the raluation will need to make causal inference – i.e. to establish whether and how implementation of e COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC has contributed to observed results. There are three types of pproach for establishing cause-and-effect linkage: <b>Regularity and counterfactual frameworks</b> are ruled out since data on outcomes is sparse and such approaches do not provide insights into the causal mechanism (i.e. how and why the mechanisms in question, operating in the prevailing context, generate social behavior and explain how outcomes were achieved).	It is recommended that the evaluation design be based around a generative causation, theory-based approach. Operationalizing a theory-based approach requires a well-defined ToC that captures the mechanisms and contexts that explain how the intended outcomes will be achieved, against which the design, implementation and results can be evaluated. We recognize that the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC design and the context in which they are operating have evolved substantially over time and are likely to continue to do so. As such, and to ensure that the evaluation findings are as current as practicable, the ToC will require frequent revision and updating throughout the evaluation process.
•	<ul> <li>Configurational approaches are also ruled out since such approaches only identify the ingredients of the causal mechanism but do not provide in-depth insight of how and why outcomes were achieved. Such insight is critical to answering the EQs and understanding how and why the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC has contributed to the achievement of intended outcomes and goals.</li> <li>Generative causation approaches are designed to identify the mechanisms and contexts that explain outcome patterns and so provide the most complete approach to causal explanation. This relies on generating a strong theory of how the mechanism(s) interacts in the prevailing context to achieve the intended outcomes. This requires an explicit ToC, including the mechanisms of change, assumptions, risks and context that enable or hinder the theory from working as intended. Against this theory, evaluations can examine the extent to which and how an intervention has produced or influenced observed results.</li> </ul>	Our approach to evolving the ToC thus far has involved: (a) eliciting various stakeholders' existing conceptions of how the COVAX Facility and AMC is expected to work; and (b) constructing a single model that is evaluable but seeks to represent the diversity of stakeholder perceptions elicited. We have not yet conducted the planned participatory exercise with wider Office of the COVAX Facility staff to systematically explore and build consensus around the ToC for the evaluation. This workshop should take place at the outset of the proposed formative review and baseline study with this purpose in mind and to ensure that the ToC is sufficiently well developed to be evaluable.
W ev th ar	ithin the theory-based family of evaluation approaches, there is a number of potential options to raluating the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC, each with trade-offs in terms of their ability to meet e different evaluation purposes (i.e. accountability, learning to inform midterm course correction, ad learning to inform future pandemic preparedness) and answer the EQs.	Within the family of generative causation, TBE approaches, the overall MSE should utilize contribution analysis and process tracing as the primary methods. This is a practical solution to implementing a complex evaluation with limited resources and stakeholder availability. We note, however, the importance of understanding how the context has shaped and influenced design, implementation and results to ensure external validity – i.e. how well findings can be expected to apply

The influential Stern paper on options for evaluation in international development³⁴ identifies two types of approach: process-oriented and mechanism-oriented, though notes these are usually inextricably interwoven.

- Process-oriented: Follows various causal links in a chain of implementation of an intervention, 'built around a "theory" that is a set of assumptions about how the intervention achieves its objectives and under what conditions'.³⁵ The most commonly used are contribution analysis and process tracing.
- Mechanism-based: In order to make a causal claim, a mechanism that 'makes things happen' needs to be identified. But mechanisms do not operate in a vacuum the interaction with context is important. Mechanism-based evaluation seeks the connection between causes and effects through deep theoretical analysis, based on mid-range theories.³⁶ This stems from a 'realist' perspective and its most common method is realist evaluation.³⁷

Contribution analysis and realist evaluation are both appealing, and either could be used to good effect to answer the EQs. However, the EA findings (see Section 2.3), notably around the limited availability of stakeholders to engage with the evaluation and the ability to directly answer the EQs of interest, suggest that contribution analysis will be the most practical and useful to implement.

The evaluation should support a strong continuous learning function, led by the Office of the COVAX Facility/Gavi ELU. There is a strong need for the Office of the COVAX Facility/Gavi ELU to provide such a function, including to generate, collate through the learning library, analyze and use learning for immediate course correction and future pandemic preparedness. The evaluation can support this function – through the synthesis of learning across all evaluation activity and through development of synthesis learning products – to facilitate uptake of lessons learned among key stakeholder groups. We identify three potential options providing different levels of support to the learning function administered by the Office of the COVAX Facility/Gavi ELU:

- Light-touch learning support: This is our recommended option. This option relies on the Office of the COVAX Facility/Gavi ELU leading on activity related to learning uptake of evaluation findings. This option affords the external evaluation team maximum independence, which is important to stakeholder groups as we discovered through document review and KIIs.
- Mid-level learning support: This would provide a discrete amount of additional technical support to the learning function to support action/uptake of learning arising from evaluations and rapid reviews. While this option could help MEL and wider Office of the COVAX Facility staff to operationalize recommendations, it could reduce the perception of evaluation team independence.
- Semi-embedded learning support: This would provide additional technical support to foster explicit linkage between the COVAX Facility and AMC MSE activity and the wider Gavi 5.0 Learning System learning hubs. This could help to promote cross-pollination of learning arising from formative review and baseline country work and potential for triangulation of learning from hubs related to country experiences. However, this option implies an even more reduced level of independence and could raise concerns around potential conflict of interest.

to other settings. Our approach to implementing contribution analysis is set out in Section 4.1.3.3 and Annex 12. Approaching the evaluation in this way will involve repeatedly looping back to test evidence against the ToC on how and why change happens, and as such would allow for repeated updates to the ToC to be made across the phases of the evaluation. This approach will generate learning for immediate course correction and will deal well with the dynamic nature of the evaluand design and operating environment. Gaining an in-depth understanding of how well the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC have worked in the context of the COVID-19 pandemic response will also be useful for generating transformative learning on future pandemic responses.

A light-touch learning support option is recommended, involving support to facilitate 'learning point' meetings, synthesize lessons learned arising from all evaluation activities and facilitate validation of lessons learned (e.g. through sense-making workshops or recommendation co-creation workshops with relevant teams). This approach would rely on the Office of the COVAX Facility/Gavi ELU to facilitate learning action sessions (i.e. to clarify implications of the recommendations, what needs to happen, by who and by when, etc.), and generally support the use of learning for decision making and course correction. This would ensure that the evaluation team helpfully supports the learning function but retains independence from the evaluand in terms of how learning is used.

For the avoidance of doubt, while the co-creation processes should help to build consensus on conclusions and recommendations, these should remain the responsibility of the independent evaluators, who must be free to reject suggestions of others if it is felt appropriate to do so.

#### **Classified as Internal**

Final evaluability assessment and evaluation design report

**Types and phasing of evaluation activity:** We distinguish between (i) baseline, midterm and endterm formative-summative evaluations covering the full scope of work that meets an accountability objective, and (ii) 'rapid reviews' focused on specific parts of the ToC where learning is required (e.g. to address operational issues and influence rapid course correction).

Types of EQs: We also distinguish between three types of questions for evaluative purposes:

- The core EQs are framed at a relatively high level and are designed to stay fairly constant over the entire MSE (although more could be added as needed). These will be answered through the formative-summative evaluations over time.
- Stage-specific EQs, nested within each of the core EQs, will be framed for each formativesummative evaluation process. These EQs will ensure that the evaluation is answering the most relevant questions and is focused on those questions that are possible to answer at any given moment in time.⁴⁴
- Rapid reviews will be designed to focus on particular areas of interest/need.

The focus and scope of stage-specific EQs and rapid reviews would be agreed with the Office of the COVAX Facility and implementing partners, who would be the primary audience. In contrast, the focus and scope of the broader formative and summative evaluations would be agreed with the Gavi Board and broader constituency groups, and would have a wider primary audience.

#### **Operational considerations**

**Stakeholder participation in evaluation processes:** All evaluation activity would be conducted in as participatory a manner as possible for all constituency groups engaged in the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC. This will include making efforts to accommodate the limited time some stakeholders are able to devote to the evaluation, such as by: stating expectations for stakeholder engagement upfront; minimizing the number of requests made of each stakeholder, holding focus group discussions where feasible, and use of web-surveys; basing the timing of evaluation exercises in part on stakeholder availability; and allowing sufficient time to collect data in the evaluation workplan to give greater flexibility to stakeholders on when to provide their inputs.

For KIIs, it is suggested that stakeholders are purposively sampled – as they were for the EA and evaluation design process – in discussion with the ELU, in part based on their availability to engage with the evaluation process. We present three options for stakeholder engagement through KIIs during the formative review and baseline study, alongside the likely implications to the scope, scale and/or quality of work. We will seek Gavi's input on these options as we start Phase 1.

**Types and phasing of evaluation activity:** It is recommended that baseline, midterm and end-term formative-summative evaluations are conducted every 1–2 years, and incorporate stage-specific EQs that relate to and over time aggregate up to answer the core EQs. It is further recommended that these evaluation processes are interspersed with 'rapid reviews' focused on specific parts of the ToC where learning is required (e.g. to address operational issues and influence rapid course correction).

Harmonization across MEL functions: The formative-summative evaluations, including stage-specific EQs, will need to be aligned to rapid reviews and the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC's continuous learning function, such that each can complement, benefit and build from the other.

It is recommended that the highest level of stakeholder engagement (regular) through KIIs is selected such that the evaluation process can proceed in line with best practice across the full scope of work, as anticipated.

### Classified as Internal

Level of stakeholder engagement through KIIs	Implications and potential mitigating actions	
<b>1. Anticipated/regular:</b> Broad access to a variety of stakeholders across constituency groups, engaged in and/or knowledgeable about the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC, as well as COVAX and the ACT-A more generally, at global, regional and country levels. Expected to involve discussions with 50+ stakeholders.	None. Evaluation process can proceed in line with best practice across the full scope of work, as planned.	
2. Slightly reduced: More limited access to one or only a few representatives of stakeholder or constituency groups engaged in and/or knowledgeable about the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC. Stakeholders would still cover the key bodies and working structures identified as critical to engage with. Expected to involve discussions with around 35 stakeholders.	Robustness of evaluation findings may be somewhat compromised if inputs of key stakeholders cannot be fully solicited. Particular issues could be raised with Gavi as they arise to ensure that quality is sufficient. Some narrowing of the scope of work (i.e. to exclude areas where key informants are not available) may help to resolve the issue.	
<b>3. Significantly reduced:</b> Only a selection of stakeholders and constituency groups engaged in the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC would be accessed, including some of those previously identified as critical to engage with. Expected to involve discussions with around 20 stakeholders.	Robustness of evaluation findings across the entire scope of work highly likely to be substantially compromised, risking the utility of the entire evaluation process. Significant narrowing of the scope of work to focus only on areas where key informants are may resolve the issue of quality, although the evaluation would unlikely be able to report against high-level EQs and develop conclusions on overall performance to generate recommendations of relevance to the Board and PPC.	
Managing independence: While stage-specific EQs within the time frame and boundaries of a broader conducted flexibly at any time. Rapid reviews could with relevant expertise (but with mechanisms in p activity, ensuring each draws critical inputs from th or included within the scope of a single evaluation mechanisms to avoid any real or perceived conflict	s would be answered by the evaluation team r evaluative process, rapid reviews could be d be outsourced to external consultants or firms lace to coordinate the two types of evaluation ne other while minimizing overlap and duplication) contract with a service provider (but with t of interest).	It is recommended that the formative-summative evaluation work and rapid evaluation work be commissioned to a single service provider. While the former could be fully costed in advance, the latter could be used from a draw down contract on a time and materials basis in order to maintain flexibility in response to needs. Mechanisms should be established to avoid any real or perceived conflict of interest.

### **Annex 20: Feedback summary**

More than 170 comments and points of feedback have been provided on draft versions of this report by the Gavi ELU, Secretariat and Office of the COVAX Facility, and a broad range of other stakeholders engaged in the operationalization of COVAX, as well as a broader set of stakeholders with an interest in COVAX. A summary of this feedback and the team's response is presented below.

How will we ensure that the evaluation has an appropriate balance of stakeholder inputs?

Feedback reaffirmed the importance of balanced and representative stakeholder input throughout the evaluation process, emphasizing the value of consultation and participation from a broad range of stakeholders in order to answer the EQs. The evaluation sets out an expectation for broad access to a variety of stakeholders across constituency groups, engaged in and/or knowledgeable about the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC, as well as COVAX and the ACT-A more generally, at global, regional and country levels. Of particular importance is the need to engage with a broad range of representatives from the Global South, specifically AMC92 country representatives and civil society representatives, as well as key partners (e.g. AVAT, PAHO, UNICEF and WHO). It is anticipated that the formative review and baseline study involve discussions with 50+ stakeholders. The risks associated with limited stakeholder access have been outlined in the main report (Section 3.5).

How will we ensure that the evaluation captures the importance of the political environment?

Feedback was provided on the importance of context for the evaluation, particularly to recognize the potential impact of the geopolitical context on descision making for the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC.The proposed approach places a strong weight on understanding how the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC has worked within the geopolitics and context of the pandemic response to achieve its overall goals of strengthened equity and fairness. This will include the use of political economy analysis and benchmarking of design decisions against criteria to analyze and assess the appropriateness of the COVAX Facility and AMC design within this context. We believe this approach will sufficiently draw attention to the issues at hand and generate transformational learning for future pandemic preparedness.

How will we ensure the evaluation adequately deals with the complex evaluand and rapidly evolving dynamic context?

In addition to the importance of recognizing the impacts of the political environment, feedback emphasized the need for the evaluation to recognize and responsed to the dynamic context of the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC, as well as the pandemic more broadly. We have also proposed an approach and methods that are well suited to understanding the importance of context on implementation and results (see Section 3.3.2 and Annex 7). The approach also includes intent to frequently revisit the ToC, both to ensure it is up to date and to test how it is working through periodic evaluation processes with stage-specific questions at each juncture, interspersed with rapid reviews on specific issues of interest.

How will we ensure that the evaluation generates transformative learning?

In order for the evaluation to have value to the full range of users, feedback highlighted the importance of an approach that can enable transformative learning. We have proposed an approach that seeks to generate a change in behavior that leads to the use of learning and/or how the evaluation will answer some of the high-level strategic questions of relevance to future pandemic preparedness. The following aspects of the proposed approach look to support this process:

• **Primary learning content focus:** We have set out the intention to focus learning from the formative review and baseline study on informing course correction for the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC and Gavi 5.0. This is because it is the right time for this sort of learning and it will be of value now.

Later evaluation processes will have a stronger emphasis on learning for future pandemic preparedness and response.

- Evaluation approach and methodology: The evaluation approach places a strong emphasis on understanding the context and how this has influenced design, implementation and results. This includes PEA and game theory to explore how power imbalances and political and economic concerns and incentives have influenced the design and implementation of the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC, and also how these incentives have influenced SFP and AMC country decisions on whether and how to engage with COVAX. This analysis of context will provide a strong basis from which to challenge the status quo.
- **Data collection:** We have proposed a robust stakeholder engagement approach and data collection process to ensure that different world views are captured. This includes interviewing global experts, both within and outside of the COVAX architecture.
- **Evaluation team:** Our team includes a Technical Advisory Group of globally recognized experts that will advise the team throughout the evaluation. It will also include a include a well respected and competent partner organization from the Global South to implement the evaluation, ensuring that different world views are captured.
- **Stakeholder engagement:** Our approach includes a reflective and open validation processes (e.g. sense-making/learning and validation workshops with relevant stakeholder groups) to ensure that different world views are integrated within the development and finalization of recommendations.

### How are users defined?

Feedback identified the need for clarity regarding the users of the evaluation and how they are defined. The following are priority users and uses of the evaluation:

- **Gavi Board** on behalf of donors, investors, participating countries and others to provide strategic direction and hold the Gavi Secretariat to account for the use of ODA and achievement of results;
- **Office of the COVAX Facility** to enable testing, learning and adjustment of the model, progress tracking towards results, with explanations of how and why this is or is not achieved;
- The **global health community writ large**, including AMC countries, with a proactive focus on equity, to report objectively on the extent to which COVAX has been able to address power imbalances to ensure equitable access to COVID-19 vaccines, and to inform future pandemic preparedness efforts.

# Annex 21: COVAX Facility & COVAX AMC Formative Review and Baseline Study – High-level overview of technical approach

In line with the findings and conclusions of the Evaluability and Evaluation Design Study, the COVAX Facility and AMC Formative Review and Baseline Study will be conducted from 2022 through 2023 and constitute 'Phase 1' of the multi-stage evaluation. It will include three main activities: (1) an in-depth formative review and baseline study; (2) rapid reviews in particular areas of interest/need; and (3) support for a continuous, real-time learning function.

Purpose and scope of the Formative Review and Baseline Study

The purpose of the Formative Review and Baseline Study is to:

- Inform potential course correction through early assessment of core design elements, considering both accountability for immediate results and learning for potential course correction, and
- Enable appropriate measurement over time of the effectiveness and performance of the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC.

Given that COVAX was established in mid-2020 and the 'baseline' study will be conducted in 2022, the formative review and baseline study phase will review what has worked well and less well to date in the design, implementation, and results of the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC. It offers an opportunity to test the early stages of the Theory of Change (ToC) and take a snapshot of progress against critical areas of the ToC at this point in time.

The scope of work is broken down into both *operational* aspects (management and governance, risk management, and stakeholder engagement and communications) and *programmatic* aspects (i.e. resource mobilization, market shaping, procurement and delivery, equitable allocation; and country delivery readiness).

Given the interconnectedness of roles across the COVAX pillar, the formative review and baseline study will consider responsibilities and ways of working between implementing partners to facilitate COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC results in two ways:

- It will not evaluate other COVAX implementing partners directly but will draw on the findings, conclusions and recommendations of other evaluation processes and evidence on the design, implementation and results of their work. This will aide understanding of how the ToC has played out in practice.
- It will consider the 'contribution' of Gavi to areas that multiple COVAX partners jointly administer, particularly those areas that Gavi is not primarily responsible for (e.g. allocation, country readiness support, procurement and delivery).

While not in scope directly, the formative review and baseline study will also consider – through an assessment of secondary data – the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC in the context of COVAX and ACT-A more generally, and the geopolitical and wider contextual factors at play. This initial understanding will be deepened at subsequent evaluation stages. The evaluation will take into consideration factors both within and outside of Gavi's direct control, and factors over which Gavi has both higher and lower levels of control, and for which it can be held accountable.

### Methodology

The formative review and baseline study will use mixed methods and adopt a generative causation approach to generate a strong theory of how mechanism(s) interact in the prevailing context to achieve the intended outcomes, primarily using contribution analysis and process tracing to implement and directly answer the evaluation questions (EQs).

It will be articulated around four evaluation modules offering a structured hybrid design, where different methods can be employed for each module according to where they are most fit for purpose. The proposed methods will be further refined following a kick-off workshop to be held in Geneva in March 2022. The four modules will be:

- 1. Right things (design): The evaluation will interrogate whether the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC and its components were and remain relevant to the problems they were designed to address, by assessing: (1) whether the ToC/ intervention design (and revisions) are appropriate and based on evidence and with clear assumptions; (2) what change in the pandemic or geopolitical context prompted design revisions; (3) whether and how stakeholders were involved in original design and subsequent revisions; (4) whether any design changes are needed for course correction; and (5) whether lessons can be learned for future pandemic responses. This module will include constructing a revised 'evaluation' ToC for the COVAX Facility and AMC, undertaking a political economy analysis and benchmarking of design decisions.
- 2. **Right ways (implementation):** A formative, learning-focused assessment of implementation progress for each of the operational and programmatic areas of the ToC:
  - a. Operational domain: These EQs interrogate whether the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC have been implemented successfully, by conducting an overall assessment of the extent to which the programme has been implemented according to plans, with a specific focus on the extent to which (1) the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC management structures and governance arrangements are fit for purpose; (2) risk management processes have been fit for purpose; (3) the costs of setting up the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC were reasonable and appropriate; and (4) stakeholder engagement and communication has been appropriate.
  - *b. Programmatic domain:* This is focused on understanding if resource mobilization, market shaping, procurement and delivery, equitable allocation and CRD inputs, activities and outputs have been implemented successfully and as intended.

This module will include benchmarking against objective criteria and comparator analysis, process tracing and root cause analysis.

- 3. **Right results:** The evaluation will seek to understand the available evidence on the achievement of outcomes and goals (intended and unintended), the contribution of the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC to these results, and the barriers and enablers to their achievement. This module will include verifying and use of COVAX Reporting Framework indicators and triangulation with other data to do a cross-country comparative portfolio analysis, and contribution analysis.
- 4. Learning: Summarizing and prioritizing lessons learned, building on the work done under the earlier modules (to inform immediate course correction) and on what can be learned from other agencies, arrangements and contexts and applied for the achievement of intended outcomes and impact. This will include opportunities for transformative learning, for instance on the overall design of the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC and the contextual constraints which influence this design, as well as implications for future pandemic preparedness.

Three rapid reviews will also be conducted as complementary to the above four modules to generate learning required primarily by the Office of the COVAX Facility to influence course correction; generate a better understanding of the implementation context; and/or evaluate specific programmatic areas in greater detail. The topics will be further discussed and agreed upon in the early stages of the formative and baseline review phase, but they will likely relate to the broader programmatic areas of securing supply and country readiness and delivery. These are both areas where limited work has been conducted in 2020 and 2021 but are very much live discussions for programming in 2022, and where evidence generated from a rapid review would likely be useful to guide ongoing design discussions.

### **Data collection**

Data collection will involve a broad review of the available documentation and literature, as well as a series of key informant interviews and focus group discussions across diverse stakeholders. It will also involve a series of country case studies, where country experiences can be explored in depth.

All evaluation activity will be conducted in as participatory a manner as possible, and the evaluation will engage with a broad set of stakeholder groups/ constituencies representing the key bodies and working structures involved in the governance, management and implementation of the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC.

### **Risk management**

Several risks have been identified for this Phase of the evaluation. These included, but are not limited to, those highlighted below, along with proposed solutions and mitigation measure.

- The evolving nature of the pandemic and the intervention logic for the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC may limit the applicability of EQs, findings, conclusions and recommendations.
  - Recognizing the responsiveness of the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC design to an evolving context, each stage of the evaluation will start with an update on design and strategy revisions since the last assessment. Every stage of the evaluation will include a ToC situation assessment and assess the relevance, coherence and appropriateness of design choices, including the decision-making process as well as the content of any design revisions. The ToC will be updated as needed.
  - This may not cover all eventualities (e.g. where COVAX was ceased midterm or where the design changed so much that prior evaluation efforts became redundant). In such a situation, the evaluation scope of work and design would need to be immediately revised.
  - Our proposed approach and methods focus on understanding the importance of context to implementation and results. This will ensure the evaluation is asking relevant questions and taking account of the evolving context. We also note that while the evaluand design has been highly dynamic in its first two years of operations, we could reasonably expect it to reach more of a steady state in years to come.
- Fatigue within the Office of the COVAX Facility and other COVAX implementing partners, and limited bandwidth to engage with the evaluation, may reduce our ability to obtain all of the most relevant data sources and solicit sufficient evidence to robustly answer EQs. A number of steps are included within the proposed approach to mitigate this risk:
  - The evaluation design is based around an approach that is robust but practical to implement with methods selected, in part, based on the availability of stakeholders to engage in the evaluation process. The expectations for stakeholder engagement are clearly presented in our proposed evaluation design as well as the implications of this level of engagement not being met.
  - Efforts will be made to reduce the evaluation footprint, such as by minimizing the number of requests of each stakeholder, holding focus group discussions, using web-surveys, etc.
     Agreement on the timing of each evaluation exercise will be based, in part, on stakeholder availability.
  - Sufficient time to collect data is built into the workplan for each evaluation exercise to give flexibility to stakeholders on when to provide their inputs.
  - Support from the Gavi EvLU will be solicited to support implementation of these steps and stimulate interest and engagement of stakeholders in the evaluation.

- Some aspects of the evaluation may by highly sensitive and contentious, for instance in relation to the proposed PEA to understand the incentives, relationships, and distribution and contestation of power between the different stakeholders engaged in the design and operationalization of the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC. This may result in some stakeholders seeking to discredit the evaluation findings in order to avoid addressing the issue(s).
  - We recognize the timeliness of this independent evaluation and the high stakes involved, and have set out an approach to deliver robust, evidence-based insights in response to the EQs and to meet the evaluation purpose. Conducting evaluative work can involve delivering difficult messages on things that may not be working as well as they should, or that could be done differently. We are mindful of the intensity and level of effort the COVAX implementing partners have invested in establishing the COVAX Facility and COVAX AMC and delivering results.
  - Our communication will be clear, constructive and appreciative, but we will not shy away from being critical where we this is backed by evidence. We will work hard to build relationships with key stakeholders to facilitate constructive exchanges, ensuring that what we present is always grounded in robust evidence. This will include engaging with our Technical Advisory Group to ensure messaging is tailored appropriately.

### **Key deliverables**

The Formative Review and Baseline Study phase will begin in March 2022. It is currently expected to run to early 2023 – with an interim findings report expected to be completed by end of August 2022 and then a final report completed by end March 2023. Timing of these deliverables, and particularly the interim findings report, have been closely tied to EAC scheduled meetings as well as planned PPC and Board meetings. Additional evidence will be made available, specifically through rapid reviews, at specific intervals pending when information is needed quickly and to complement the interim and final reports.

### Looking forward to subsequent phases of the multi-stage evaluation

The scope of the formative review and baseline study is on early emerging evidence against all evaluation questions included in the original Request for Proposals, but with a more in-depth focus given to modules 1 (design) and 2 (implementation), rather than module 3 (results), given the relatively early stage of the COVAX Facility and AMC operationalization. The scope of the evaluation would then shift in subsequent mid-term review(s) to place greater weight on module 3 and a summative assessment of results, while maintaining a view across the full scope of EQs. A firmer view will be sought at mid-term stage on the emerging indications of the impact of design choices and process on results achieved to date. The endline phase would then take an overall view on the impact of design choices and processes on results, and draw out a refined view of the implications of such choices.



Front cover image: Canva

Itad is a global organisation. Our strategy, monitoring, evaluation and learning services work to make international development more effective. We generate evidence on important issues - from malnutrition to migration - to support our partners to make informed decisions and improve lives.

Itad.com



## Itad Ltd

Preece House Davigdor Road Hove, East Sussex UK BN3 1RE

+44 (0) 1273 765250

## Itad Inc

c/o Open Gov Hub 1100 13th St NW, Suite 800 Washington, DC, 20005 **United States** 

+1 (301) 814 1492